ISSN: 2618-6209

# JON MES

Volume 5 Number 1

2021



| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

International Journal of Modern Education Studies [IJONMES] ISSN: 2618-6209

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 http://www.ijonmes.net dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

The IJONMES is a refereed journal and has a double-blind review. Any manuscript submitted for consideration in publication in the IJONMES is reviewed by at least two international reviewers with expertise in the relevant subject area.

The IJONMES is published twice a year in the June and December months.

#### **Publisher and Editor:**

Dr. Mevlüt AYDOĞMUŞ Necmettin Erbakan University Konya, Turkey maydogmus@erbakan.edu.tr

#### **Section Editor:**

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Daniel D. Liou Arizona State University United States dliou@asu.edu

International Journal of Modern Education Studies [IJONMES] is indexed in Ulrichsweb & Ulrich's Periodicals Directory, Worldcat, Proquest Exlibris, Bielefeld Academic Search Engine, MLA International Bibliography and international scientific indexes and ERIC.

#### **International Journal of Modern Education Studies**

#### **Reviewers of this Issue**

Assistant Professor Sabbir Ahmed Chowdhury, Institute of Education & Research (IER), University of Dhaka, Bangladesh. Dr. Radmila Palinkasevic Dr Constantine Andoniou, Abu Dhabi University, United Arab Emirates Dr. Theodoto Ressa, Wayne State University, United States Ahmad Zabidi Bin Abdul Razak, University of Malaya Kuala Lumpur Malaysia, Malaysia Dr. Dalia Mostafa Abdulrhman, Faculty of Education for Early Childhood- Cairo University Dr. Sibel Dal, Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Turkey Dr. Stephanie Atchley, Tarleton State University, United States Dr. Alina Martinez, Departamento de Pedagogía Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Spain Dr. Syed Zaidi, University of Windsor, Canada Professor Prof., Dr. Ebba S I Ossiannilsson, Swedish Association for Distance

<u>Professor Prof., Dr. Ebba S I Ossianniisson</u>, Swedish Association for Distance Education European Distance and e-learning Network International Council for Open and Distance Education International Council on Badges and Credentials, Sweden

Dr. Toni Denese Sturdivant, Texas A&M University-Commerce Dr. Gary Ackerman, Greenfield Community College, United States Assistant Professor Dr. Colin G. Pennington, Tarleton State University Prof. Dr. Gary Yukl, Emeritus Prof. Dr. from University at Albany, United States Dr. Süleyman Aarslantaş, Necmettin Erbakan, Turkey Assistant Professor Dr. Abraham Cazares-Cervantes, Oregon State University,

Prof. Dr. Wendell Hanna, United States

United States

Dr Ingeborg Birnie, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, UK, United Kingdom Assoc. Professor Dr. Olha Osobov, Georgia College & State University, United States

<u>Prof. Dr. Jürgen Streeck</u>, University of Texas at Austin, Department of Communication Studies, USA

<u>Prof. Dr. Ginni Chase Fair</u>, Northern Kentucky University, United States <u>Dr. Juan LeBron</u>, Lone Star College, USA

<u>Associate Professor Dr. Daniel Gutiérrez-Ujaque</u>, Universitat de Lleida, Spain <u>Assistant Professor Dr. Sara Movahedazarhouligh</u>, University of North Carolina Wilmington, United States

Prof. Dr. Cynthia Schubert, National University, USA

Prof. Dr. George Moore, Sam Houston State University, USA





| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

#### **International Journal of Modern Education Studies**

#### **Editorial Board**

Prof. Dr. Gary Yukl, Emeritus Prof. Dr. from University at Albany, United States

Dr Michael R. Williams, University of Oklahoma, United States

Dr. Gary Ackerman, Greenfield Community College, United States

Dr. Carolyn B Gadsden Holliday, United States

Dr. Michael Pfeifer, Friedrich Schiller University Jena, Germany

Dr. Sarah Wieckert, TU Dortmund University, Germany

<u>Professor Prof., Dr. Ebba S I Ossiannilsson</u>, Swedish Association for Distance Education European Distance and elearning Network International Council for Open and Distance Education International Council on Badges and Credentials, Sweden

Dr Constantine Andoniou, Abu Dhabi University, United Arab Emirates

Dr. Syed Zaidi, University of Windsor, Canada

Dr. Ana Luísa Mateus Oliveira Chança Torres, Instituto Politécnico de Santarém (IPSantarém) Research Hub: Digital Literacy and Inclusion, based at the IPSantarém, an extension of the research unit, Center for Research in Arts and Communication (Algarve Arts and Communication- CIAC)., Portugal

<u>Assistant Professor Sabbir Ahmed Chowdhury</u>, Institute of Education & Research (IER), University of Dhaka, Bangladesh.

Dr. Sher Muhammad, Govt. Graduate College Bhalwal, Sargodha, Pakistan

Professor Dr. Amanda Fulford, Edge Hill University, United Kingdom

Dr. Michael Agyemang Adarkwah, Southwest University, China, China

Dr. Mücahit Sami Küçüktığlı, Konya Metropolitian Municipality and Agriculture Cities Union, Turkey

Dr. Partha Sarathi Mallik, Gangadhar Meher University, India

Dr. Chiemeka Promise Ihekoronye, Babcock University, Nigeria

Assistant Professor Dr. Verica Milutinovic, Faculty of Education in Jagodina, University of Kragujevac, Serbia

Dr. Dimitris T. Zachos, Aristotle's University of Thessaloniki, Greece





| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

Dr. Martin Abdel Matin Gansinger, Al Akhawayn University, Ifrane, Morocco

Prof. Dr. Emilia Alaverdov, Faculty of Law and International Relations, Georgian Technical University., Georgia

<u>Herr Simon Wilhelm Kolbe</u>, Katholische Universität Eichstätt-Ingolstadt; Lehrstuhl für Sozialpädagogik Catholic University Eichstätt-Ingolstadt; Chair of Social Pedagogy, Germany

Dr. Radmila Palinkasevic Serbia

Dr. Toni Denese Sturdivant, Texas A&M University-Commerce

Prof. Dr. George Moore, Sam Houston State University, USA

Dr. Asao B. Inoue, Arizona State University, United States

Prof. Muhammad Kamarul Kabilan, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia

Dr Hanadi Ahmad Saleh, United Arab Emirates

Professor Dr. Ginni Chase Fair, Northern Kentucky University, United States

Prof. Dr. John Essington, Blackburn College, United States

Dr Ingeborg Birnie, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, UK, United Kingdom

Professor Dr. Bradley Porfilio, San Jose State University, United States

Prof. Andrea Garavaglia, University of Milan, Italy

Assistant Professor Dr. Abraham Cazares-Cervantes, Oregon State University, United States

Associate Professor Dr. Barbara Kinach, Arizona State University, United States

Professor Dr. Abdeljalil Akkari, Professor University of Geneva, Switzerland

Dr Ibtihal Ramadan, University of Edinburgh-, United Kingdom

Assistant Professor Dr. Sara Movahedazarhouligh, University of North Carolina Wilmington, United States

Dr. Ali Reza Rezaei, CSULB, United States

Assistant Professor Dr. Stephanie Atchley, Tarleton State University, United States

Professor Dr. Swee Heng Chan, Taylor's University Lakeside Campus, Malaysia, Malaysia

Clinical Assistant Professor Dr. Amber Godwin, Sam Houston State University, United States





| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

Professor Dr. Michael F. Shaughnessy, Eastern New Mexico University, United States

Associate Professor Dr. John Almarode, James Madison University, College of Education, United States

Assistant Professor Dr. Colin G. Pennington, Tarleton State University

Assistant Professor Thomas Bechard, Slippery Rock University, United States

Adjunct Professor Dr. Lisa M. Andrus, Tusculum University, United States

Associate Professor Dr. Olha Osobov, Georgia College & State University, United States

<u>Associate Professor Dr. Elizabeth Elaine Sparks</u>, Lynch School of Education and Human Services, Boston College, United States

Assistant Professor Dr. Areej M.A. Elsayary, Zayed University, United Arab Emirates

<u>Associate Professor Nadja Damij</u>, Newcastle Business School Northumbria University United Kingdom, United Kingdom

Professor Dr. Daniel Schugurensky, Arizona State University, United States

Dr Wayne USHER, Griffith University, Australia

Professor Dr. Beatrice Naff Bailey, Clemson University, United States

Assistant Professor Dr. Bruno Oliveira de Oliveira Jayme, University of Manitoba, Canada

Dr. Alexandra Vraciu, Universitat de Lleida (Spain), Spain

Associate Professor Dr. Daniel Gutiérrez-Ujaque, Universitat de Lleida, Spain

Dr. Alina Martinez, Departamento de Pedagogía Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Spain

Dr Sue Helen Ollerhead, Macquarie University, Australia

Professor Dr. Jazlin Ebenezer, Wayne State University, United States

Dr Melissa Jogie, University of Roehampton, London, United Kingdom

Assistant Professor Dr. Alberto Luis August, University of Nottingham Malaysia, Malaysia

Assistant Professor Dr. Amir Kalan, McGill University, United States

<u>Prof. Dr. Ferdinand Jacobus Potgieter</u>, School of Professional Studies, Faculty of Education, North-West University, South Africa





| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Daniel D. Liou, Arizona State University, United States

Dr. Anabel Ramos-Pla, Universitat de Lleida, Spain

Assistant Professor Dr. Hussain Ahmed Liton, Jazan University, Jazan, Saudi Arabia, Saudi Arabia

<u>Assistant Professor Dr. Cihad Şentürk</u>, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Faculty of Education, Department of Curriculum and instruction, Turkey

Dr Sevie Paida, Hellenic Open University, Greece

Dr. Kelly Deits Cutler, Portland State University, United States



| Volume 4 - No 2 - December 2020 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

	CONTENTS	Pages
	Inside cover	i
	Generics Page	ii
	Contents	V
	Articles:	
1.	Differences in Male and Female Texas Community College First-time-in- College Part-Time Students Over Time: A Multiyear, Statewide Analysis	1
2.	The COVID-19 Pandemic, its Consequences, and the Recovery: Implementation of Disaster Education and Management is Key to the Schooling of Children with Disabilities	22
3.	Beginning Teacher Support Model: Elementary Teachers' Resilience and Retention in Arizona	49
4.	Investigation of Covid-19 Phobia and Satisfaction with Life Levels of Students Taking Special Talent Entrance Exams	75
5.	Primary school teachers' views on Syrian Students' Turkish and math skills and the confronted challenges	91
6.	Teachers' Reflection and Level of Reflective Thinking on the Different Dimensions of their teaching practice	117





| Volume 4 - No 1 - June 2020 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

7.	An Investigation of Preservice Teachers' Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation	146
8.	Addictive behaviors: An analysis of support type and relapse rates among college students	168
9.	Investigation of Prospective Preschool Teachers' Digital Literacy and Teacher Readiness Levels	181
10.	The Effect of Digital Activities on the Technology Awareness and Computational Thinking Skills of Gifted Students (eTwinning Project Example)	205



| Volume 5- No 1- June 2021- ISSN 2618-6209 |

**Research Article** 

# Differences in Male and Female Texas Community College First-Time-in-College Part-Time Students Over Time: A Multiyear, Statewide Analysis

#### John P. Maynard II<sup>1</sup> John R. Slate<sup>2</sup>

In this multiyear, statewide investigation, the extent to which enrollment rates of

male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students enrolled in Texas

community colleges differed from the 2003-2004 academic year to the 2018-2019 academic year was determined. From the 2003-2004 academic year to the 2011-2012

academic year, statistically significant differences were identified in the enrollment

rates of both male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students. Cohen's d

effect sizes, calculated for both male and female, part-time students, were small

(0.22). Enrollment rates for male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college

students from the 2011-2012 academic year to the 2018-2019 academic year and from the 2003-2004 academic year to the 2018-2019 academic year were similar.

Enrollment rates for male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students enrolled in Texas community colleges remained consistently around 45% and 55%,

respectively, during the 16 academic year span. Recommendations for future

#### Abstract:

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 1-20 <u>http://www.ijonmes.net</u> <u>dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes</u>

#### Article Info:

Received :22.12.2020 Accepted :14.01.2021

DOI: 10.51383/ijonmes.2021.61

Keywords:

Part-time, First-time-in-college students, Enrollment rates, Texas community colleges, Male, Female

#### Citation:

Maynard II, J., P. & Slate, J., R. (2021). Differences in Male and Female Texas Community College First-Time-in-College Part-Time Students Over Time: A Multiyear, Statewide Analysis. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, (5),1, 1-21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.61</u>

research as well as implications for policy were discussed.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  Dean of Instruction, Lone Star College Houston North-Fairbanks, Houston, TX, USA

jpm055@shsu.edu D Orcid ID: 0000-0003-2186-0539

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Professor, Department of Educational Leadership, Department of Educational Leadership, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX USA

jrs051@shsu.edu Drcid ID: 0000-0001-9915-7849

#### INTRODUCTION

Community colleges perform a key role in providing students with opportunities to earn postsecondary credentials, such as a certificate or associate degree. Open admission policies, lower tuition and fees, and the close proximity of community colleges to students' homes and work places have resulted in increased accessibility to postsecondary education (Boggs, 2011; Cohen, Brawer, & Kisker, 2014; Ma & Baum, 2016). In particular, students who have historically encountered barriers to higher education, such as students who are from low-income backgrounds, racial/ethnic minorities, first-generation, and academically underprepared, have benefitted from the presence and growth of community colleges (Boggs, 2011; Cohen et al., 2014; Jabbar, Sánchez, & Epstein, 2017). Given the many characteristics of community colleges that have opened higher education to all students, geographic proximity might be the most crucial factor in school selection. Cohen et al. (2014) reported that the proximity of community colleges to students homes was more important to increasing accessibility than open admissions. Moreover, Jabbar et al. (2017) documented that institutional location was more important for students when examining institutional options and that certain groups of students, such as first-generation and racial/ethnic minorities, often were more constrained by financial and geographical concerns.

Geography is important to students and to the mission and function of community colleges. According to Boggs (2011), community colleges have a "responsibility for the economic development of the communities surrounding the colleges" (p. 3). Additionally, Cohen et al. (2014) described that community college curriculum was developed to support and to assist the needs of the surrounding community. Community colleges often achieve this responsibility to the community by offering a wide range of educational opportunities. Such services include (a) non-credit courses for certifications and personal development, (b) developmental courses to increase mathematic and writing skills, (c) pathways for transferring to a 4-year college, and (d) associate and bachelor's degrees (Boggs, 2011; Cohen et al., 2014; Nuñez et al., 2011; Sanchez & Smith, 2017).

Associated with this mission to the local community, community colleges often enroll students from diverse demographic and educational backgrounds. According to the American Association of Community Colleges (2018), of the students who enrolled in community colleges in the fall 2016 semester, more than one half were a racial/ethnic minority, more than one third were first-generation, more than one third over the age of 25, and more than one half were female. Specifically, 63% of students who enrolled in community colleges enrolled part-time, and 59% of students enrolled in credit-level courses. In Texas, the diversity of students who enrolled in community colleges reflected the national data. In the fall 2015 semester, approximately 66% of students were an ethnic/racial minority, nearly 30% were over the age of 25, 57% of students were female, and 76% of students were enrolled part-time (Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2018).



Given these trends in student enrollment, both nationally and in Texas, examining the characteristics of students might provide a better understanding of the community college population and how those characteristics are related to enrollment and persistence. As previously mentioned, more than one-third of students who enrolled in community college were first-generation students. Some attributes associated with first-generation students when compared to non-first-generation students were (a) racial/ethnic minority, (b) more dependent on financial aid, (c) more likely to have additional responsibilities (e.g., familial dependents, employment), (d) more likely from a low socioeconomic status, and (e) more likely to not be college ready in mathematics, reading, and writing (Ampaw, Partlo, Hullender, & Wagner, 2015; Atherton, 2014; Fike & Fike, 2008; Harlow & Bowman, 2016; Lee, 2017; Ma & Baum, 2016). Further, first-generation students often perceive more barriers in higher education than non-first-generation students. Some perceived barriers included lack of faculty support, difficulty integrating into the college setting, and lack of understanding the cultural and academic norms of a college (Ampaw et al., 2015; Harlow & Bowman, 2016; Longwell-Grice, Adsitt, Mullins, & Serrata, 2016).

In particular, the challenges associated with financial aid and the affordability of college encountered by many first-generation students is worth examining. As previously mentioned, community colleges often attract students from low-income backgrounds because of lower tuition and fees when compared to 4-year institutions. Ma and Baum (2016) reviewed national data and determined that public, community college tuition and fees were approximately \$6,000 lower than in-state, public 4-year college tuition and fees. Although community colleges represent a cheaper alternative to higher education, many students, including first-generation students, still struggle with managing the cost of college. Longwell-Grice et al. (2016) examined the perceptions of first-generation students toward college enrollment and their first-year experience and documented that money was commonly viewed by students as a barrier. Often, first-generation students qualify for various forms of financial aid to assist with financial difficulties but encounter other problems. McKinney and Novak (2015) indicated that many first-year students do not submit or submit late the free application for federal student aid, resulting in the loss or lowering of federal financial aid. Longwell-Grice et al. (2015) noted that financial aid, when present, frequently was not sufficient to cover all expenses, especially non-academicallyrelated expenses, such as transportation, food, and rent. Associated with these financial issues, first-generation students were more likely to enroll in community colleges on a parttime basis (Ampaw et al., 2015).

Considering the financial difficulties many students, such as first-generation students, encounter and the lack or insufficiency of financial aid, many students work while enrolled in community colleges. The need to work while enrolled in community college might be a substantial reason why part-time student enrollment is high. Part-time enrollment of community colleges students has increased over the past few decades due, in



part, to more students working while enrolled in college (Cohen et al., 2014; Fike & Fike, 2008). According to the American Association of Community Colleges (2018), 63% of students who enrolled in community colleges during the fall 2016 semester were enrolled as part-time students. Moreover, Ma and Baum (2016) determined that 71% of part-time students who were enrolled in public, 2-year institutions were employed, with 38% of these students working full-time. The large number of students who worked while enrolled in college often resulted in increased difficulties balancing personal and academic responsibilities (Harlow & Bowman, 2016). Lee (2017) discussed that students prioritized work duties over academic duties and that students were not willing to decrease their income to enroll or to remain in college. These financial and work-school balance difficulties might influence community college student enrollment, persistence, and completion rates. Part-time students exhibited lower persistence rates and higher dropout rates when compared to full-time students (Ampaw et al., 2015; Harlow & Bowman, 2016; Klempin, 2014; Lee, 2017; Sanchez, Lowman, & Hill, 2018).

Financially-related and work-related issues might not be the only reasons why parttime student enrollment has increased and continues to be high in community colleges. In addition to work-related concerns, many students who enroll in community colleges experience other obligations, such as familial dependents, lack of academic skills (e.g., time management, lack of confidence), and lack of academic expectations (Ampaw et al., 2015; Lee, 2017). In a recent investigation, Lee (2017) analyzed specific challenges and barriers that part-time students perceived when enrolled in community colleges. Lee documented that in addition to financial barriers, part-time students often experienced academic and personal challenges. Such academic and personal barriers expressed by the part-time students included a decreased sense of belonging on campus, conflicts between work schedule and limited course offerings, unfamiliarity with academic policies, and difficulties with time management. Specifically, Lee (2017) established that 83% of part-time students identified the inability to balance personal responsibilities and academic responsibilities as a major challenge when enrolled in community college.

Another potential factor that has resulted in the increase in part-time student enrollment at community colleges is gender. Cohen et al. (2014) determined that female student enrollment has increased and this increase in female enrollment, in part, has led to an increase in part-time enrollment. From 2000 to 2016, female student enrollment in community colleges increased by 30% (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017) and in the fall 2016 semester, female students represented more than one half of the student population in both national and Texas community colleges (American Association of Community Colleges, 2018; Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2017). Academically, female students often exhibit higher GPAs, higher completion and graduation rates, and greater coping skills when compared to males enrolled in community colleges (Heller & Cassady, 2017; Juszkiewicz, 2017). However, female students tend to



have more factors unrelated to academic variables that force them to enroll part-time. Heller and Cassady (2017) addressed the perceived challenges and barriers of first-year male and female community college students. They established that females identified higher levels of academic anxiety and perceived barriers compared to males and that females identified family concerns as their primary concern whereas males indicated work was their primary barrier. In their study, females described increased barriers involving family issues, such as health of dependents, childcare, and family responsibilities than was described by males (Heller & Cassady, 2017).

In an effort to ameliorate some of the difficulties these first-time-in-college, part-time students encounter and to support these students, Texas enacted two educational programs. Closing the Gaps by 2015: The Texas Higher Education Strategic Plan (Closing the Gaps), an educational initiative between the 2000 and 2015 academic years, sought to enhance student participation rates and to improve student completion rates in Texas higher education institutions (Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2005). One aspect of this initiative was focused on ensuring the affordability of higher education in Texas by providing more grants and scholarships based on financial need and by monitoring tuition and fees at postsecondary institutions to avoid deterring student enrollment. Building on Closing the Gaps, Texas Higher Education Strategic Plan: 2015–2030: 60x30TX (60x30) is a Texas educational initiative to increase student completion rates in postsecondary institutions to 60% by 2030 (Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2015). Although the primary goal of 60x30 is to increase student completion, another important aspect of this program is to limit student loan debt. Considering the financial instability that many students encounter, particularly first-time-in-college and part-time students, these educational approaches might have improved student completion.

#### Statement of the Problem

As previously discussed, part-time students comprise a substantial portion of students who enroll in community colleges and a considerable percentage of these part-time students are employed because of issues surrounding the affordability of college. Often, low-income students enroll in community colleges due to lower tuition and fees compared to 4-year institutions, yet these students still struggle to afford both college and personal expenses, requiring these students to work (Ma & Baum, 2016). As Lee (2017) mentioned, for part-time students, the income provided by their employment was more important and took precedence over enrolling and persisting in community college. Given these financial difficulties, financial aid could play a major role in facilitating part-time student enrollment and assisting their success once enrolled. However, many part-time, community college students encounter difficulties associated with financial aid, in particular, applying for financial aid and receiving enough financial aid. McKinney and Novak (2014) discussed that many low-income students who qualified for financial aid did not complete the free application for federal student aid. Ma and Baum (2016) indicated that community college students who had the greatest financial need, often, were less likely to apply for financial aid. Even when part-time students apply for financial aid, frequently the financial aid is



unavailable or insufficient to support all costs associated with an individual student. As part-time students enroll in fewer credit hours, often, they do not qualify for the full amount of federal financial aid, which requires a student be enrolled for 12 credit hours per semester (Klempin, 2014). Therefore, the amount of financial aid available for part-time students is limited. Moreover, even if part-time students receive enough financial aid to cover all academically-related expenses, this financial aid, often, does not completely cover personal expenses, causing the student to work. As Longwell-Grice et al. (2016) affirmed, financial aid often did not cover expenses associated with college, such as transportation and rent.

The lack of applying for financial aid, the lack of sufficient financial aid to cover all expenses, and the need to work by part-time students might influence their enrollment and completion rates. Part-time students have exhibited higher rates of attrition and lower rates of graduation compared to full-time students often due to multiple conflicting obligations, such as work and family (Ampaw et al., 2015; Natale & Jones, 2017). Further, Juszkiewicz (2017) reported that part-time students enrolled in community colleges had a completion rate of 20.4% and first-time-in-college, part-time students had an even lower completion rate of 17.0%. She further determined that part-time students who did not complete were likely to re-enroll but at a different institution. Therefore, by analyzing the enrollment trends of first-time-in-college, part-time students, educational administrators and policymakers could establish the effectiveness of current educational measures to assist and promote student completion at community colleges and to provide an affordable education at community colleges.

#### Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this investigation was to determine the percentages of male and female first-time-in-college students who were enrolled part-time in Texas community colleges. Specifically, the changes among male and female first-time-in-college, part-time students who were enrolled in Texas community colleges in the 2003-2004 academic year through the 2018-2019 academic year were identified. Analyses were performed to ascertain the extent to which the enrollment percentages of female and male Texas community college first-time-in-college, part-time in college students had changed between the 2003-2004 and the 2018-2019 academic years.

#### Significance of the Study

Given the substantial number of part-time students who enroll in community colleges and the poor completion rates among these students, particularly first-time-in-college, part-time students, examining the effectiveness of educational policies that guide community college practices toward first-time-in-college, part-time students should be investigated. Texas policies, such as Closing the Gaps and 60x30, were designed to increase student enrollment and completion, yet community college completion rates continue to be low, especially among part-time students. McKinney and Hagedorn (2017) indicated that the success of these educational initiatives will rely heavily on the improvement of student success at community colleges because more than one half of students enrolled Texas postsecondary institutions are attending community colleges. Therefore, the thorough



examination of these programs might identify effective practices to increase student enrollment and completion as well as ineffective strategies that might hinder student enrollment and completion in Texas community colleges. Through the identification of successful measures and practices, community college administrators and state legislators can design and implement new educational initiatives to support and improve student success further.

Moreover, community colleges are under additional pressure to increase student success rates because of recent legislation that ties state funding to student success (Natale & Jones, 2018). In 2013, Texas endorsed a performance-based funding model for postsecondary institutions, including community colleges, which apportioned 10% of funding on the outcomes of certain student performance metrics (McKinney & Hagedorn, 2017; Natale & Jones, 2018). Some of the metrics that determine institutional funding are: completing developmental courses, achieving semester hour benchmarks (e.g., 15 hours, 30 hours), and attaining a degree or certificate (McKinney & Hagedorn, 2017). Considering the consequence of student performance on funding and the importance to demonstrate to lawmakers and the general public the validity and worth of community colleges, administrators should identify and implement effectual strategies to assist student enrollment, persistence, and graduation rates.

#### **Research Questions**

The research questions addressed in this investigation were (a) What is the gender diversity of Texas community college first-time-in-college, part-time students?; (b) What is the difference in the enrollment percentages of Texas female community college first-timein-college, part-time students between the 2003-2004 and the 2011-2012 academic years, between the 2011-2012 and the 2018-2019 academic years, and between the 2003-2004 and the 2018-2019 academic years?; (c) What is the difference in the enrollment percentages of Texas male community college first-time-in-college, part-time students between the 2003-2004 and the 2011-2012 academic years, between the 2011-2012 and the 2018-2019 academic years, and between the 2003-2004 and the 2018-2019 academic years?; (d) What trends were present in the gender diversity of first-time in college part-time students enrolled in Texas community college first-time-in-college, full-time students in the 2003-2004 through the 2018-2019 academic years?; and (e) Which community colleges exhibited the greatest percent differences in first-time-in-college, part-time students between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2018-2019 academic year? The first research question was repeated for the 2003-2004 through the 2018-2019 academic years whereas the remaining research questions, with the exception of the trends questions, were addressed for three academic year comparisons. The trend questions involved all 16 academic years of data.



#### METHOD

#### **Research Design**

A non-experimental, causal-comparative research design was used for this empirical investigation (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Johnson & Christensen, 2017). An archival dataset was examined to ascertain the degree to which differences might be present in the percentages of male and female, first-time-in-college, part-time students at Texas community colleges. Because both the independent variable and the dependent variables had occurred previously, other variables that might have been present and that might have influenced the dependent variable could not be examined in this study (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

The particular academic years in which male and female students were enrolled in Texas community colleges were the independent variable in this empirical study. Data were analyzed for the 2003-2004 through the 2018-2019 academic years. In this investigation, the dependent variables were the percentages of student enrollment who were male and the percentages of student enrollment who were female students and who were enrolled in Texas community colleges during this period. Only data on students who were first-time-in-college, part-time students enrolled in Texas community colleges were analyzed from the 2003-2004 through the 2018-2019 academic years.

#### Participants and Instrumentation

Participants in this study were first-time-in-college, part-time students who enrolled in a Texas community college between the 2003-2004 and the 2018-2019 academic years. Archival data for all Texas community colleges were acquired from the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board Interactive Accountability System for these academic years. Individual community colleges report all data, such as student enrollment numbers, student enrollment status (i.e., full-time, part-time, and both) and student demographic information, obtained from the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. These data compiled by the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board were publicly available through the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board Interactive Accountability System. A total of 16 years of data were examined for this study.

#### Data Analysis

The Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board links gender and enrollment status of students with the academic year and with first-time-in-college status, therefore paired samples t-tests were used in this study. Parametric paired sample t-tests were determined to be appropriate because the majority of the underlying assumptions for this inferential statistical procedure were met (Slate & Rojas-LeBouef, 2011). Results will now be reported by research question.



#### **RESULTS**

#### **Results for Research Question One**

To answer the first research question, "What are the enrollment percentages of male and female first-time-in-college, part-time students in Texas community colleges from the 2003-2004 academic year through the 2018-2019 academic year?" descriptive statistics were calculated. As revealed in Tables 1 and 2, part-time male and female enrollment percentages over this 16-year period were quite consistent. The part-time, male, first-time-in-college Texas community college enrollment rates ranged from a low of 42.51% in the 2003-2004 academic year to a high of 46.48% in the 2009-2010 academic year. Accordingly, the parttime, male enrollment of first-time-in-college Texas community college students varied by only 3.97 percentage points in this 16-year period. The part-time, female, first-time-incollege Texas community college enrollment rates ranged from a low of 53.52% in the 2009-2010 academic year to a high of 57.49% in the 2003-2004 academic year. As such, the parttime, female enrollment of first-time-in-college Texas community college students varied by only 3.97 percentage points in this 16-year period.

#### Table 1

Descriptive Statistics for Texas Male, Part-time, First-Time-in-College Students Community College Students Between the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 Academic Years

Academic Year	n of community colleges	М%	SD%
2003-2004	69	42.51	6.32
2004-2005	69	44.93	7.03
2005-2006	69	44.26	5.84
2006-2007	69	45.21	6.44
2007-2008	70	44.78	7.94
2008-2009	70	45.40	8.60
2009-2010	71	46.48	8.42
2010-2011	71	45.81	6.96
2011-2012	71	44.12	7.85
2012-2013	72	44.15	6.58
2013-2014	72	45.12	6.17
2014-2015	72	44.87	7.02
2015-2016	72	45.74	6.15



2016-2017	72	46.26	7.66
2017-2018	72	44.13	7.56
2018-2019	72	43.42	7.50

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for Texas Female, Part-time, First-Time-in-College Students Community Coll	ege
Students Between the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 Academic Years	

Academic Year	n of community colleges	M%	SD%
2003-2004	69	57.49	6.32
2004-2005	69	55.07	7.03
2005-2006	69	55.74	5.84
2006-2007	69	54.79	6.44
2007-2008	70	55.22	7.94
2008-2009	70	54.60	8.60
2009-2010	71	53.52	8.42
2010-2011	71	54.19	6.96
2011-2012	71	55.88	7.85
2012-2013	72	55.85	6.58
2013-2014	72	54.88	6.17
2014-2015	72	55.13	7.02
2015-2016	72	54.26	6.15
2016-2017	72	53.74	7.66
2017-2018	72	55.87	7.56
2018-2019	72	56.58	7.50

#### Results for Research Question Two

To answer the second research question, "What is the difference in the enrollment percentages of Texas female community college first-time-in-college, part-time students between the 2003-2004 and the 2011-2012 academic years, between the 2011-2012 and the



2018-2019 academic years, and between the 2003-2004 and the 2018-2019 academic years?", three paired samples t-tests were calculated. For the 2003-2004 and 2011-2012 academic year comparisons, a statistically significant difference was revealed in part-time, female enrollment percentages, t(68) = 1.97, p = .05. The difference represented a small effect size (Cohen's d) of 0.22 (Cohen, 1988). A statistically significantly lower enrollment rate was present for Texas part-time, female, first-time-in-college students in the 2003-2004 academic year, 57.49%, than in the 2011-2012 academic year, 55.93%, a difference of 1.56%. Between the 2011-2012 and 2018-2019 academic years, a statistically significant difference in part-time, female enrollment percentages, t(69) = -0.70, p = .49, was not present. In the 2011-2012 and the 2018-2019 academic years, the enrollment rates of Texas part-time, female, first-time-in-college students were 55.94% and 56.73%, respectively. Lastly, between the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 academic years, a statistically significant difference was not present in Texas part-time, female enrollment percentages, t(67) = 0.90, p = .37. Part-time, female enrollment percentages, t(67) = 0.90, p = .37. Part-time, female enrollment percentages were 57.64% and 56.70% in the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 academic years, a statistically significant difference was not present in Texas part-time, female enrollment percentages, t(67) = 0.90, p = .37. Part-time, female enrollment percentages were 57.64% and 56.70% in the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 academic years, respectively. Table 3 contains the descriptive statistics for these analyses.

#### Table 3

Descriptive Statistics for Texas Female, Part-time, First-Time-in-College Students Community College Students for the Beginning Point, Midpoint, and Ending Points

Academic Year	n of community colleges	M%	SD%
2003-2004	69	57.49	6.32
2011-2012	70	55.94	7.88
2018-2019	68	56.70	7.52

#### **Results for Research Question Three**

Regarding the third research question, "What is the difference in the enrollment percentages of Texas male community college first-time-in-college, part-time students between the 2003-2004 and the 2011-2012 academic years, between the 2011-2012 and the 2018-2019 academic years, and between the 2003-2004 and the 2018-2019 academic years?", three paired samples t-tests were calculated. For the 2003-2004 and 2011-2012 academic year comparisons, a statistically significant difference was yielded in part-time, male enrollment percentages, t(68) = -1.97, p = .05. The effect size (Cohen's d) was small, 0.22 (Cohen, 1988). A statistically significantly higher enrollment rate was present for Texas part-time, male, first-time-in-college students, 42.51%, in the 2003-2004 academic year than in the 2011-2012 academic year, 44.07%, a difference of 1.56 percentage points. Between the 2011-2012 and 2018-2019 academic years, a statistically significant difference in part-time, male enrollment percentages, t(69) = 0.70, p = .49, was not present. In the 2011-2012 and the 2018-2019 academic years, the enrollment rates of Texas full-time, male, first-time-in-college students were 44.06% and 43.27%, respectively. Lastly, between the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 academic years, a statistically significant difference was not present in Texas part-time, male enrollment percentages, t(67) = -0.90, p = .37. Part-time, male enrollment percentages were



42.36% and 43.30% in the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 academic years, respectively. Revealed in Table 4 are the descriptive statistics for these analyses.

#### Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for Texas Male, Part-time, First-Time-in-College Students Community College Students for the Beginning Point, Midpoint, and Ending Points

Academic Year	n of community colleges	M%	SD%
2003-2004	69	42.51	6.32
2011-2012	70	44.06	7.88
2018-2019	68	43.30	7.52

#### **Results for Research Question Four**

In reference to the fourth research question, "What trends were present in the gender diversity of first-time-in-college, part-time students enrolled in Texas community college first-time full-time students in the 2003-2004 through the 2018-2019 academic years?", descriptive statistics were calculated. Depicted in Figure 1 are the enrollment trends over time of male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college Texas community college students for the 2003-2004 academic year through the 2018-2019 academic year. Part-time, first-time-in-college, female enrollment rates were slightly higher than part-time, first-time-in-college, male enrollment rates for every academic year. Both male and female enrollment rates over time remained relatively consistent over the 16-year span.



#### Figure 1.

Total enrollment rates of male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college Texas community college students for the 2003-2004 academic year through the 2018-2019 academic year.



#### **Results for Research Question Five**

To answer the fifth research question, "Which community colleges exhibited the greatest percent differences in first-time-in-college, part-time students between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2018-2019 academic year?", descriptive statistics were calculated separately for male and female students. As revealed in Table 5, Southwest Collegiate Institute for the Deaf had the greatest percent increase of 44% for male, first-time-in-college, part-time enrollment in Texas community colleges, between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2018-2019 academic year. Following Southwest Collegiate Institute for the Deaf were Trinity Valley Community College (15%) and Southwest Texas Junior College (14%).

#### Table 5

Descriptive Statistics of the Top Ten Texas Community Colleges with the Greatest Increase in Texas Male, Part-time, First-Time-in-College Students Between the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 Academic Years

Texas Community College	M% Change
Southwest Collegiate Institute for the Deaf	44.0
Trinity Valley Community College	15.0
Southwest Texas Junior College	14.0
Alvin Community College	10.0
Texas Southmost College	10.0
Dallas County Community College-Cedar Valley College	9.0
Blinn College District	9.0
Ranger College	8.0
San Jacinto College–North Campus	7.0
Navarro College	7.0

For female, first-time-in-college, part-time enrollment in Texas community colleges, Western Texas College had the greatest percent increase of 22% from the 2003-2004 academic year to the 2018-2019 academic year. Coastal Bend College (16%) and Victoria College (14%) were second and third respectively. Table 6 contains the descriptive statistics.



#### Table 6

Descriptive Statistics of the Top Ten Texas Community Colleges with the Greatest Increase in Texas Female, Part-time, First-Time-in-College Students Between the 2003-2004 and 2018-2019 Academic Years

Texas Community College	M% Change	
Western Texas College	22.0	
Coastal Bend College	16.0	
Victoria College	14.0	
Panola College	13.0	
Angelina College	12.0	
Northeast Texas Community College	9.0	
South Plains College	8.0	
Del Mar College	8.0	
Weatherford College	8.0	
Tyler Junior College	8.0	

#### DISCUSSION

In this multiyear statewide study, enrollment rates for male and female, first-timein-college students enrolled part-time in Texas community colleges from the 2003-2004 academic year through the 2018-2019 academic year were reviewed. For 16 academic years, the enrollment rates for both male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students changed by 3.97 percentage points. In the 2003-2004 academic year, part-time male, firsttime-in-college students enrollment rates reached a low of 42.51% and in the 2009-2010 academic year a high of 46.48%. Enrollment rates for part-time female, first-time-in-college students in Texas community college were lowest in the 2009-2010 academic year (53.52%) and highest in the 2003-2004 academic year (57.49%). Overall, enrollment rates were relatively unchanged for both male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students enrolled in Texas community colleges.

A statistically significant difference (p = .05) was determined for the enrollment rates of both male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students enrolled in Texas community colleges between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2011-2012 academic year. However, enrollment rates for all other years were quite consistent and did not result in any statistically significant differences. Over the 16 academic years, enrollment rates increased by 0.91 percentage points for part-time male, first-time-in-college students at Texas community colleges. During the same timeframe, enrollment rates decreased by 0.91 percentage points for part-time female, first-time-in-college students at Texas community



colleges. Enrollment rates for part-time male, first-time-in-college students at Texas community colleges averaged 44.82% over the 16 academic years and for part-time female, first-time-in-college students at Texas community colleges averaged 55.18% over the 16 academic years.

#### **Connections with Existing Literature**

Enrollment rates for part-time, male and female, first-time-in-college students were fairly consistent between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2018-2019 academic year, as revealed by the findings of this multiyear, statewide investigation. Part-time female, firsttime-in-college enrollment rates were higher than part-time male, first-time-in-college students who enrolled in Texas community colleges and these results were congruent with the findings of other researchers (American Association of Community Colleges, 2018; Ampaw et al., 2015; Cohen et al., 2014; Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, 2017). According to Ampaw et al. (2015) observed that male, first-time-in-college students exhibited lower enrollment rates in community colleges than female, first-time-in-college students. Additionally, Cohen et al. (2014) noted that female students who enrolled in community colleges were more likely to enroll part-time than full-time when compared to male students. Heller and Cassady (2017) reported that first-year, female students frequently perceived more barriers than male first-year students enrolled in community colleges leading to higher part-time enrollment by female students. Lastly, the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board (2017) determined that more than half of part-time student enrollment in Texas community colleges were female students. As revealed by the findings of this study, the enrollment rates of part-time female students in Texas community colleges averaged 55.18%.

#### Implications for Policy and for Practice

Several implications for policy and practice can be made based upon the findings of this multiyear, statewide investigation, in which the enrollment rates of part-time male and female, first-time-in-college students in Texas community colleges were determined. From the 2003-2004 academic year to the 2018-2019 academic year, part-time, male and female, first-time-in-college student enrollment rates over remained mostly unchanged. First, community colleges should examine current strategies for the recruitment and enrollment of part-time, first-time-in-college students. Lee (2017) noted that part-time students often experienced greater difficulty transitioning into community college than full-time students. Therefore, community colleges should provide additional support and resources to parttime students to help ease this transition and provide professional development and training to college employees in departments, such as advising, financial aid, and faculty, who frequently interact with part-time students. Second, community colleges should work to ameliorate the effects of non-academic barriers, such as childcare, food insecurity, and transportation difficulties, as these barriers often prevent students from enrolling in community colleges or remaining enrolled in community colleges (Heller & Cassady, 2017; Lee, 2017).



Third, given that part-time enrollment is associated with lower success and persistence rates (Juszkiewicz, 2017; Klempin, 2014), policymakers and community college administrators need to identify meaningful and specific interventions to support and retain part-time students. Fourth, community colleges should determine methods to increase the engagement and integration of part-time students into the academic environment. Lee (2017) reported that part-time, community college students identified a lack of connection and belonging as a serious challenge to their education. Therefore, measures should be developed and implemented to better incorporate part-time students into the community college. Finally, community colleges should work to develop degree plans and course schedules that accommodate part-time student schedules. Part-time community college students reported a lack of options, regarding courses and degree plans (Lee, 2017) and community college administrators should be cognizant of part-time student availability when building course schedules.

#### **Recommendations for Future Research**

Based upon the findings of this Texas, statewide investigation, various recommendations for future research can be made regarding the enrollment rates of parttime, male and female, first-time-in-college students. First, given that only data from Texas community colleges were examined for this investigation, researchers should determine if other states have similar enrollment rates. Due to this study being based solely on Texas community college, part-time, first-time-in-college students, the degree to which the findings would be generalizable to part-time, first-time-in-college students in other states is unclear. Second, further investigation is needed in regard to the enrollment rates of parttime, first-time-in-college students at 4-year postsecondary institutions. In this study, only community college enrollment rates of part-time male and female, first-time-in-college Therefore, the extent to which the findings would be students were determined. generalizable to 4-year institutions is unknown. Third, researchers are encouraged to examine the enrollment rates of part-time male and female students who are not first-timein-college students to determine if any connections exist between these two groups. Fourth, further research is recommended into the influence of other factors, such as race/ethnicity, age, and employment status, on part-time male and female, first-time-in-college enrollment rates. Given that in this investigation, only the influence of gender on the enrollment rates of part-time, first-time-in-college students were examined, the degree to which these other characteristics might affect enrollment rates in Texas community colleges is unknown. Finally, investigators should conduct studies using mixed methods and/or qualitative research to ascertain underlying causes for the enrollment rates of part-time, first-time-incollege students and to provide further information to aid policymakers in future decisions.

#### CONCLUSION

In this multiyear, statewide analysis, Texas community college enrollment rates were analyzed for the 2003-2004 academic year through the 2018-2019 academic years for part-time, male and female, first-time-in-college students. Inferential statistical analyses



revealed a statistically significant increase for part-time male, first-time-in-college students between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2011-2012 academic year. Furthermore, a statistically significant decrease was revealed in the enrollment rates of part-time female, first-time-in-college students between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2011-2012 academic year. However, other than these two academic years, no statistically significant difference occurred. Part-time male, first-time-in-college students had enrollment rates consistently around 43.29% during the 16 academic years whereas part-time female, firsttime-in-college students at Texas community colleges remained fairly constant around 56.71%. Also identified in this article were the Texas community colleges that exhibited the greatest increase in enrollment rates for male and female, part-time, first-time-in-college students over the 16-year period. Southwest Collegiate Institute for the Deaf had the greatest increase in enrollment rates of part-time male, first-time-in-college students, increasing by 44.0% between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2018-2019 academic year. Western Texas College had the greatest increase in enrollment rates of female, part-time, first-time-in-college students, increasing by 22.0% between the 2003-2004 academic year and the 2018-2019 academic year.

In examining the enrollment rates of part-time, male and female, first-time-in-college students in Texas community colleges over time, the effectiveness of Texas educational policies remains unclear. Statewide educational initiatives, such as Closing the Gaps and 60x30, were designed, at least in part, to increase enrollment rates of first-time-in-college students. Further investigation is needed to determine which approaches were successful in supporting part-time, first-time-in-college student enrollment and which methods were ineffectual in increasing part-time, first-time-in-college student enrollment.

#### **REFERENCES**

- American Association of Community Colleges. (2018). Fast facts 2018. Fast Facts. Retrieved from https://www.aacc.nche.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/2018-Fast-Facts.pdf
- Ampaw, F., Partlo, M., Hullender, T., & Wagner, N. (2015). Do community colleges promote postsecondary and labor market success for first-generation students? *Journal of The First-Year Experience & Students in Transition*, 27(1), 9-28. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1102761
- Atherton, M. (2014). Academic preparedness of first-generation college students: Different perspective. *Journal of College Student Development*, 55, 824-829. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2014.0081
- Boggs, G. R. (2011). The American community college: From access to success. *About Campus*, *16*(2), 2-10. https://doi.org/10.1002/abc.20055
- Cohen, A. M., Brawer, F. B., & Kisker, C. B. (2014). *The American community college* (6th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.



- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Field, A. (2018). Discovering statistics using SPSS (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fike, D. S., & Fike, R. (2008). Predictors of first-year student retention in the community college. *Community College Review*, 36(2), 68-88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552108320222
- Harlow, A. J., & Bowman, S. L. (2016). Examining the career decision self-efficacy and career maturity of community college and first-generation students. *Journal of Career Development*, 43, 512-525. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845316633780
- Heller, M. L., & Cassady, J. C. (2017). The impact of perceived barriers, academic anxiety, and resource management strategies on achievement in first-year community college students. *Journal of The First-Year Experience & Students in Transition*, 29(1), 9-32.
- Jabbar, H., Sánchez, J., & Epstein, E. (2017). Getting from here to there: The role of geography in community college students' transfer decisions. *Urban Review*, 49, 746-776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-017-0420-2
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. B. (2017). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Juszkiewicz, J. (2017, November). *Trends in community college enrollment and completion data,* 2017. Washington, DC: American Association of Community Colleges.
- Klempin, S. (2014). *Redefining full-time in college: Evidence on 15-credit strategies*. Community College Research Center, Columbia University. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED547251
- Lee, N. E. (2017). The part-time student experience: Its influence on student engagement, perceptions, and retention. *Canadian Journal for the Study of Adult Education*, 30(1), 1-18. Retrieved from https://cjsae.library.dal.ca/index.php/cjsae/article/view/5392
- Longwell-Grice, R., Adsitt, N. Z., Mullins, K., & Serrata, W. (2016). The first ones: Three studies on first-generation college students. *NACADA Journal*, *36*(2), 34-46. https://doi.org/10.12930/NACADA-13-028
- Ma, J., & Baum, S. (2016). Trends in community colleges: Enrollment, prices, student debt, and completion. College Board Research Brief. Retrieved from http://trends.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/trends-in-community-collegesresearch-brief.pdf
- McKinney, L., & Hagedorn, L. S. (2017). Performance-based funding for community colleges: Are colleges disadvantaged by serving the most disadvantaged students? *The Journal of Higher Education*, 88(2), 159-182. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2016.1243948



- McKinney, L., & Novak, H. (2015). FAFSA filing among first-year college students: Who files on time, who doesn't, and why does it matter? *Research in Higher Education*, 56(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-014-9340-0
- Natale, V. C., & Jones, S. J. (2018). Impact of institutional and student characteristics on Texas community colleges under the state's performance funding model. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42, 660-677. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2017.1352543
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). Degree-granting institutions: Enrollment by level. *Digest of Education Statistics*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/mobile/Enrollment\_DGI.aspx
- Nuñez, A. M., Sparks, P. J., & Hernández, E. A. (2011). Latino access to community colleges and Hispanic-serving institutions: A national study. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 10(1), 18-40. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538192710391801
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Daniel, L. G. (2002). Uses and misuses of the correlation coefficient. *Research in the Schools*, *9*(1), 73-90.
- Sanchez, J. E., Lowman, J., & Hill, K. A. (2018). Performance and persistence outcomes of GEAR UP students: Leveling the playing field in higher education. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory, & Practice, 20, 328-349.* https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025116669954
- Sanchez, J. E., & Smith, J. (2017). Non-U.S. citizen, community college students: Their federal student aid status, gender, achievement, and persistence at an emerging HSI. *Journal of Student Financial Aid*, 47(3), 28-44. Retrieved from https://publications.nasfaa.org/jsfa/vol47/iss3/3
- Slate, J. R., & Rojas-LeBouef, A. (2011). *Calculating basic statistical procedures in SPSS: A self-help and practical guide to preparing theses, dissertations, and manuscripts.* Ypsilanti, MI: NCPEA Press.
- Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2005). Closing the Gaps by 2015: The Texas Higher Education Strategic Plan. Austin, TX: Author. Retrieved from http://www.thecb.state.tx.us/reports/PDF/0379.PDF?CFID=74734137&CFTOKEN=5667 1078
- Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2015). *Texas Higher Education Strategic Plan:* 2015-2030: 60x30TX. Austin, TX: Author. Retrieved from http://www.thecb.state.tx.us/reports/PDF/9306.PDF?CFID=57485581&CFTOKEN=6042 3954



Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2017). *Higher Education Accountability System. Participation–Key Measures*. Retrieved from http://www.txhighereddata.org/Interactive/accountability/CC\_Participation.cfm

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2018). *Higher Education Accountability System. Participation–Key Measures*. Retrieved from http://www.txhighereddata.org/Interactive/accountability/InteractiveMain.cfm



Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209

**Research Article** 

# The COVID-19 Pandemic, its Consequences, and the Recovery: Implementation of Disaster Education and Management is Key to the Schooling of Children with Disabilities

#### Theodoto W. Ressa<sup>1</sup>

	Abstract:
International Journal of Modern Education Studies	COVID-19 pandemic has eroded gains towards Kenya Vision 2030's poverty eradication goal by denying Kenyan children and youth with disabilities access to (quality) education. Situational analysis on the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on education of primary and secondary school-age individuals from March 2020 to December 2020 reveal that the education opportunities for learners with disabilities remained unpredictable as the disease ravaged communities to the end of the year. Learners with disabilities fell behind academically after school closure and COVID-19 related biases predisposed them to academic failure and failed adulthood. Then, the
June, 2021	implementation of disaster education and recovery plans are overdue and must intentionally
Volume 5, No 1	target education of children and youth with disabilities.
Pages: 22-48	
http://www.ijonmes.net	
<u>dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes</u>	
Article Info:	
Received : 22.12.2020	
Revision : 21.01.2021	
Accepted : 24.02.2021	
DOI:	
10.51383/ijonmes.2021.62	

Keywords: Disasters, pandemics, COVID-19, Kenya, Africa, disability, education, infrastructure

#### Citation:

Ressa, T. W. (2021). The COVID-19 Pandemic, its Consequences, and the Recovery: Implementation of Disaster Education and Management is Key to the Schooling of Children with Disabilities. International Journal of Modern Education Studies, 5(1), 22-48. http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Assistant Professor Dr., Wayne State University, College of Education, Detroit, Michigan, USA. gn1621@wayne.edu D Orcid ID: 0000-0003-4599-921X

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2000 the United Nations (UN) set eight Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) to be achieved by 2015 and then on September 25, 2015 MDGs were replaced by seventeen Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to be achieved by the year 2030. SDGs include Goal 1 End Poverty and Goal 4 Quality Education. The SDGs align with the 2008 Kenya Vision 2030 poverty eradication and universal education goals (KNBS, 2019; Mulinya & Orodho, 2015). Driven by MDGs and now SDGs (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization [UNESCO], n.d.b), Kenya has heavily invested in education since 2003 to improve the literacy rates and quality of life of her citizens, including those with disabilities (Kiru, 2019; Leonard Chesire, 2019). The 2030 SDGs require countries to commit to the inclusion of people with disabilities to achieve the "world's globally agreed plan for peace and prosperity for all on a healthy planet" (UN, 2019, p.i.). However, the COVID-19 pandemic and the resultant nationwide lockdown, school closures, economic recession (IMF, 2020b), and the prevalent stigma (Malplat, 2020) are quickly eroding these gains and potentially condemning children and youth with disabilities (hereby referred to as children with disabilities unless otherwise stated) to failed adulthood.

For decades, children with disabilities have experienced harm due to barriers related to biased cultural practices (Kiru, 2019; Ohba & Malenya, 2020), mismanagement of limited resources (Transparency International, 2020; Winters et al., 2017), and disasters such as droughts and floods (Ayugi et al., 2020; Willett & Sears, 2018), infectious diseases such as cholera (Okaka & Odhiambo, 2018), and terrorism (Krause & Otenyo, 2006). Considering present and future damages to the wellbeing of learners with disabilities, this paper examines the consequences of the COVID-19-induced school closures (March-December 2020) on the wellbeing of Kenyan children with disabilities. The purpose of this research is to identify the impact of COVID-19 on the schooling of learners with disabilities by examining the interactions of micro and macro factors that influence the education of children with disabilities. The aim is to delineate factors responsible for the inaccessibility of education in the COVID-19 era, and to support the development of disaster education and intervention and recovery programs that will facilitate quality schooling of learners with disabilities and successful life in adulthood.

This article is guided by the question: How has school closure between March 2020 and December 2020 impacted schooling of children with disabilities in Kenya?

#### Literature Review

#### Population of Students with Special Needs in Kenya

The introduction of universal primary and secondary education and the emphasis on quality accessible tertiary education have led to increased school enrollment (Kiru, 2019; Ngugi et al., 2015; Ohba & Malenya, 2020). Still, that population remain erratic as shown in Table 1. Kenya's population was 48 million as per the 2019 census data (Kenya National



Bureau of Statistics [KNBS], 2019), which translates to 7.2 million Kenyans with disabilities (based on the 15% population estimate designated by the World Health Organization [WHO], n.d.a). As of 2019 there were 3.3 million children in pre-primary school, 10 million in primary school, 3.4 million in secondary school, 500,000 youth in middle-level colleges, and 471,000 pursuing university education. The 2014 survey by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MoEST) in partnership with Volunteer Service Overseas (VSO) and Department for International Development (DFID) that covered 22 counties of the 47 showed the prevalence of disability among children ages 3–24 as 13.5%. Then MoEST through the Kenya Institute of Special Education conducted a national survey on children with disabilities and special needs in education from September 2016 to June 2017. The survey findings showed 11.4% disability prevalence of children with special needs ages 3-21 (Kenya Institute of Special Education [KISE] 2018).

#### Table 1.

Disability	Prevale	ence in	Kenya

Items	2019 Census	Total Disabled	Total Disabled	Total
	Total Kenya	Population in	Population ages	Disabled
	Population in	millions, based on	3-24 in millions,	Population
	millions	15% WHO	based on 13.5%	ages 3-24 in
		Estimate	MoEST&VSO	millions,
			Estimate	based on
				11.4%
				MoEST
				Estimate
Kenva total population	48	7.2		
Total Student Population in	18	2.7	2.43	2.05
pre-primary school through				
high school				
a) Pre-primary school	3.3	0.5	0.45	0.38
b) Primary school	10	1.5	1.35	1.14
c) Secondary school	3.4	0.5	0.46	0.39
d)Middle-level colleges	0.5	0.08	0.07	0.06
	0.0	0.00	0.07	0.00
e) University education	0.47	0.07	0.06	0.05

Even though there was about 2.4 m children with disabilities in pre-primary school through secondary school (depending on the disability prevalence rate calculator), in reality, however, less than 5% of school age children with disabilities access school or receive quality



education according to the VSO and MoEST Report of 2014 and KISE Report of 2018. This is happening at a time when the Persons with Disabilities Act of Kenya 2003, the 2010 Constitution of Kenya the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC 1989), the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD, 2006), and the Basic Education Act 2013 prohibit disability-based discrimination and guarantee citizens with disabilities the right to education (Republic of Kenya, 2010). Unfortunately, this is also happening when there is increased prevalence of disasters. Sadly, most children with disabilities have limited access to basic needs and efficient infrastructure (KNBS, 2019; Leonard Chesire, 2019) to endure disasters.

#### Impact of Infectious Diseases on Communities

In comparison to 30 years ago, the number of global disasters has increased, mostly due to climate change, and the list includes infectious diseases such as Ebola and Middle East respiratory syndrome (Braden et al., 2013; Chan, 2014; Okaka & Odhiambo, 2018) and drought, famine, plague, hurricanes, earthquakes, wildfires (Field et al., 2012). Other challenges include displacements due to wars and terrorism (Krause & Otenyo, 2005). Unfortunately, disasters have serious economic, political, social, cultural, and linguistic impacts on the communities affected, and so they cost countries billions of dollars in damages of infrastructure and expenditures to treat injuries and deaths (Field et al., 2012; Heymann et al., 2015; Shreve & Kelman, 2014; van der Keur et al., 2016). In 2019 and 2020, Kenya dealt with various disasters—including floods, a locust plague, and the coronavirus pandemic—that caused injuries, deaths, destruction of property, an economic recession, and the closure of schools (IMF, 2020b). However, the nationwide impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on education of school-age Kenyans with disabilities remains unknown.

Infectious diseases spread very rapidly among individuals when vectors either intentionally or unintentionally carry the disease from the epicenter to other regions of the world, often aided by the improved infrastructure, including transportation systems, that facilitates the increased mobility of people, thereby making it easier for infectious diseases to spread (Chan, 2014; Heymann et al., 2015). The rapidity by which infectious diseases spread across borders means that management requires both individual and collective health security protocols (Heymann et al., 2015). Individual health security measures involve personal initiatives to protect oneself from infectious diseases by moving to safe areas and using appropriate medical materials (where available, e.g., wearing masks) to protect oneself and one's neighbors. In contrast, collective health security involves a concerted approach aimed at addressing the global spread of infectious diseases, bringing together various national and international actors in designing and implementing prevention, treatment, and recovery plans. Individual and collective health security measures ensure the rapid detection of outbreaks and an equally rapid response for effective management of the disease (GHSA Preparation Task Force Team, 2015; Heymann et al., 2015).



Infectious diseases such as that caused by Ebola virus can be devastating to communities, including the medical community in a country with an inefficient healthcare system (Chan, 2014). The Ebola virus, which is found in animals, was first identified in humans in the Democratic Republic of Congo in 1976. Since then, there have been 11 sporadic outbreaks that have killed people mainly in Central Africa and West Africa. The most devastating outbreaks occurred in 2014 and 2016, which killed 11,000 people in Guinea, Sierra Leone, and Liberia (Chan, 2014). This attracted aid from across the globe after WHO declared Ebola to be a global pandemic. Besides affecting ordinary citizens, the disease also negatively impacted the medical community. Most medics from the global north who had contracted the Ebola virus while working in West Africa were repatriated to their home countries, where they received appropriate medical interventions in wellequipped hospitals with the necessary medication. Most recovered from the infection. In contrast, most West African medics who contracted the virus did not survive because many hospitals had a shortage of staff or equipment, including limited personal protective equipment (PPE), medication, electricity, and even water (Heymann et al., 2015). Thus, infectious diseases always have a devastating effect, particularly in low-income countries with less resourced healthcare systems (Heymann et al., 2015).

The outbreak of the bubonic plague, cholera, smallpox, and yellow fever in the 20<sup>th</sup> century encouraged the international community to come up with regulations to promote a global response capable of preventing the cross-border spread of infectious diseases (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, n.d.; WHO, 1983). However, the outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in 2003 proved to the world that strong border control is not sufficient to tame infectious diseases that do not respect the border rules (Heymann et al., 2015). Current measures therefore require governments to share information immediately when an infectious disease arises to prevent its spread globally (WHO, 2005). However, this global health management framework has not been fully or equally implemented across all countries, thus predisposing other global communities to infectious diseases that occur in a specific region, as happened with the 2007 avian influenza virus outbreak in Indonesia (Braden et al., 2013; WHO, 2011) and the COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan, China in 2019/2020. The collective approach may fail when, as in these cases, unwilling global partners do not share information, resulting in the spread of the infectious disease to other regions that are not at the epicenter. Previous failures by governments in sharing critical information about infectious diseases (e.g., in the case of avian influenza virus) have led to development of another health framework - equal sharing equal benefit aimed at strengthening individual health and collective health security (WHO, 2011). Countries agreed on sharing information about the composition of diseases and available medication, including vaccines (Heymann et al., 2015). Nonetheless, the outbreak of the COVID-19 has revealed the shortcomings of these frameworks and the need for governments to iron out their differences and work on building trust to improve international response mechanisms to infectious diseases.



Despite the prevalence of disasters in Kenya, there is dearth of literature on disaster education geared towards children with disabilities and their families. Given that most Kenyans with disabilities live in poverty due to biased systems including education system (KISE, 2018; KNBS, 2019), the aim here is at understanding the impact of school closures on learners with disabilities to determine how best to improve their post-COVID-19 pandemic education and adult life.

#### **METHOD**

This paper employs a situational analysis framework (Annan, 2005) to understand the Kenyan education system in the era of disasters. Situational analysis focuses on the style, ideology, and structure of an organization or system. To understand education situation of children with disabilities in Kenya, a comprehensive literature search was conducted using Elsevier, Google Scholar, and Springer Online Journals using a combination of keywords relating to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics in Kenya (e.g., cholera, delude). See Table 2. I narrowed down the search using the following sentences:

- 2019-2020 journal articles related to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics in Kenya
- 2019-2020 journal articles related to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics affecting Kenyans with disabilities
- 2019-2020 peer-reviewed journal articles related to pandemics affecting Kenya students with disabilities
- 2019-2020 peer-reviewed journal articles related to COVID-19 pandemic affecting Kenya students with disabilities

Studies that did not focus on the impacts of disasters in Kenya during 2019-2020 time frame were eliminated. This led to 14 relevant studies. Some of the gray literature that met specific inclusion criteria were included, such as that focused on disasters in Kenya.



Table 2	2
---------	---

Sources:	2019-2020	2019-2020	2019-2020	2019-2020
Using a combination of keywords relating to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics in Kenya	journal articles related to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics in Kenya	journal articles related to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics affecting Kenyans with disabilities	journal articles related to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics affecting Kenya students with disabilities	relevant journal articles related to disasters, plagues, floods, and pandemics and the impact on the education of learners with disabilities
Elsevier Online Journals	685	178	67	6
Google Scholar	581	164	135	5
Springer Online Journals	630	146	94	3
Total	1,896	488	296	14

*Extant literature* 

In addition to the desk-based review, virtual field research was performed (e.g., observations of teachers as they created virtual fieldwork experiences) (Cliffe, 2017) and data were collected from key informants through online and remote interactive interviews and focus group discussions with representatives of the disabled people's organizations (DPOs; ten people), government representatives from the Ministry of Education (two people), Ministry of Health (two people), and Ministry of Labour and Social Protection (one person), and representatives from non-governmental organizations (NGOs; three people) via zoom (Zoom Video Communications, Inc.), WebEx (Cisco Webex), and WhatsApp Messenger (depending on the interviewee application). See Table 3.



#### Table 3

Virtual field research

Key informants:	
a)Disabled people's organizations	10
b)Ministry of Education	2
c) Ministry of Health	2
d) Ministry of Labour and Social Protection	
e)Non-governmental organizations	3
Total	18

Also, data collection involved document analyses (including big data reports from KNBS, International Telecommunication Union (ITU), National Council for Persons with Disabilities (NCPWD), UNESCO, United Nations Children's Fund [UNICEF], WHO, World Bank; a review of previous studies; and national and international e-media reports about Kenya published on social media — Facebook, and through national and international digital media organizations including radio (e.g., National Public Radio of America, Kenya Broadcasting Cooperation [KBC]), e-newspapers such as *Daily Nation, The Standards, the EastAfrican Standards;* observations of the evolving situations in Kenya, and personal experiences as a result of my schooling in Kenya (Ressa, 2009). As shown in Table 4. analysis of collected information revealed an array of difficulties which were categorized into two major barrier topics.


#### Table 4

Mega	effects	of	COVID-19	pandemic	on	education
------	---------	----	----------	----------	----	-----------

Difficulties linked to:	Mega Learning Barriers					
<ul> <li>Different systems of education</li> <li>inadequate infrastructure (e.g., internet, electricity)</li> <li>geographical challenges</li> <li>time differences</li> </ul>	Challenges in public and low-cost schools					
<ul> <li>difficulty to teach STEM content online</li> <li>different curricula</li> <li>many subjects</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Challenges with the curricula and digital infrastructure</li> </ul>					
<ul> <li>lack of resources – computers</li> <li>different stakeholders with different interests</li> <li>lack of political will;</li> </ul>	• Poverty in households with children with disabilities					
<ul> <li>computer illiteracy/lack/limited skills</li> <li>home challenges</li> <li>limited/lack of motivation</li> </ul>	Unfavorable home environment					
• teachers, parents, and students fear, panic	• Fears and Uncertainties about the Future					

# FINDINGS

The study revealed that the COVID-19 pandemic has created a humanitarian crisis in Kenya that has significantly affected education of children with disabilities.

# **Challenges in Public and Low-Cost Schools**

The unfortunate school closures on March 16, 2020, to contain the COVID-19 pandemic left millions of learners including those with disabilities at a disadvantage, and by December 31, 2020, it remained unclear when public schools will resume normal school calendar (Daily Nation Group, 2020; Waita & Njehia, 2020). The experiences of learners in public and low-cost private schools that mostly serve low-income families remained



unknown throughout the year. Analysis of e-newspapers (e.g., Daily Nation Group, 2020; The Standard) revealed that low-cost private schools such as Bridge International Academies that operated in 40 of the 47 Kenyan counties closed on the eve of the COVID-19 outbreak, and staff and teachers were placed on temporary compulsory leave without pay, eliminating their obligations to their learners. This is contrary to the happenings in high cost private schools. Interviews with ten representatives of the DPOs and analyses of documents (from various organizations such as UNESCO, UNICEF, WHO, World Bank, and media organizations including social media—Facebook, e-newspapers—Daily Nation, The Standards, the EastAfrican Standards) revealed that although learning was suspended in public schools, virtual learning at a number of upscale private schools went on. High-cost schools have international affiliations that make it easy to adopt curricula from other countries. They also do not need their online learning programs to be licensed by the Kenyan government, as is the case with public education. For instance, Brookhouse Schools offers the International General Certificate of Secondary Education, which is an English languagebased examination similar to the General Certificate of Secondary Education in the United Kingdom. Even though some families questioned the quality and cost of online learning in these upscale private schools (Muthoni, 2020), students experienced an academic atmosphere that helped maintain their learning tempo. This trend caused panic among families who felt that children who attended public schools were being left behind by the education system, which has for a long time inadequately prioritized their needs.

#### Challenges with the Curricula and Digital Infrastructure

Interviews with representatives of DPOs and NGOs and Media reports (Peralta, 2020) revealed that public schools indicated that learners with and without disabilities spent most of their time on non-academic and unproductive and hurtful activities (e.g., teenage sex). Idling of learners prompted the government to take drastic measures to support virtual learning as it contemplated opening schools in 2021. On March 23, 2020, the Ministry of Education started broadcasting primary and secondary school lessons via the radio, television, and the Kenya Education Cloud throughout weekdays through the Kenya Institute of Curriculum Development (KICD, n.d.). KICD's EduTV Kenya, a production of Edu Channel TV, was available as a live stream and on-demand content on YouTube channels and covered classes in early childhood through high school. The KBC English Service radio program targeted learners in primary schools and covered multiple subjects, including English, Kiswahili and Fasihi, mathematics, science, hygiene and nutrition, Christian religious education, social studies, life skills, civic education, business studies, geography, biology, and agriculture. KICD also partnered with the Kenya Publishers Association to provide learners with free electronic copies of textbooks on the Kenya Education Cloud. In addition to the government's effort, some individuals and organizations based locally and abroad banded together to provide learners with education opportunities via online platforms such as Facebook and WhatsApp. This allowed some students from public schools to participate in online learning offered by companies in the



U.S., such as EduMonitor, which had free programs, e-books, worksheets, and games for children in pre-kindergarten through to the fifth grade (EduMonitor, n.d.).

Moreover, inadequate infrastructure (e.g., internet, electricity) made it difficult to support universal virtual learning. To boost internet access for students and families in less served regions, the Kenya Civil Aviation Authority collaborated with Telkom Kenya and Alphabet Inc. to float Google's Loon Balloons, carrying 4G base stations, over Kenyan airspace (Etherington, 2020; World Bank, n.d.b). Also, other local private mobile providers such as Safaricom partnered with Longhorn Publishers, Eneza Education, and Viusasa to provide free access to educational e-content for primary and secondary school students. Despite these innovative and noble ideas, virtual learning remained inefficient and inaccessible for most children with disabilities because little effort went into tailoring digital lessons to individual learners in different parts of Kenya (e.g., Turkana has inefficient infrastructure and a harsher climate than the highlands of Kericho or Nairobi City).

The problem with the learning material, content, and time remained because it was not easy to virtually teach certain subjects at a certain grade level at a certain.. For instance, it was difficult to effectively teach virtual science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) lessons, including science laboratory work, because few schools or families could afford computers or the apps, and few teachers were competent in modeling. Also, Kenya has two public education systems running concurrently—the new 2-6-3-3-3 education system that was introduced in 2017 to replace the 8-4-4 education system. This made restructuring the content of varied subjects difficult especially for foreign-based educators. Besides, the time difference, for example, between Kenya and the U.S. (an average of eighthour difference—East Standard Time) complicated remote teaching and learning since afternoon in the U.S. would be late night in Kenya, the time most families are asleep.

Challenges with the curriculum, geography, and time made it difficult to support universal virtual learning. So, online learning only served a small population that have electricity, internet, and computers and can access the required media (e.g., Edu TV Channel on YouTube), and according to a KNBS survey, less than 40% of students accessed digitally delivered content (i.e., via television and radio and mobile phones — which is discomforting) (World Bank, n.d.b). E-learning requires utilities, technology, and experienced educators who are computer literate and competent in online pedagogical practices (Mutisya & Makokha, 2016). ...

#### Poverty in Households with Children with Disabilities

Document analyses (e.g., from the ITU; World Bank, n.d.b) and interviews with representatives of DPOs, NGOs, and MoEST revealed that government and individual/group initiatives to promote digital teaching and learning, though well intentioned, did not reach the most vulnerable learners who did not have computers or access power. Many teachers and families did not own computers, nor were they computer



literate (UNICEF, 2017) while most low-income private and public schools had limited capacity to provide virtual classes. In 2013, the government promised every child in primary school a laptop computer with free internet access to facilitate digital learning (Mariga et al. 2017; Mugendi, 2019). However, this plan was shelved for political reasons, and because of the lack of political will and financial incapacity, the government was not able to broadly facilitate digital learning. With many countries turning to online schooling, the global demand for computers outstripped the supply, which made computers unavailable or costly for ordinary Kenyan families. Other households resorted to mobile devices. However, the small screens of most phones made learning for hours tiresome thus causing disinterest of strenuous subjects/topics in learners. Though mobile phone services are relatively good in Kenya (KNBS, 2019), they were shared with family members, and in a household with four children, it was difficult to access the internet due to data plan restrictions (Opeke 2018; UNICEF, 2017). Instead, most students accessed the internet through public cybercafés (Wamuyu, 2017), which tend to be unsafe or insecure and therefore predispose students to cybercrimes. For this reason, many informed and concerned parents refused to allow children to participate in these learning environments.

#### **Unfavorable Home Environment**

E-learning requires a lot of self-discipline and an appropriate setting since personal technology can be distracter to learning (Schneider, 2018). Even in situations where families had computers, many students failed to log on or stay focused on their computer. Whereas some online programs can track students' attendance and participation, the process is cumbersome and can be overwhelming to teachers and learners new to the system. This led to unreliable data-collection practices such as filling out e-google attendance sheet. Thus, those who were absent were predisposed to experience low performance, low self-esteem, and to drop out of school as a result. Furthermore, in face-to-face learning, students are more likely to be guided by the teacher's physical presence. In contrast, online classes predisposed the entire class to behavioral challenges, such as crying, yelling, and the use of profanity out of frustration when learning materials did not load. For this reason, many online classes were shortened versions of the face-to-face classes, which compromised the quality and quantity of learning.

While online learning requires a favorable home environment, many homes lacked the amenities necessary for conducive learning, such as electricity, running water, the internet, and bathrooms. Many families of children with disabilities lived in single-room houses, grass-thatched houses, or houses with corrugated iron sheets without a ceiling, which made it impossible to learn when it rained, which happened during the long rains month April through August. Homes/houses without children's bedroom left little space for different learning activities in the same space. One-roomed house served multiple purposes—storage, dining, sleeping, or even bathing. These conditions negatively affected the access and participation of children with disabilities with respect to digital learning.



#### Fears and Uncertainties about the Future

The Kenyan education system is majorly controlled by the government. The decision to postpone schooling until 2021 received support from national teacher and parent organizations. However, the disruption of schooling intensified families' fears and uncertainties about the education of their children with disabilities since it is apparent that the 2020 school calendar year was lost. School closures and cancellation of national summative examinations that were to begin in September 2020 (i.e., Kenya Certificate of Primary Education - KCPE and Kenya Certificate of Secondary Education - KCSE) meant mass repeating at all levels of schooling is unavoidable. With an inadequate education system that less meet the national education demand, this will lead to high competition for few places in 2022 and the coming years especially in grades 1 and 9 and college places.

## DISCUSSION

This study was based on a quick review of the situation in Kenya to inform program development on the current status of learners with disabilities. The findings have revealed that children with disabilities are losing ground academically because COVID-19 has profoundly impacted their education and daily lives as evidenced in the mega learning barriers: Challenges in public and low-cost schools, challenges with the curricula and digital infrastructure, poverty in households with children with disabilities, unfavorable home environment, and fears and uncertainties about the future. These mega learning barriers show the toll of COVID-19 and school closure on the education of learners with disabilities.

#### The Academic Toll of School Closures on Children with Disabilities

The Kenyan government's drastic measures to contain COVID-19 pandemic caused unquantifiable academic harm to millions of learners who were kept at home without learning opportunities, especially children with disabilities. The most impactful measure in this respect was the closure of learning institutions on March 16, 2020. Due to limited healthcare facilities and the surge of the pandemic, the central government gave the directive to county governments to designate 20 residential schools in each county as isolation health facilities, thereby ordering that the schools function as hospitals, testing centers, or quarantine centers (Waita & Njehia, 2020). However, this decision made schools hazardous and unavailable for throughout 2020. Kenya placed safety before education in 2020 and because of the virulent nature of the pandemic, Ministry of Education issued conflicting opening dates that made it difficult for educators and families to plan appropriately. With the unpredictable disease ravaging across Kenya, and the eagerness of the government to contain it before it overwhelms the inadequate healthcare system, on July



6, 2020, the government announced that schools will remain closed for the rest of the 2020 academic year.

Although schools opened in January 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic induced school closure will continue to negatively affect children with disabilities (i.e., lead to illiteracy, biases, aggressions, and a lack of appropriate information about COVID-19 preventative measures) and therefore predispose them to increased likelihood of academic failure and failed adult life. Even though the government cautiously opened schools and eased the restrictions of movement introduced in early March 2020, challenges persists and normalcy far away in the horizon. The two-meter distancing rule makes traveling expensive and difficult since few passengers in the bus translate to high fares in order for the operators to recoup costs and make profit (IMF, 2020b). Traveling costs and restrictions on movement and inefficient sanitization in schools at a time when the communal transmission of COVID-19 is on the increase is likely to scare some learners with disabilities and their families and teachers and therefore lead to unfavorable learning environment that predispose students with disabilities to school failures. Lack of resources and services increase COVID-19-related demotivation factors especially now when learning institutions are considered high-risk settings due to the high congregation of students from different places. Unfortunately, the abilities of parents, teachers, administrators, and other stakeholders (e.g., suppliers of school resources) to provide the support children need to navigate the education system from home are already limited. Previous studies have shown that disasters interfere with social structure and infrastructure (Chan, 2014) and pandemics cause serious harm to the affected communities (Chan, 2014; Heymann et al., 2015). For instance, the Ebola virus outbreak in West Africa caused deaths and damaged the fragile economies making it hard for patients as well as survivors to trust their governments' health guidelines (Heymann et al., 2015). Inadequate infrastructure, such as transportation systems (roads, railway, or seaways), and insecurities caused by the lack of basic needs such as clean water, food, or air, all lead to biases, desperation, fear, and violence that negatively affect economies and contribute to restlessness and mistrust of communities, institutions, and governments (Chan, 2014). As in the case of Ebola outbreak in West Africa that disrupted social and school life, vulnerable children—including those with disabilities, those from pastoral or nomadic communities, and the urban poor—are at increased risk of sexual exploitation, teen pregnancy, school dropout, and child labor (UNESCO Institute for Statistics [UIS], n.d.; Winters et al., 2017).

Moreover, school closures caused the kind of educational and social inequity (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1990) that is already felt in other realms of essential activity including healthcare, employment, and housing—that determine quality of life. The COVID-19 induced economic recession (IMF, 2020b) has also triggered disability-based biases and aggressions. Many families of children with disabilities are becoming poorer, and children with disabilities are now vulnerable to violence as schools stayed closed and digital learning remained inaccessible in 2020, as it happens in disease ravaged communities (Chan, 2014). While schools already opened, the disease has gained foothold in Kenya and the



mitigating measures remain inadequately implemented. As with Ebola in West Africa, the severity of the infectious disease in this case is likely to be magnified by poverty, which make it difficult for it to be contained, treated, and prevented. Poverty limits information flow and access to the medical equipment, vaccines, and medicines needed to manage an infectious disease. It also promotes health fraud, rumors, fears, violence, and the further spread of disease (Chan, 2014). Considering the mega learning barriers of children with disabilities, alleviating effects of COVID-19 is paramount.

#### **Empowering the Disabled through the Collective Health Security**

Health security initiatives are to provide protection from threats to health (Fidler, 2003; Heymann et al., 2015). It helps affected individuals increase their ability to withstand the effects of calamities so that they can improve their own wellbeing and that of the community. Chan (2014) has analyzed the impact of Ebola outbreak in West Africa in terms of health security arguing that local and global responses are critical in the management of infectious diseases, many of which require control of misinformation along with the allocation, distribution, and management of resources to ensure that help reaches the targeted communities and localities. Individual and collective health security measures are critical to the management of infectious diseases and the improvement of the wellbeing of society. This can be achieved when citizens of all cadres are provided with education that helps them participate in their own development as well as that of the broader community. While taming the COVID-19 pandemic requires collective initiatives, at the present time, the disability community has mostly been left out of consideration with respect to COVID-19 management initiatives. Key to the containment of COVID-19 pandemic and its negative impact and overall eradication of poverty is the provision of quality education to all community members especially learners with disabilities so that they can acquire the appropriate knowledge to function in the community now and in the post-pandemic period. Improving digital infrastructure is therefore key to the provision of disaster education and engaging communities in the recovery process.

#### **Empowering the Disabled through Disaster Education**

Although school closure is just one COVID-19 mitigating measure, the global scale and speed at which it disrupted education reduced the chance of children with disabilities accessing appropriate education on the level of non-disabled learners. Moreover, children with disabilities and their families are less prepared for disasters, and many are caught in the mix of wanting to adhere to the COVID-19 preventative measures while also eking out a living in a country with limited safety nets (Kabare, 2018). Further, even though disaster preparedness can lower the rate of injuries, deaths, and destruction of property (Hoffmann & Muttarak, 2017), many families of children with disabilities are not provided with the necessary knowledge of how they can survive or protect themselves in the case of disaster. This is opposed to Muttarak and Pothisiri's (2013) argument that families with people with disabilities are better prepared than non-disabled families.



The negative impact on children are likely reverberate for decades, since those unable to access education services or resources as well as those traumatized by COVID-19 and its effects may not resume school at all when this disaster is over. Often it is assumed that rescuers will provide them with special support in the case of a disaster. Sadly, many are left out from the disaster intervention programs even though preparing children for disasters is key to building their resiliency (Krishna et al., 2018). Toughness is necessary for survival during and after disasters. When it comes to demographics, families tend to be more prepared for disasters than single people, and those with disabilities also tend to be more prepared than non-disabled families (Muttarak & Pothisiri, 2013). When it comes to socioeconomic status, high-income families tend to be better prepared than low-income families because they can use their disposable income to buy additional supplies and build appropriate structures that can withstand disasters (Mishra & Suar, 2007). People who have lived in a certain geographical area for a long time and understand the different local hazards tend to be more prepared for these disasters than newcomers who may be less familiar with the situation. Also, home owners tend to invest more in disaster prevention or management than renters, who often see themselves as capable of moving to a different location in case a disaster hits (Tanaka, 2005). Some individuals tend to be psychosocially prepared for hazards and often invest in disaster management, which also helps them to develop self-resiliency and coping mechanisms (Hoffmann & Muttarak, 2017).

Krishna et al. (2018) conducted a study with adults to determine the disaster preparedness, response, and recovery experiences of children living in poverty who were affected by the 2015 floods in Tamil Nadu, India. They found that resiliency (the capacity to recover quickly from difficulties) during and after disasters was key to their survival. Resiliency is influenced by many factors, such as education, health, ability, age, awareness, sex, gender, socioeconomic status, class, income, and degree, depth, frequency and intensity of trauma (Bonanno et al., 2007; Krishna et al., 2018). Since psychosocially prepared individuals can more easily develop self-resiliency and coping mechanisms (Hoffmann & Muttarak, 2017), it is important that children with disabilities and their families are provided with disaster education. Introducing disaster education will ensure that students with disabilities learn about disasters, develop appropriate repertoires, prepare for them, increase their resiliency, and feel encouraged to participate in the recovery process. Since disasters have serious economic, political, social, cultural, and linguistic impacts on communities, establishing priorities and resources to mitigate their impact is critical in helping the affected communities recover from the challenges and continue with their lives (Heymann et al., 2015).

Disaster education and other interventions and recovery effort require a multisystemic approach (Masten, 2014) that centers on the child and family (Hielkema, 2017) to ensure that every reality of the child's experience is addressed (Bronfenbrenner & Ceci, 1994). In addition, preparation for the effects of disasters and interventions during and after disasters should consider the context and culture of the community in order to promote



adaptation and recovery (Jordans et al., 2016; Krishna et al., 2018). Education has been shown to improve the management of disasters and the propensity for survival in various settings and conditions (Hoffmann & Muttarak, 2017; Krishna et al., 2018). Offering disaster education can help children with disabilities and their families cope with the current situation and put them on the road to recovery.

# Involving Children with Disabilities in the Disaster Management and Recovery Process

Disasters are damaging. They ruin economies and infrastructure while also causing death. Disasters tend to affect low-income countries more significantly than high-income countries because of a lack of preparedness and the destruction of utilities and infrastructure that lowers the possibility of a quick delivery of necessary survival materials (Shreve & Kelman, 2014; van der Keur et al., 2016). Various measures are taken to reduce fatalities and the destruction of facilities, for example, by building earthquake resistant houses or developing warning system for those living in risky areas to facilitate early escape (Andrews & Quintana, 2015). The extent of the damage caused by disasters can be devastating, even to well-prepared individuals. It is therefore recommended that people stock up on enough materials, such as food and water, that can help them survive for more than 72 hours just in case they do not get immediate relief after a disaster hits (Russell et al., 1995).

Children make up the biggest population in Kenya, and they are the most affected by disasters (Martin, 2010). Children are vulnerable to direct and indirect effects of disasters, including injuries, trauma, diseases, and illnesses (McDermott & Cobham, 2014; Mitchell & Borchard, 2014). Children are also vulnerable to exploitation as a result of displacement; separation from parents; death of their loved ones and caretakers (Taylor, 2014); inaccessible basic needs such as water, food, and shelter (Babugura, 2008); the inability to understand the disaster and the circumstances they are in; and the difficulty in coping with the changed situation (Buechner, 2020), especially when the structures of society break down (Masten, 2014). All children are gravely affected by disasters, but the most vulnerable categories are infants and young children, girl child, and children with disabilities. As previous studies show (McDermott & Cobham, 2014), unfortunately, Kenyan children are never prepared for disasters, often being caught in difficult environments that they cannot make sense of, leading to the most devastating consequences on their physical and mental health. They are vulnerable to physical and mental abuses (e.g., neglect, aggressions, rape, murder).

Kenyan children with disabilities have a lot of experience with disasters, and so further preparation and involvement in recovery is essential (Krishna et al., 2018). As other studies have shown (e.g., Amri et al., 2017; Ronan et al., 2016), the capacities of Kenyan children with disabilities (e.g., their resiliency, inquisitiveness, innovations) can contribute to the management of risks caused by disasters in any community. The participation of children in the management of disasters is critical for the wellbeing of society (UNISDR, 2015). Community members aware of the impact of disasters are more prepared to handle



the disaster and its after-effects than unaware communities. For instance, Hoffmann and Muttarak (2017) demonstrated how education about disaster education promoted the coping ability of individuals in Thailand and the Philippines after hazards had occurred. They found that disaster preparedness lowered the risks of harm caused by natural hazards, such as earthquakes and hurricanes, and outbreaks of epidemics or pandemics. Then, involving Kenyan children with disabilities in the recovery process is especially important at this time. Such involvement will help to nurture their resiliency, reduce their school dropout rates, and promote success in adulthood, thereby ensuring that they can contribute to the welfare of their communities.

The UN Goal 13 of the SDGs requires nations to prepare their citizens for various natural hazards due to climate change to avoid serious harm to society (UNISDR, 2015). The government of Kenya in partnership with international financial institutions - International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank – have dedicated huge resources to mitigate effects of COVID-19 pandemic. This includes \$739 million grant from the IMF (2020a). For instance, the government set aside \$43,772,920 for May-June 2020 payment cycle to a total of 1,094,323 beneficiaries who each was paid \$40 to cushion them from hurts caused by COVID-19. The beneficiaries of these funds were in three major money transfer programs known as the Inua Jamii Cash Transfer Programs-Orphans and Vulnerable Cash Transfer Program, Older Persons Cash Transfer Program, and Persons with Severe Disability Cash Transfer Program (NCPWDS, n.d.). However, corruption has seen families of children with disabilities denied financial support. ALMedlij and Rubinstein-Avila (2019) study found that government support, implementation of disability legislation, disability awareness, and training of highly qualified teachers contributed to the development of education for students with learning disabilities in Saudi Arabia. Similarly, it is important to establish structures that promote disability awareness and inclusion and participation of children with disabilities and their families in the education sector. Equally, it is important to restructure the mechanism of distribution of COVID-19 funds to ensure that resources and services reach all needy families. Vital is sharing these information with the public especially the disability community and educating the masses not just about COVID-19 but also disability rights. Educating the masses ensures that appropriate information flows from one region to another to counter any misinformation that may be spreading and causing hostilities or mistrust in the community (Chan, 2014).

The approach of the intervention or response teams should be inter-disciplinary to allow various practitioners, such as doctors, anthropologists, preachers, economists, police officers, educators, and other professionals, families and lay people, to work with the affected community without agitating them or raising further suspicion. For instance, in situations where medics are suspected to be vectors, the communities should avoid any hostility as has been witnessed in countries like Nigeria, Pakistan, or the Democratic Republic of Congo where medics providing polio vaccines or administering quarantine orders have been killed (Chan, 2014; WHO, 2011). Such killings instill fear and mistrust,



discourage medics from well-established institutions or countries from aiding, cause closures of hospitals, schools, and exacerbate insecurity (Chan, 2014). Thus, improving digital infrastructure is key to addressing disasters by providing updated information, containing fear, providing education to all, and preparing and engaging learners with disabilities in the disaster recovery process.

## CONCLUSION

COVID-19 pandemic exposed children with disabilities to multiple disastrous circumstances-discrimination, stigma, aggression, and violence-that increased their miseducation since Kenya closed schools to control the spread of the virus. The nationwide lockdown and closures of schools significantly interrupted the economic, social, cultural, political, economic, linguistic, and technological structures of Kenyan society, thereby causing further educational harm to learners with disabilities. Deferment of learning left children with disabilities behind and caused physical, economic, and psychological hardship and trauma. Millions of learners with disabilities face many structural barriers in schools and community, including biases and infrastructural issues that make it difficult to participate in learning. Consequently, the disruption of education leaves behind a trail of damage that children with disabilities may not fully recover from without the implementation of mitigating measures. Therefore, making disaster education and involving children with disabilities and their families in the disaster management and recovery process is paramount to stopping COVID-19 pandemic from eroding the educational opportunities and threatening Kenya's realization of Vision 2030 poverty reduction.

#### **Limitation and Future Studies**

This study focused specifically on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the education of children with disabilities during the period March-December 2020. However, the disease continued to interrupt a wide range of groups and various sectors in Kenya into 2021. Before the COVID-19 pandemic, Kenya had recently dealt with flooding and locust plague and extreme drought. Therefore, future studies should focus on the intersectionality of these disasters to understand their impact on the education of students with disabilities and their families. Also, studies should compare the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on students with and without disabilities. In addition, future studies should focus on disaster education and management to understand their impact on children with disabilities and their families. Despite these limitations, there remains a gap in disaster education and disaster management as pertains children with disabilities. Nonetheless, this study provides a kind of starting point from which it is possible to initiate disaster education and recovery programs in Kenya. This way, this paper makes social realities by assessing the negative impact of COVID-19 pandemic on schooling of students with special needs in Kenya and by giving voice to learners with disabilities, this paper also contributes to possibilities of addressing the very invisible education and life aspects of students with disabilities.



#### REFERENCES

- ALMedlij, M. A., & Rubinstein-Ávila, E. B. (2019). The Development of LD Education in Saudi Arabia: Services and Implications for the future. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 2(2), 83-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2018.29</u>
- Amri, A., Haynes, K., Bird, D. K., & Ronan, K. (2017). Bridging the divide between studies on disaster risk reduction education and child-centred disaster risk reduction: A critical review. *Children's Geographies*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2017.1358448</u>
- Andrews, R. J., & Quintana, L. M. (2015). Unpredictable, unpreventable and impersonal medicine: Global disaster response in the 21st century. *The EPMA Journal*, 6(1), 2. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13167-014-0024-9.
- Annan, J. (2005). Situational Analysis: A Framework for Evidence-Based Practice. School Psychology International, 26(2), 131–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034305052909</u>
- Ayugi, B., Tan, G., Niu, R., Dong, Z., Ojara, M., Mumo, L., Babaousmail, H., & Ongoma, V. (2020). Evaluation of meteorological drought and flood scenarios over Kenya, East Africa. *Atmosphere*, 11(3), 307. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos11030307</u>
- Babugura, A.A. (2008). Vulnerability of children and youth in drought disasters: A case study of Botswana. *Children, Youth and Environments, 18*(1), 126-157.
   www.jstor.org/stable/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.18.1.0126.
- Bonanno, G. A., Galea, S., Bucciarelli, A., & Vlahov, D. (2007). What predicts psychological resilience after disaster? The role of demographics, resources, and life stress. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75(5), 671–682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.75.5.671</u>
- Bourdieu, P., & Passeron, J. C. (1977/1990). *Reproduction in education, society and culture* (Vol. 4). London, England: Sage.
- Braden, C. R., Dowell, S. F., Jernigan, D. B., & Hughes, J. M. (2013). Progress in global surveillance and response capacity 10 years after severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(6), 864–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1906.130192</u>
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Ceci, S. J. (1994). Nature-nurture reconceptualized in developmental perspective: A bioecological model. *Psychological Review*, 101(4), 568-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.101.4.568</u>
- Buechner, M. (2020, June 24). UNICEF: In War vs. Poverty (and COVID-19), Cash Is King. https://www.unicefusa.org/stories/unicef-war-vs-poverty-and-covid-19-cash-king/37415
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). *International health regulations*. http://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/ihregulations.htm



- Chan, M. (2014). Ebola virus disease in West Africa No early end to the outbreak. *N Engl J Med*, 371, 1183-1185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1409859</u>
- Cliffe, A. D. (2017). A review of the benefits and drawbacks to virtual field guides in today's geoscience higher education environment. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 14, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-017-0066-x</u>
- Daily Nation Group. (2020, July 7). Schools to reopen in 2021: Magoha. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=x8crXoPsknA
- Daily Nation Group. (2020, May 29). A chance to revitalise our education sector. <u>https://www.nation.co.ke/kenya/blogs-opinion/editorials/a-chance-to-revitalise-our-</u> <u>education-sector-310804</u>

EduMonitor. https://theeducationmonitor.com/

- Edu TV Kenya https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCByj0XrDmb0UDUui63EOnhA
- Etherington, D. (2020, July 7). Alphabet's Loon launches its balloon-powered Kenyan internet service. *TechCrunch*. <u>https://www.yahoo.com/finance/alphabets-loon-launches-balloon-powered-120454864.html</u>
- Fidler, D. P. (2003). Public health and national security in the global age: infectious diseases, bioterrorism, and realpolitik. *Geo Wash Int Law Rev*, 416, 787–856. <u>https://www.repository.law.indiana.edu/facpub/416</u>
- Field, C. B., Barros, V., Stocker, T., Dahe, Q., Dokken, D. J., Ebi, K. L., & Mastrandrea, M. D. (2012). *Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- GHSA Preparation Task Force Team. (December 2015). Global Health Security: The Lessons from the West African Ebola Virus Disease Epidemic and MERS Outbreak in the Republic of Korea. Osong Public Health and Research Perspectives, 6(6), S25–S27. <u>https://doi.org/0.1016/j.phrp.2015.12.006</u>
- Hielkema, M., De Winter, A. F., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2017). Validity of a family-centered approach for assessing infants social-emotional wellbeing and their developmental context: A prospective cohort study. *BMC Pediatrics*, 17(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-017-0898-5</u>
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). (2020a, March 6). IMF Executive Board Approves a US\$739 Million Disbursement to Kenya to Address the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2020/05/06/pr20208-kenya-imf-executive-board-approves-us-million-disbursement-address-impact-covid-19-pandemic</u>
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). (2020b, June). World Economic Outlook Update, June 2020: A Crisis Like No Other, An Uncertain Recovery. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2020/06/24/WEOUpdateJune2020



- Jordans, M. J., Pigott, H., & Tol, W. A. (2016). Interventions for children affected by armed conflict: A systematic review of mental health and psychosocial support in low-and middle-income countries. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 18(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-015-0648-z
- Kabare, K. (October 2018). Social protection and disability in Kenya. <u>https://www.developmentpathways.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Disability-</u> <u>Report-Kenya.pdf</u>
- Kenya Institute of Curriculum Development (KICD). (2016). Report on needs assessment for primary level school curriculum in Kenya. <u>https://kicd.ac.ke/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/PRIMARY-REPORT.pdf</u>
- Kenya Institute of Curriculum Development (KICD). (n.d.). Out of classroom learning. https://kicd.ac.ke/broadcast-schedule/
- Kenya Institute of Special Education (KISE). (2018). National Survey on Children with Disabilities and Special Needs in Education. <u>https://www.kise.ac.ke/system/files/2020-07/Official%20Research%20Report%20on%20Disability%20Published%20by%20KISE%2</u> <u>0%282018%29.pdf</u>
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS) and ICF Macro. (2010). Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2008-09. Calverton, Maryland: KNBS and ICF Macro. <u>http://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/fr229/fr229.pdf</u>.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). 2009 Kenya Census. <u>http://knbs.or.ke/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&id=109:popul</u> <u>ation-and-housing-census-2009&Itemid=599</u>.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). (2010). *The 2009 Kenya population and housing census*. Nairobi: <u>http://knbs.or.ke/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&id=109:popul\_ation-and-housing-census-2009&Itemid=599</u>.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). (2007). *Kenya Vision* 2030. http://vision2030.go.ke/inc/uploads/2018/05/Vision-2030-Popular-Version.pdf
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS). (November 4, 2019). 2019 Kenya Population and Housing Census Results. <u>https://www.knbs.or.ke/?p=5621</u>
- Kiru, E. W. (2019). Special Education in Kenya. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 54(3), 181–188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451218767919</u>
- Krause, V., & Otenyo, E. E. (2006). Terrorism and the Kenyan Public. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 28(2), 99-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10576100590905075</u>
- Krishna, R. N., Ronan, K.R., & Alisic, E. (2018). Children in the 2015 South Indian floods: community members' views. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 9(sup2), 1486122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2018.1486122</u>



- Leonard Chesire. (2019). Innovation to inclusion: Understanding data systems for employment and social protection of persons with disabilities in Kenya and Bangladesh. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_emp/---</u> <u>ifp\_skills/documents/publication/wcms\_732018.pdf</u>
- Malplat, C. (May 19, 2020). Virus stigma weighs heavily in sub-Saharan Africa. *AFP*. https://news.yahoo.com/virus-stigma-weighs-heavily-sub-saharan-africa-024119780.html
- Mariga, G., Ogenga, S., Shikali, C., & Muliaro, J. (May 2017). Computer Laptop Project Strategy for Basic Education Schools in Kenya. *International Journal of Information and Communication Technology Research*, 7(5), 1-14. <a href="http://repository.mut.ac.kei8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/2814">http://repository.mut.ac.kei8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/2814</a>
- Martin, M. L. (2010). Child participation in disaster risk reduction: The case of flood-affected children in Bangladesh. *Third World Quarterly*, 31(8), 1357–1375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2010.541086</u>
- Masten, A. S. (2014). Global perspectives on resilience in children and youth. *Child Development*, *85*(1), 6–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12205</u>
- McDermott, B. M., & Cobham, V. E. (2014). A stepped care model of post-disaster child and adolescent mental health service provision. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 5(1), 24294. https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v5.24294
- Ministry of Education Science and Technology & Volunteer Service Oversees (2014). The NationalSpecialNeedsEducationSurveyReport.Retrievedfromhttps://www.vsointernational.org/sites/default/files/SNE%20Report\_Full%20- 2.pdf
- Mishra, S., & Suar, D. (2007). Do lessons people learn determine disaster cognition and preparedness? *Psychology & Developing Societies*, 19(2), 143–159. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/097133360701900201</u>
- Mitchell, P., & Borchard, C. (2014). Mainstreaming children's vulnerabilities and capacities into community based adaptation to enhance impact. *Climate and Development*, 6(4), 372–381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014.934775</u>
- Mugendi, Jacob. (August 15, 2019). Kenya's primary school laptops project failed. https://www.iafrikan.com/2019/08/15/kenyas-failed-primary-school-laptops-project/
- Mulinya, L.C., & Orodho, J. A. (2015). Free primary education policy: Coping strategies in public primary schools in Kakamega South District, Kakamega County, Kenya. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(12), 162-172. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1080614.pdf</u>
- Muthoni, K. (2020, April 30). Brookhouse school sued over online learning fee. *The Standard*. <u>https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/education/article/2001369625/brookhouse-school-sued-over-online-learning-fee</u>



- Mutisya, D. N. & Makokha, G. L. (October 20, 2016). Challenges affecting adoption of e-learning in public universities in Kenya. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 13(3–4) 140–157. <u>https://doiorg/10.1177/2042753016672902</u>
- Muttarak, R., & Pothisiri, W. (2013). The role of education on disaster preparedness: Case study of 2012 Indian Ocean earthquakes on Thailand's Andaman coast. *Ecology and Society*, 18(4), 51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-06101-180451</u>.
- National Council For Persons With Disability (NCPWDs). (n.d.a). http://www.ncpwd.go.ke/images/PRESS\_RELEASE\_\_May-June\_2020\_1.pdf
- National Council For Persons With Disability (NCPWDs). (n.d.a). Cash transfer payments for persons with severe disabilities under Inua Jamii Program for January-February 2020 and March-April 2020. <u>http://www.ncpwd.go.ke/images/CT\_payments\_April\_2020\_1.pdf</u>
- Ngugi, M., Mumiukha, C., Fedha, F., & Ndiga, B. (2015). Universal Primary Education in Kenya: Advancement and Challenges. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(14), 87–95. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1080119.pdf</u>
- Ohba, A., & Malenya, F. L. (2020). Addressing inclusive education for learners with disabilities in the integrated education system: the dilemma of public primary schools in Kenya. Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education, 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2020.1726727</u>
- Okaka, F. O., & Odhiambo, B. D. O. (2018). Relationship between flooding and outbreak of infectious diseases in Kenya: A review of the literature. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5452938</u>
- Opeke, Funke. (2018, February 13). A call for infrastructure sharing in Africa: Funke Opeke. <u>https://news.itu.int/a-call-for-infrastructure-sharing-in-africa/</u>
- Peralta, E. (2020, July 11). As Kenya Keeps Schools Shut, Teen Pregnancies Are Rising. NPR. https://www.npr.org/2020/07/11/889718651/as-kenya-keeps-schools-shut-teenpregnancies-are-rising
- Republic of Kenya. (2001). *Children Act No.08/2001, 2001,* retrieved from http://kenyalaw.org/Downloads/GreyBook/12.%20The%20Children's%20Act
- Republic of Kenya. (2009). *The National Special Needs Education Policy Framework*: Nairobi Government Printer.
- Republic of Kenya. (2010). *The Constitution of Kenya*. <u>http://www.kenya-information-guide.com/support-files/the\_constitution\_of\_kenya.pdf</u>
- Ressa, T. (2009, November 20). "My Journey Across Ridges": An Interview with Theodoto Ressa. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 29, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.18061/dsq.v29i4.1007</u>
- Ronan, K. R., Haynes, K., Towers, B., Alisic, E., Ireland, N., Amri, A. Davie, S., & Petal, M. (2016). Child-centred disaster risk reduction: Can disaster resilience programs reduce risk and



increase the resilience of children and households? *Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, 31(3), 49–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-8845-2\_17</u>

- Russell, L. A., Goltz, J. D., & Bourque, L. B. (1995). Preparedness and hazard mitigation actions before and after two earthquakes. *Environment and Behavior*, 27(6), 744–770. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0013916595276002</u>
- Schneider, D. E. (2018). Unstructured personal technology use in the classroom and college student learning: A literature review. *The Community College Enterprise*, 24(2), 10-20. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1207810</u>
- Shreve, C. M., & Kelman, I. (2014). Does mitigation save? Reviewing cost-benefit analyses of disaster risk reduction. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 10(Part A), 213–235. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2014.08.004.
- Tanaka, K. (2005). The impact of disaster education on public preparation and mitigation for earthquakes: A cross-country comparison between Fukui, Japan and the San Francisco Bay Area, California. USA. *Applied Geography*, 25(3), 201–225. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2005.07.001.
- TransparencyInternational.(2020).Corruptionperceptionsindex2019.<a href="https://www.transparency.org/files/content/pages/2019\_CPI\_Report\_EN.pdf">https://www.transparency.org/files/content/pages/2019\_CPI\_Report\_EN.pdf</a>
- United Nations. (2019). Disability and Development Report: Realizing the Sustainable Development Goals by, for and with persons with disabilities. New York: United Nations. <u>https://social.un.org/publications/UN-Flagship-Report-Disability-Final.pdf</u>
- United Nations. (2015). *Global Status Report on Disabilities and Development, Prototype*. New York: United Nations.
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2008). *Monitoring Child Disabilities in Developing Countries: Results from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys*. Division of Policy and Practice: New York, NY
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2011). *The state of the world's children 2011. Adolescence the world of opportunity*. New York: UNICEF.
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2013). *The state of world's children with disabilities*. https://www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/SWCR2013\_ENG\_Lo\_res\_24\_Apr\_20\_13.pdf
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2014). Data on children & disabilities. http://www.unsiap.or.jp/e-learning/el\_material/PSS/pcd\_fiji/PCD\_M2\_3\_P2.pdf
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2014). Draft document: Module on Child Functioning and Disabilities Washington Group on Disabilities Statistics. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/washington group/meeting13/wg13 unicef child disab</u> <u>ility background.pdf</u>



- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2017). *The State of the World's Children: Children in a Digital World*. <u>https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/SOWC\_2017\_ENG\_WEB.pdf</u>
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (n.d.a). *Education: From disruption to recovery*. <u>https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse</u>
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (n.d.b). *Sustainable Development Goals*. <u>http://data.uis.unesco.org</u>
- United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR). (2015). *Disaster risk reduction and resilience in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*. Geneva, Switzerland: The United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR). <u>http://www.unisdr.org/files/46052\_disasterriskreductioninthe2030agend.pdf</u>
- van der Keur, P., van Bers, C., Henriksen, H. J., Nibanupudi, H. K., Yadav, S., Wijaya, R., Subiyono, A., Murkerjee, N., Hausmann, H., Hare, M., & van Scheltinga, C. T., Pearn, G. & Jaspers, F. (2016). Identification and analysis of uncertainty in disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation in South and Southeast Asia. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, *16*, 208–214. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2016.03.002</u>
- Waita, E. & Njehia, J. (2020, May 27). Kenya rolls out testing in Nairobi slums, but some fear stigma. *Reuters*. <u>https://news.yahoo.com/kenya-rolls-testing-nairobi-slums-</u> <u>110012661.html</u>
- Wamuyu, P. K. (2017, December). Bridging the Digital Divide among Low Income Urban Communities. Leveraging Use of Community Technology Centers. *Telematics & Informatics*, 34(8), 1709–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.08.004</u>
- Willett, J., & Sears, J. (2018). Complicating our understanding of environmental migration and displacement: The case of drought-related human movement in Kenya. *International Social Work*, 63(3), 364-370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872818799431</u>
- Winters, N., Langer, L., & Geniets, A. (2017). Physical, psychological, sexual, and systemic abuse of children with disabilities in East Africa: Mapping the evidence. *PloS One*, 12(9), e0184541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184541</u>
- World Bank. (n.d.a). Disability Inclusion. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/disability
- World Bank. (n.d.b). How countries are using edtech (including online learning, radio, television, texting) to support access to remote learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/edutech/brief/how-countries-are-using-edtech-tosupport-remote-learning-during-the-covid-19-pandemic
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2005). *International Health Regulations (3rd ed.)*. Geneva: World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241580496</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2011). Implementation of the International Health Regulations (2005): report of the Review Committee on the Functioning of the International Health Regulations (2005) in relation to pandemic (H1N1) 2009. A65/10. Geneva: World Health Organization.



World Health Organization and World Bank. (2011). *World report on disability*. <u>https://www.who.int/disabilities/world\_report/2011/en/</u>





# INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MODERN EDUCATION STUDIES

Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209

# **Beginning Teacher Support Model: Elementary Teachers' Resilience and Retention in Arizona**

Kelly Olson Stewart<sup>1</sup> Erin Rotheram-Fuller<sup>2</sup> Daniel D. Liou<sup>3</sup>

#### Abstract:

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 50-74 http://www.ijonmes.net dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

#### Article Info:

Received : 19.02.2021 Revision 1 : 07.03.2021 Accepted : 18.03.2021

DOI: 10.51383/ijonmes.2021.75 In the United States, beginning teacher retention rates are extraordinarily low; only 50% of teachers remain in the classroom after five years. In particular, the state of Arizona has been recruiting significant numbers of teachers from out of state and attempting to retain them with minimal success. This persistent problem has led the neediest of students to have teachers with lower levels of experience, leaving those students with continually lower achievement gains. Drawing on integrated action research and grounded theory methodology, this study used a Creating Authentic Resilient Educators (C.A.R.E) model to support six new, out-of-state teachers in an elementary school district located in a high-poverty neighborhood in Arizona. In face-to-face group sessions and individual assignments, participants reflected on their experiences and examined multiple topics focused on persistence and resilience to reduce beginning teacher attrition. Participant responses showed that teachers must be nurtured and cared for in order to allow them to focus their time and energy on effectively caring for the students in their classrooms. Increasing support for new teachers has the potential to keep effective teachers in the classroom and improve the culture of teaching within schools.

**Keywords**:

ds: Teacher retention, Teacher attrition, Elementary education, Teacher resiliency, Teacher support

#### Citation:

Olson Stewart, K., Rotheram-Fuller, E., & Liou, D. D. (2021). Beginning Teacher Support Model: Elementary Teachers' Resilience and Retention in Arizona. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 5(1), 49-73. http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.75

kelly.olsonstewart@uagc.edu ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4248-6075

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ph.D. Education Faculty Lead, Assistant Professor, Department of Education & Liberal Arts, College of Arts & Sciences, University of Arizona Global Campus, San Diego, CA, USA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Associate Professor, Mary Lou Fulton Teachers College, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA <u>erf@asu.edu</u> ORCID ID: 0000-0002-9604-4192

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Associate Professor, Mary Lou Fulton Teachers College, Arizona State University, Glendale, AZ, USA <u>dliou@asu.edu</u> ORCID ID: 0000-0001-5911-0181

# **INTRODUCTION**

In the United States, teacher retention is an ongoing and critical problem. Especially now, during the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been decreased interest in remaining in the profession and increased retirement to avoid exposure to COVID-19 within the classroom (De La Rosa, 2020). "Currently in [the state of] Arizona, there are 1,800 vacancies and 47% of the vacancies are filled by teachers who do not meet the state's standard certification requirements" (ASPAA, 2020, para. 2). Even prior to the 2020 school year, however, teachers were leaving the profession at alarming rates (Garcia and Weiss, 2019a; Kain, 2011). Evidence suggests that the number of years of teaching experience held by an educator may be positively related to student achievement (Burroughs et al., 2019; Hightower et al., 2011); thus, we need to keep experienced teachers in the classroom to ensure that all students succeed.

The importance of retaining out-of-state teachers in Arizona, the location of this study, is particularly noteworthy. The Arizona population has been growing in recent years due to an increase in job opportunities that has brought many new students to the state (Vanek, 2020). Unfortunately, the state has not been able to fill all of the teaching positions each year, especially since some Arizona-trained teachers leave to go to other states (ASPAA, 2015, 2020). Out-of-state recruitment of teachers has become necessary. While out-of-state teachers bring a richness to the culture of classrooms, offering new perspectives, experiences, and diversity, there are many unique challenges that come with being an out-of-state teacher. Teachers who have moved are navigating new lives in an unfamiliar location, along with new job experiences and responsibilities, and frequently experience loneliness as a result of leaving their friends and family behind (Author 1, 2015).

This nuanced group of out-of-state beginning teachers is not readily identified in the literature, yet districts around the United States recruit from out of their state and are affected by the complicating factors that this group may experience. This study, though small and local to an Arizona district, has lessons and strategies that may be applicable across the United States.

#### Effects of Teacher Attrition

Teacher retention is a fiscally staggering and professionally draining issue. In fact, the cost of teacher attrition in the United States is approximately \$7.3 billion a year (Garcia & Weisss, 2019a; Hallam et al., 2012). Teacher attrition is more than just a fiscal issue, though; it impacts the learning of students, infects teacher morale, and rattles the trust of the community (Garcia & Weiss, 2019a; Ingersoll, 2002; Stockard, 2004). The teacher attrition problem is largest in schools that have higher populations of students who are minorities,



living in poverty, and/or struggling academically (Burroughs et al., 2019; Center for Comprehensive School Reform and Improvement, 2007; Earley & Ross, 2006; Garcia & Weiss, 2019a); in these schools, teacher turnover is fully 50% higher (Ingersoll, 2002). Research further indicates that student learning is also directly affected by the experience level of the teacher: the lesser the experience, the lesser the level of student academic growth (Garcia & Weiss, 2019a; Kukla-Acevedo, 2009; P. Watkins, 2003). Therefore, we see that the neediest of students tend to have teachers with lower levels of experience, leaving those students with continually lower achievement gains.

In particular, teachers are leaving their profession during the initial years of their careers rather than persevering through those first years. Beginning teachers have been leaving the field at alarming rates, with nearly 30% leaving within the first three years of teaching (Fisher, 2011; Ingersoll & Merrill, 2012). Experts on this issue state that the problem in schools today is twofold: (1) attrition from those leaving the teaching profession, and (2) migration from those moving to teaching jobs at other types of schools (Ingersoll & Smith, 2003).

The impact of beginning teacher attrition on schools is significant. When employees work together as closely as teachers do, high turnover rates begin to affect morale and the development of relationships between coworkers, and the sense of community that is important to the success of a school begins to diminish (Joiner & Edwards, 2008). In many places, this creates a ripple effect of lack of morale and community that perpetuates more attrition. Administrators spend time reviewing procedures and policies rather than focusing on and recruiting new teachers (Bland et al., 2016; Watkins, 2016). Veteran teachers get overwhelmed with the additional expectations placed on them due to the inexperience of their newer colleagues (Ozder, 2011). At the end of the school year, many beginning teachers leave, forcing the cycle to repeat (Fantilli & McDougall, 2009). Morale crumbles, the teachers who remain become less willing to connect with new hires, and an ambivalence to the beginning teachers' plight emerges (Buchanan et al., 2013). Rollins (2008) notes that the school climate perpetuates a sink-or-swim mentality that continues year after year. New teachers, still constructing their professional identities, are greatly impacted by this negative climate (Smethern, 2007), which then perpetuates continuous staff turnover.

Administrators struggle with teacher turnover as well. It has been a challenge for principals to establish a productive and consistent culture while constantly interrupted by high turnover (Hallam et al., 2012; Watkins, 2016). Administrators are often unaware or uncertain of how to support new teachers or manage the reasons that cause teachers to abandon their posts (Esch, 2010; Hallam et al., 2012; McNulty & Fox, 2010; Schlichte et al., 2005; Watkins, 2016). With the intensity of the initiatives in schools today, administrators are not able to focus on altering climates and cultures to positively influence retention (Walsh et al., 2011; Watkins, 2016; WestEd, 2005). Joiner and Edwards (2008) suggest that the first step is to assess why teachers are leaving (before they can be encouraged to stay),



yet district and school administrators remain unaware of why new teachers are leaving and do not understand why those who do stay choose to remain (Barnes, 2017; Watkins, 2016).

#### Efforts to Improve Teacher Retention

Across the nation, schools and districts have worked to maximize beginning teacher retention (Garcia & Weiss, 2019a; Turner, 2009). Some of the most common methods have included developing mentoring programs (assigning a colleague to a new teacher), formal professional development (sessions designed to enhance classroom performance or introduce strategies), and induction programs (intentional support sessions targeting new teacher needs, typically offered when beginning teachers first arrive). In Smith and Ingersoll's (2004) study of induction and mentoring programs, it was found that, while there was a relationship between beginning teachers receiving support and a higher retention rate, the strength of that relationship depended on the type of support and the number of supports received.

Support models have varied greatly across the nation for these novice teachers, and even internationally there has been a newer body of literature exploring methods and ideas for increasing retention. One support method that has been commonly used by districts is beginning teacher induction the day before the school year starts. One-day inductions provide new teachers with a common experience and sometimes increased connectivity with their beginning teacher peers. The typical objectives of this induction include personal skill development, socialization into the profession, an assessment of teaching effectiveness, and support in modifying practices or strategies (Martin, 2011). One-day sessions, however, may not be as impactful as ongoing induction opportunities (Mansfield & Beltman, 2019; Wechsler et al., 2010). Induction that also includes professional collaboration and a focused, site-based socialization has been shown to increase beginning teacher retention (Gossom, 2004; Martin, 2011; Schlichte et al., 2005). Professional collaboration also enhances teacher job satisfaction (Devos et al., 2012; Mansfield & Beltman, 2019; Martin, 2011; Schlichte et al., 2005). Districts with rich induction systems in place have noted a positive impact on the retention of beginning teachers (Ingersoll & Merrill, 2012; Mansfield & Beltman, 2019; Turner, 2009).

Other factors that have impacted the success of beginning teacher retention are a focus on the culture and climate of the school site and leadership by the principal in establishing a nurturing environment where new teachers feel supported and appreciated (TNTP, 2012; Turner, 2009; A. Watkins, 2016). This staff and administrative connectivity is especially critical when teachers are joining a staff without additional, non-school-related supports in the form of family or friends. As Joiner and Edwards (2008) note, "If the climate and the culture of a school building do not support the induction activities of mentoring, collaborating and growing professionally, then new teachers will not be successfully socialized into the school organization" (p. 5).



#### Context of the Study

Arizona has been recruiting significant numbers of teachers from out of state and attempting to retain them. Given the increased challenges of being an out-of-state beginning teacher and the importance of this group for teacher retention in Arizona, this study's purpose was to explore potential methods for supporting those teachers and increasing their retention.

The targeted school district was consumed with a beginning teacher retention crisis. This retention crisis sparked attention from the community, school board, and administration, prompting them to further explore the factors that contributed to beginning teacher retention. This district, as well as neighboring districts, continued to try to find the magic formula to decrease teacher attrition through induction programs, coaching positions, and other creative support networks. Programming and curricular decisions for supporting and retaining new teachers continued to be developed and altered without any targeted data collection to monitor their effectiveness. The 2010-11 school district report submitted to the Arizona Department of Education captured the challenge from three years prior, when the attrition rate rose to 88%, noting the district's continued struggle with data on specific reasons why teachers leave because of the lack of participation on the exit survey. Exit interviews were the common method used to determine why beginning teachers who had resigned were leaving, yet this practice seemed to be underutilized and underanalyzed. Given these conditions, exploring the reasons why beginning teachers leave the profession and developing an intervention to improve beginning teacher retention were critical.

As a result, we created a program of informal support sessions for first-year, out-ofstate teachers, to explore the effects on both retention and teacher attitude over the course of participants' first semester of teaching. The sessions were led by a district administrator; focused on personal and professional skills of everyday resiliency, including stress management, coping skills, and awareness of support structures (including their colleagues, administrative staff, district personnel, new friends, etc.); and were grounded in research about the needs of beginning teachers (Moir, 2011). The ultimate goal was to understand how such support might alter a beginning teacher's perceptions of their own persistence and resilience in dealing with the challenges of first-year teaching, thereby reducing beginning teacher attrition. Within the literature, there were no specific resources for how to customize support for out-of-state beginning teachers. Individual interviews we conducted with previous out-of-state beginning teachers prior to this study suggested that the following topics needed to be addressed: emotional support, feelings of isolation, and personal coping strategies. This led to the creation of a support program called the Creating Authentic Resilient Educators (C.A.R.E.) model.

The C.A.R.E. model (see Figure 1) was composed of key considerations for districts and sites when creating an innovative support plan for out-of-state beginning teachers. The overlapping concentric circles indicate the importance of each factor in the model. Both



district- and site-level support for and commitment to the retention of beginning teachers was considered crucial. The C.A.R.E. model required an informal setting in which a skillful facilitator met face to face with participants. The sessions themselves focused on developing personal skills, including self-efficacy, acknowledging work/life balance with stress management, increasing confidence, and developing self-advocacy skills. The central focus of this support was resiliency. Digital narratives and reflection opportunities were also an essential component of the model, to provide participants with a purposeful reflection on their face-to-face session experiences.



Figure 1: Out-of-State Beginning Teacher Support Model – A Community of C.A.R.E.

# **METHODS**

We used an integrated action research (Herr & Anderson, 2014) and grounded theory methodology (Cresswell, 2009) for this 15-week study. Data were gathered from interviews, questionnaires, journal reflections, and mapping activities. We also had a significant focus on using innovative techniques to capture participant experiences through visual means, including drawing maps in face-to-face sessions and creating reflections using digital images on iPads. In this study, visuals allowed each participant to tell their story through multiple data sources and to reflect on how the support sessions were valued.

# Setting

The study took place in an elementary school district situated in a high-poverty neighborhood in Arizona. The district consisted of seven K-8 schools, one alternative placement school, and one 5-8 school and served approximately 5,600 students. The student



population of the district was considered high poverty, and all schools were designated Title 1. Roughly 13% of the students qualified for special education services, and 11% were identified as English Language Learner students. The district was given a C rating by the Arizona Department of Education, with one school given an F.

In the three years before this study, the district lost two-thirds of its staff to other districts, retirement, moving, or leaving the profession altogether. As a result, the district conducted out-of-state recruiting. In the 2012-13 school year, 54 beginning teachers were hired, with 19 of them arriving from out of state. Of that group, 36% of the beginning teachers resigned, and of that group, 63% were from out of state. In 2013-14, 98 beginning teachers were hired, of whom 33 were from out of state, and 42% of those beginning teachers resigned. In the 2014-15 school year, there were 25 beginning teachers hired, of whom 6 were from out of state. This study's intervention supported those six out-of-state beginning teachers.

#### **Participants**

The participants in this study were new to the state, new to teaching, and not alternatively certified within the district. The district's Human Resources office initially identified these teachers as meeting the criteria of having zero years of experience in a classroom and having lived in Arizona less than three months. The six participants were all hired and began induction in July, when they were presented with the opportunity to be part of the study. None of the eligible teachers declined participation, and all completed informed consent to participate in the study. These teachers represented kindergarten through eighth grade and taught in five of the district's nine schools. Teacher names were changed to code letters to maintain confidentiality. Table 1 provides a complete list of the demographic information about each participant.



Identifier	Gender	Age (years)	Teaching Assignment	School Description	Housing	Previous Moving Experience	Previous Residence (Region of the United States)
Teacher A	Female	22	Primary (K-2)	47% Free & Reduced	Apartment with roommate	Yes	Plains State
Teacher B	Female	25	Primary (K-2)	63% Free & Reduced	House with significant other	No	Eastern State
Teacher C	Female	24	Intermediate (3-5)	66% Free & Reduced	House alone & then later with family	No	Western State
Teacher D	Female	27	Special Area (3 schools)	71% Free & Reduced, 66% Free & Reduced, 96% Free & Reduced	Apartment with significant other	Yes	Midwest State
Teacher E	Female	28	Intermediate (3-5)	98% Free & Reduced	Apartment with roommate	No	Midwest State
Teacher F	Female	26	Special Education	96% Free & Reduced	Apartment, alone and later with roommate	Yes	Western State

#### Table 1: Teacher Demographics

#### Intervention

Each monthly professional learning session was customized to the emerging needs of the group and followed the phases of new teacher research as designed by Ellen Moir (2011). These monthly interactive sessions were typically three and a half hours long and provided intentional modeling of multiple identified instructional strategies, along with time for teacher sharing and self-reflection. In addition, monthly email updates about the content explored during the sessions were provided to the administrators at the district and school sites, as well as the master and mentor teachers (instructional coaches who are evaluators).

The 15-week intervention took place during the fall semester, and each participant was provided with release time (using a substitute teacher) to attend the support sessions. There were five face-to-face support sessions with 13 at-home reflection assignments. The concepts around these sessions focused on generating an awareness of the beginning teacher's feelings about their work, self, and fit within the new community of their school and the state. The lead researcher was an administrator within the district who facilitated all of the face-to-face support sessions, where participants completed session mapping activities. A second recorder was also present at the sessions; this individual did not



participate but did take notes on reactions and body language and shared those with the researcher.

Participants were given paper, markers, and crayons in each session, with directions to represent their responses to researcher prompts visually on the paper. The prompts connected with the concepts being discussed in the sessions, such as, "Represent your support structures. Who provides you with support? Whom do you rely on to help you be successful as a beginning teacher?" Participants then shared their visuals with the group. Participants were also provided with an iPad to complete digital journal reflections. These related reflection assignments provided participants with a platform to apply the strategies, concepts, and ideas discussed in the support sessions by digitally creating or capturing their understandings.

#### Measures

The following four measures recorded changes in participants' perceptions, experiences, and retention as a result of the intervention.

#### Measure 1: Session mapping activities.

Mapping activities were used to explore the needs, perceptions, feelings, and experiences of participants, as well as to examine how their journeys aligned with Moir's (2011) phases of first-year teaching: Anticipation, Survival, Disillusionment, Rejuvenation, and Reflection. During each face-to-face session, participants were given a chart of the five phases and asked to place a sticker on the phase in which they perceived themselves to be at that point in time (see Figure 2). Participants then shared what was happening that had impacted their current choice of phase (see Figure 3). These stickers allowed participants to track their changes in attitude over the five sessions.



Figure 2: Teacher C Attitude toward Teaching Chart



# Measure 2: Pre- and post-intervention questionnaire.

To explore the needs, perceptions, and feelings of participants, they were asked to complete a questionnaire at the beginning and the end of the intervention (see Table 2). The questionnaire explored what participants found valuable about the support sessions, including reflecting on their personal resiliency growth. The questionnaire included eight open-ended questions about participants' resiliency and the five phases of first-year teaching, as well as 15 Likert-scale items organized into four constructs (resiliency-emotional, social, motivational, and self-efficacy). A sample open-ended question was, "Describe what skills and traits you think will be important to succeed as a beginning teacher." A sample Likert-scale item was, "I am aware of my personal stress levels. Choose: Strongly Agree – Agree – Disagree – Strongly Disagree."

# Table 2: Questionnaire

Open-Ended Items Examples:

Pre: What do you anticipate your first 15 weeks will be like as a beginning teacher?

Post: What were your first 15 weeks like?

Pre: Describe the phases you believe you will experience over the course of your first year.

Post: How was your experience the same or different from the phases?

Pre: Tell me about your biggest supporters.

Post: Tell me about the support structure you now have. Tell me about your biggest supporters. Have these changed since the support sessions began?

Pre: Resiliency is defined as the ability to bounce back from challenges. It has been noted in the beginning teacher research to be a skill set that is critically important that can be enhanced and developed in a teacher. Describe how resiliency currently plays a role in your professional life.

Post: How do you see resiliency as a part of your professional life now (if there was a change)? Did the support sessions influence this change?

Likert Inventory Items Examples:

1. I am aware of my personal stress levels.

2. I am aware of how I respond when I get stressed.

7. I consider myself to be persistent (stick with it) when faced with challenges.

8. I have overcome setbacks to conquer an important challenge.

12. I have a network of emotional support.

13. I build relationships easily.



#### Measure 3: Digital reflections.

Each week, participants used their iPads to respond to prompts asking them to reflect upon and capture their first semester of teaching. The prompts aligned with the most recent face-to-face session's strategies, concepts, and ideas and were focused on exploring, developing, and enhancing resiliency skills and how that work might change self-perceptions. A sample prompt was, "What best represents your month's experience in Arizona?"

Participants were asked to take or find photos that represented their needs, perceptions, or feelings and respond to the prompt with words to explain their image selection (see Figure 3).



Figure 3: Example of Digital Reflection Regarding Resiliency

Many of the participants used multiple images, combining photos they took themselves with online images or quotes. The purpose of the pictures was to provide an example of what the beginning teacher was focused on or something that reflected their week. Many reflections resembled collages. These digital reflections were created nine times, in weeks 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, and 14. The reflections were also shared at the face-to-face support sessions. At the end of the intervention, participants combined their reflections to create a final digital story representing their 15-week journey, which they shared at the final face-to-face session.

#### Measure 4: Post-intervention interviews.

In the last two weeks of the intervention, the lead researcher conducted 40-minute semi-structured, audio-recorded interviews with all participants. There were 10 primary open-ended questions asked in the interviews, along with follow-up probing questions. A sample question was, "Describe how the support sessions impacted your first 15 weeks of teaching."



#### Data Analysis

The pre-and post-intervention questionnaire, session mapping activities, and digital reflections provided multiple sources of data to determine what changes occurred and what insights were gained by participants during the first 15 weeks of the school year. All of these sources generated qualitative data that were analyzed and explored for recurring themes using a grounded theory methodology (Creswell, 2009). As initial codes emerged from the data using open coding, categories that aligned with the theoretical models using axial coding were represented through supporting quotations. The goal was to extract understanding from the interconnectedness of these codes and data. Inter-rater reliability in coding was established via another researcher reviewing 30% of the data, with a 95% interrater agreement (Creswell, 2009).

#### RESULTS

Through the creation of the C.A.R.E. model, the experiences of beginning teachers throughout their first semester were examined in relation to (1) the normative map of a teacher's journey, (2) participant resiliency and weekly experiences, and (3) participant impressions of the intervention.

#### Normative Mapping

After participants read Moir's (2011) article about the five phases experienced by first-year teachers, they indicated during each face-to-face session where they perceived themselves to be in those phases. Each phase was assigned a number (10=Anticipation, 9=Reflection, 8=Survival, 7=Rejuvenation, 6-1=Disillusionment) to chart participant responses together. This information was then plotted onto a graph, with each participant in a separate color to show their experiences as compared to the trend line based on the research (Moir, 2011) (see Figure 4).





Figure 4: Tracking Participant Phases of Teaching

In comparing Moir's (2011) research with participants' responses, it is evident that participants did not follow the exact theory line. According to participants' explanations for their choices, they chose their phases based on what was happening in both their personal and their professional lives. If participants were experiencing personal crises, they indicated greater challenges in their professional attitudes. For example, Teacher B started the year feeling overwhelmed and in the Survival phase, rather than in the expected Anticipation phase, due to the shock of moving and challenges with her living arrangements. She then slid immediately into Disillusionment, faster than the theoretical model would have suggested.

In addition to the mapping activity, participants' digital reflections were used to confirm their phase selections. There was considerable overlap between mapping responses and digital reflections, which highlighted that participants were consistent in the way they responded to each activity. For example, Participant F's December selection of an overwhelmed and crazy cartoon character confirmed her face-to-face session indication that she was in Disillusionment (see Figure 5).





Figure 5: Teacher F Reflection

# **Participant Experiences**

The resiliency, feelings, and experiences of participants across these 15 weeks were assessed with participant journal reflections, the pre- and post-intervention questionnaire, and individual interviews. It was evident that participants in this study were overwhelmed for most of their first semester. For example, the words that appeared most frequently in the journal reflections were *lonely, exhausted*, and *stressed*. In triangulating the multiple data sources, the trends that emerged across all six participants were high levels of stress, exhaustion, and isolation. Each data source confirmed participants' feelings of incompetence, insecurity, and loneliness, as well as an ongoing search for connections. For example, Teacher D reported, "I know I need to make new friends, but that is the last thing I want to do after I put so much energy out with these kids all day is to have to sell myself to others." Participants' level of social isolation impacted all areas of their personal and professional lives, including how they responded to attention at their school sites.

Several of the participants made personal connections with work colleagues that encouraged feelings of belonging and connection. "I have a few more people I can rely on than I did in July for sure," said Teacher B. Others got comfortable with their independence at school and made one or two personal connections that helped them feel supported.

In addition to expressing the need for additional friends, support, and time, participants also struggled with concerns about housing and finances, particularly as the school year began. These themes were most evident in participants' journal reflections, where *money* and *house* were words indicating the most-repeated ideas (see Figure 6 for a compilation of all participant responses).





Figure 6: Needs Most Frequently Mentioned by Participants

Interestingly, participants' self-confidence and belief in their own resilience shifted depending on their work/life balance. As personal issues arose, participants reported being more overwhelmed and stressed professionally. In each instance where a participant was experiencing a personal issue, that participant ranked their attitude about teaching and their professional self-confidence lower. This diminished self-confidence in the classroom as well. Most participants reported that, when they were feeling poorly about their abilities to teach or were consumed with personal issues, their students also behaved poorly. As Teacher E said, "Wow—that's scary...it's really true that if I am having a bad day, my students probably have a worse day. Everything is connected."

Participants' perceptions of themselves shifted over the course of this study. Participants were surprised at their high levels of stress and feelings of being overwhelmed, yet all noted pride in themselves for moving across the country and persevering through their first semester. "It's exhausting, and yet I am here every day for my kids because I am committed to them," stated Teacher F. Teacher C shared, "Some days I feel like a complete failure, and yet I get up the next day and think—well, good for me...I am acting like a grown-up and moved across the country and I am a teacher."

Participants also noticed positive changes in themselves as a result of the intervention. Participants' abilities to articulate their feelings, needs, and perceptions while utilizing the specific skills and strategies discussed in the face-to-face sessions became evident. Participants expressed their feelings using words like *resilient, self-confidence, advocate,* and *persevere* more frequently in later sessions than in earlier sessions. Teacher C indicated, "Being adaptive has helped me a lot, and I've had lots of things thrown at me." Teacher A reported, "Yes, I know now that I am resilient. I can use that term with confidence now."

The pre- and post-intervention questionnaires were used to assess participant changes across the intervention. Initially, key words in each participant's response were highlighted. Then the responses were examined by question, noting similar trends across participant responses and highlighting big ideas. Similarly, the questionnaire's Likert-scale



items were reviewed first by participant response and then by question, with the frequency of each response for each question calculated to explore trends. For example, before the intervention, 50% of participants strongly agreed that they had a network of emotional support, whereas 83% strongly agreed at the end. Before the intervention, 50% of participants strongly agreed that they had overcome setbacks to conquer an important challenge, while 67% strongly agreed at the end. Tellingly, 50% of participants strongly agreed before the intervention that they finished what they started, but 100% strongly agreed at the end. The following are other notable results:

- 67% of participants reported becoming more aware of their stress level because of the intervention.
- 67% of participants reported an increase in their resilience.
- 83% of participants reported an increase in their ability to overcome setbacks.
- 67% of participants reported an increase in intentional communication of their own needs.

Overall, participants' needs, perceptions, and feelings were very similar to one another. They all experienced the initial culture shock of a move and orientation to teaching. Over the semester, they transitioned into feeling more comfortable in their new home state and school and mildly proud of their personal resiliency and perseverance. In the final faceto-face support session, most of the group was still struggling to decide if they had made the right career choice and decision to move across the country. Since the conclusion of the study, one participant has left the teaching profession, and the rest (83%) remain in the same district.

#### Intervention Impressions

In the narrative portion of the questionnaire and in the interviews, participants noted changes in how they perceived themselves as a result of the intervention and how they found the intervention to be beneficial for their personal and professional growth. Participants reported that the support sessions, journal reflections, and mapping activities gave them the opportunity to intentionally pause to reflect and consider how they were changing. In some cases, participants discussed realizing that they may have been overconfident in their ability to navigate the complexities of the classroom and initially discounted the impact that moving would have on them. The reality of their first semester in a new state and new job stunned them, and they reported feeling grateful that the intervention allowed them to share their fears and feelings of being overwhelmed with others experiencing similar circumstances.

In considering the face-to-face sessions, participants noted that the sessions provided them with a place to come where they felt safe sharing their experiences, needs, feelings, and perceptions. The interviews revealed that an authentic sense of camaraderie and



community had developed within the group, and participants reported that they developed a greater awareness of their own resilience and stress-management abilities as a result of the sessions. Teacher A noted, "They've really helped me. I didn't really care what we talked about. I just wanted to be there. It made me feel important and special and cared for." Teacher F shared, "It was good to be a part of a group where everyone understood what everyone was going through. Like, we are all very different—do different things and come from different places—yet all understood that we were going through the same thing." Teacher E indicated, "Being pulled from the classroom adds a different aspect to the sessions because it doesn't cut into after-work planning or weekend relaxation; I can still get those things done..." All participants shared similar reflections about how the sessions provided them with a purposeful pause and a safe place to share their experiences. Their connections with each other provided them with a supportive community that they had not yet established elsewhere, being new to the state.

Discussing the journal reflections, participants shared that they viewed the reflections as important in increasing their self-confidence and valuable in providing them a visual reflection of their first semester of teaching. Teacher A noted, "Looking for pictures that showed my mood was cathartic, and I really liked working on the iPad." Teacher B shared, "Doing the weekly reflections using pictures allowed me to be creative and capture my experiences using whatever 'medium' I wanted...I could choose how to express my feelings and experiences." Teacher D responded, "It wasn't too much work, but it made us think about how we were feeling and what was going on." Overall, the response to the journal reflections was positive, and participants appreciated how the reflections created a forum to capture their thoughts and feelings and encapsulate their experiences into a weekly visual product.

#### DISCUSSION

The focus of this study was to develop and evaluate supports for out-of-state beginning teachers in Arizona, to improve their first-semester experiences and perceptions, and ultimately to increase their retention. This study was small, though there are conclusions and recommendations that can be useful for other districts around the country. There is a growing concern that a very high percentage of young teachers will continue to leave the profession unless this issue is addressed (Tirozzi et al., 2014). The participants in this study said the intervention made them feel supported within their new teaching environment, and they were retained at a higher-than-average rate.

To retain beginning teachers, districts and schools need to understand the challenges of recruiting and retaining high-quality teachers. Budget cuts have drastically reduced induction and mentoring/support programming for teachers. The estimated cost for implementing an effective retention and induction program is \$6,000 per teacher in Arizona


(Burroughs et al., 2019; Tirozzi et al., 2014). Increased education funding is imperative to resolve this state crisis: "Underfunding is a significant contributor to Arizona's low academic performance and its diminishing ability to promote excellence in teaching" (Tirozzi et al., 2014, p.8). Arizona teacher pay remains one of the lowest in the country, and the state maintains one of the highest class-size ratios in the nation (ASPAA, 2020). To navigate the teacher shortage, "Arizona's leaders must make a collective effort to ensure the recruitment and retention of effective teachers through increased funding and improved working conditions" (APSAA, 2020, para. 4).

The recommendations here were provided to Arizona districts that are deep in a retention crisis (ASPAA, 2020). This phenomenon of recruiting out-of-state beginning teachers and the transient opportunities of the profession affirm the ongoing need for differentiated support that address different needs than the ones of in-state beginning teachers (Evans et al., 2019). Only 31 states require induction and mentoring, and only 22 states explicitly encourage reduced teaching loads for new teachers or offer mentor teachers; thus, the framework presented in the study is relevant to consider across the nation (Evans et al., 2019). The considerations for the model are provided below by district level and site level.

This study, since it was conducted at the district level, did not directly impact the school-site-level contextual experiences of each participant, but it did create an overall awareness of the challenges faced by out-of-state beginning teachers. Districts must be responsible for creating support structures for such teachers. They can also prioritize district-level funding for beginning teacher retention, especially for out-of-state teachers.

This study identified critical components to be considered when creating a districtlevel plan. The creation of a small and intimate community experiencing similar challenges was a key component of the success of this intervention. In the interviews, participants noted that they felt supported and validated through sharing their experiences with others who faced similar challenges. Teacher E shared, "Being pulled out of the classroom to go to a support session that was set up to be relaxing was so helpful to me. In the sessions we pinpointed what those stressors were...that helped." This is supported by the literature as well; recent studies of beginning teacher retention and resilience in Australia reveal that different types of support are valued by beginning teachers (versus the types valued by veteran teachers) and appear to influence teachers' views of their own resilience (Downey, 2018; Mansfield & Beltman, 2014; Papatraianou & Le Cornu, 2014). The supports valued by beginning teachers include being listened to, being offered advice and professional knowledge, being acknowledged and appreciated, having the realities of teaching confirmed, and being challenged professionally (Downey, 2018; Mansfield & Beltman, 2014; Papatraianou & Le Cornu, 2014). All these forms of support appeared crucial to facilitating beginning teachers' resilience in this study as well. In receiving these types of support, participants reported feeling more confident and competent in their teaching roles, making



them able to successfully assume a positive teacher identity (Garcia & Weiss, 2019b; Papatraianou & Le Cornu, 2014).

A skilled facilitator who understands the experiences of beginning teachers is another key component in any intervention. The underlying foundations of the C.A.R.E. model were caring, compassion, and empathy. The personality and skills of the facilitator are thus a critical attribute for district support. Ideally, any beginning teacher support sessions would be run by someone who understands, empathizes with, and is willing to listen to participants' stories and experiences without solving every problem. In this study, the facilitator's focus was on empowering participants to advocate for themselves and ask for help and direction when needed. The facilitator also emphasized increasing self-efficacy and developing confidence to explore problems. Personal and professional lives are so intertwined for beginning teachers that it is important to find a facilitator who truly understands the duality of this group's experience in being new to the state and new to the profession: "All of the significant relationships in which the early career teachers engaged provided a variety of support, the nature of which crossed traditional boundaries of the personal and professional; school and home; and face-to-face and online" (Papatraianou & Le Cornu, 2014, p. 112).

Finally, district personnel can intentionally structure beginning teacher support systems to include multiple layers at the district and individual school site levels. Papatraianou and Le Cornu (2014) found that schools need to promote informal staff interaction, which allows new teachers to develop supportive relationships with colleagues. Further, district-level support systems need to acknowledge and invest in the provision of informal support and learning opportunities for beginning teachers (Garcia & Weiss, 2019b; Papatraianou & Le Cornu, 2014).

At the site level, administrators need to be fully informed about and committed to differentiating support for beginning teachers (Schlichte et al., 1999; A. Watkins, 2016; Weller, 1982; Williment, 2003). According to feedback from participants, school-site-level support from administrators committed to establishing positive relationships with beginning teachers was critical for their success. Administrators can also assist with communication about upcoming initiatives; by front-loading information to beginning teachers and giving them strategies for success, they continue to build relationships and empower beginning teachers as contributing members of the staff. Beginning teachers want to feel that their input and insights are valuable to their administrators: "A principal who advocates for making reasonable working conditions for new teachers district policy, can change the status quo" (A. Watkins, 2016, p. 3). The importance of a principal's acknowledgement and recognition of beginning teachers cannot be overstated.

Administrators can also prevent their beginning teachers from taking on too many after-school assignments, teams, or clubs (Garcia & Weiss, 2019b; Gossom, 2004; A. Wakins, 2016). Beginning teachers struggle with life/work balance, and efficient lesson planning and



grading is developed over time, leaving beginning teachers with less extra time than their veteran counterparts. The challenge is that beginning teachers tend to struggle financially, making the additional income from after-school opportunities highly appealing despite the additional burden and stress. Administrators must try to avoid overworking this group. Partnering beginning teachers and veteran teachers with shared responsibilities is one approach to consider. Administrators can also align beginning teachers with positive and encouraging staff members who are willing to provide guidance and mentoring (Tait, 2008; A. Watkins, 2016). Certainly, the decisions administrators make regarding their beginning teachers will impact the ultimate retention and self-efficacy of this group.

# LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

One of the main limitations of this study is the small number of participants. While the intimacy of the group was a critical component in enhancing its success and feeling of community, it does limit the ability to generalize these findings to other out-of-state beginning teachers in similar programs in a different district with a different facilitator. This study was also contextually based on specific characteristics of the participants' school district, potentially limiting its applicability to other school districts with different characteristics. For example, release time was secured for participants to attend face-to-face sessions, so they were able to participate as part of the workday. Asking already-stretched beginning teachers to add to their workloads by coming to support sessions after school hours would likely not provide them the same benefits.

One limitation in data collection for this study was not recording the entirety of each support session, meaning there may have been data that was not fully documented or captured. Participants felt uncomfortable about having audio- or video-recorded sessions. Instead, a second recorder took notes during the sessions, as well as participating in a debriefing after each session, as an alternate way to capture and verify the majority of session content. Even with such note-taking, however, there may have been comments and ideas missed.

In terms of future directions, this study is just the beginning of this work. The goal was to create a systemic model of support for out-of-state beginning teachers to maximize the number who remain in teaching. It was about more than just retention, however. The C.A.R.E. model focused on changing self-perceptions and increasing resiliency in new out-of-state teachers. Their ability to reflect, advocate for themselves, navigate stressors, and develop into a supportive community is critical. This work is even more critical with the isolation that has emerged due to COVID-19 and teaching remotely (De La Rosa, 2020).

Despite our successes, there are changes we would suggest for this model's use in the future. In order to know if the intervention truly impacted retention, the model must be extended through the end of the school year to permit participants to decide their plans for



the following school year. At the end of this study, in the middle of the school year, our participants were at their lowest point (as expected) and thus uncertain about remaining in their teaching positions the following year. Extending these supports could bring them to the end of the year in a much more successful way.

The time of the face-to-face sessions also would ideally be shortened in future iterations. Each of our sessions was three and a half hours, which was too long according to participant feedback. As a result, there was a need to fill the time with content rather than allowing conversation and brainstorming to occur organically. The length of time lent itself more to formal professional development than to the informal, supportive setting we were attempting to create. Ideally, sessions would be approximately one and a half hours long and would take place at a coffee shop or other informal venue (rather than in a more formal training room as was the case in this study) to reinforce the focus on personal connection and sharing.

Extending the participant group is another avenue for improvement and expansion. Mansfield et al. (2019) note that school leaders may need direct professional learning on creating a collaborative culture that enhances resiliency. All teachers benefit from a positive school culture, but the beginning teacher is even more sensitive to positive and collaborative environments (Mansfield & Beltman, 2019; Mansfield et al., 2012; A. Watkins, 2016). Ongoing professional development for site administrators and district leadership that includes recognition of the needs of beginning teachers has the potential to broaden the impact of supporting these beginning teachers and increase their retention.

# CONCLUSION

Across the United States, beginning teacher retention rates are extraordinarily low; only 50% of teachers remain in the classroom after five years (AEE, 2004; Chang, 2009; Garcia & Weiss, 2019a; Ingersoll & Perda, 2012). The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated this crisis: "In fact the need for great teachers and leaders is now greater than ever, particularly for the students most affected by the crises at hand" (Lachalan et al., 2020, p. 2). This study supported out-of-state beginning teachers in Arizona, where the retention numbers continue to be in a crisis (ASPAA, 2020). In this context, a platform was created for a group of such teachers to share insights into their struggles to remain in teaching after the first year. It is clear that teachers must be nurtured and cared for in order for them to fully devote their time and energy to effectively caring for the students in their classroom. The type of support shown in this study, though provided only a small sample and was localized to an Arizona district, has the potential to support other beginning teachers who are from out of state or moving for their new jobs. Increasing self-awareness and resiliency has the potential to create a ripple effect to retain more beginning teachers, as they become more likely to



persevere, ask for help, connect with others, and achieve a healthy life/work balance while positively impacting students and their community.

# REFERENCES

- Alliance for Excellent Education (AEE). (2004). *Tapping the potential: Retaining and developing high-quality new teachers*. https://all4ed.org/wpcontent/uploads/2007/07/TappingThePotential.pdf
- Arizona School Personnel Administrators Association (ASPAA). (2015). *Human resources professional in Arizona schools*. https://www.azed.gov/hr
- Arizona School Personnel Administrators Association (ASPAA). (2020). *Human resources professional in Arizona schools*. https://www.azed.gov/hr
- Barnes, M. (2017). Conflicting conceptions of care and teaching and pre-service teacher attrition. *Journal of Teaching Education*, 29(2), 178-193. https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2017.1372411
- Bland, P., Church, E., & Luo, M. (2016). Strategies for attracting and retaining teachers. Administrative Issues Journal: Connecting Education, Practice, and Research, 4(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.5929/2014.4.1.2
- Buchanan, J., Schuck, S., & Aubusson, P. (2013). Teacher retention and attrition: Views of early career teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(3), 112-129. http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2013v38n3.9
- Burroughs, N., Gardner, J., Lee, Y., Guo, S., Touitou, I., Jansen, K., & Schmidt, W. (2019). Teaching for excellence and equity: Analyzing teacher characteristics, behaviors and student outcomes with TIMSS. SpringerOpen. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16151-4\_2
- Center for Comprehensive School Reform and Improvement. (2007). *Improving teacher retention withsupportive workplace conditions*. http://www.centerforcsri.org/files/TheCenter\_NL\_June07.pdf
- Chang, M. L. (2009). An appraisal perspective of teacher burnout: Examining the emotional work of teachers. *Educational Psychology Review*, 21(3), 193-218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10648-009-9106-y
- Creswell, J. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approaches* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Sage.
- De La Rosa, S. (2020, April 17). *Will the coronavirus pandemic exacerbate teacher shortages?* Education Dive. https://www.educationdive.com/news/will-the-coronaviruspandemicexacerbate-teacher-shortages/576244/



- Devos, C., Dupriez, V., & Paquay, L. (2012). Does the social working environment predict beginning teachers' self-efficacy and feelings of depression? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 206-217. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2011.09.008
- Downey, M. (2018, July 23). How can schools make their teachers feel valued and supported? *The Atlanta Journal Constitution*. https://www.ajc.com/blog/get-schooled/how-can-schools-make-their-teachers-feel-valued-and-supported/paSMgBiklsPjIaaQXIqEIO/
- Earley, P. M., & Ross, S. A. (2006). Teacher recruitment and retention: Policy history and new challenges. Pearson.
- Esch, G. (2010). Five surefire ways to lose new teachers. *Childhood Education*, *86*(5), 307-311. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2010.10521414
- Evans, A., Erwin, B., Macdonald, H., Pompelia, S., Aragon, S., & Perez, Jr., Z. (2019, October 23). 50 state comparison: Teacher recruitment and retention. *Education Commision of the States*. https://www.ecs.org/50-state-comparison-teacher-recruitment-and-retention/
- Fantilli, R. D., & McDougall, D. E. (2009). A study of novice teachers: Challenges and supports in the first years. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(6), 814-825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.02.021
- Fisher, M. (2011). Factors influencing stress, burnout, and retention of secondary teachers. *Current Issues in Education*, 14(1), 37. cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/download/658/165
- Garcia, E., & Weiss, E. (2019, April 16). U.S. schools struggle to hire and retain teachers. 3<sup>rd</sup> report [PDF]. *Economy Policy Institute*. https://www.epi.org/publication/u-s-schools-struggle-to-hire-and-retain-teachers-the-second-report-in-the-perfect-storm-in-the-teacher-labor-market-series/
- Garcia, E., & Weiss, E. (2019, July 17). The role of early career supports, continuous professional development, and learning communities in the teacher shortage. 5<sup>th</sup> report [PDF]. *Economy Policy Institute.* https://www.epi.org/publication/u-s-schools-struggle-to-hire-and-retain-teachers-the-second-report-in-the-perfect-storm-in-the-teacher-labor-market-series/
- Gossom, J. (2004). School organization culture, basic needs satisfaction, and beginning teacher retention [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of West Florida. purl.fcla.edu/fcla/etd/WFE0000033
- Hallam, P. R., Chou, P. N., Hite, J. M., & Hite, S. J. (2012). Two contrasting models for mentoring as they affect retention of beginning teachers. *NASSP Bulletin*, 96(3), 243-278. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0192636512447132



- Herr, K., & Anderson, G. (2014). *The action research dissertation: A guide for students and faculty*. SAGE Publications.
- Hightower, A. M., Lloyd, S. C., & Swanson, C. B. (2011). *Improving student learning by supporting quality teaching: Key issues, effective strategies*. Editorial Projects in Education.
- Ingersoll, R. (2002). The teacher shortage: A case of wrong diagnosis and wrong prescription. *NASSP Bulletin, 86*(631), 16-31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/019263650208663103
- Ingersoll, R., & Merrill, L. (2012). *Seven trends: The transformation of the teaching force.* Consortium for Policy Research in Education.
- Ingersoll, R., & Perda, D. (2012). *How high is teacher turnover and is it a problem?* Consortium for Policy Research in Education, University of Pennsylvania.
- Ingersoll, R., & Smith, T. M. (2003). The wrong solution to the teacher shortage. *Educational Leadership*, 60(8), 30-33.
- Joiner, S., & Edwards, J. (2008). Novice teachers: Where are they going and why don't they stay. *Journal of Cross Disciplinary Perspectives*, 1(1), 36-43.
- Kain, E. (2011). High teacher turnover rates are a big problem for America's public schools. *Forbes*. http://www.forbes.com/sites/erikkain/2011/03/08/high-teacher-turnover-ratesarea-big-problem-for-americas-public-schools/
- Kukla-Acevedo, S. (2009). Leavers, movers, and stayers: The role of workplace conditions in teacher mobility decisions. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 102(6), 443-452. http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/JOER.102.6.443-452
- Lachlan, L., Kimmel, L., Mizrav, E., & Holdheide, L. (2020, August). *Advancing quality teaching for all schools: Examining the impact of COVID-19 on the teaching workforce*. Center on Great Teachers & Leaders at the American Institute for Research. https://gtlcenter.org/sites/default/files/Examining\_Impact\_COVID19\_Workforce.pdf
- Mansfield, C., & Beltman, S. (2014). Teacher motivation from a goal content perspective: Beginning teachers' goals for teaching. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 65, 54-64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2013.09.010
- Mansfield, C. & Beltman, S. (2019). Promoting resilience for teachers: pre-service and inservice professional learning. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 46, 583-588. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s13384-019-00347-x
- Mansfield, C., Price, A., & McConney, A. (2012). *Keeping cool: Embedding resilience in the initial teacher education curriculum*. Australian Government, Office for Learning and Teaching. http://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/id/eprint/10522



- Martin, K. (2011). New teacher induction. *Association for Middle Level Education*. http://www.amle.org/TabId/198/ArtMID/696/ArticleID/302/Research-SummaryNew-Teacher-Induction.aspx
- McNulty, C. P., & Fox, K. R. (2010). Teacher drop-outs?: Empowering induction-year teachers to create affable environments to enhance retention. *Childhood Education*, 86(5), 312-315. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2010.10521415
- Moir, E. (2011). Phases of first-year teaching. *New Teacher Center*. http://www.newteachercenter.org/blog/phases-first-year-teaching
- Ozder, H. (2011). Self-efficacy beliefs of novice teachers and their performance in the classroom. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *36*(5), 1-16.
- Papatraianou, L. H., & Le Cornu, R. (2014). Problematising the role of personal and professional relationships in early career teacher resilience. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 39(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2014v39n1.7
- Rollins, J. (2008). *Teacher growth: Essential characteristics of experiences in development from a novice to veteran teachers* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Clemson University.
- Schlichte, J., Yssel, N., & Merbler, J. (2005). Pathways to burnout: Case studies in teacher isolation and alienation. *Preventing School Failure*, 50(1), 35-40. http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/PSFL.50.1.35-40
- Smethem, L. (2007). Retention and intention in teaching careers: Will the new generation stay? *Teachers and Teaching*, 13(5), 465-480. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13540600701561661
- Smith, T., & Ingersoll, R. (2004). What are the effects of induction and mentoring on beginning teacher turnover? *American Educational Research Journal*, 41(3), 681–714. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3699442
- Stockard, J. (2004). Influences on the satisfaction and retention of 1<sup>st</sup>-year teachers: The importance of effective school management. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 40(5), 742-771. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0013161X04268844
- Tait, M. (2008). Resilience as a contributor to novice teacher success, commitment, and retention. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 35(4), 57-75.
- Tirozzi, G. N., Carbonaro, P., & Winters, M. (2014). Addressing a shortage of high quality teachers: An escalating dilemma for Arizona schools. Grand Canyon University, College of Doctoral Studies. https://news.gcu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Policy-Paper-3-Addressing-a-Shortage-of-High-Quality-Teachers-for-Arizona-Schools-Final-Clean.pdf
- TNTP. (2012). The irreplaceables: Understanding the real retention crisis in America's urban schools. TNTP. http://tntp.org/assets/documents/TNTP\_Irreplaceables\_2012.pdf



- Turner, C. E. (2009). *Keeping new teachers. Induction components and retention* (Publication No. 3355358) [Doctoral dissertation, Capella University]. Proquest Dissertations Publishing.
- Vanek, C. (2020, January 3). Arizona a top state for population growth, new census data shows. *Phoenix Business Journal.* https://www.bizjournals.com/phoenix/news/2020/01/03/arizona-a-top-state-forpopulation-growth-new.html
- Walsh, K. J., Ed, D., & Battitori, J. (2011). Retaining the good ones: Factors associated with teacher job satisfaction. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *1*(17), 11-38.
- Watkins, A. (2016). Role of the principal in beginning teacher induction. *New Teacher Center* [PDF]. https://jntp.org/wp-content/uploads/Role-of-Principal-in-Teacher-Induction.pdf
- Watkins, P. (2003). The principal's role in attracting, retaining, and developing new teachers: Three strategies for collaboration and support. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas, 79*(2), 83-88. http://dx.doi.org/10.3200/TCHS.79.2.83-87
- Wechsler, M. E., Caspary, K., Humphrey, D. C., & Matsko, K. K. (2010). *Examining the effects* of new teacher induction. SRI International.
- Weller, L. D. (1982). Principals, meet Maslow: A prescription for teacher retention. NASSP Bulletin, 66(456), 32-36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/019263658206645605
- WestEd. (2005). Working conditions key for teacher retention. *WestEd's R&D Alert, 7*(2), 6-9. http://www.wested.org/online\_pubs/rd-05-02.pdf
- Williment, M. (2003). A descriptive study of teacher retention and attrition in Northern Lights School Division #113, Saskatchewan. Dr. Stirling McDowell Foundation.



| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

# Investigation of COVID-19 Phobia and Satisfaction with Life Levels of Students Taking Special Talent Entrance Exams

# Davut ATILGAN<sup>1</sup> Cemil AKSOY<sup>2</sup>

A	$\mathbf{bs}$	tra	۱Ct

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 75-91 http://www.ijonmes.net dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

Article Info:

Received : 02.03.2021 Revision : 18.03.2021 Accepted : 30.03.2021

**DOI:** 10.51383/ijonmes.2021.83

Keywords:

There is no doubt that COVID -19 has affected the whole world in every aspect of life. In this study, it was aimed to determine the relationship between COVID-19 phobia and life satisfaction levels of students participating in special talent entrance exams and their views according to some demographic variables. The sample of the study consists of 320 participants who took the special talent exam from the departments of physical education and sports teaching and coaching education at the University of Sutcü İmam. The research is a quantitative study and it was carried out in relational scanning model. Data were collected in August-September 2020. In the analysis of data Jamovi 1.6.12 statistical software program was used. As a result of the research; COVID-19 phobia and life satisfaction level arithmetic mean scores of the participants were determined to be in the middle score range. In normal circumstances, it was determined that the fear of COVID-19 had a negative effect on the participants, while life satisfaction is expected to be high due to the athletic and young age of the participants. In terms of demographic variables, significant differences were found in the COVID-19 Phobia Scale' and 'Life Satisfaction Scale' scores. In correlation and regression analyses, it was concluded that psychological, somatic, social and economic variables, which are independent variables, showed a negative low-level significant relationship with the life satisfaction of students, and they were also a significant predictor of life satisfaction. The results obtained from this study are predicted to shed light on the psychological, social, economic and similar effects of COVID-19 fear on people and provide significant contributions to finding solutions on these issues.

COVID-19, Satisfaction with Life, Special talent, Exam, Student.

### Citation:

*Atılgan, D. and Aksoy,* C. (2021). Investigation of COVID-19 phobia and satisfaction with life levels of students taking special talent entrance exams. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies, 5*(1), 75-91. http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.83

<sup>2</sup> Asst. Prof. Dr., Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, Faculty of Sport Sciences, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye.
<u>aksoycml@hotmail.com</u>
Orcid ID: 0000-0001-5469-7454

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Asst. Prof. Dr., Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, Faculty of Sport Sciences, Kahramanmaraş, Türkiye. <u>davutatilgan@ksu.edu.tr</u> Drcid ID: 0000-0002-8475-4488

#### INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease, also known as COVID-19, originated in Wuhan, China, and has been spreading around the world, causing it to be declared as a global pandemic by the World Health Organization. This infectious disease continues to significantly affect people's living standards in different ways. Increasing rapidly, the disease-related cases and fatality rates cause many people to develop coronavirus fear or phobia. According to Üstün and Özçiftçi (2020), no fixed information exists about this disease that broke out in Wuhan in December 2019, while the rapid transmission of the disease and the continuous increase in the number of cases and deaths have turned into a kind of fear.

#### Significance of the Study

It is assumed that the life satisfaction of individuals is negatively influenced by factors such as anxiety, stress, sadness, and uncertainty experienced by people during the COVID-19 Pandemic. The COVID-19 Pandemic-related anxiety and fear have become an important problem that influences the life satisfaction of individuals at different levels. One of the most important reasons for this research is that it is a matter of curiosity to find out the level of these problems and the extent to which such problems have reached. This study has revealed potential answers to satisfy such curiosity and to similar questions.

The target group of this research is the students who take special talent entrance exams, and individuals who do sports and are involved in the sports community. The target group consists of students who play sports as amateur or professional athletes or who are found eligible to participate in talent exams after having passed a certain score threshold determined in written exams. Under normal conditions, the life satisfaction of individuals who do sports is expected to be at good levels. It is also a matter of curiosity to what extent they experience the fear of COVID-19. This study, aimed at determining the level of COVID-19 phobia and life satisfaction of the students closely related to sports, will be shed light on obtaining information about the situation of other people in terms of a bigger impact. It is understood from a myriad of studies (Atılgan, 2018; Bingöl & Alpkaya 2016; Dalkıran & Tuncel, 2007; Koca et all., 2018; Dry 2003) that sportsmen are more advantageous in self-confidence, self-esteem, extroversion, and social competence, the sport has an important role in reducing mental fatigue, individuals who do sports generally have a positive view on life, and their life satisfaction is high because they are happy. Sport is a simple, cheap but important tool in preventing and treating some diseases (Akgün, 1993, p. 149,150). Whether the benefits of the above-mentioned sports on individuals accelerate the negative direction on life satisfaction due to COVID-19 phobia will be observed in the research findings.

The COVID-19 outbreak has affected individuals psychologically with reports of possible collective trauma beginning to appear (Garfin et al.2020). The increase in the rate of cases and deaths and a huge amount of news about the pandemic circulating constantly



on the agenda in the press may be a source of anxiety and concern. Some individuals feel beyond anxiety and develop a type of fear (Gencer, 2020). This research has been conducted for reasons of satisfying the curiosity about the psychological and social effects of COVID-19 disease on people through an in-depth analysis. Therefore, it aims to determine the relationship between coronavirus phobia and satisfaction with life levels of students participating in special talent entrance exams, identify their opinions based on various demographic variables, and examine whether there is a significant difference in terms of these opinions. The hypotheses related to the research are given below.

H1: There is a significant difference regarding coronavirus-19 phobia of students according to gender, age, education level, the order of preference, and COVID-19 anxiety.

H2: There is a significant difference regarding the order of preference and COVID-19 anxiety according to the satisfaction with life of the students.

H3: All perceptions of students of coronavirus-19 phobia in psychological, somatic, social, and economic dimensions are predictive of satisfaction with life.

#### Literature Review

The literature review reveals that happiness is positively associated with life satisfaction (Cohn et al., 2009; Kaya & Orçan, 2019; Peterson, Park & Seligman, 2005). Sport is an important phenomenon that influences the spectators and those who play sports, which collectively constitute the important elements of the sports industry, revealing strong emotions. Such strong emotions make individuals feel happy and care about happiness at all times. Unhappy people should not be expected to focus on and maintain their work and sports. It is thought that the COVID-19 virus, which is called a pandemic disease, significantly affects the happiness levels of all sports elements, especially athletes (Atilgan, 2020). Aristotle drew attention to the importance of the concept of happiness for societies, defining it as a tool that includes the feelings of virtue and honor and that enables a healthy and enjoyable lifestyle in human life, and emphasized that the concept of happiness is related to leisure time. Happiness is a fundamental dimension of a person's life and is largely based on internal psychological processes involving individual values and goals (Agid et al., 2012; Sylvester, 2005). Due to the close meaning of the concepts of happiness and life satisfaction, we will have important ideas about the level of happiness with the learning of the level of the effect of COVID-19 phobia on life satisfaction through the result of this research.

The virus affects large populations in various aspects, including political, social, psychological and economic consequences (Arpacı, Karataş & Baloğlu 2020). In late 2020 and early 2021, huge increases in case fatality rates were observed. In line with the report of Üstün and Özçiftçi (2020), as of March 3, 2020, the estimated fatality rate announced by the World Health Organization is 3.4% worldwide due to the COVID-19 pandemic, while the analysis of these death cases reveals that the demographic profile is predominantly 2/3



in men, 1/3 in women, more than 80% are over the age of 60, and more than 75% have chronic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and cancer. As put forward by Leonardo Pujol (2020) in December 2020, according to the Global Health 50/50 database, the number of men who lost their lives due to COVID-19 is higher than women in most of the countries where such data are available and accessible. The relevant rate is 62% in countries including Turkey, Serbia, Kyrgyzstan, and Hong Kong. In his book "On the Genetic Superiority of Women", Maolem cites data showing that women are biologically stronger than men, despite the role of behaviour and lifestyle choices.

Due to the measures taken by countries against the virus, the daily lives, as well as lifestyles of individuals, have completely changed (Pakpour and Griffiths 2020). People in quarantine lose their face-to-face connections and traditional social relationships, which in turn has been identified as a serious source of stress (Zhang et al.2020). Prospective studies have shown that a threatening event and its subsequent stress-related responses are associated with physical and mental health problems over time (Garfin at all.2018). People are forced to make a great number of changes in their lives to cope with mental and physical health problems arising from the COVID-19 pandemic. Many people were also inevitably forced to give up or change their habits and adopt new ones. It has been observed that coronavirus phobia and restrictions are disrupting the living standards of most people.

Employee interests require continuity commitment to the organization. Many employees continue to work to meet the basic needs of themselves and their families, even if they do not like their job. It was found that teachers' perceptions of professional burnout have a significant effect on organizational commitment and collective efficacy perceptions (Aydoğmuş & Tükel, 2019). Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, employees also had to lose their current jobs. This situation also affects children / students in a chain. According the Dosil et all., (2019), The incessant social, cultural and economic changes in which society is immersed, does require developing coping skills towards change that allow teenagers to successfully develop as active subjects of society. Schnepfleitner & Ferreira (2021), By developing awareness and appreciation of personal and sociocultural context, educators can better facilitate transformative learning situations within existing contextual constraints. There is a need to help students actively participate and engage with the concepts presented in context.

The sample group of this study is comprised of individuals interested in amateur or professional sports, bearing in mind that these individuals fall into a group that is expected to have the ability of self-control to avoid developing any type of coronavirus phobia or its potential effects on their satisfaction with life even if such a phobia occurs. In other words, such an ability to control their self-confidence, self-efficacy, and self-esteem is essential. Van Yperen (2020) postulates that in some part of the training of athletes, it is essential to develop and maintain self-regulation skills. Self-regulation refers to all



resources that increase future performance and the act of consciously structuring the path to one's goals (Van Yperen, 2020). What is important here is to maintain self-regulation skills as well as to avoid or minimize situations such as anxiety and phobia in the individual's self with the intention of achieving satisfaction with life. Otherwise, the satisfaction with life of individuals may be adversely affected.

In the early days of the COVID-19, efforts were made to take precautions mainly in the context of medical science. Later, with the acceptance that this virus which has affected people of life in every field (psychological, social, economic, etc.), has started to be on the agenda of people. For example, the Ministry of Health in Turkey 'Science Board, microbiology, infection, intensive care, academics working in the field of pulmonology and internal medicine committee has been established. The physical and mental trauma experienced by those who survived this disease or the troubles experienced due to the death of their relatives and consequently the loss of work brought many economic difficulties.

Considering these factors, it has been observed that there is a need for collective action to prevent the virus; psychology, communications, statistics, composed of working in fields such as sociology of religion at the Ministry of Health in Turkey 'Social Science Council has been established. It can be considered as an important indicator of the necessity of these researches carried out with the establishment of the Social Sciences Board.

#### **METHOD**

#### **Participants**

According to Karasar (2015), the survey model includes arrangements made on a sample, using the whole population or a group of the population, in a population consisting of many elements, to make a general judgment about the population (p. 79-80). The population of the study consists of those taking special talent exams in the field of physical education teaching and coaching education departments of the Physical Education and Sports School of Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University. Since all students in the research population were included in the research sample, no other sample selection was made. The scale forms were distributed to the participants to fill in a sufficient time. 320 usable feedbacks were provided for data from the collected forms. 37.2% (n = 119) of the participants included in the research sample are female and 62.8% (n = 201) are male. 17.8% of the participants are in the age group of 18-20 (n = 57), 44.7% of 21-23 (n = 143), 23.8% of 24-26 (n = 76), and 13.8% (n = 44) of 27 and over. 43.8% (n = 140) of the participants are high school graduates, 29.1% (n = 93) have an associate degree, and 27.2% (n = 87) have an undergraduate degree. The the order of preference of candidates for special talent entrance exams is teaching by 24.7% (n = 79) and coaching by 31.6% (n = 101), and coaching through evening classes by 43.8% (n = 140). Anxiety about COVID-19 during



participation in special talent exams is graded as "highly anxious" by 21.3% (n = 68), "a little bit anxious" by 33.8% (n = 108), and "never anxious" by 45% (n = 144).

#### **Research Design and Data Collection Tools**

The research is a quantitative study carried out in a relational survey model. Relational survey models are aimed at determining whether there is a relationship between two or more variables, and if so, the degree and level of the relationship (Karasar, 2014). This study has been designed to find out the opinions of the students who take special talent exams during the pandemic process in terms of some demographic variables regarding the coronavirus phobia and satisfaction with life levels and whether there is a significant difference in these opinions. It also aims to reveal the effect of coronavirus phobia on the satisfaction with life of the participants. Approval was obtained from all students participating in this study via an "Informed Voluntary Consent Form". Also, a research approval was obtained from the Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University with the 341-research protocol code and the decision numbered 19 and dated 09/09/2020.

**COVID-19 phobia scale (CP19-S):** The scale was developed by Arpaci, Karataş & Baloğlu (2020) as a 4-dimensional scale with 20 items and 5-point Likert (1: Strongly disagree and 5: Strongly agree). It consists of 'Psychological', 'Somatic', 'Social' and 'Economic' sub-scales. Sub-scale scores are obtained by the total score of the answers given to the items in that sub-scale while the total C19P-S score is obtained by the sum of the sub-scale scores and ranges from 20 to 100 points. The height of the scores indicates the height in the sub-scales and general coronaphobia. The Cronbach's alpha internal consistency coefficient of the scale was determined to be 0.926. In this study, the Cronbach Alpha coefficient was found to be 0.928.



Figure 1. CP19-S Scale Diagram Model



Since the CP19-S scale has been developed recently, a Confirmatory Factor Analysis was conducted within the scope of this study to verify the four-dimensional structure of the scale. As a result of the analysis, it was observed that the four-factor structure of the scale was confirmed and the fit indices of the model were at good fit (SRMR = .40) and acceptable levels ( $x^2$  / sd = 2.42, CFI = .94, TLI = .93, RMSEA = .067).

**Satisfaction with life scale:** Developed by Diener, Emmons, Larsen & Griffin (1985, 72), the "Satisfaction With Life Scale" was adapted into Turkish by Dağlı & Baysal (2016). The original form of the scale consists of a factor, 5 items, and a 7-point scale of Likert type. The scale had already been adapted into Turkish by Köker (1991) and used by various scholars in Turkey as a 7-point scale. Dağlı & Baysal (2016) identified that the responses of 7-point as in the original form of the scale were not appropriate for the Turkish culture and reduced these points to five. Then, the scale was readapted into Turkish from English to take its final form. The scale is graded as "Strongly disagree (1), Slightly disagree (2), Neither agree nor disagree (3), Highly agree (4) and Strongly agree (5)". The Cronbach's alpha internal consistency coefficient of the scale was determined as .88, while in this study, the Cronbach Alpha coefficient was found to be .79.

# Data Analysis

The data of the study were analysed by using Jamovi 1.6.12 statistical software program. Whether the scores obtained show normal distribution or not was examined via the skewness coefficient method to determine the tests to be used in the study (Büyüköztürk, 2018, p. 40). The skewness values obtained as a result of the analysis were calculated as "-.287" for the "COVID-19 Phobia (CP19-S) Scale" and ".383" for the "Satisfaction with Life Scale". It is assumed that the values range between +1 and -1 and the distribution is normal. The t-test and One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) tests were used to determine the differentiation of participants' opinions in terms of demographic variables. In groups with significant differences, the Post-Hoc Tests was used to determine the source of the difference. In addition, the researchers investigated whether there is a meaningful relationship between the "COVID-19 Phobia Scale" and "Life Satisfaction Scale".

### RESULTS

Table 1

Participants' Judgements of the Order of Fear-type Emotion Verbs on the Scale

Scales	Ν	Min-Max	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	SS
COVID-19 Phobia Scale	320	20-126	63.54	17.16



International Journal of Modern Education Studies

Arpacı, Karataş & Baloğlu (2020), who developed the CP19-S scale, stated that the scores ranged between 20 and 100 points, and high scores indicated a higher overall coronaphobia. According to Table 1, the average score of the CP19-S scale of the participants is medium.

#### Table 2

*The arithmetic mean and standard deviation values of the CP19-S scale and satisfaction with life scale scores of the participants* 

Scales	Ν	Min-Max	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	SS
CP19-S	320	1-6.3	3.18	.86
Satisfaction With Life Scale	320	1-5	2.68	.87

Table 2 shows that the average scores of the participants for both scales are medium.

Table 3Independent group t-test results according to the gender variable scores of the participants

Scales	Gender	Ν	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	SS	sd	t	р
CP19-S	Female	119	3.01	.99	21.0	-2.67	.008*
	Male	201	3.27	.76	318		
Satisfaction With Life	Female	119	2.80	.99	318	1 79	075
Scale	Male	201	2.61	.78	510	1.79	.075

\*(p < 0.05)

According to Table 3, no statistically significant difference was found in the scores of the satisfaction with life scale t (318) = 1.79; p<0.05. in terms of the gender variable as a result of the t-test, while a significant difference was found in the CP19-S scores t (318) = - 2.67 p<0.05. It is observed that male participants ( $\overline{X}_{male}$ =3.27) have significantly higher levels of coronaphobia compared to female participants ( $\overline{X}_{female}$ =3.01).



Table 4

, 6	,, , ,	1 5	,			5	
Variables	Category	Ν	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	SS	F	р	Groups with differences (Post-Hoc Tests)
	18-20 (a)	57	2.92	1.01			
	21-23 (b)	143	3.17	.90			
Age	24-26 (c)	76	3.13	.64	5.44	.001*	d – a, b, c
	27 and over (d)	44	3.60	.67			
	High School (a)	140	2.97	.97			
Education level	Associate Degree (b)	93	3.38	.76	7 70	001*	h c-a
	Undergraduate Degree (c)	87	3.30	.67	7.70	.001	<i>0,</i> c
The order	Teaching (a)	79	3.36	.95			
of	Coaching (b)	101	3.02	.86	3 66	027*	a-b
preference	Coaching – Evening classes (c)	140	3.19	.78	0.00	.027	u U
	Highly Anxious (a)	68	4.11	.45			
COVID-19	A little bit anxious (b)	108	2.82	.66	78.69	.000*	a - b, c
Allalety	Never anxious (c)	144	3.00	.83			

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) results of the COVID-19 Phobia Scale scores according to the variables of age, education level, the order of preference, and COVID-19 anxiety

\*(*p*<0.05)

As is seen from Table 4, as a result of the analysis, statistically significant differences were found in the variables of age F(3.316) = 5.44; p<0.05., education level F(3.316) = 7.70; p<0.05., the order of preference F(3.316) = 3.66; p<0.05. and COVID-19 anxiety F(3.316) = 78.69; p<0.05. The Post-Hoc Tests was conducted to determine among which groups the difference occurred. In terms of the age variable, a statistically significant difference of p<0.05 was found between the COVID-19 phobia levels of the participants in the age groups of 18-20, 21-23, and 24-26, and the age group of 27 and over. One may also notice that the COVID-19 phobia levels of the participants in the age group of 27 and over are significantly higher than the other age groups.

The analysis related to education level reveals that the COVID-19 phobia levels of the students with an associate degree and undergraduate degree are significantly higher than graduates of high school. One may observe that in terms of the the order of preference variable, the COVID-19 phobias of the participants whose first choice is teaching is significantly higher than the participants whose first choice is coaching and that students who are highly anxious in terms of the COVID-19 anxiety variable have significantly higher levels of COVID-19 phobias than students who are a little bit anxious and never anxious.



Table 5

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) results of the satisfaction with life scale scores of the participants according to the variables of age, education level, the order of preference, and COVID-19 anxiety

Variables	Category	Ν	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	SS	F	р	Groups with differences (Post-Hoc Tests)
	18-20 (a)	57	2.84	.88			
	21-23 (b)	143	2.63	.94			
Age	24-26 (c)	76	2.56	.79	1.93	.124	_
	27 and over (d)	44	2.86	.74			
Education level	High School (a)	140	2.71	1.00			
	Associate Degree (b)	93	2.63	.72	257	773	_
	Undergraduate Degree (c)	87	2.69	.81			
The order	Teaching (a)	79	2.35	.88			
of	Coaching (b)	101	2.80	.85			_
preference	Coaching – Evening classes (c)	140	2.77	.85	7.71	.001*	b, c – a
COVID-19	Highly Anxious (a)	68	1.94	.67			
	A little bit anxious (b)	108	2.88	.80	38.71	.000*	b, c – a
<i>i</i> invicty	Never anxious (c)	144	2.88	.82			

\*(*p*<0.05)

As a result of the analysis shown in Table 5, no statistically significant difference was found in the satisfaction with life scale scores of the participants in terms of age (F = 1.93; p = .124) and education level (F = .257; p = .773) variables. A statistically significant difference was found in the variables of the order of preference F (2.317) = 7.71; p<0.05., and COVID-19 anxiety F (2.317) = 38.71; p<0.05..

It is observed that the satisfaction with life levels of the participants whose first choice is teaching are significantly lower than the participants whose first choice is coaching and coaching of evening classes. Besides, the levels of satisfaction with life of the students who are highly anxious in terms of the COVID-19 anxiety variable are significantly lower than the students who are a little bit anxious and never anxious.

Table 6

*Correlation results between psychological, somatic, social, and economic sub-scales of COVID-19 phobia scale variables and satisfaction with life scale scores* 

Variables	Psychological	Somatic	Social	Economic
Satisfaction with life	193*	276*	279*	242*

N=320

\*p<.05

Table 6 reveals that there is a negative and low level of a significant relationship between the satisfaction with life scores of the participants and psychological (r = -.193), somatic (r = -.276), social (r = -.279), and economic (r = -.242) as independent variables. It



can be stated that as the phobia of the participants about COVID-19 increases, their satisfaction with life scores decrease.

Table 7

Results of standard multiple regression analysis regarding the prediction of satisfaction with life of psychological, somatic, social and economic sub-scales of COVID-19 phobia scale variables

Variables	В	Sh	В	Т	p
Fixed	3.559	.180		19.728	.000*
Psychological	.115	.083	.129	1.385	.167
Somatic	223	.113	234	-1.981	.048
Social	247	.109	253	-2.272	.024
Economic	.071	.113	.076	.629	.530
R= 0.303 R <sup>2</sup> = 0.092					
F (4. 315)=7. 98 p= .000					

According to Table 7, the psychological, somatic, social, and economic sub-scales of the COVID-19 phobia scale have a low and significant relationship with the satisfaction with life scores of the students (R = 0.303, R<sup>2</sup> = .092, p <.05). Psychological, somatic, social, and economic sub-subscales explain about 9% of the total variance in students' satisfaction with life.

# DISCUSSION

This study was conducted during an extraordinary period during which the COVID-19 disease broke out and spread all over the world. In light of various analyses, it was observed that the COVID-19 phobia score (63.54) and the arithmetic mean scores of the COVID-19 phobia scale and satisfaction with life scale were found to be at a medium level. Gencer (2020) found that the average overall score obtained from the coronavirus fear scale was close to the medium level. Before May 2020, Arpacı, Karataş, & Baloğlu (2020) found the average of coronavirus 19 phobia scores as (mean = 65.42) in their research on the 17-89 age group. Although the age group in our study is generally under 35, the mean scores are close. This may be attributed to the fact that the second wave of the virus began to appear in the world in August-September, 2020. In addition, this can be explained by the idea that the low COVID-19 phobia score reduces the effect of the virus on young people, in other words, the low mortality rate in the young population.

There was no significant difference in life satisfaction scale scores in terms of the gender variable. In a study conducted by Tümkaya, Çelik, and Aybek (2011) on students, it was stated that life satisfaction did not differ according to gender. The coronavirus 19 phobia was significantly higher in men than women based on the results of the CP10-S



scale. As is observed from the explanations of scientists enlightening us on social media and TVs, it has been known that women are more resistant to this virus, and men who are infected with the COVID-19 virus are more likely to die, and such realities affect phobia perceptions. Üstün and Özçiftçi (2020) support this result in the studies of Leonardo Pujol (2020). In Zoralioğlu's (2020) study, it was found that male patients had lower oxygen saturation, longer hospital stay, and more severe CT findings than women. Ünal (2020) found the behavioural protection from coronavirus score of women higher than men in his research.

In terms of the age variable, it was concluded that the COVID-19 phobia levels of the participants aged 27 and over were significantly higher than the other age groups (18-20, 21-23 and 24-26 years). Given the data of the World Health Organization and the health ministries of countries, the belief that the virus affects young people less and the number of young people in mortality rates may show an effective variation on the COVID-19 phobia.

In terms of the educational level variable, it was concluded that the COVID-19 phobia levels of the students with an associate degree and undergraduate degree were significantly higher than graduates of high school. As the level of education increases, the level of consciousness increases, thus; the level of taking measures against the virus as well as of the phobia increases. Sever and Özdemir (2020) concluded that university students experience a sense of burnout during the pandemic process.

It was concluded that in terms of the the order of preference variable, the COVID-19 phobias of the participants whose first choice is teaching was significantly higher than the participants whose first choice is coaching. As students are supposed to be in the first 300,000 among the 2,296,138 candidates who took the exam in the university entrance exams (according to the data of the Center for Assessment, Selection, and Placement) to be eligible to choose a department of teaching, the accumulation of knowledge and education level of the students is higher, which is possibly a result that supports each other with the findings of the educational level variable.

It was concluded that highly anxious students had significantly higher levels of COVID-19 phobia than students who are a little bit or never anxious. High results of COVID-19 phobia among highly anxious students are potentially expected results that are rationalized in this research. Üstün and Özçiftçi (2020) purported that "The existing panic and anxiety have turned into a kind of fear due to the rapid transmission of the disease and the continuous increase in the number of patients and deaths." It was determined that the satisfaction with life levels of the participants whose first choice is teaching were significantly lower than the participants whose first choice was coaching and coaching during evening classes. While the level of phobia increases inversely with the COVID-19 phobia, the level of satisfaction with life decreases.



In terms of the COVID-19 anxiety variable, it was found that the satisfaction with life levels of highly anxious students were significantly lower than a little bit anxious students or students with no anxiety at all. It was determined that there is a negative low-level significant relationship between the satisfaction with life scores of the participants and the independent variables, including psychological, somatic, social, and economic factors. It can be stated that as the COVID-19 phobia of the participants increases, their satisfaction with life scores decrease. It is stated by Afacan and Avci (2020) that health and lifestyle are closely related to each other. Chen et al. (2020) suggest that precautions against the spread of the virus may lead to a lifestyle that may also cause various chronic health problems by increasing anxiety and depression, as well as causing inactivity. Bakioğlu et al. (2020) recommend developing strategies to protect mental health and increasing psychological resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Ensuring measurement invariance is a prerequisite for meaningful comparisons between groups and at different times (Akın Arıkan & Demirtaş Zorbaz, 2020). This study was conducted in the time period when the level of first wave of COVID-19 virus decreased in many countries in the world and the level of wave 2 started in some countries. It is thought that conducting new studies with the measurement tools used in this research or with different scales can provide significant benefits to acquiring new information and maturing ideas. In the event of the end of the virus, making new measurements with similar measurement tools can provide results in different dimensions and develop new perspectives.

### **Conclusion and Recommendations**

As a result, a significant relationship was found between scores of the COVID-19 phobia scale and satisfaction with life scale. Besides, demographically significant relationships were found between the COVID-19 phobia and satisfaction with life. The results have a consistent pattern with the results of research in medical sciences and psychosocial fields, and the inferences could be interpreted depending on the opinions of the participants. By using the results of this research, strategies to prevent disease-related phobias can be developed to increase people's satisfaction with life.

This study has some limitations. It was only carried out on the students who took the special talent exams. The satisfaction with life scale used in this study can be seen as a good start to understand students' satisfaction. Therefore, in future studies, it is estimated that significant contributions will be made to the literature if analysis could be made on stress, anxiety, happiness, motivation, academic achievement, future anxiety/expectation, attitude and similar concepts together with the COVID-19 phobia scale. Also, conducting analyzes for students in all departments at a university and in several different countries will provide a very robust and interesting study. In the light of the information to be obtained, it is ensured that the psychological and social problems will be seen concretely in the society along with easier solutions.



Given the studies on the life satisfaction levels of students and other individuals in the period before the pandemic (Akyol, Başaran & Yeşilbaş, 2018; Çivitçi, 2012; Dorahy et al., 2000; Gündoğar et al., 2007), it is understood that life satisfaction was at high levels. It can be said that the pandemic has changed the life satisfaction level of the students.

This study which was conducted during the tough times of the pandemic is fairly enlightening when it comes to the emotional and psychological effects of the COVID-19 on students. The results of this study will be useful in the field of knowledge for current higher education administration and future researchers to better understand how a global pandemic determines students' satisfaction and their ability to succeed in academic careers.

#### Acknowledgments

There is no financial support and conflict of interest in this study. The authors would like to thank 320 participating students for their cooperation and willingness to respond to this research. Also, the authors would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their comprehensive and constructive feedback that guided us to improve the manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Afacan, E. & Avcı, N. (2020). A sociological overview of outstanding diseases through the coronavirus example (COVID-19). *Eurasian Journal of Researches in Social and Economics* (*EJRSE*), 7(5), 1-14. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/asead/ issue/54658/738133
- Agid, O. McDonald, K. Siu, C. Tsoutsoulas, C. Wass, C. Zipursky, R. B. Foussias, G. & Remington, G. (2012). Happiness in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 141(1), 98-103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2012.07.012
- Akgün, N. (1993). *Exercise physiology*. 4th Edition. İzmir, Ege University Press 2.
- Akın Arıkan, Ç. & Demirtaş Zorbaz, S. (2020). Measurement invariance of the Satisfaction with Life Scale across gender and time. *Turkish Journal of Education*, 9(4), 260-272. http://dx.doi.org/10.19128/turje.774452
- Akyol, B. Başaran, R. & Yeşilbaş, Y. (2018). Life satisfaction level and lifelong learning tendencies of Public Education Center trainees. *Mehmet Akif Ersoy University Journal of Education Faculty*, (48), 301-324. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/ tr/pub/maeuefd/issue/39596/412680
- Arpacı, I. Karataş, K. & Baloğlu, M. (2020). The development and initial tests for the psychometric properties of the COVID-19 Phobia Scale (C19P-S). *Personality and Individual Differences, in press.* 164. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110108



- Atılgan, D. & Kaya, A. (2018). A research on the mental and physical health of the students who do and don't do sports with licence at high schools which belongs to Ministry of National Education. *The Journal of Academic Social Science*, 6(83), 268-289. http://dx.doi.org/10.16992/ASOS.14387
- Atılgan, D. (2020). Investigation of happiness levels of individuals actively exercising for recreational purposes during the covid-19 outbreak. *Journal of Education and Recreation Patterns*, 1(1), 7-18.
- Aydoğmuş, M. & Tükel, Y. (2019). Testing the mediating role of collective efficacy perceptions on the relationship between teachers' perceptions of professional burnout and organizational commitment. *I.E.: Inquiry in Education*, *11*(2), 1-20.
- Bakioğlu, F. Korkmaz, O. & Ercan, H. (2020). Fear of COVID-19 and positivity: mediating role of intolerance of uncertainty, depression, anxiety, and stress. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00331-y
- Bingöl, C. & Alpkaya, U. (2016). The investigation of the self esteem level of the athletes and non-athletes in high school students. *Marmara University Journal of Sports Sciences*, 1(1), 31-37. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/musbd/issue/23780/302326
- Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2018). Manual of data analysis for social sciences. 24. Edition. Ankara: Pegem Academy.
- Chen, P. Mao, L. Nassis, G.P. Harmer, P. E. Ainsworth, B. & Li, F. (2020). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): The need to maintain regular physicalactivity while taking precautions. J Sport Health Sci, 9(2), 103-104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2020.02.001
- Cohn, M. A. Fredrickson, B. L. Brown, S. L. Mikels, J. A. & Conway, A. M. (2009). Happiness unpacked: Positive emotions increase life satisfaction by building resilience. *Emotion*, 9(3), 361-368. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0015952
- Çivitçi, D. (2012). The relationships between global life satisfaction and psychological needs in university students. *Çukurova University Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 21(2), 321-336. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/cusosbil/issue/4390/60371
- Dağlı, A. & Baysal, N. (2016). Adaptation of the satisfaction with life scale into Turkish: the study of validity and reliability. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*, 15(59), 1250-1262. http://dx.doi.org/10.17755/esosder.75955
- Dalkıran, O. & Tuncel, F. (2007). Evaluation of physical education lessons as elective courses in secondary education schools by students. SPORMETRE The Journal of Physical Education and Sport Sciences, 5(1), 37-42. https://doi.org/10.1501/Sporm\_0000000121
- Dorahy, M. J. Lewis, C. A. Schumaker, J. F. Akuamoah-Boateng, R. Duze, M. C. & Sibiya, T. E. (2000). Depression and life satisfaction among Australian, Ghanaian, Nigerian, Northern Irish, and Swazi University Students. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 15(4), 569– 580.



- Dosil, M. Biota, I. Picaza, M. Eiguren, A. & Rodríguez, I. (2019). Resilience analysis in the teen stage: an approach to the situation of schools in the Basque Country. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 3(2), 54-64.
- Garfin, D. R. Thompson, R. R. & Holman, E. A. (2018). Acute stress and subsequent health outcomes: a systematic review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 112, 107-113. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.05.017
- Garfin, D. R. Silver, R. C. & Holman, E. A. (2020). The novel coronavirus (COVID-2019) outbreak: Amplification of public health consequences by media exposure. *Health Psychology*, 39(5), 355–357. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/hea0000875
- Gencer, N. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19) fear of individuals during the pandemia: Çorum sample. International Journal of Social Sciences Academy, 2(4), 1153-1173. http://dx.doi.org/10.47994/usbad.791577
- Gündoğar, D. Gül, S. S. Uskun, E. Demirci, S. & Keçeci, D. (2007). Investigation of the Predictors of Life Satisfaction inUniversity Students. *J Clin Psy*, *10*(1), 14-27.
- Karasar, N. (2014). Scientific research method. 26. Printing. Ankara: Nobel Publishing.
- Karasar, N. (2015). Scientific research method. Ankara: Nobel Publishing.
- Kaya, Ö. S. & Orçan, F. (2019). Mediating role of happiness between empathy, forgiveness, life satisfaction: a path analysis. *Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Journal Faculty of Education*, 19(2), 540-554. http://dx.doi.org/10.17240/aibuefd.20xx
- Koca, F. İmamoğlu, G. & İmamoğlu, O. (2018). Sports status of high school students and investigation of personality characteristics by gender. *The Journal of Academic Social Science*, 6(80), 31-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.16992/ASOS.14267
- Kuru, E. (2003). The personal features of students in the department of physical education at different statues. *Gazi University Journal of Gazi Education Faculty*, 23(1), 175–191.
- Leonardo Pujol. (2020). COVID-19: *Why does coronavirus cause more deaths in men?* BBC Brazil 17 December 2020. https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler-dunya-55338278. (Date of access: 10.01.2020).
- Pakpour, A. & Griffiths, M. (2020). The fear of COVID-19 and its role in preventive behaviors. *Journal of Concurrent Disorders*, 2(1), 58–63.
- Peterson, C. Park, N. & Seligman, M. E. P. (2005). Orientations to happiness and life satisfaction: The full life versus the empty life. *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being*, 6(1), 25-41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-004-1278-z
- Schnepfleitner, F.M. & Ferreira, M.P. (2021). Transformative learning theory is it time to add a fourth core element? *Journal of Educational Studies and Multidisciplinary Approaches* (*JESMA*), 1(1), 40-49. http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/jesma.2021.9



- Sever, M. & Özdemir, S. (2020). The experience of being a student during coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic: a photovoice study. *Society and Social Work*, 31(4), 1653-1679. http://dx.doi.org/10.33417/tsh.778615
- Sylvester, C. (2005). *A comparison of ancient and modern conceptions of happiness and leisure*. In Eleventh Canadian Congress on Leisure Research, Nanaimo, British Columbia.
- Ünal, H. (2020). Level of knowledge, perception and behavior of family medicine residents about the new coronavirus disease (COVID-19). (Unpublished Medical Specialty Thesis). Health Sciences University Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşçıoğlu City Hospital, Department of Family Medicine, Istanbul.
- Üstün, Ç. & Özçiftçi, S. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on social life and ethical plane: an evaluation study. *Anatolian Clinic Journal of Medical Sciences*, 25(1), 142-153. http://dx.doi.org/10.21673/anadoluklin.721864
- Van Yperen, N. W. (2020). Achievement goals and self-regulation in the sport context. In Social Psychology: Handbook of Basic Principles, 3rdedn. New York: Guilford Press.
- Zhang, J. Wu, W. Zhao, X. & Zhang, W. (2020). Recommended psychological crisis intervention response to the 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia outbreak in China: a model of West China Hospital. *Precision Clinical Medicine*, 3(1), 3-8. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcmedi/pbaa006
- Zoralioğlu, M. (2020). The effect of gender on prognosis in patients between 30-50 years old with COVID-19 and other factors affecting it. (Unpublished Medical Specialty Thesis). Health Sciences University Ümraniye Health Application and Research Center Internal Medicine Clinic, Istanbul.





# INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MODERN EDUCATION STUDIES

Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209

# Primary school teachers' views on Syrian Students' Turkish and math skills and the confronted challenges

# Yeliz BOLAT 1

# Abstract:

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 92-117 <u>http://www.ijonmes.net</u> <u>dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes</u>

#### Article Info:

Received : 04.03.2021 Revision 1 : 15.03.2021 Accepted : 11.04.2021

DOI: 10.51383/ijonmes.2021.84

**Keywords**:

This research attempts to reveal the views of the primary school teachers, having Syrian students in their class, on these students' Turkish and mathematics skills and the challenges they have confronted in the classroom. The research used a mixed research method and 347 primary school teachers who met the criterion of having Syrian students in their classes participated in the research. Quantitative data were gathered through a five-point Likert type questionnaire consisting of 27 questions, and qualitative data were collected with eight open-ended questions. Descriptive statistical methods were used during quantitative data analysis and descriptive analysis for qualitative data. The research findings revealed that Syrian students' reading, reading comprehension and problem solving skills were not sufficiently developed due to the lack of speaking Turkish. In the same vein, there were communication problems with students and parents due to the language barrier which affects Syrian students' choice of friends and their success in classes. Another research finding suggested that Syrian students were at a satisfactory level in operational skills that do not require verbal knowledge, especially in mathematics lesson. In addition, the parents were identified to be indifferent to the students' lessons and they did not help with their homework. The participants' common view was that Syrian students should receive Turkish education in separate classes (preparatory class) in order to solve the language problem before schooling.

Refugee education, refugee children, Turkish skills, math skills, primary school teachers.

#### Citation:

Bolat, Y. (2021). Primary school teachers' views on Syrian Students' Turkish and math skills and the confronted challenges. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 5(1), 92-117. http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.84

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Asst. Prof. Dr., Hitit Üniversity, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Child Development, Çorum, Turkey. <u>yelizbolat@hitit.edu.tr</u>. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1661-1645

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Due to reasons such as famine, hunger, civil war, human rights violations, economic and political problems in the world, people leave their countries and migrate to other countries. Therefore, the lives of children uprooted from their countries are interrupted and various problems such as abduction, rape, early marriage, child labor, and staying away from school are encountered (Boyden, de Berry, Feeny, & Hart, 2002; McBrien, 2005). Education serves as one of the substantial factors in restoring the feeling of normalcy and returning to a normal life for children who have been uprooted from their country (Peterson, 2011, Talbot, 2015). Besides, education is required to build a peaceful future and to gain a hopeful approach about the future (Sinclair, 2001; IIEP-UNESCO, 2011; Talbot, 2015). The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (2000) states that education is not only a profound human right, but also one of the fundamental factors for the healing of refugee children. In this regard, it is essential for refugee children to have educational opportunities.

# Second language acquisition and identity

Refugee children need language support so that they can communicate with others, learn the language of the host country and develop a sense of belonging. Language is a factor that can support or prevent the integration of refugee children (Cerna, 2019). Refugee children often attach importance to the acquisition of that country's language for their future success in the new country (Pryor, 2001). However, language proficiency may vary significantly across different dimensions. For instance, children may be competent at colloquial and spoken language, while they may be far behind in academic language (McBrien, 2005). Cummins (1981) explained this by advocating that Basic Interpersonal Communication Skills (BICS) and Cognitive / Academic Language Proficiency (CALP) are qualitatively different skills. Cummins (1981) stated that BICS includes skills such as pronunciation, basic vocabulary and grammar that are needed in everyday communication situations. Most refugee students can rapidly develop these skills in about two years after the first exposure to the second language. Cognitive Academic Language Proficiency (CALP) focuses on proficiency in the academic language or language used in the classroom in various content areas. In addition to language acquisition, students need to develop skills such as comparing, classifying, synthesizing, evaluating, and inferring during the development of academic competence. Therefore, it takes at least five years for students who acquire a second language to develop the CALP. Language skills are essential not only for academic success, but also for students with immigrant or refugee backgrounds to develop a sense of school belonging (Cerna, 2019). It may be useful to encourage refugee students to express their opinions and participate in class discussions in order to help them form their personal identity (Mosselson, 2006).

Creating and reconstructing identity plays a significant role in the integration of refugee students into schools and communities. Schools are places for socialization and thus



having a responsibility to help refugee students understand the new country and become a part of it (Kaprielian-Churchill, 1996). If refugee students cannot balance their own culture with that of the host country, it may be difficult for them to adapt to the new country (Nakeyar, Esses, & Reid, 2017). Therefore, combining the culture of the host country with their own culture is paramount in the refugee students' adaptation and learning process (Kaprielian-Churchill, 1996).

# Models of refugee education and applications in Turkey

The increasing refugee or asylum-seeking population due to these forced migrations entails the countries to take measures and develop education policies. In this regard, countries have adopted different integration models to ensure the integration of migrants and refugees. Assimilation and multiculturalism models are two main models among these models (Choquet, 2017). The assimilation model is built on a universalist policy that attributes the same rights to everyone regardless of their differences, based on the principle of equal dignity for its citizens considering cultural and religious differences (Choquet, 2017). The multicultural model, on the other hand, is based on a policy of difference based on a universalist assumption: all citizens should have the right to live according to their culture and religion (Choquet, 2017). The aim of both models is to ensure that all citizens are equal, but differ in the way they are encouraged.

In this context, countries embrace three different models to adapt refugee students to their current education system (Tsioupis & Paida, 2020). The first of them is a separate site, where refugee students are placed for different periods, and a separate school model (Nilsson & Bunar, 2016; Short, 2002; Short & Boyson, 2012). While this model is implemented for middle school and high school students in the USA and at the local level (in Malmö city) in Sweden for refugees aged 13-15. The second model used especially for 7-9-year-old refugee students is Direct Immersion model, in which students are directly admitted to the current education system (Nilsson & Bunar, 2016). In this model, the new student is directly placed in one of the existing classes, with or without the support of second language (Nilsson & Bunar, 2016). The third model for refugees is a separate classroom or in-school program. In this model, students who have insufficient language skills to participate in normal classes are taught in a class called transition class, preparatory class, or admission class (Nilsson & Axelsson, 2013; Short, 2002; Short & Boyson, 2012). According to the European Commission report published in 2019, 42 European countries adopted the separate classroom model for the students with migrant background (Cited in: Tsioupis & Paida, 2020).

The separate model is put into force for primary and secondary school students in Turkey by establishing "Temporary Training Centers" (TTC) (Human Rights Watch, 2015; Nilsson & Bunar, 2016; Short, 2002). A model of separate sites, Temporary Training Centers in Turkey (TTC) were opened inside and outside the camps in the Syrian border provinces. A program of Arabic and Turkish education was implemented in these centers.



The opening of these centers was later left to the approval of the governorships (MoNE, circular numbered 2014/21) and their number was increased. However, Project on Promoting Integration of Syrian Kids into the Turkish Education System (PIKTES) was implemented in 2016 with a view to adapting refugee students to the education system and help them learn languages. Thanks to this project, the number of students enrolled in public schools increased, the need for TTCs decreased and these centers started to close. School age children in Turkey are given the right to register directly to the state schools (Ministry of Education, Circular No. 2014/21) and placed in an appropriate class considering their age, and the second model was applied. According to the Immigration Administration General Directorate of September 2020 data, there are 1.197.124 Syrian school children in Turkey (5-17 years). 770.924 of these children are enrolled in the eschool affiliated to MoNE and FSIMS (Foreign Student Information Management System) (General Directorate of Lifelong Learning, 2021). These data indicate that direct immersion model is widely used in Turkey. Adaptation classes were opened in schools in Turkey within the scope of PIKTES in order to ensure the adaptation of refugee students to the education system and to help them learn a language (MoNE, circular 2019/15). Adaptation classes can be opened with at least ten students at each grade level, if there are no ten students, the multigraded class is provided as such: 3th and 4th grades in primary schools; 5th and 6th grades; 7th and 8th grades in secondary schools (MoNE, 2019/15 circular). Turkish teachers are assigned in these adaptation classes and these teachers conduct Turkish lessons. Branch teachers are assigned for other branch courses, but if there is no branch teacher, Turkish teachers also carry out the branch courses (MoNE, 2019/15 circular).

#### **Problem statement**

Different models used around the world and in Turkey facilitate refugee students to adapt to the current education system and to reach the school. However, the studies conducted on the education of refugee or asylum-seeking children demonstrate that these children also encounter various obstacles and problems when they reach school (Aldaraghmeh, 2020; Aydın & Kaya, 2019; Avcı, 2019; Block, Cross, Riggs & Gibbs, 2014; Boylu & Işık, 2020; Gencer, 2017; McBrien, 2005; Taylor & Sidhu, 2012). Of all the problems, the language barrier is the leading one (Aydın & Kaya; 2015; Bosswick & Heckmann, 2006; Dolapçıoğlu & Bolat 2019; Human Rights Watch, 2015; Khawaja, & Howard, 2020; Özkale & Yanpar-Yelken, 2020; Papapostolou, Manoli & Mouti, 2020; Ünal, Taşkaya, & Ersoy, 2018; Yohani, 2010). In addition to language problems, refugee students have various problems such as academic failure (Celik, 2019; Khawaja, & Howard, 2020; Yurdakul & Tok, 2018), peer problems (Samara, El Asam, Khadaroo, & Hammuda 2019), adaptation problems (Dolapçıoğlu & Bolat 2019; Gün & Baldık, 2017; Lerner 2012; Levent & Çayak, 2017; Samara et al., 2019; Uzun & Bütün, 2016), discrimination (Heckmann, 2008; Levent & Çayak, 2017; Mcbrein, 2005; Uzun & Bütün, 2016) and non-communication (Aydın & Kaya; 2015; Çimşir & Baysal 2020; Dolapçıoğlu & Bolat, 2019; Gün & Baldık,



2017; Levent & Çayak, 2017; Uzun & Bütün, 2016). Besides, studies showed that refugee students had low Turkish language proficiency and experienced problems in their reading and reading comprehension skills, which negatively affects their academic achievement (Aydın & Kaya, 2015; Aykırı, 2017; Boylu & Işık, 2020; Çimşir & Baysal, 2020; Hamilton, Lunenburg, Slate & Barners, 2021; Stathopoulou and Dassi, 2020). Some of the researches revealed that parents, just as refugee students, also had problems in communicating and supporting their children due to the language barrier (İstanbul Bilgi University Children's Studies Unit (ÇOÇA), 2015; Oikonomidoy & Karam, 2020; Tsioupis, & Paida, 2020).

Schools need to take some precautions and interventions in order to solve or minimize these problems and to ensure students' learning. Still, no improvement was observed in some of the refugee students' academic achievement despite the measures (Kaplan et al., 2016). If students are not progressing with the attempts made in such situations, the issues need to be revised and evaluated in depth (Khawaja & Howard, 2020). There is limited information about why refugee students, who perform significantly lower than expected performance and have difficulty in acquiring literacy and numeracy skills, experience difficulties in these issues (Khawaja & Howard, 2020). A review of literature indicated few studies dealing with the skills of refugees in Turkish and mathematics lessons (Aldaraghmeh, 2020; Biçer & Özaltın, 2020; Boylu & Işık, 2020; Demir & Alyılmaz, 2020; Tiryaki & Oğraş, 2020) and this subject has been found worth researching. Aldaraghmeh (2020) searched the problems of refugee students in Turkish speaking skills; Bicer and Ozaltın (2020) analyzed the Turkish language skills of Syrian students and their adaptation to school; Boylu and Işık (2020) examined the situations encountered in the learning process of refugees who learn Turkish in provinces where Syrian refugees are intensely populated, and in their teaching Turkish; Demir and Alyılmaz, (2020); Tiryaki and Oğraş (2020) sought teachers' views on the teaching process of Turkish lessons to Syrian students. This research, unlike the studies mentioned above, dealt with the primary school teachers' views regarding Syrian students' Turkish and mathematics skills and the challenges they have confronted. The starting point of this research was the deficiencies and problems related to Turkish and mathematics skills that the researcher observed in the Syrian students in her classroom and school while working as a teacher at a primary school with 1906 students (405 Syrian students) in 2019. Thus, it was wondered about whether other primary school teachers with Syrian students in their class had similar problems as well, and it was considered as a topic worth researching.

#### Purpose of the study

This research attempts to examine the primary school teachers' views on Syrian Students' Turkish and mathematics skills and the challenges they have confronted. In line with this aim, answers to the following questions were sought:

1. What are the primary school teachers' views on Syrian Students' Turkish skills?



2. What are the primary school teachers' views on Syrian students' math skills?

3. What are the primary school teachers' views regarding the challenges they have confronted with Syrian students in the classroom?

#### Significance of the Study

The research findings are paramount in terms of revealing the status of Syrian students in Turkish and mathematics lessons and finding solutions to the problems experienced on this subject. In line with unveiling the current level of Syrian students, students' needs are also identified to gain the skills of these courses. In this regard, teachers' sharing of their experiences and recommendations will serve as an example to their colleagues who teach Syrian students. The findings will provide information to schools, teachers and those concerned in order to increase the quality of education offered to Syrian students, to develop curricula and to improve their cultural adaptation as well as academic performance.

#### **METHOD**

#### **Research Design**

Having a descriptive research design, the research used a mixed research method. This research method is conducted by using quantitative and qualitative methods together in line with the principles of pragmatist philosophy in order to examine the research problem comprehensively and multidimensionally (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2016). Mixed research as a method focuses on the collection, analysis and integration of both qualitative and quantitative data; thus, it provides a better understanding of the research problem than any method used alone (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2007: cited in Creswell & Plano Clark, 2014). The reason for choosing the mixed method in this research was to obtain information from more participants regarding the level of skills that Syrian students should acquire in Turkish and mathematics lessons; the reasons why these skills are sufficient or insufficient and the problems experienced are examined in detail and in depth with qualitative data. In this regard, the research welcomed the convergent parallel design, one of the mixed research designs. This design entails that the researcher collects quantitative and qualitative data in the same phase (simultaneously), but analyzes the two data types independently, and interprets the findings together (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2014). In this research, quantitative and qualitative data weigh equally. During the data collection process, quantitative and qualitative data were collected simultaneously; the data were analyzed independently in the analysis phase, and then the findings were combined and interpreted and the results were obtained in the discussion phase (Figure 1).





Figure 1: Research Process regarding Convergent Parallel Design

# Instrumentation and data collection

The quantitative data were obtained by administering the questionnaire called "Problems confronted by Syrian students during their educational process" to primary school teachers. The questionnaire, developed by Ergen and Şahin (2019), is a five-point Likert type and consists of 27 questions. Cronbach's Alpha reliability analysis was performed for the reliability coefficient of the data collected with the questionnaire. Cronbach's Alpha reliability analysis is used in cases where items are scored by the grading method (Can, 2018). The reliability coefficient was not included in the study conducted by Ergen and Şahin (2019). The Cronbach's Alpha reliability coefficient was determined as .65 in the present research. If the Cronbach's alpha value is 0.60 <R2 <0.80, it is considered highly reliable (Yıldız & Uzunsakal, 2018). The level of reliability indicates that the questionnaire can be used. The scoring of the questionnaire is as follows (Ergen & Şahin, 2019):

- (a) "totally disagree" between 1.00-1.49;
- (b) "less agree" between 1.50-2.49;
- (c) "moderately agree "between 2.50-3.49;
- (d) "mostly agree" between 3.50-4.49;
- (e) "totally agree" between 4.5-5.00

Qualitative data were collected with 8 open-ended questions prepared by the researcher in order to obtain in-depth data and support quantitative data. For the validity of the open-ended questions, the views of two experts with doctoral degrees in educational sciences were consulted and corrections were made in line with their recommendations. The views of 30 teachers working at 15 different schools were taken in written and the collected data were analyzed through using a descriptive analysis method.



#### **Participants**

This research was conducted with teachers having Syrian students in their classrooms in schools located within the central districts of Adana during the 2019-2020 academic year. Criterion sampling, one of the purposive sampling methods, was used in the research. The criteria were determined as having at least 1 Syrian student in the class and working as a teacher in the central districts of Adana. The research was conducted with 347 primary school teachers who met this criterion and who accepted to be volunteers. The current mean of the classes in which these teachers work was 27; the mean number of Syrian students in the classroom was 6. Table 1 depicts information regarding the demographic characteristics of the teachers.

Table 1

Variables	Category	f	%
Condor	Female	244	70.3
Gender	Male	103	29.7
	0-5 years	20	5.8
Seniority	6-10 years	27	7.8
Seniority	11-15 years	82	23.6
	16-20 years	65	18.7
	21 years and over	153	44.1
	Education Faculty	246	70.9
Graduation Faculty	Faculty of Science and Letters	21	6.1
	Other faculties with four-year license	67	19.3
	Training Institute/Education College	13	3.7
	1 <sup>st</sup> grade	86	24.8
	2 <sup>nd</sup> grade	72	20.7
Grade Level	3 <sup>rd</sup> grade	103	29.7
	4 <sup>th</sup> grade	81	23.3
	Adaptation class	5	1.4
Doing Postgraduate Education	Yes	27	7.8
	No	320	92.2
In-Service Training for Syrian Students	Yes	177	51.0
In-Service Training for Syrian Students	No	170	49.0

Demographic Information regarding Teachers (N = 347) (Quantitative Part)

Table 1 demonstrates that 244 are females and 103 are males out of 347 teachers. 20 of these teachers had 0-5 years of seniority; 27 of them had 6-10 years; 82 of them 11-15 years; 65 of whom had 16-20 years and 153 of them 21 years or over seniority. 246 of the teachers graduated from education faculties, 21 from science and letters faculties, 67 from others with four-year license, and 13 from training institutes or Education colleges. Considering the grade levels, 86 of the teachers taught the first classes; 72 of them the second classes; 103 of them the third classes; 81 of them the fourth and 5 of whom taught the adaptation



classes. While 27 of these teachers received postgraduate education, 177 of them participated in in-service training for Syrian students.

The distribution of teachers' gender, seniority, graduation faculty, grade level, postgraduate education and in-service training for Syrian students was taken into account with a view to reflecting the diversity of the participants for quantitative data at a maximum level. Table 2 displays the demographic characteristics regarding the teachers from whom qualitative data were gathered through open-ended questions.

Table 2

Variables	Category	f	%
Condor	Female	16	53.3
Gender	Male	14	46.7
	0-5 years	4	13.3
Seniority      6     1     1     2     6     1     2     6     1     2     6     1     2     1     2     6     1     2     6     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     1     2     2     2     3	6-10 years	1	3.3
Seniority	11-15 years	8	26.7
	16-20 years	4	13.3
	21 years and over	13	43.3
	Education Faculty	20	66.7
Graduation Faculty	Faculty of Science and Letters	2	6.7
	Other faculties with four-year license	5	16.7
	Training Institute/Education College	3	10.0
	1 <sup>st</sup> grade	5	16.7
	2 <sup>nd</sup> grade	5	16.7
Grade Level	3 <sup>rd</sup> grade	12	40.0
	4 <sup>th</sup> grade	4	13.3
	Adaptation class	4	13.3
Doing Postore ducto Education	Yes	3	10.0
Doing rosigraduate Education	No	27	90.0
In-Service Training for Syrian Students	Yes	18	60.0
	No	12	40.0

Demographic information regarding teachers (Qualitative Part) (N = 30)

Table 2 depicts that the qualitative data were gathered from 16 female teachers and 14 male teachers. 4 of these teachers had 0-5 years of seniority; 1 of them had 6-10 years; 8 of them 11-15 years; 65 of whom had 16-20 years and 13 of them 21 years or over seniority. 20 of the teachers graduated from education faculties, 2 from science and letters faculties, 5 from others with four-year license, and 3 from training institutes or Education colleges. Considering the grade levels, 5 of the teachers taught the first classes; 5 of them the second classes; 12 of them the third classes; 4 of them the fourth and 4 of whom taught the adaptation classes. While 3 of these teachers received postgraduate education, 18 of them participated in in-service training for Syrian students.



### Data Analysis

Descriptive statistical methods were used during quantitative data analysis. Descriptive analysis was preferred in the analysis of qualitative data obtained from openended questions. In descriptive analysis, the collected data are analyzed, summarized and interpreted by taking into account the predetermined themes (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2016). In this regard, a framework was initially created for analyzing the data based on open-ended questions; themes were determined in line with this framework. Afterwards, the data were read, coded and organized according to the thematic framework. The elicited data were supported by direct quotations and explained through making associations and comparisons among the findings.

*Ethics Committee Certificate:* This study was approved by the Hitit University Ethics Committee with the decision dated 27.02.2020 and numbered 2020-14.

# RESULTS

This section covers the findings related to the quantitative and qualitative data analysis.

# Findings regarding quantitative data

The descriptive analysis results of the primary school teachers' responses are presented in Table 3.

#### Table 3

Descriptive Analysis Results related to Questionnaire Items

Items	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	S
1. I think Turkish reading comprehension skills are sufficient.	1,93	0,96
2. I think Turkish writing skills are sufficient.	2,12	0,96
3. I think Turkish listening comprehension skills are sufficient.	2,05	0,92
4. I think Turkish speaking skills are sufficient.	2,20	0,86
5. I think problem solving skills are sufficient in math class.	2,21	1,00
6. I observe they have problems in one-to-one studying.	3,32	1,11
7. I observe that elder students have adaptation problems.	3,82	1,12
8. I observe that they use violence among themselves.	3,72	1,27
9. I observe that they use mutual violence with Turkish students.	3,13	1,25
10.I observe that their games include violence.	3,40	1,31
11.I observe that Syrian students choose their friends among themselves.	3,91	1,09
12.I observe that they are more absent than other students.	3,75	1,28
13.I think that the material available in the school (projection etc. equipment)	is3,06	1,37
sufficient for visual expression.		
14.I think the financial resources of the school are sufficient.	1,88	1,04


15.I think the financial participation of parents is sufficient.	1,68	0,92
16.I think the participation of parent meetings is sufficient.	1,93	0,97
17.I think parents take care of their students enough.	1,86	0,87
18.I observe that parents use violence against their children.	2,52	1,9
19.I think parents' Turkish knowledge is sufficient.	1,47	0,78
20.I think parents are helpful enough with their children's homework.	1,49	0,72
21.I think Syrian guides are sufficient.	2,19	1,17
22.I think the activities of the school guidance service are sufficient.	3,01	1,19
23.I think Syrian students should receive education in separate classes.	3,72	1,38
24.I think it would be appropriate to include parents in parent education.	4,47	0,83
25.I think it would be appropriate to create funds by transferring resources to	4,20	1,15
schools.		
26.I think it is appropriate to combine with other classes after mainstreaming.	3,84	1,26
27.I think it is appropriate for the elder ones to receive education in separate	4,14	1,08
classes.		

Table 3 displayed the mean of the questionnaire items, indicating that the questionnaire items were not responded at the level of "totally agree" and "totally disagree". The teachers were identified to less participated in I1, I2, I3, I4, I5, I14, I15, I16, I17, I19, I20, I21; while they participated in I6, I7, I8, I9, I10, I11, I12, I13, I18 and I22 at a medium level; lastly, they mostly participated in I23, I24, I25, I26 and I27. Accordingly, teachers were of the view that Syrian students' Turkish reading comprehension, writing, listening comprehension, speaking skills and their problem solving skills in math lesson were insufficient. Besides, the findings suggested that teachers did not consider the financial resources of the school, the financial participation of the parents, the participation of parents in the meetings, the parents' help with their students and their homework, and the Syrian guides sufficient. As is observed in Table 3, teachers stated that Syrian students have problems in one-to-one studying and that elder students have adaptation problems; Syrian students use violence among themselves and with Turkish students and their games include violence; parents use violence against their children. The teachers also noted that Syrian students choose their friends among themselves, they are more absent than Turkish students and school guidance services are sufficient. The teachers also mentioned that Syrian students and elder students should receive education in separate classes, that they could be combined with other classes after mainstreaming, that it would be appropriate to create funds by transferring resources to schools and to include parents in parent education.

# Findings related to Qualitative Data

With the purpose of supporting the data collected through the questionnaire and obtaining more in-depth data, the written opinions of 30 teachers from 15 different schools were taken with eight open-ended questions, and these data were analyzed with



descriptive analysis. The primary schools these teachers work are in the neighborhoods where families with lower socio-economic status live, and they work at public schools in the neighborhoods where Syrians mostly migrate. The class size mean of the teachers is 26, and the mean number of Syrian students in their class is 10. The families of the Syrian students live in the districts of Seyhan and Yüreğir, which are the central districts of Adana, in the neighborhoods where migrant families are settled. Some of the adults in these families are working in jobs related to their professions, some in wage jobs, while some are unemployed. These families generally have low or middle income levels.

In this section, the findings obtained from the descriptive analysis are presented according to the thematic framework based upon open-ended questions.

# Views on reading skill

The teachers were asked "What are your views regarding the reading skills of Syrian students in your classroom?". The responses were coded under the theme of views on reading skills and presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Teachers' views on reading skills

Upon analyzing the primary school teachers' views on Syrian students' reading skills in Figure 2, the majority of the teachers believed that Syrian students' reading skills are insufficient (f:18). In discordance with this finding, some teachers stated that there is no problem in students' reading skills (f:5), some students are good while some are insufficient (f:3). In addition, the identified problems included students' difficulty in combining sounds (f:2) and incorrectly vocalizing letters (f:1). The teachers contemplated that the biggest reason why the students' reading skills are insufficient and undeveloped is due to lack of using Turkish language (f:11). Moreover, the lack of parental support, the duration of students' residence in Turkey, their preference not to use Turkish out-of-school and receiving education in the same classes with the students at different levels were identified to affect students' reading skills. Some of the teachers expressed their views as follows:



**FT12:** *I* think they cannot read at a sufficient level. They have difficulty in understanding what they read. They are reading slowly and inaccurately. Letter and syllable mistakes are commonly made.

**FT8:** There is no positive progress since they do not speak Turkish; parents, students and teachers cannot get along with each other and they do not come to school regularly.

**MT2:** Even though they were in the 2nd grade, their reading skills did not develop as they could not receive family support and also they mostly did not speak Turkish in the family.

**MT6:** There are those who can read but do not speak Turkish. I mean they don't understand what they read. The reading levels of the others are usually at a low level.

# Views on reading comprehension skill

The teachers were asked "What are your views regarding the reading comprehension skills of Syrian students in your classroom?". The responses were coded under the theme of views on reading comprehension skills and displayed in Figure 3.

	Not knowing Turkish (f.10)	5		
Not speaking	g Turkish except for school (f:1)	H		
	Turkish should be taught (f:3)	-	Reading Comprehension	Very poor (f:28)
	Explanation is needed (f:3)	2		Some are good, some are poor (f:2)
	Supported with visuals (f:1)	L		

Figure 3: Teachers' views on reading comprehension skill

As is seen in Figure 3, primary school teachers envisaged that Syrian students had poor reading comprehension skills (f:28). Different from this finding, the teachers indicated that some of their students comprehended what they read and that some of them had very poor reading comprehension skills (f:2). They listed the reasons for the poor reading comprehension skills as the lack of knowing Turkish (f:10) and not speaking Turkish out-of- school (f:1). The teachers concluded that Turkish should be taught (f:3), texts should be supported with visuals (f:1), and explanations should be made regarding the text or sentence (f: 3) in order to ensure the Syrian students' improvement in reading comprehension skills. Some of the teachers expressed their views as following:

**MT10:** Those who have insufficient Turkish speaking skills, who have not developed vocabulary yet and who can express themselves with a limited number of words were identified to have difficulties and problems in their reading comprehension skills. In order for the reading and comprehension skills to develop, the student's Turkish must be developed sufficiently, and activities are carried out in the classroom.



**FT9:** They do not understand most of what they read since they do not know the meaning of the words.

FT6: Since they do not speak Turkish, they cannot make sense of what they read.
MT2: Reading comprehension skills are not developed as reading skills are undeveloped.
MT3: They have difficulties because they do not know most of the Turkish words' meanings.
Views on operational skills (addition, subtraction, multiplication and division) in

### mathematics class

The teachers were asked "What are your views regarding the mathematical operations (addition, subtraction, multiplication and division) of Syrian students in your classroom?". The responses were coded under the theme of views on the operational skills in mathematics and depicted in Figure 4.



*Figure 4:* Views on operational skills (addition, subtraction, multiplication and division) in mathematics lesson.

According to Figure 4, teachers were found to consider that Syrian students' operational skills were at a satisfactory level (f:18). In addition, some teachers believed that Syrian students' operational skills were at a medium (f: 5) or low level (f: 3). Teachers stated that students' operational skills were affected by those in the Turkish course (f: 9) and that they were better than their reading and reading comprehension skills (f:7) in the Turkish course. Some of the teachers voiced their views as follows:

**MT5:** Their operational skills are better than reading and understanding.

**MT1:** *I* observed that they have intermediate level skills... Yet, they are better than reading comprehension.

**FT13:** They are doing operations at a class-level that are not based on instructions.

**FT10:** They are more successful in mathematics lesson. They're doing operations.

#### Views on problem solving skill in mathematics class

The teachers were asked "What are your views regarding the problem solving skills of Syrian students in your classroom in math lesson?". The responses were coded under the theme of views on the problem solving skills in mathematics and depicted in Figure 5.





Figure 5: Views on problem solving skill in mathematics lesson

As is seen in Figure 5, teachers indicated that students' problem solving skills were very poor in mathematics lesson (f:20). They also stated that the students were incapable of solving the problem since they could not understand they read (f:18). The teachers recommended that the students could understand the problem when their children read or explained the problem (f:3). Some of the teachers expressed their views as follows:

**MT10:** Syrian students with insufficient vocabulary were found to also have problems in problem solving skills in mathematics lesson. The main problem here is that I am reading but I do not understand or I understand but I cannot express it. The inadequacy of comprehension-expression skills is a problem.

**MT2:** Since their reading and comprehension skills in Turkish are undeveloped, they are normally not sufficient in problem solving.

**FT1:** They have difficulties in solving problems due to their poor Turkish expressions and understanding. However, they solve it directly when I read and explain the problem.

FT9: Success in problem solving is very low due to their limited vocabulary.

# Views on the confronted challenges

The teachers were asked "What are the challenges you have confronted with Syrian students in your classroom?". The responses were coded under the theme of views on the confronted challenges and shown in Figure 6.





# Figure 6: Views regarding the confronted challenges

As seen in Figure 6, there are four sub-themes in the theme of the challenges teachers confronted with Syrian students: peer relationships, problems with students, problems with parents and solution recommendations. Considering teachers' views on peer relationships; some teachers mentioned that the students had good relations with their friends (f:6), while others stated that they did not have good relations (f:6). The biggest challenge encountered in the theme of peer relationship is that students preferred to be friends with those of their own nationality (f:14). Furthermore, playing violent games (f:4) and using violence in problem solving (f: 8) were also among the problems. Some of the teachers expressed their views as follows:

**FT3:** Generally, they make friends among themselves or if they have elder brothers or sisters at school. If there is a problem, they solve it with their own method (beating).

**MT10:** Syrian students generally play games with each other and think that they are not liked or excluded by other students at the school. Their games usually include violence. In fact, even in the adaptation class where all Syrian students are present, students cannot play games together. Their games contain disservice.



The most common problems were students' inability to know Turkish (f:11) and unable to communicate (f:9) in the sub-theme of the challenges confronted with the student. Besides, not doing homework (f:3), absence (f:4), using violence (f:6), and engaging in undesired behaviors (f:4) were the other challenges confronted by teachers. On the other hand, there are also teachers who stated that they did not experience any problems (f: 3). Some of the teachers expressed their views as follows:

**MT3:** Since they do not know Turkish well, they have difficulty in understanding the lesson and doing the activities. Their education is disrupted as we cannot fully communicate with the parents. Their absence is medium and over.

**FT11:** Inability to do their homework properly. Not listening to me in class. I think this may be due to the fact that they don't understand me.

Considering the sub-theme of the challenges confronted with parents; the problems of not communicating (f:16) and not speaking Turkish (f:13) were found to be mostly experienced. Parents' indifference to their children (f:5), and the lack of their support were among the challenges confronted by the teachers. On the other hand, six of the teachers mentioned that they did not have any problems with parents. Some of the teachers expressed their views as follows:

**MT10:** The parents of Syrian students are by no means included in education. They do not take sufficient responsibility for their children's education. Families do not attend school meetings and do not follow their students' progress. Parents who cannot express themselves in Turkish do not come to school to ask about their children's progress.

**MT11:** I haven't almost experienced any problems. I can even say that they are much more caring and respectful than my other parents.

**MT1:** We could not communicate because of the language problem. I tried to talk to a few people through an interpreter.

Upon analyzing the sub-theme of solution recommendations provided for these challenges experienced by teachers; the following recommendations were presented: language education (f: 15) and orientation training for students and parents(f: 9), education in separate classes (f:5), interpreter support (f: 2), participation in social activities (f: 2), family participation (f:1) and appointment of teachers who know Arabic-Turkish (f:1). Some of the teachers expressed their views as follows:

**MT1:** First of all, students and parents should be included in orientation training. Before starting school, they should be taught Turkish at least at a level for understanding simple words and commands... During the lessons, there should be interpreters in classes during Turkish lessons... **FT5:** Before starting primary school, they must take Turkish language lessons for at least one year. 1st Grade Primary School is too late to learn Turkish. Syrian students should take compulsory *Turkish learning lessons one year before they start primary school.* 



**FT14:** They should definitely return to their own classes after learning literacy-comprehension in another separate classroom.

# DISCUSSION

This research attempts to reveal primary school teachers' views on Syrian Students' Turkish and mathematics skills and the challenges they have confronted. The research used a mixed method in order to obtain in-depth and detailed data.

The quantitative findings showed that Syrian Students' Turkish reading comprehension, writing, listening comprehension and speaking skills were not sufficient. The qualitative findings support this finding. Most of the teachers assumed that Syrian students' reading skills were insufficient. The biggest reason for the students' inadequacy regarding reading skills may be due to the fact that students do not know Turkish. Besides, the lack of parental support, the duration of students' residence in Turkey, not speaking Turkish out-of-school school, and receiving education in the same classes with the students at different levels also affect students' reading skills. The qualitative findings on reading comprehension skill demonstrated that Syrian students' reading comprehension skills were very poor. They stated that the reason for the poorness of this skill is that the students did not know Turkish and they do not speak Turkish out-ofschool and thus the teachers recommended that they be taught Turkish, the texts be supported with visuals and explanations be made about the text or sentence in order to improve it. Likewise, Aykırı (2017) also concluded in his interviews with primary school teachers that Syrian students had trouble in understanding what they read. In the interviews performed with fifteen foreign students attending primary school, Çimşir and Baysal (2020) noted that students mostly encountered problems in Turkish lessons, which require reading, reading comprehension and language skills. In this regard, Boylu and Işık (2020) examined the problems encountered in teaching Turkish to the students living in provinces where Syrian students are densely populated, and concluded that the use of Turkish out of school negatively affects the Turkish learning process, as the people in the provinces where the students live, know Arabic. This result is line with those of this research. In the study conducted with 120 teachers in Greece, Stathopoulou & Dassi (2020) determined that refugee students had a low literacy level. Similarly, Aydın and Kaya (2015) interviewed seven teachers and a school principal and hence emphasized that Syrian students started school without having Turkish education and therefore they did not have Turkish proficiency, affecting their success in other courses.

One of the findings obtained from the quantitative data was that problem solving skills were not sufficient in mathematics lesson. Qualitative findings supported the result in a way that Syrian students' problem solving skills were very poor and this was due to their inability to understand what they read. Teachers also mentioned that when the teacher reads or explains the problem, the students can solve the problem as they understand it. Even though the Syrian students' problem-solving skills were very poor,



that the processing skills in the mathematics course were at a good level is among the qualitative findings. Furthermore, the primary school teachers asserted that Syrian students' math processing skills were better than their reading and reading comprehension skills in Turkish lesson. In a similar sense, Aydun and Kaya (2015) put forward that Syrian students' success in other courses was affected due to the lack of their Turkish proficiency. The results in the same study referring that Syrian students understood numerical lessons much better and they were more successful in these lessons despite having difficulties in language lessons also support the findings of this research. In this context, Çimşir and Baysal (2020) also confirmed that Syrian students had problems in Turkish lessons because they require more reading, reading comprehension and language skills and that they had less difficulty in mathematics lesson than Turkish. Besides, Aksakal (2017) certified that Syrian students had difficulty in verbal lessons that require to know Turkish, yet they were more successful in lessons such as mathematics and physical education that language knowledge keeps in the background.

The quantitative findings suggested the financial resources of the school, the financial participation of the parents, the participation of the parents in the meetings, the parents' help with their students and their homework as well as the Syrian guides were considered as inadequate by the teachers. Similarly, qualitative findings revealed that parents were indifferent to their students, they did not help with their homework, and they had communication problems due to the lack of knowing Turkish. Parallel to these findings, the report announced by Istanbul Bilgi University Child Studies Unit (ÇOÇA) (2015) in order to share the interviews with teachers and administrators revealed that Syrian parents had poor relations with the school and had limited communication with teachers and administrators due to the language barrier. Likewise, Tsioupis & Paida (2020) interviewed fourteen Refugee Education Coordinators affiliated to the Greek Ministry of Education and found that refugee parents had little or no communication with their children's school and teachers. Family support is of great importance for Syrian students to adapt to school and to be successful in their classes. Refugee parents had a decisive role in raising their children's awareness related to the necessity of school education and connecting them with their children's school (Tsioupis, & Paida, 2020). Oikonomidoy & Karam (2020) emphasized that family support cannot be underestimated when it comes to refugee-background children, and that parents' support is required to guide their children's academic learning. In this regard, it is essential that refugee parents make an explanation on the necessity of their children's school enrollment and attendance, and engaging refugee parenst in their children's schooling in the long run (Tsioupis, & Paida, 2020). The language barrier has a significant place in the low participation of refugee parents. However, the lack of support or opportunities provided by schools to parents may also have an effect on this situation. To illustrate, a handbook was prepared in New Zealand to facilitate the adaptation of refugee students and to increase parental involvement, and some refugees were used as resource persons to inform families



regarding homework and the functioning of the school (Ministry of Education Auckland, 2016). The New South Wales Department of Education has taken some measures to help schools strengthen their ties with parents of various cultural and linguistic backgrounds and to develop parent / school partnerships. One of these measures offers a special program for Pacific Communities and Youth Partnerships that includes homework support (MIPEX, 2015). In this regard, parents can be provided language support with the participation of people who know Arabic-Turkish in Turkey. In addition, providing information about the functioning of the school and how to support students can be helpful in ensuring school-family cooperation.

According to quantitative findings, teachers witnessed that Syrian students had problems in one-to-one study and that elder students had an adaptation problem; moreover, Syrian students used mutual violence among themselves and towards Turkish students, they used violence in their games, and that parents used violence against their children. Teachers also declared that Syrian students chose their friends among themselves, they were more absent than other students and that the school guidance service is sufficient. These findings are also confirmed by the qualitative data referring that the biggest problem in the peer relations dimension was to choose friends with those of their own nationality, as well as having problems in playing violent games and using violence during problem solving, absenteeism, as well as communicating. Likewise, Lerner (2012) concluded that refugee students who were placed in classrooms with the direct immersion model in the USA encountered problems in adapting to the classroom due to the language barrier. Bulut, Kanat-Soysal, and Gülçiçek (2018), in their study, interviewed with fourteen primary school teachers who conduct Turkish lessons, and identified that Syrian students' schooling without acquiring sufficient language skills causes communication problems. What is more, a study conducted with refugee children and adolescents in Canada revealed that 86% of refugee adolescents (12-21 years old) experienced some form of bullying such as mockery, social exclusion, physical bullying, unfair treatment, racist insult, and intellectual disdain (Wesley Urban Ministries, 2014). The studies conducted by international organizations found that the drop out level of the refugee students with low skills was higher than other students (OECD, 2016), and refugee children did not attend school five times more than non-refugee children (UNHCR, 2016).

Considering the quantitative findings, the teachers were of the opinion that Syrian students and older students should receive education in separate classes, that they can be multigraded with other classes after this education, that it would be appropriate to create funds by transferring them to schools and to include parents in parents' education. In qualitative findings, on the other hand, teachers suggested training in separate classes to solve problems, establishing preparatory or adaptation classes, providing language training to students and parents, providing interpreter support along with increasing social activities. Providing refugee students an opportunity for getting education in different grades intramural program is one of the models implemented in both Turkey and



different countries. However, teachers believed that this practice should be more widespread. Similar findings emerged in various studies. To illustrate, Celik (2019) emphasized that orientation training should be provided for Syrian students; Aykırı (2017) recommended to give education in separate schools or classes. Akin to the teachers' recommendation on establishing adaptation or preparatory classes for language teaching, UNHCR (2015) advised that these students be taught Turkish with the practice of Turkish preparatory class or summer school. UNHCR (2015) stressed that not only students but also parents should learn Turkish and they should be informed about the system. Accordingly ÇOÇA (2015) endorsed that language courses should be opened within the Public Education Centers in schools and interpreters should be assigned in schools so as to strengthen the relations between Syrian parents and the school. Similar to the teachers' proposal for increasing social participation, Bicer and Özaltın (2020) advised that activities should be organized to ensure both Turkish and Syrian students' participation; moreover, UNHCR (2015) favored organizing exhibitions and special day celebrations in order to warrant the harmony of Syrian students and to draw attention to the common aspects of different cultures.

# CONCLUSION

The research findings revealed that Syrian students' reading, reading comprehension and problem solving skills were not sufficiently developed due to the lack of speaking Turkish. In the same vein, there were communication problems with students and parents due to the language barrier which affects Syrian students' choice of friends and their success in classes. The common opinion of the participants was that Syrian students should receive Turkish education in separate classes (preparatory class) in order to solve the language problem before schooling. Language proficiency is a factor that will facilitate or prevent Syrian students' adaptation to the school and the culture of the host country. It is important for them to learn to speak Turkish in terms of communication; however, it is not enough to achieve academic success. Hence, the development of Syrian students' Basic Interpersonal Communication Skills (BICS) along with their Cognitive Academic Language Competencies (CALP) should be taken into consideration, and studies should be conducted to examine and measure these skills independently.

Over and above, the participants thought that Turkish education should be enabled to solve the communication problem between the students and their parents. At that point, it is of paramount importance to offer Turkish training programs and open courses with a view to promoting both Syrian students and their families. This training can be effective both in facilitating students' adaptation to classes, increasing their success in classes and solving communication problems together with reducing the burden of teachers in the classroom. Turkish education as a foreign language can be given as a separate preparatory class within the schools, or it can be provided in weekend courses at Public Education Centers.





One of the research results was that Syrian students were at a good level in operational skills that do not require verbal knowledge, especially in mathematics class. Nevertheless, they did not have the same success in problem solving questions that necessitate reading comprehension. Participants believed that when the problem is explained, students can understand and solve it. Teachers' professional skills and their approach towards students play a significant role in this case. Teachers can explain the problem for their students, and they can help them understand and solve the problem by concretizing it though drawings, visuals or figures, diagrams etc.

This research focused on Syrian students' skills in Turkish and mathematics lessons. Similar studies can be conducted for different courses. Besides, students' and parents' views on this situation of Syrian students can be examined, and different studies can be carried out with the views of the school's counselors.

# REFERENCES

- Aksakal, İ. (2017). The problems of adaptation of the Syrian refugee students to the Turkish education system and the classroom environment (Kars Case). *TURAN- Strategic Research Center*, (36), 669-676.
- Aldaraghmeh, H. (2020). A Research On The Speaking Skills Of The Students Whose Native Language Is Arabic. Master's thesis. Sakarya University, Institute of Education Sciences, Sakarya.
- Avcı, F. (2019). Teachers' opinions on the problems faced by the refugee students in preschool education institution. *Language Teaching and Educational Research (LATER)*, 2(1): 57-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.35207/later.537817</u>
- Aydın, H. & Kaya, Y. (2017) Educational needs and barriers for Syrian refugee students in Turkey: A qualitative case study. *Intercultural Education*, 28(5), 456–473. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14675986.2017.1336373</u>.
- Aykırı, K. (2017). Classroom teachers' views on the educational status of Syrian students in their classes. *Turkish Journal of Primary Education*, 2(1), 44-56.



- Avcı, F. (2019). Teachers' opinions on the problems faced by the refugee students in preschool education institutions. *Language Teaching and Educational Research (LATER)*, 2(1): 57-80. https://doi.org/10.35207/later.537817.
- Biçer, N. & Özaltun, H. (2020). Syrian and Turkish student's views on refugee secondary school students' Turkish language skills and school adaptation processes. *Eurasia Journal of International Studies*, 8(23), 348-364.
- Block, K., Cross, S., Riggs, E. & Gibbs, L. (2014). Supporting schools to create an inclusive environment for refugee students. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 18(12), 1337-1355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.899636</u>
- Bosswick, W. & Heckmann, F. (2006). *Integration of migrants: Contribution of local and regional authorities*. Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions.
- Boyden, J., Berry, J., Feeny, T. & Hart, J. (2002). Children affected by armed conflict in South Asia: A review of trends and issues identified through secondary research. *Afghan Digital Libraries*.<u>http://184.73.243.18:8080/jspui/bitstream/azu/3846/1/azu acku pamphlet hq789 b</u> <u>69 2002 w.pdf</u>
- Boylu, E. & Işık, P. (2020). Teacher opinions on Turkish learning processes in the provinces where Syrian refugees live intensely. *Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Journal of Education Faculty*, 20 (2), 1113-1128. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.17240/aibuefd.2020..-641783</u>.
- Bulut, S., Soysal, Ö. K. & Gülçiçek, D. (2018). Being a Turkish Teacher of Syrian Students: Problems Encountered in the Education of Syrian Students. *International Journal of Turkish Literature, Culture and Education Dergisi (TEKE), 7*(2): 1210-1238.
- Can, A. (2018). *Quantitative data analysis in scientific research process with SPSS* (6th Edition). Ankara: Pegem Academy.
- Creswell, J. W. & Plano Clark, V.L (2014). *Mixed method studies*. (Trans. Edt.: Dede, Y.& Demir, S. B.). Ankara: Ann Publishing.
- Çelik, T. (2019). The Syrian students in the classes of social studies teachers from their perspective. Sakarya University Journal of Education, 9(2):383-407.
- Çimşir, S., & Baysal, Z. N. (2020). Investigation of foreign primary school students' problems and solutions about their teachers and course achievements from their perspectives. *Journal Of Medeniyet Educational Research*, 4(1), 28-45.
- ÇOÇA (Istanbul Bilgi University Child Studies Unit) (2015) Syrian refugees in Turkey Situation of Children in Public Schools, Policy and Practice Recommendations. <u>http://cocuk.bilgi.edu.tr/wpcontent/uploads/2015/09/Suriyeli-Cocuklar-Egitim-Sistemi-Politika-Notu.pdf</u>
- Demir, S., & Alyılmaz, S. (2020). An evaluation on listening experiences of Syrian students learning Turkish as foreign language. *Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Journal of Education Faculty*, 20(3), 1306-1321. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.17240/aibuefd.2020..-565877</u>.



Bolat

- Dolapçıoğlu, S. & Bolat, Y. (2019). The education issues of Syrian students under temporary protection status. *Research in Education*, 0(0): 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0034523719892019</u>
- Ergen, H., & Şahin, E. (2019).Problems confronted by primary school teachers in relation to education of Syrian students. *Mustafa Kemal University Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 16(44), 377-405.
- Gencer, T. E. (2017). An evaluation of the relationship of immigration and education: education needs of the syrian refugee children and challenges of exposed delays in schooling processes. *International Social Research Journal*,10 (54), 838-851. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17719/jisr.20175434652</u>
- Gün, M. & Baldık, Y. (2017). Training services for Syrian refugee entertained out of the camp in Turkey (Kayseri sample). *Route Educational and Social Science Journal*, 4(2), 287-299.
- Hamilton, H., Lunenburg, F.C, Slate, J. R., & Barnes, W. (2021). Texas Grade 3 Underrepresented Boys and Economic Status Differences in Reading: A Statewide, Multiyear Study Put the title of the paper here. Journal of Educational Studies and Multidisciplinary Approaches (JESMA),1 (1), 8-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.51383/jesma.2021.1</u>
- Hayat Boyu Öğrenme Genel Müdürlüğü (HBÖGM), (2021). https://hbogm.meb.gov.tr/meb iys dosyalar/2021 01/27122650 ocak 2021.pdf
- Human Rights Watch, (2015). When I picture my future, I see nothing" barriers to education for<br/>Syrian refugee children in Turkey.<br/>http://madde14.org/images/a/a1/HRWSuriveMulteciCocukEgitim2015.pdf.
- International Institute for Educational Planning [IIEP-UNESCO] (2011) Integrating Conflict and Disaster Risk Reduction into Education Sector Planning: Guidance Notes for Educational Planners. Paris: IIEP-UNESCO.
- Kaplan, I., Stolk, Y., Valibhoy, M., Tucker, A., & Baker, J. (2016). Cognitive assessment of refugee children: Effects of trauma and new language acquisition. *Transcultural psychiatry*, 53(1), 81-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461515612933</u>
- Khawaja, N. G., & Howard, G. (2020). Assessing educational difficulties of students from refugee backgrounds: a case study approach. *Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools*, 30(2), 97-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/jgc.2020.2[Opens in a new window]</u>
- Lerner, A. B. (2012). The Educational Resettlement of Refugee Children: Examining Several Theoretical Approaches. *Multicultural education*, 20(1), 9-14.
- Levent, F.& Çayak, S. (2017) School administrators' views on Syrian students' education in Turkey. *Hasan Ali Yücel Journal of Education*, 14-1(27), 21-46.
- McBrien, J. L. (2005). Educational needs and barriers for refugee students in the United States: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(3), 329-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543075003329</u>.
- MoNE, (2014). Foreign Education Educational Services Circular. Circular No. 21 dated 23.09.2014. Ministry of National Education, General Directorate of Basic Education. http://mevzuat.meb.gov.tr/html/vabyonegiogr 1/vabyonegiogr 1.html.



- MoNE, (2019). Foreign Students Compliance Class Circular. Circular no: 15. 06.09.2009. Ministry of National Education, Lifelong Learning Directorate.
- Nilsson, J., & Axelsson, M. (2013). Welcome to Sweden: Newly arrived students' experiences of pedagogical and social provision in introductory and regular classes. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 6(1), 137-164.
- Nilsson, J. & Bunar, N. (2016) Educational Responses to Newly Arrived Students in Sweden: Understanding the Structure and Influence of PostMigration Ecology, Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 60:4, 399-416, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2015.1024160</u>.
- Oikonomidoy, E., & Karam, F. J. (2020). Funds of identity and language development: the case of a Syrian refugee-background child. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 28(2), 122-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2020.1765086</u>.
- Özkale, U., & Yelken, T. Y. (2020). Analysis of problems encountered by instructors teaching turkish as a foreign language to syrian children and their opinions on their participation in the certification program for teaching turkish as a foreign language. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 16(1): 185-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.17263/jlls.712698.</u>
- Papapostolou, A., Manoli, P., & Mouti, A. (2020). Challenges and Needs in the Context of Formal Language Education to Refugee Children and Adolescents in Greece. *Journal of Teacher Education and Educators*, 9(1), 7-22.
- Peterson, S. D. (2011). Conflict, education and displacement. Conflict and Education: *An Intedisciplinary Journal*, 1(1), 1-5.
- Samara, M., El Asam, A., Khadaroo, A., & Hammuda, S. (2019). Examining the psychological well-being of refugee children and the role of friendship and bullying. *British journal of educational psychology*, 90(2), 301-329.
- Short, D. J. (2002). Newcomer programs: An educational alternative for secondary immigrant students. *Education and Urban Society*, 34(2), 173–198.
- Short, D. J., & Boyson, B. A. (2012). *Helping newcomer students succeed in secondary schools and beyond*. Washington, DC: Center for Applied Linguistics.
- Sinclair, M. (2001). *Education in emergencies*. In J. Crisp, C. Talbot, & D. B. Cipollone (Eds.), *Learning for a future: Refugee education in developing countries* (pp. 1–84). Lausanne, Switzerland: United Nations Publications.
- Stathopoulou, M. & Dassi, P. (2020). Teaching languages to students from refugee and migrant backgrounds around Europe: Exploring difficulties and teachers' beliefs. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching (IOJET)*, 7(1). 60-82. <u>http://iojet.org/index.php/IOJET/article/view/792</u>
- Talbot, C. (2015). Education in conflict emergencies in light of the post-2015 MDGs and EFA Agendas.http://www.norrag.org/fileadmin/Working\_Papers/Education\_in\_conflict\_emerge\_ncies\_Talbot.pdf.
- Taylor, S. & Sidhu, R. K. (2012). Supporting refugee students in schools: What constitutes inclusive education? *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *16*(1), 39-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603110903560085</u>.



- Tiryaki, E. N. & Oğraş, İ. (2020). Teacher's opinions of the Turkish course for Syrian students.. *International Journal of Turkish Literature Culture Education*, 9(4), 1581-1601.
- Tsioupis, K., & Paida, S. (2020). Refugee education coordinators in the Greek educational system: Their role as mediators in refugee camps. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*,4, (2), 81-109. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2020.58</u>
- UNHCR, (2015). Curriculum Choices in Refugee Settings, Geneva, <u>http://www.unhcr.org/560be1209.html</u>.
- UNHCR, (2000). The UNHCR globalreport1999. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Uzun, E. M.& Bütün, E. (2015). Teacher opinions on the problems of Syrian asylum seekers in pre-school education institutions. *International Journal of Early Childhood Education Studies*, *1*(1), 72-83.
- Ünal, K., Taşkaya, S. M. & Ersoy, G. (2018). Problems encountered by Syrian immigrants while learning Turkish as a foreign language and solution suggestions. *Ahi Evran University Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 4(2): 134-149.
- Yıldırım, A. & Şimşek, H. (2016). *Qualitative research methods in social sciences (10th ed.)*. Ankara: Seçkin Publishing.
- Yıldız, D. & Uzunsakal, E. (2018). A comparison of reliability tests in field researches and an application on agricultural data. *Journal of Applied Social Sciences*, 2(1), 14-28.
- Yohani, S. (2010). Nurturing hope in refugee children during early years of post-war adjustment. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(6), 865-873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.02.006</u>
- Yurdakul, A. & Tok, T.N. (2018). Immigrant / refugee student through the eyes of a teacher. *Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Education Journal of Educational Sciences*, 9(2): 46-58.

Bolat

| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

# Teachers' Reflection and Level of Reflective Thinking on the Different Dimensions of their teaching practice

# Şenol ORAKCI<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract:

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 118-139 http://www.ijonmes.net dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

#### Article Info:

Received : 25/02/2020 Revision 1 : 11/03/2021 Revision 2 : 06/04/2021 Accepted : 14/04/2021

**DOI:** 10.51383/ijonmes.2021.88

Keywords:

The present study deeply aims to reveal teachers' reflection and their reflective thinking levels on the different dimension of their teaching practice with regard to the dimension of learning objectives, content, learning-teaching process, and measurement and evaluation in the context of English courses. The study was designed as case study method. The study group was composed of 27 teachers selected based on the criterion sampling method. Results showed that the participant teachers had information about reflective thinking skills and they made some changes in the lesson plan because they thought that a lesson plan for the learning objectives ignoring students' prior knowledge was ineffective. Based on teachers' opinions, it was also determined that the content consisted of similar topics and was very intense and heavily based on vocabulary teaching. Results indicated that participant teachers reflected on teaching methods and techniques, activities and materials, student motivation, classroom atmosphere, and ensuring participation in the lesson. It was also revealed that the efficiency of measurement tools and the need to prepare measurement tools with regard to the learning objectives should be realized. Based on their reflective diaries, participant teachers also reflected at the technical, practical and critical levels and developed reflection-in-action, reflection-on-action, and reflection-for-action. Providing teachers with in-service training courses such as thinking skills, problem solving and decision making techniques, risk and crisis management that will contribute to overcoming their shortcoming and mistakes is thought to improve their reflective thinking skills.

Reflective teaching, Reflective thinking, teacher, English course

#### Citation:

*Orakcı*, Ş. (2021). Teachers' reflection and level of reflective thinking on the different dimensions of their teaching practice. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 5(1), 118-149. http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.88

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Asst. Prof. Dr., Aksaray University, Faculty of Education, Aksaray, Türkiye. senolorak@gmail.com Drcid ID: 0000-0003-1534-1310

# **INTRODUCTION**

In today's society, people are expected to have acquired certain skills. These skills include problem solving, creative thinking, critical thinking, learning to learn, and reflective thinking. Undoubtedly, the most important of these skills is reflective thinking skill, which is one of the high-level thinking skills. Dewey (1933) defines reflective thinking as an effective, consistent and careful way of thinking. Ünver (2010) associates reflective thinking with problem solving and explains it as a thinking process for finding solutions by identifying positive and negative situations faced by a person in the education process.

Schön (1983) emphasized that reflection can be done in three different times in his study on the situations in which reflective thinking should be done. These are "reflection-in -action", "reflection-on-action" and "reflection-for-action".

Reflection-in-action is the process that includes the decisions we make at that moment while performing an action. Schön (1983) expressed it as thinking on foot during action. In other words, it is the ability to make decisions when faced with situations without thinking about what to do before. During reflection-in-action, we reveal the ability to tackle with the unexpected situations by using our repertoire of examples. In this case, an individual knows more than he/she can say, but does not express it with words, he/she only reveals it with actions. It usually requires the ability to make the right decisions when unexpected situations are encountered. It is difficult to carry out it with theoretical knowledge, it is more related to one's own skill. A lived example from the present study in which the teacher could make the right decision when unexpected situations happened can be given as follows: "...I saw the children had an unexpected reaction to the Picture Strip Story and adjusted the lesson plan. Then, I used another activity which I think would be more appropriate for the students' level, which was reaaly effective....".

Reflection-on-action is the process that requires stopping for a while after performing our actions and reflecting on what happened. It is to decide how it goes, what is good and what is bad, what needs to be changed. It is to change actions and practices by asking questions on actions and developing new ideas. A certain amount of time and effort should be spent to reflect on the action (Schön, 1983). A lived example about a participant teacher from the present study who reflected on his/her past experiences is as follows: *"To enable my students to predict the English equivalents of types of holiday correctly, Quiz Show technique along with visuals instead of "Matching" technique would be more effective so that students could participate effectively."* 

Reflection-for-action involves thinking about future actions with the purpose of developing or altering a practice. It also requires teachers to use examples, insights and knowledge so that they can look at problems from a different perspective. These features can be used as an important driving force for the development of professional knowledge in teacher training programs (Loughran, 2002). A lived example from the present study in



which the teacher thinks about future actions with the desire of developing or altering a practice is as follows: "I saw the students become passive during my two lessons. Considering their reactions, I can change the method of teaching by thinking more about which communicative approach tecnniques I used.".

In addition to the descriptions made by Schön (1983) for the application of reflective thinking, there are classifications explaining the levels of reflective thinking. One of these is the leveling made by Van Manen (1977). Van Manen (1977) stated that reflective thinking can be done at three levels. These are technical reflection level, practical reflection and critical reflection.

Technical reflection is the basic level of reflection. The efficiency and effectiveness of the final results are emphasized, no criticism or changes are made about the results. The existing information is the most accurate information and the desired conclusions should be reached with this information. In other words, it is not considered to make a new configuration or change the information. The aim here is to use the existing information efficiently. Teachers at the level of technical reflection are generally individuals with little experience, who choose the lessons appropriate for them and aim to achieve the learnign objectives set in the lessons (Van Manen, 1977). A lived example from the present study in which the teacher applied a technique and received positive feedback is as follows: *"The "Spot the differences" technique was very good while describing the two different actions. It enabled students to comprehend the subject better visually..."*.

The level of practical reflection allows efforts that can be done to achieve a particular goal. These efforts can be made based on assumptions. Individuals' learning can be facilitated by reflective thinking through applications. Reflection at the practical level can be defined as a reflection area where teacher candidates or teachers begin to benefit from their experiences in teaching skills, and try to think about the problems they encounter and find solutions (Ünver, 2010). In this area, a teacher candidate or teacher analyzes student behavior to understand whether the learning objectives were achieved, how they were achieved, and if not, why they were not achieved. They interpret observable student behaviors based on their individual perceptions (Wilson & Jan, 1993). A lived example from the present study in which the teacher describes a positive situation he/she encountered and also questions the reasons of this situation who reflects at the practical level by stating in his/her reflective journal is as follows: *"The learning objectives I determined were effective. I think that I made the lesson more effective and fun by attracting the attention of the students thanks to the materials and the activities I prepared. I managed to make the students achieve the learning objectives I determined. I was only a guide, and the students were more active".* 

Critical level of reflection has a broader explanation that includes levels of practical and technical reflection. What distinguishes critical reflection from them is that they are approached with a critical point of view during and after the actions. While making critical reflection, the individual uses not only the knowledge he / she has but also the infrastructure



that constitutes it (sociocultural environment, religion, language, family structure, tradition, customs, etc.). The level of critical reflection varies from person to person and it is very difficult to define its limits. For this reason, open mindedness is necessary. A lived example from the present study in which the teacher with moral, ethical and systematic perspective reflects at the critical level is as follows: *"I am a teacher and I understand that the task of a teacher is to enable his/her students to achieve learning objectives. I still have shortcomings and I have to go further in my teaching profession. I am trying to do my best. I strive to be a different teacher"*.

Reflective thinking is seen as a very important process in terms of teachers' being able to follow the developments in educational science, to implement what they have learned, and to follow their own developments in line with scientific knowledge and experiences. For this reason, reflective thinking should be taken into consideration in both theoretical and practical contexts, and appropriate climate should be provided to help teachers gain the ability to use reflective thinking (Altınok, 2002). Reflective thinking ensures professional development of teachers. It improves the ability to analyze and understand classroom events. It helps the teacher to create a learning environment that contributes to make predictions and think (Ünver, 2003).

When the characteristics of the reflective thinking teachers are examined, it is seen that the teacher's role in the constructivist approach is in parallel with the features expected from the teacher. In reflective teaching, the student is at the center and takes an effective and decision-making role. A teacher who adopts reflective thinking better evaluates his students, renews his/her methods and strategies, draws conclusions for himself/herself by following every practice, and is open to self-renewal (Rodgers, 2002). In congruent with this view, teachers who have reflective thinking skills aim to raise students who have an objective perspective, who are environmentally-conscious and aware of their responsibilities, and who have problem-solving skills (Ekiz, 2006). A reflective teacher is a development-oriented and an open-minded individual who focuses on lifelong learning, and who has the ability to plan and evaluate the teaching process effectively by selfassessment (Norton, 1994; Semerci, 2007; Ünver, 2003). In English Language Curriculum of Secondary Education in Turkey, reflective thinking teacher characteristics are also emphasized and teachers are expected to evaluate the student during the process, record what has been done in the teaching process, and review it by going back and checking.

When the relevant literature was reviewed, it is seen that the studies about reflective thinking skills and reflective thinking activities of teachers and teacher candidates were the focus of attention (Ayçiçek, Yanpar Yelken, & Yokuş, 2019; Aydın, & Çelik, 2013; Aydoğmuş, 2017; Aslan, 2009; Atalay & Karahan, 2016; Aydın & Çelik, 2013; Dilekli & Orakcı, 2019; Dolapçıoğlu, 2007; Duban & Yanpar-Yelken, 2010; Ekiz, 2006; Elmalı, & Balkan Kıyıcı, 2018); Ersözlü, 2008; Evin-Gencel & Güzel-Candan, 2014; Gedik, Akhan & Kılıçoğlu, 2011; Keskinkılıç, 2010; Kırnık, 2010; Kızılkaya & Aşkar, 2009; Kirk, 2000; Koç & Yıldız, 2009; Kozan, 2007; Köksal & Demirel, 2008; Langer, 2002; Lee;



2005; Ocak, Ocak & Saban, 2014; Oruç, 2000; Özbek, 2014; Semerci, 2007; Şahin 2009; Şahan, & Kalkay, 2011; Tok, 2008a, 2008b; Töman, 2015; Yorulmaz, 2006).

# Reflective Teaching and English as a Foreign Language

Over the past two decades, there has been a trend towards teaching reflective teaching skills in in-service and pre-service teacher education. Reflective teaching occurs by collecting detailed information about classroom situations such as working with individuals, creating classroom environments, planning and managing teaching, selection of content, and individual competence (Ogonor & Badmus, 2006).

Reflective teaching is a widely used concept recently, and it is frequently encountered in debates about professional and modern education. Reflective teaching which is a frequently used method especially in teaching English as a foreign language (EFL) and in raising English teachers, can be defined as thinking about what is happening in the teaching environment and making some differences in line with these thoughts during and after the teaching process (Mc. Collum, 2002). Pennington (1992) defines reflective teaching as "reflecting on experiences and reflection of these experiences". Henderson (1996) also defines reflective teaching as an inquiry approach and creative problem-solving activities that emphasize giving importance to others and that is based on constructivism in teaching. In this context, reflective teaching can be considered to be extremely important in terms of both students' showing positive characteristics in the cognitive and affective domains and professional development of teachers.

When examined a number of studies in the literature, a study conducted on teachers in Pakistan by Ahmad, Said, Zeb, Rehman, Ahmad, and Khan (2013) examined how reflective teaching practices affect teachers' teaching and classroom skills and the researchers found a significant improvement and increase in the teaching skills of teachers who received reflective practice training. It was also found that the teachers made more original plans for their own lessons, brought effective solutions to classroom problems, and their interactions with their teachers, students and parents were of higher quality and function. In a study conducted by Choy and Oo (2012), the extent to which teachers performed reflective teaching and what they think about their own practices were examined. The results of the research revealed that teachers showed inadequacies in realizing the principles of reflective learning. In another study conducted by Mathew (2011), the role of reflective teaching in providing an effective classroom learning environment to improve English language skills was discussed. According to the findings of the study, it was found that reflective teaching practices contributed to a rich environment and resource for realizing English language skills, a purposeful learning-teaching process, a reflective and interactive teacher-student communication, and a significant increase in students' success as well as a significant contribution to the professional development of teachers which was also seen as an important finding in Aydoğmuş's (2017) study and Fakazlı and Kuru Gönen's (2017) study exploring EFL university instructors' perceptions on reflective



Orakçı

practices. In similar studies conducted by Minott (2011) and Nodoushan (2011) to determine the effects and results of the reflective teaching practices in teacher candidates, it was found out that reflective teaching helped the development of their own knowledge and awareness, their inquiry skills improved in addition to that reflective teaching practices developed their affective and professional skills such as controlling their own emotions, interacting positively with those around them, and empathy.

Given the advantages of reflective teaching practice for teacher professional development, reflective teaching practice can be seen as useful ideas, suggestions and a vital tool for teachers to deal with difficult situations. What is more to the point, with the help of reflective practice, teachers can increase their efficacy by apprehending their teaching practices more broadly (Rudd, 2007) in addition to that it aids to protect against superficial learning (Schnepfleitner & Ferreira 2021). In fact, it helps teachers to recognize their strengths and weaknesses, and ultimately contributes more strongly to students' equal learning (Rezaeyan & Nikoopour, 2013; Rudd, 2007). As a result, reflective practice in teacher professional development emerges to be an important tool in problem solving, as it presents a great opportunity to go back and come up with the best strategies to achieve the goals (Ferraro, 2000; Rudd, 2007). Therefore, as Fakazlı and Kuru Gönen (2017) emphasized, systematic practice opportunities provided for teachers can make a difference in helping teachers develop reflection ideas and participate in reflective practice on a regular basis, which further increases the importance of the present study.

It should also not be forgotten that the quality of the teachers who are the practitioners of the educational process plays a determining role on the quality of the teaching performed. (Pollard, 1997). It is a necessity to question the qualifications of teachers, who have an important role in the educational process, and to train them in accordance with the requirements of the age. It is extremely important for teachers to be aware of the fact that reflective thinking and reflective teaching are an integral element for professional development and that they are used at every stage of the teaching process, which increases the importance of the present study. For this reason, the present study deeply aimed to reveal teachers' reflection and their reflective thinking levels on the different dimension of their teaching practice in the context of secondary EFL courses. For this purpose, the answers were sought for the following sub-problems:

1) What do teachers understand from the concept of reflective thinking?

**2)** How do teachers use reflective thinking skills with regard to the dimension of learning objectives of secondary EFL courses?

**3)** How do teachers use reflective thinking skills with regard to the dimension of content of secondary EFL courses?

**4)** How do they use reflective thinking skills with regard to the dimension of learning and teaching process of secondary EFL courses?



**5)** How do they use reflective thinking skills with regard to the dimension of measurement and evaluation of secondary EFL courses?

### **METHOD**

In the present study, case study method was used. The case study method involves examining an event in depth rather than breadth (Wellington, 2000). This method focuses on the property and complexity of an event and allows different data collection techniques to be used together (Cohen & Manion, 1994; Stake, 1995). The reason for choosing the case study method in this study can be explained as an in-depth examination of development of the participant teachers with semi-structured interview form and reflective diaries.

#### **Participants**

Criterion sampling, one of the purposeful sampling methods, was used in the sample selection of the study. In criterion sampling, the sample is formed in accordance with predetermined criteria or criteria (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2013). Accordingly, the sample of the study consisted of 27 volunteer teachers working in three different secondary schools in a city in the Central Anatolia Region in the 2019-2020 academic year.

Table 1 presents the distribution of participants in regard to their characteristics.

Purilcipuni Demogruph	ics		
		Ν	%
Gender	Male	13	48
	Female	14	52
	Total	27	100
Education	Graduate	19	70
	Undergraduate	8	30
	Total	27	100
Grades Taught	5 <sup>th</sup> Grade	5	18
	6 <sup>th</sup> Grade	6	22
	7 <sup>th</sup> Grade	8	30
	8 <sup>th</sup> Grade	8	30
	Total	27	100
Teaching Experience (Years)	11-15 years	17	63
	16-20 years	10	37
	Total	27	100

#### Table 1 Particinant Demographics



As can be seen from Table 1, of the 27 teachers, 14 (52%) were female and 13 (48%) were male teachers. With regard to the level of education, there were 19 (70%) teachers with graduate degree and 8 (30%) with undergraduate degree. With regard to the teaching experience of the participants, there were 17 (63%) teachers between 11-15 years and 10 (37%) teachers between 16-20 years. As for grades taught, 5 (18%) teachers were teaching 6<sup>th</sup> grades, 6 (22%) teachers 5<sup>th</sup>, 8 (30%) teachers 7<sup>th</sup>, and 8(30%) teachers 8<sup>th</sup> grades. Participants' identities were kept secret and each teacher was indicated with a code such as T1, T2, T3.

# **Data Collection**

In this study, semi-structured interview form and reflective diaries were used as data collection tools. Before the questions of the semi-structured interview form were prepared, national and international literature on the research topic was reviewed. Following the design of the subject, the questions that were thought to be included in the form were presented to the examination of three faculty members, two of whom were in the field of curriculum and instruction, and one of whom was in the field of educational measurement and evaluation. The questions asked to teachers in the study are as follows:

1) What comes to your mind when you say the concept of reflective thinking?

2) What are your views on the learning objectives of your lesson? What kind of shortcomings do you think there are in terms of the learning objectives of your lesson? What do you do to overcome these shortcomings? In this context, what are your thoughts, feelings, assumptions, beliefs, values and attitudes?

**3)** What are your views on the content of your lesson? What kind of shortcomings do you think there are regarding the content of your lesson? What do you do to overcome these shortcomings? In this context, what are your thoughts, feelings, assumptions, beliefs, values and attitudes?

4) What are your views on the learning-teaching process of your lesson? What kind of shortcomings do you think there are in the learning-teaching process of your lesson? What do you do to overcome these shortcomings? In this context, what are your thoughts, feelings, assumptions, beliefs, values and attitudes?

**5)** What are your views on the measurement and evaluation dimension of your lesson? What kind of shortcomings do you think there are in the measurement and evaluation aspect of your course? What do you do to overcome these shortcomings? In this context, what are your thoughts, feelings, assumptions, beliefs, values and attitudes?

Research data were collected through face-to-face interviews with the participants. These interviews were conducted by the author of the study. An agreement was reached on the place and time of the meeting with each participant before interview. In addition, in the pre-interview, the participants were informed about the scope, context and aims of the research. Permission was requested from the participants to record the interviews, and it



was stated that if not allowed, the researcher would take notes during the interview. All participants gave permission for audio recording. In the present study, data collection tool and procedures were also examined for ethical concerns and approved by Gazi University Institutional Review Board for Research with Human Subjects (application no: 2019/09-30 - 21.10.2019). The author also tried to be sensitive about the ethical principles that should be followed in the qualitative studies suggested by Creswell (2007), and accordingly, it was stated that each participant was free to participate in the research before starting the interview, and they could end the interview whenever they wanted, and answer the questions as they wanted. The interviews were conducted in the schools where the teachers work, at determined hours. The interviews lasted between 30-50 minutes.

During the research process, participant teachers were also asked to write a reflective diary for 8 weeks in order to evaluate their teaching practices in their own lessons and to review their performance and processes at the end of the day. In order for teachers to reflect the teaching process better before starting the application, the steps to be followed by them while writing a diary were designed as suggested by Mitchell and Coltrinari (2001). They are as follows;

Section	Explanation
Definition	What happened?
Awareness	What were your thoughts, feelings,
	assumptions, beliefs, values and attitudes?
Analysis	What were the thoughts and reasons
	behind your practice and actions?
Evaluation	What were your good sides? What were
	your bad sides?
Reconstruction	What changes can be made? What can be
	planned for future teaching practices?

In the study, both semi-structured interview and keeping a reflective diary were carried out simultaneously in the research process in order to reveal participant teachers' reflection and their reflective thinking levels on the different dimension of their teaching practice deeply.

#### Data Analysis

In this study, descriptive analysis technique was used for the data analysis of semistructured interviews. Descriptive analysis technique is a type of analysis in which the subproblems of the research are determined in advance and the themes are derived accordingly (Hatch, 2002; Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2013). Within this context, four stages of descriptive analysis were followed. In the first step, a framework for descriptive analysis was created. In other words, the themes or dimensions under which the data to be collected, organized and presented were determined in advance. In the second stage, the data were processed according to the thematic framework prepared. In other words, the data were read and organized according to the previously prepared framework. At this stage, some data were



excluded from the analysis as they were completely unrelated to the thematic framework prepared. In addition, direct quotations to be used in the reporting phase were also determined at this stage. The third stage was the process of defining the findings. At this stage, the data organized according to the thematic framework were defined in an easily understandable and readable language and supported by direct quotations. The fourth stage was the interpretation of the findings, and the explanation, association and interpretation of the identified findings were realized.

Reflective diaries were also used to determine at what level and what kind of reflection teachers made. A total of 143 unstructured reflective diaries written by 27 teachers were analyzed using the content analysis technique. The diaries were read several times by the researcher himself and an expert in the field of measurement and evaluation, and whose research and teaching interests are reflective thinking skills. The written and transcribed documents were examined based on the framework of Griffiths and Tann (1992) in order to describe Schön's different types of reflective thinking and the data were also analyzed with regard to the "Rubric of Reflective Thinking Levels" suggested by Taggart and Wilson (1998) to describe Van Manen's three levels named technical, practical, and critical rationality in the study.

Within this context, teachers' remarks were classified as reflection-in-action, reflection-on-action, and reflection-for-action based on overwhelmingly Griffiths and Tann's (1992) framework to describe Schön's different types of reflective thinking. When some of the remarks had more than one reflective level, the higher level of reflective thinking was tagged for the remark. They are as follows along with examples from the present study.

1. Rapid reflection (instant and mechanized reflection-in-action) 2. Repair (contemplative reflection-in-action)

For example, in the present study, a participant teacher with a reflection to be called "thinking on his/her feet" stated that he/she overcame a negative situation by expressing his/her opinion as follows:

"I use a text that was not very relevant to real life in the unit and the questions about the text challenged the students. I thought I wish I had never made them carry out the activities related to this text. But then, I used a reading text which I think was related to this unit, and appropriate for the students' level and would appeal to the students in real life. As a result, this content I prepared made the students feel very enjoyable and made them easy to learn."

2. Review (less formal reflection-on-action at a specific time), 4. Research (more structured reflection-on-action over the course of time)

For example, in the present study, based on his/her personal perceptions a participant teacher made some explanations about his/her negative experiences and alternative solutions for them by pointing out:



*"I don't think the technique I used today was effective. By applying the "Picture Strip" technique, I could have helped them understand the storyline better."* 

For reflection-for-action that entails viewing problems from a different perspective, a teacher's statement below with his/her desire of developing or altering a practice for future actions can be given as an example:

"I observed students today during my lesson. Based on their reactions, I can change the method of teaching by thinking more about which communicative approach techniques I used."

With regard to Van Manen's three levels named technical, practical, and critical rationality, "Rubric of Reflective Thinking Levels" suggested by Taggart and Wilson (1998) was used. Any remarks based on teaching action or theme was regarded as reflective at one of the levels of reflective thinking. Each comprehensible part or remark was coded by means of topical and level coding schemes. The remarks were formed mainly by the level coding scheme. Therefore, the higher level of reflective thinking was tagged for this remark when some of the remarks had more than one reflective level. The results of level of reflective thinking along with examples from the present study are shown in Table 2.

Table 2

Level of Reflective	Theme	Reflective Entry
Thinking		
Technical level	Measurement and	"Although self-assessment and peer-assessment methods I used were
	Evaluation	consistent with learning objectives, many students did not take active part
"Focus on behaviors,		in them. Some of the students remained passive."
content, and skills from		1
past experiences or		
theory derived from		
readings or course		
works, without looking		
for alternatives"		
Practical level	Learning objectives	"The learning objectives I determined were effective. I think that I made
<i>" " " " " "</i>		the lesson more effective and fun by attracting the attention of the students
"Assess implications and		thanks to the materials and the activities I prepared. I managed to make
consequences of actions		the students achieve the learning objectives I determined. I was only a
and beliefs"		guide and the students were more active "
		guide, and the students were more delive.
Critical level	Learning and Teaching	"I designed teaching techniques such as "Information Gap", "Picture Strip
"Systematically question	process	Story" "Timetable" and "Scrambled Sentences" I understood from my
	process	teaching practices that I had to do more teamwork to make the students
		teaching practices that I had to do more teamwork to make the students
r		more active. I know I had some shortcomings in applying these
		techniques. I believe that I will be an even more useful teacher by coping
		with my shortcomings.

Examples for the Participant Teachers' Reflective Thinking Levels

# Validity and Reliability

In qualitative research, a number of strategies are used to ensure internal validity (credibility), external validity (transferability), internal reliability (consistency), and external



Orakçı

reliability (verifiability) (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In this context, participant confirmation was used to ensure internal validity in the current study. Accordingly, after the interview with each participant was written on paper, it was shared with the relevant participant and the participant was asked to review their opinions and complete any shortcomings. The same process was repeated for each interviewer. Some participants were sent the text of the interview via e-mail, while others were delivered by hand. A detailed description strategy was used to ensure the transferability of the research. Accordingly, each stage of the research was presented to the readers in all details and all processes were mentioned as clearly as possible. In order to ensure the consistency of the research, the strategy of consensus among three coders specialized in qualitative research was used. Cresswell (2014) points out that integrity between coders is one of the important processes that ensure reliability in qualitative research. The reliability formula [Reliability = Consensus / (Consensus + Disagreement)] suggested by Miles and Huberman (1994) was used, and it was determined that the consistency between the coders was 85.8% as a result of the computation.

Finally, an expert review strategy was used to ensure the verification of the study. In this process, the current research was shared with another faculty member specialized in qualitative research, and the expert was asked to evaluate the research as a whole in terms of its conceptual dimension, objectives, problem, method, pattern, data collection tool, analysis and reporting of the data, and to indicate the shortcomings, if any. The expert suggested that the statements in the reflective diaries should be categorised with regard to Schön's different types of reflective thinking (reflection-in-action, reflection-on-action, and reflection-for-action) and Van Manen's three levels named technical, practical and critical rationality. The study was finalized by considering the recommendations made by the expert review.

# **FINDINGS**

In this part, the responses of the participant teachers to the questions about reflective thinking skills and the findings from the reflective diaries were examined. It was seen that both of them supported each other.

Data obtained from interviews with participant teachers were collected under five themes and they were as follows:

1) Opinions of Teachers on Reflective Thinking Concept.

2) Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding Learning objectives of Course.

3) Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding Course Content.

4) Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding the Learning and Teaching Process of Course.



5) Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding the Measurement and Evaluation of Course.

# **Opinions of Teachers on Reflective Thinking Concept**

Of the 27 participants, 13 of them (48%) saw reflective thinking as the transfer of knowledge or thought to students and teaching practice. They also emphasized student-centeredness and empathy in reflective thinking with the following sentences:

*"Reflective thinking can be the transfer of own knowledge to students and teaching practice. Individuals with this are empathetic, understanding, self-confident."* (T3)

"*Reflective thinking is transferring the learned knowledge to students, receiving feedback, being open to criticism, being able to criticize oneself, and valuing thoughts.*" (T7)

Seven of the teachers defined reflective thinking as making use of past experiences and learning from mistakes.

*"Reflective thinking is learning from their experiences. These individuals act more carefully and consciously because of the situations they have experienced in the past. These individuals are creative, predictive, and rational conscious individuals."*(T8)

"They are individuals who act in a planned program, evaluate the result of their thoughts and realize their responsibilities, and say "I made a mistake" when he/she made a mistake." (T3)

Four of the teachers defined reflective thinking as self-criticism, being a guide and empathizing.

"Reflective thinking requires self-criticism, evaluating what they have been done and making conclusions from them." (T11)

*"Reflective thinking is to approach problems in a critical and questioning way and to have logical (deductive, inductive) thinking skills."*(T23)

"I know what reflective thinking is about, it is criticizing one's actions and changing his/her behavior." (T27)

Three of the teachers stated that they had never heard of the concept of reflective thinking before. Teachers' views on this are as follows:

"Reflective thinking was the subject of our "New Directions in Education" course while I was doing my master's degree, but now I don't remember much. I have also come across the concept of reflective thinking several times while working for teaching qualification exam." (T9)

When the views of the above teachers were examined closely, it is seen that out of the 27 participants, 20 of them (74%) could directly define the concept of reflective thinking. However, from the data obtained from the interviews, it is understood that the teachers who participated in the study, and who could not define the concept of reflective thinking, used



reflective thinking from time to time when they gave information about their classroom practices. The situation can be summarized with the sentences of some participant teachers about classroom practices in the context of the English language curriculum:

T18: "The learning objectives were not very suitable for the developmental characteristics of the students. I think there should have been more achievable learning objectives. It is not right to expect so much from children of this age. Children both cannot reach these learning objectives academically and their desire to learn decreases. Especially since I thought that reading and writing learning objectives should be both real-life related and achievable, I created real-life learning objectives by considering the levels of children."

T24: "Units are actually interesting to students. Colorful books and pictures etc.. They like them. But I'm having a problem. I find some reading texts unsuitable for the students' level and their prior knowledge is insufficient. Suddenly there are difficult texts in the books and some difficult questions about them. In this case, students' motivation deteriorates and their self-confidence decreases. I feel there is a perception among students that learning English is very difficult. In order to overcome these problems, I create content based on real-life which is appropriate for students' levels. These contents I prepared are more liked by the students and they learn more easily. "

According to the teachers' views above, the participant teachers stated that the incompatibility of learning objectives and content determined in the curriculum with the development levels of the students negatively affected the cognitive and affective behaviors of the students. In order to overcome these negative situations, it is seen that participant teachers think reflectively by creating learning objectives and content related to students' development levels and real life. The opinions of the participant teachers are supported by Schön (1983) who suggests that professional lived experience results in one's capacity to think reflectively by calling it a "repertoire of knowledge", "hidden information" or "thinking on your feet.". Schön(1983) also argues that professional practice relies on tacit knowing-in-action instead of received knowledge. It should not forgotten that one doesn't have to define the concept in order to use reflective thinking skills because Schön (1983) underlines that "all helping professionals" (ministers, social workers, nurses, teachers, etc.) develop the capacity of reflective thinking over time which serves them well, when there are unexpected human events one must respond to.

# Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding Course Learning objectives

Considering the theme of "Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding Course Learning objectives", it was reflected during the interview that ,of the 27 participants, 19 of them (70%) made a change in the lesson plan due to the lack of students' prior knowledge, and they also stated that a lesson plan for learning objectives of the course could not be applied and the learning objectives could not be achieved before the prior knowledge was completed. Teachers' opinions on this point are given below:



"Due to the lack of students' prior knowledge, I am making a change in the lesson plan. I think that a lesson plan for course learning objectives cannot be implemented and the learning objectives cannot be achieved unless students' prior knowledge is completed. "(T11)

"The learning objectives are really difficult to reach, so I start my lesson by completing the lack of prior knowledge of the students in every lesson." (T18)

When the reflective thinking skills of some teachers regarding the learning objectives were examined, they stated that the number of learning objectives was high and that not all of the learning objectives were necessary. In this context, it is seen that some of the teachers emphasized the need to include learning objectives that cover different functions of the language and that can encourage language learning.

"It is not possible for me to reach all of the learning objectives. Because the learning objectives of the lesson have to find direction in various ways. In addition, there are so many learning objectives that it is very difficult for students to reach all of them. I only focus on critical learning objectives. Time is a big problem for the other learning objectives."(T22)

"Since I think that some of the learning objectives are well above the development levels of the students, I try to adapt the learning objectives of the course to the levels of the students as much as possible. It is really difficult for students to internalize some of the learning objectives."(T25)

"... The learning objectives should be simpler. I give more weight to learning objectives that include the daily language correctly and make learning a language more enjoyable. I skip some learning objectives because I think they are unnecessary. I make adaptations on learning objectives that need to be simplified. "(T8)

One of the teachers, on the other hand, makes self-criticism and questions himself/herself about how to eliminate the negativity by stating:

"I am disappointed when I see that not all learning objectives happen. However, I make some changes in my teaching so that my students can gain these learning objectives better." (T19)

Reflective diaries were used to determine at what level and what kind of reflection teachers made. T1 stated in his/her reflective journal by reflecting at the technical level and developing reflection-on-action as follows;

"I believe that the learning objectives I set within the framework of "Biographies" unit were effective. During my teaching practice, I saw all the students taking active part in the activities."

In the context of technical reflection, T1 simply reflected the reasons for the ineffectiveness of the learning objectives without elaborating and developing original comments. In the context of reflection-on-action, T1 reflected on his/her past teaching experience and gave a positive feeedback about the learning objectives of the course that he/she determined when the course was over.



T7 reflected at the practical level and developed reflection-on-action by drawing attention to the relationship between learning outcomes and student behavior. He/She states;

"The learning objectives I determined were effective. I think that I made the lesson more effective and fun by attracting the attention of the students thanks to the materials and the activities I prepared. I managed to make the students achieve the learning objectives I determined. I was only a guide, and the students were more active."

Based on practical reflection and reflection-on-action, T7 analyzed the dimension of learning objectives of the course and evaluated the results and effects of his/her actions and beliefs. T17 who reflected at the critical level and developed reflection-for-action expressed;

"I am a teacher and I understand that the task of a teacher is to enable his/her students to achieve learning objectives. My aim was to ensure that students reach the learning objective of creating a story based on visuals in today's lesson. There was much less active participation in the course than I expected which caused me to have a guilty conscience. The fact that there were not many students who did not participate shows that I still have shortcomings and that I have to go further in my teaching profession. I am trying to do my best. Next week, I will design an activity that students can realize within the framework of collaborative learning and do compensatory work for the learning objective that students cannot achieve in the desired way. I strive to be a different teacher "

In the context of critical reflection and reflection-for-action, T17 systematically questioned himself/herself regarding the learning objectives of the teaching process, developed original ideas about what he/she can do differently in the future and examined the issues related to the practices in a moral, ethical and systematic perspective.

T13 evaluated the learning objectives of his/her teaching process in terms of a moral, ethical and systemic perspective and developed original ideas about the relationship between the learning objectives of the teaching process and different variables such as teaching materials and different methods and techniques, which showed that he/she achieved critical reflection. In the context of reflection-for-action, he/she critically reflected on his/her teaching experiences, what he would be able to do differently in his/her future practices and what kind of tools and materials he would use differently with the following sentences:

"In today's lesson, my aim was to enable students to achieve the learning objective about the ability to make comparisons between the two countries. I do not think I fully achieved my goal. Nevertheless, the interest and participation of the students in the course was effective. When I noticed that some students felt hesitant about not taking active part in the course, I tried to get them to focus their attention on the course by asking them questions. Because as the participation increases, the interest in the course increases. In order to make a lesson most efficient, we must make use of important elements such as different methods and techniques, authentic materials. I will consider my today's



teaching experience in my future lessons. In my opinion, gaining experience in teaching profesion is of great importance."

# **Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding Course Content**

When looked at the theme of "Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding Course Content", of the 27 participants, 15 of them (56%) stated that the content consisted of similar topics and was very intense and at the same time it was based on vocabulary teaching. In this context, teachers stated that they prepared content for the learning objectives in which different structures took place by considering the student levels for some learning objectives. Some of teachers remarked:

"I think the topics and the content are intense, so I skip similar content as much as possible and put critical content to the forefront and even create content for some learning objectives myself." (T3)

"I think it is important that the content always takes into account the well-being of the student and the best interests of the child. I think this is sometimes overlooked in programs. In this context, it is important to ensure that content arrangements are in line with students' future plans or expectations. I am trying to prepare content for some learning objectives by taking into account student levels. (T6)

"I find that the content is focused on vacabulary, making it difficult for students to remember what they learned. Although I think that students' learning vocabulary is positive, I sometimes prepare content that includes different daily language structures." (T21)

One of the teachers stated that spelling and grammar rules were ignored in the content and he/she made some arrangements regarding this situation as follows:

"It is a big problem that grammar rules are not given enough attention in the content. The fact that there are problems such as grammar, spelling mistakes and expression mistakes in the text makes the comprehension of the texts difficult. That's why I try to find mistakes and correct them as much as possible before lesson, which is a waste of time, unfortunately. "(T16)

When looked at the reflective diaries to determine what level and what kind of reflection teachers realized, T3 who reflected at the technical level and developed reflectionon-action about the sequence of content expressed:

"I could not make the sequence of content properly. First of all, I should have started my lesson with the content of "The Internet". Then I could go on with "On the Phone."

T8 developed reflection-in-action by stating that he/she encountered a negative situation during the learning and teaching process and that he/she with a reflection that could be called "thinking on his/her feet" actually overcame the situation. He/She also reflected at the practical level by emphasizing that the level of the students should be taken into consideration when choosing the content and that it should be connected with real life. T8 expressed:



"The unit named "Appearance and Personality" was actually interesting. Initially, the visuals and making sentences about visuals made the students feel enjoyable. However, a text that was not very relevant to real life in the unit and the questions about the text challenged the students. I saw that students' motivation deteriorated and their self-confidence decreased. I thought I wish I had never made them carry out the activities related to this text. But then, I used a reading text which I think was related to this unit, and appropriate for the students' level and would appeal to the students in real life. The text was also about the physical and personality characteristics of celebrities. This content I prepared made the students feel very enjoyable and made them easy to learn."

As regards critical reflection, it was found that no participants achieved this level with regard to the dimension of content.

# *Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding the Learning and Teaching process of Course*

Looked at the theme of "Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding the Learning and Teaching Process of the course", it is seen that all of the 27 participants (100%) had reflective thinking skills. Participant teachers stated that attracting students' attention made the lesson more enjoyable and that visual and concrete materials motivated them and increased their participation in the lesson and the permanence of the learning. Some of the teachers with reflective thinking skills stated:

"I think that the activities are not enough and there are activities that we could not do due to lack of materials and opportunities. To compensate for this, I give them as homework. In addition, I try to make up our shortcomings by giving research assignments and finding slides on the subject on the internet. I try to complete the topic I think is missing by repeating at the beginning of the next lesson. "(T1)

"I use slides which are appropriate for the topic in order to make the lesson more enjoyable, to get the attention of the students. The images on the slide attract more attention of the students, they are motivated and participate better in the lesson. They listen to the lesson and actively participate in the lesson." (T12)

*"Concrete material attracts more attention of students and becomes permanent in their minds. This also makes the lesson more enjoyable. For this reason, I try to bring concrete material in almost every lesson." (T19)* 

"Before the lesson, I look at the activities I have done in that lesson in the previous years and the subject I will teach in that lesson from at least three or four references. This is how I update my knowledge. I try to understand the questions that students may think about newly added topics beforehand and to make the learning-teaching process effective by preparing materials that facilitate understanding of the topics. "(T23)



"Since there are not more activities, I prepare activities that will develop critical thinking, make them easier to understand, ant not make students get bored. I also prepare activities with lots of exercises that they can use when they study on their own." (T21)

When the reflective diaries were examined, T17 reflected at the technical level and developed reflection-on-action about teaching techniques by explaining:

"I don't think the technique I used today was effective. By applying the "Picture Strip" technique, I could help them understand the storyline better."

Teachers who reflected at the practical level and developed reflection-on-action made comments based on their personal perceptions about not only mentioning whether the techniques they used were effective or not, but how they were effective if they were effective, and why they were not.

T20 who reflected at the practical level and developed reflection-on-action stated:

"To enable my students to predict the English equivalents of foods correctly, "Quiz Show" technique along with visuals instead of "Information Gap" technique would be more effective so that students could participate effectively."

T9 who reflected at the critical level and developed reflection-for-action made ethical and systemic investigations about teaching methods, made progress in self-understanding and self-actualization, and revealed original and educational generalizations.

"I designed teaching techniques such as "Information Gap", "Picture Strip Story", "Timetable" and "Scrambled Sentences". I understood from my teaching practices that I had to do more teamwork to make the students more active. I know I had some shortcomings in applying these techniques. I believe that I will be an even more useful teacher by coping with my shortcomings. The fact that the techniques I used along with the materials I prepared this week, that is, collaborative teamwork and student-centered methods and techniques contributed to the active participation of students, as well as the ability of students to use the language in functional and communicative terms really satisfies me on behalf of my teaching profession. "

*Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding the Measurement and Evaluation of Course* 

Looking at the theme of "Reflective Thinking Skills of Teachers Regarding the Measurement and Evaluation of Course", it is seen that ,of the 27 participants, 18 of them (67%) question the efficiency of measurement tool by remarking:

"I think some measurement tools are not suitable for the learning objectives. Therefore, I try to determine the measurement tools according to the learning objectives by preparing a table of specifications." (T11)



"As for measurement and evaluation, I think there are no sources except the course repetitions at the end of a few units. Therefore, I give students tests for learning objectives. I do exams for listening and speaking." (T13)

"There are learning objectives that should be gained to students in the curriculum. The feedback I received from the students is the best tool to show me how much I teach. After exam, I analyze exams. This analysis is done for each question separately. From here, I find the opportunity to understand which subject is understood by looking at the frequency of each question. I definitely re-lecture topics that are not well understood. "(T23)

One of the teachers, on the other hand, questions himself by criticizing the contradictory situation he experienced in terms of measurement and evaluation by stating:

"Actually, I am not very satisfied with this assessment and evaluation. You evaluate the students as a whole, but unfortunately this is not the case with our exam system. This situation creates a contradiction. We direct the child to learn by living through new programs, but that is not valid for central exam. Therefore, I prepare the sudents for the real world by taking the reality of the central exam into consideration. "(T24)

When the reflective diaries were examined, T27 reflected at the technical level and developed reflection-on-action by explaining:

"Although self-assessment and peer-assessment methods I used were consistent with learning objectives, many students did not take active part in them. Some of the students remained passive. I had a bad experience about duration."

In the context of technical reflection, T27 did not elaborate and develop original comments by simply stating the reasons why the students did not have too much active participation although assessment methods were consistent with learning objectives. T27 also made a negative evaluation by going back his/her evaluation experiences, which was the evidence of the fact that he/she developed reflection-on-action.

Participant teachers, who reflected at the practical level and developed reflection-onaction, did not only describe the problems they experienced during the evaluation process but also stated the reasons for the problems experienced and what should be done to solve the problems.

T23 who reflected at the practical level and developed reflection-on-action made some explanations about his/her negative experiences and alternative solutions for them.

"The lack of student participation in the evaluation process made me unhappy. Nobody except the same students all the time wanted to attend the class. I had to choose myself the students to make them answer the questions. I could have used alternative assessment methods such as "Story-Telling and "Reporting Tasks", "Oral Questionnare" and "Picture-cued Tasks" that would make students


more active. In addition, I could not perform an evaluation process as I wanted because of time anxiety."

T9 who reflected at the critical level and developed reflection-for-action made original inferences about the assessment methods as follows:

"I designed the evaluation techniques such as question and answer, filling in the gap, and matching. In my teaching practice, I saw that only students who were willing and knew the answer took active part i the course. In order for the assessment techniques to be effective, heterogeneous collaborative teams should be formed, in which students who attend and do not attend the course will be together. Then, the alternative assessment materials such as "Story-Telling", "Reporting Tasks" and "Picturecued Tasks" should be given to these heterogeneous teams based on individual assesment and team assessment. I am going to make use of these assessment materials in my next lesson. Only answering the questions asked by the teacher does not mean that the teacher made an effective evaluation. The evaluation should be made with the active participation of the students by making them enjoyable rather than making them feel anxious. "

It can be inferred that T9 who reflected at the critical level and developed reflectionfor-action systematically questioned his/her teaching experiences about the evaluation of the teaching process and developed original ideas about what he/she could do differently in the future.

#### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The present study explored teachers' reflection and their reflective thinking levels on the different dimensions of their teaching practice with regard to the dimension of learning objectives, content, learning-teaching process, and measurement and evaluation in the context of English course.

Based on the findings of the first sub-problem of the study, it was revealed that most of the participant teachers had information about reflective thinking. Considering the professional seniority of the teachers participating in the study, it is seen that there were no participant teachers for less than 10 years. Based on this, it can be said that professional experience is an important variable on teachers' reflective thinking. This finding of the study is supported by similar studies. When the literature was examined, it is seen that the relationship between reflective thinking and experience was emphasized by many researchers (Lee, 2005; Rodgers, 2002). In fact, as a result of the research conducted by Allen and Casbergue (1997), it was observed that reflection took place in the long term. Another finding of their research was that experienced teachers' remembering skills were fluent, stable, precise and consistent compared to the inexperienced and less experienced teachers. Yiğit Kır (2014), on the other hand, found that the participants who had the most knowledge about reflective thinking in her research, were the ones who just graduated from university. Individuals who had knowledge about reflective thinking stated that they learned this information during their higher education or on their own curiosity. Ocak, Ocak and Saban



(2014) and Dolapçıoğlu (2007) concluded in their research that there was no relationship between professional seniority and reflective thinking.

In the present study, it was determined that participant teachers developed reflectionin-action (relatively few), reflection-on-action, and reflection-for-action. Congruent with the findings of the present study, Moallem (1997) examined the reflection behaviors of a science teacher in her study and found that reflective thinking emerged to be one of the basic components of the teacher's thinking process, and that the teacher developed reflection-inaction, reflection-on-action, and reflection-for-action.

When the reflective thinking skills of the teachers regarding learning objectives of course were examined, the teachers stated that they made a change in the lesson plan because they thought that a lesson plan for the learning objectives could not be applied unless the students' prior knowledge was completed. This finding of the study is similar to Koç and Yıldız's (2009) study titled "Reflectors of Teaching Practice: Diaries" which determined that the teacher candidates had problems in the planning dimensions of the teaching practice based on their diaries and they made reflections on course learning objectives. Another finding of the present study revealed that the number of learning objectives was high and some learning objectives were difficult to reach. In this context, it is seen that some of the teachers emphasized the need to include learning objectives that cover different functions of the language and that can encourage language learning. Considering the views of the participant teachers in their reflective diaries, it was determined that the depth of their explanations varied from technical level to critical level and they focused on the relations of the learning objectives with the subject, material, method and techniques. These findings of the study overlap with the findings of the study conducted by Töman (2015) and Gencer (2008). In Töman's (2015) study, teacher candidates used superficial expressions only to describe what they did while explaining their teaching experiences and they used interpretative expressions on the relationships of learning objectives with different variables. On the other hand, in the context of reflective thinking at the practical level, it was observed that they questioned the relationships of the learning objectives with different variables in a systematic way. With regard to critical reflection, they used questioning expressions in a moral, ethical and systematic perspective. These findings of the research in the context of reflection at a critical level is supported by Valli (1990) who informs that effective responsible teaching is based on taking moral responsibility and not on having technical skills and Burgess (1999) underlines that teachers with principles of moral subjects have reflective teacher characterictics.

When reflective thinking skills of participant teachers regarding course content are examined, they stated that the content consisted of similar topics and was very intense and at the same time it was heavily based on vocabulary teaching. In addition, teachers stated that they prepared content for the learning objectives in which different daily language structures were included by taking into account the student levels, and that spelling rules



were underrated in the content and they made some arrangements on this point. This finding of the study is similar to the result of the study of Köksal and Demirel (2008) and Özbek (2014) in which pre-service teachers determined some contents based on learning objectives, and took into account student characteristics while choosing and organizing the content. The fact that the participants made the content selection and arrangement by taking into account course learning objectives, the characteristics of the students and also the development levels of the students is similar to the findings of this study. Considering the views of the participant teachers in their reflective diaries, it was found out that participant teachers generally focused on the relationship of the sequence of content with teaching methods, teaching materials, subject content and student behavior in order to determine the sequence of content. Their explanations in their reflective diaries were of reflection in the technical level based on descriptive expressions, of reflection in the practical level based on detailed comments. This finding of the research is supported by the studies conducted by Töman (2015) and Gencer (2008).

When reflective thinking skills of teachers regarding the learning-teaching of course were examined, it was revealed that they reflected on teaching methods and techniques, activities and materials, student motivation, classroom atmosphere, ensuring participation in the lesson, Similar to these findings of the study, it was determined in Özbek (2014) and Köksal and Demirel's (2008) studies in which pre-service teachers prepared interesting and diverse activities, and while reflecting, they emphasized teaching in order to achieve the determined learning objectives, especially taking into account previous teaching practices. Erginel (2006), in her research titled "Developing reflective teachers: A study on perception and improvement of reflection in pre-service teacher education", determined that preservice teachers focused on subjects such as teaching methods and student motivation while thinking reflectively in the application process which is parallel to the results of the present study. Based on the opinions of the participant teachers in their reflective diaries, it was revealed that the participant teachers generally associated the teaching approaches, methods, techniques and materials they used in their course with student behavior, teaching skills, the duration of the course and the learning objectives of the course. Similar to these findings of the study, in the studies conducted by Töman (2015) and Gencer (2008), as the number of teaching practices increased, teacher candidates made more conscious, consistent and effective comments and reflected at technical, practical and critical levels, respectively.

When reflective thinking skills of teachers regarding the measurement and evaluation of course were examined, it was underlined that the efficiency of measurement tools and the need to prepare measurement tools according to the learning objectives should be realized. In fact, Özbek (2014) and Ünver (2001) emphasized that conducting measurement and assessment with regard to reflective thinking provides a reorganization in education, which can be thought to support the results of the present study. Considering the views of the participant teachers in their reflective diaries, it was determined that the participant teachers generally reflected at technical, practical and critical levels in which they associated



the assessment methods of the course with the learning objectives, duration, student behavior, materials, alternative assessment methods made individually and as a group. Similar to these findings of the study, in the studies conducted by Töman (2015), as the reflective applications increased, teacher candidates did not see their assessment practices as sufficient and produced alternatives. In the final stages of reflective practices, they made original inferences and presented educational generalizations. As a result, the development of reflective thinking skills contributed to their professional development.

#### **Recommendations**

The study is simply based on a relatively small number of participants, and the findings cannot be generalised. This can be acknowledged as a limitation of the study. Therefore, more studies including a large number of participants need to be carried out. It is thought that providing teachers with in-service training courses such as thinking skills, problem solving and decision making techniques, risk and crisis management that will contribute to overcoming their shortcoming and mistakes will further improve their reflective teaching and reflective thinking skills. In-service training activities can also be organized in order to increase the awareness of teachers about the dimensions of learning objectives, content, learning and teaching process and measurement and evaluation.

#### Acknowledgments

"There is no financial support and conflict of interest in this study. I would like to thank 27 participating teachers for their cooperation and willingness to respond to this research. In addition, I would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their comprehensive and constructive feedback that guided me to improve the manuscript."

#### REFERENCES

- Abrams, E. & Middleton, M. (2004). Pre-service middle school teachers reflecting on instructional practice through technology. *Paper presented at the* National Educational Computing Conference, New Orleans. ABD.
- Ahmad, I., Said, H.B., Zeb, A., Rehman, S., Ahmad, S., & Khan, W. (2013). How reflective practice improves teachers' classroom teaching skill? A case of community based schools in district Chitral, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Social Sciences and Humanities*, 4(1), 73-81.
- Allen, R. M. & Casbergue, R. M. (1997). Evolution of novice through expert teachers' recall: Implications for Effective reflection on practice. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 13(7): 741-755
- Altınok, H. (2002). Reflective teaching: Its importance and reflections on teacher education. *Journal of Educational Research*, 2(8), 65-73.



- Aslan, G. (2009). *Investigating the relationship between the reflevtive thinging tendency and anxiety level among class teachers*. (Unpublished Master's thesis). Yeditepe University, Institute of Social Sciences, İstanbul.
- Atalay, T. D., & Karahan, B.Ü. (2016). An assessment on reflective thinking tendencies among turkish teacher candidates. *International Journal of Turkish Education and Training*, 2, 18-27.
- Ayçicek, B., Yanpar Yelken, T., & Yokuş, G. (2019). An analysis of teachers' reflective thinking tendencies depending on various variables. *Trakya Journal of Education*, *9*(3), 612-626.
- Aydın, M., & Çelik, T. (2013). The prospective teacher' opinions relating reflective thinking skills. *Pamukkale Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 34(2), 169-181.
- Aydoğmuş, M. (2017). Investigation of the effectiveness of reflective teaching activities in secondary school. (Doctoral dissertation). Necmettin Erbakan University, Institute of Educational Sciences, Konya.
- Burgess, J. M. C. (1999). *Reflections of student teachers: Comparisons among five models of reflective thought*. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, University of North Carolina.
- Choy, S. C., & Oo, P. S. (2012). Reflective thinking and teaching practices: a precursor for incorporating critical thinking into the classroom? *International Journal of Instruction*, 5(1), 167-183.
- Cohen, L., & Manion, L., (1994). Research methods in education. Fourth Edition, Newyork, Rutledge.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dewey, J. (1933). How we think: A restatement of the relation of reflective thinking to the educative process. Boston: D. D. Heath.
- Dilekli, Y., & Orakcı, Ş. (2019). Analyzing teachers' reflective thinking in terms of some variables. *OPUS–Uluslararası Toplum Araştırmaları Dergisi, 11*(18), 1517-1539.
- Dolapçıoğlu, S. D. (2007). *Evaluation of classroom teachers' reflective thinking levels* (Unpublished Master's thesis). Mustafa Kemal University, Institute of Social Sciences, Hatay
- Duban, N., & Yanpar Yelken T. (2010). Öğretmen adaylarının yansıtıcı düşünme eğilimleri ve yansıtıcı öğretmen özellikleriyle ilgili görüşleri [Preservice teachers' opinions on reflective thinking tendencies and reflective teacher characteristics]. *Çukurova Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 19(2), 343-336.
- Eby, J.W., & Kujawa, E. (1994). *Reflective Planning, Teaching and Evaluation: K-12.* New York: Merrill
- Ekiz, D. (2006). Self-observation and peer-observation: Reflective diaries of primary student-teachers. *Elementary Education Online*, 5(1) 45-57.



- Elmalı, Ş., & Balkan Kıyıcı, F. (2018). Prospective Science Teachers' Tendecies of Reflective Thinking and Views About Reflective Thinking. *Elementary Education Online*, 17(3), 1706-1718.
- Erginel-Şanal, S. (2006). *Developing reflective teachers: A study on perception and improvement of reflection in pre-service teacher education* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). METU University, Institute of Social Sciences, Ankara.
- Ersözlü, Z. N. (2008). The effects of reflective thinking activities on the academic successes and attitudes of fifth grade primary social studies students. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Firat University, Institute of Social Sciences, Elazığ.
- Evin-Gencel, İ., & Güzel-Candan, D. (2014). Öğretmen adaylarının eleştirel düşünme eğilimleri ve yansıtıcı düşünme düzeylerinin incelenmesi [Examination of pre-service teachers' critical thinking dispositions and reflective thinking levels]. 2. Uluslararası Eğitim Araştırmaları Kongresinde sözlü bildiri, Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi, İzmir.
- Fakazlı, Ö., & Kuru Gönen S. İ. (2017). Reflection on reflection: EFL university instructors' perceptions on reflective practices, *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*, 32(3), 708-726.
- Ferraro, J.M. (2000). Reflective practice and professional development. ERIC Digest ED449120.
- Gedik, H., Akhan, N. E., & Kılıçoğlu, G. (2014). The reflective thinking tendency of social studies candidate teachers. *Mediterranean Journal of Humanities*. 4(2),113-130.
- Gencer, A. S. (2008). *Professional Development of Preservice Biology Teachers Through Reflective Thinking*. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). METU University, Secondary Science and Mathematics Education Department, Ankara.
- Hasırcı, K. Ö., & Sadık, F. (2011). Sınıf öğretmenlerinin yansıtıcı düşünme eğilimlerinin incelenmesi [Reflective thinking trends of classroom teachers review]. *Ç.Ü. Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 20(2), 195-210.
- Hatch, J.A. (2002). *Doing qualitative research in education settings*. New York: StateUniversity of New York Press.
- Henderson, G. J. (1996). *Reflective Teaching: The study of constructivist practices*. New York: Cornell University Press.
- Keskinkılıç, G. (2010). The affect of reflective thinking based learning activities in 7<sup>th</sup> class science and technology lesson on the students' achievements and their scientific process skills. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Selçuk University, Konya.
- Kızılkaya, G. & Aşkar, P. (2009). Developing a thinking skill scale for problem solving. *Education and Science*, *34*(154), 82-92.
- Kirk, R. (2000). A study of the use of a private chat room to increase reflective thinking in preservice teachers. *College Student Journal*, 34(1), 8-18.



- Kırnık, D. (2010). The effect of activities that develop reflective thinking on student achievement in primary school 5th grade Turkish lesson. (Unpublished Master's thesis), Fırat Universtiy, Institute of Social Sciences, Elazığ.
- Koç, C., & Yıldız, H. (2012). The reflectors of teaching experiences: Diaries. *Education and Science*, 37(164), 223-236.
- Kozan, S. (2007). *The effect of reflective thinking skill on the source searching and report writing course*. (Unpublished Master's thesis). Selçuk University, Institute of Social Sciences, Konya
- Köksal, N. & Demirel, Ö. (2008). The contributions of reflective thinking to teacher candidates' teaching practices. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education Faculty*, 34, 189-203
- Langer, A. M. (2002). Reflecting on Practice: Using Learning Journals in Higher and Continuing Education. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 7(3), 337-351.
- Lee, H. J. (2005). Understanding and assessing preservice teachers' reflective teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21, 699–715.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Mc Collum, S. (2002). Reflection: A key for effective teaching. *Teaching Elementary Physical Education*, 13(6), 6-7.
- Miles, M, B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Minott, M. A. (2011). The impact of a course in reflective teaching on student teachers at a local university college. *Canadian Journal of Education/Revue Canadianne De l'éducation*, 34(2), 131-147
- Mitchell, C., & Coltrinari, H. (2001). Journal writing for teachers and students. In T. Barer Stein, & M. Kompf (Eds.), The craft of teaching adults (pp. 21-28). (3rd ed.). Toronto: Irwin Pub.
- Moallem, M. (1997). The content and nature of reflective thinking: a case of an expert middle school science teacher. *The Clearing House*, *70*(3),143-51.
- Nalliveettil George, M. (2011). Reflective classroom practice for effective classroom instruction. *International Education Studies*, 5(3), 205-211.
- Nodoushan, M. A. S. (2011). Reflective teaching in EFL classes: An overview. *I-Manager's Journal on School Educational Technology*, 6(3), 1-7.
- Norton, J. L. (1996). Locus of control and reflective thinking in preservice teachers. *Education*, *117*(3), 401-408.
- Ocak, G., Ocak, İ., & Saban, Y. (2013). The evaluation of reflective thinking tendency of primary<br/>school teachers in science and technology courses. Journal of Uludag University Faculty of<br/>Education, 26(1), 161-184. Retrieved from<br/>https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/uefad/issue/16697/173575



- Olteanu, C. (2017). Reflection-for-action and the choice or design of examples in the teaching of mathematics. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, *29*, 349–367
- Oruç, İ. (2000). Effects of Reflective Teacher Training Program on Teachers' Perception of Classroom Environment and on Their Attitudes Toward Teaching Profession. (Unpublished Master's thesis). METU University, Institute of Social Sciences, Ankara.
- Özbek, G. (2014). *Reflective thinking skills of prospective teachers: An action research* (Unpublished Master's thesis). Akdeniz University Institute of Educational Sciences.
- Pollard, A. (1997). Reflective Teaching in the Primary School. London: Cassell Education.
- Razaeyan, M., & Nikoopour, J. (2013). The relationship between reflectivity of foreign language teachers with Iranian students' achievement. *Journal of Language Sciences & Linguistics*, 1(1), 9-20.
- Rodgers, C. (2002). Defining reflection: Another look at John Dewey and reflective thinking. *Teachers College Record*, 104(4), 842–866.
- Rudd, R. D. (2007). Defining critical thinking. Techniques, 82(7), 46-49.
- Schnepfleitner, F.M. & Ferreira, M.P. (2021). Transformative learning theory is it time to add a fourth core element? *Journal of Educational Studies and Multidisciplinary Approaches*, 1(1), 40-49.
- Schön, D. A. (1983). *The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action*. New York: Basic Books.
- Semerci, Ç. (2007). Developing a reflective thinking tendency scale for teachers and student teachers. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 7(3), 733-740.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Şahan, H. H., & Kalkay, İ. (2011, October). Reflective Thinking Tendencies of Pre-Service Teachers. Sözel Bildiri, I. Uluslararası Eğitim Programları ve Öğretim Kongresi, Anadolu University, Eskişehir. http://www.pegem.net/ akademi/kongrebildiri\_detay.aspx?id=129972
- Şahin, A. (2011). Evaluating pre-service turkish teachers' reflective thinking tendencies according to various variables. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*, *10*(37), 108-119.
- Şahin, Ç. (2009). Examining of journals of prospective science teachers according to their reflective thinking abilities. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education Faculty*, 36, 225-236.
- Tok, Ş. (2008a). The effects of reflective thinking activities in science course on academic achievements and attitudes toward science. *Elementary Education Online*, 7(3), 557-568.
- Tok, Ş. (2008b). The impact of reflective thinking activities on student teachers' attitudes toward teaching profession, performance and reflections. *Education and Science*, 33(149), 104-117.



- Töman, U. (2015). *Investigation of the development of reflective thinking skills in teaching of pre-service teachers* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Karadeniz Technical University, Secondary Science and Mathematics Education Department, Trabzon.
- Ünver, G. (2001). Some suggestions for reflective teaching and teacher training. *Vocational Education Journal*, 3(5), 1-14.
- Ünver, G. (2003). Reflective thinking. Ankara: PegemA Publishing.
- Ünver, G. (2010). Yansıtıcı düşünme: Eğitimde yeni yönelimler [Reflective thinking: New directions in education]. (Ed: Özcan Demirel). Ankara: Pegem Akademi Publishing.
- Van Manen, M. (1977). Linking way of knowing with ways of being practical. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 6, 205-228.
- Wellington, J. (2000). Educational research, contemporary issues and practical approaches. London, Continuum.
- Weshah, A.H. (2007). Training pre-service teacher education on reflective practice in jordanian universities. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 2(18), 306-321
- Wilson, J., & Jan, W. L. (1993). *Thinking for themselves developing strategies for reflective learning*. Australia: Eleanor Curtain Publishing
- Yıldırım, A., & Şimşek, H. (2013). *Qualitative research methods in the social sciences*. Ankara: Seçkin Publishing.
- Yiğit Kır, M. (2014). Investigation of biology teachers' opinion about reflective thinking. *Journal* of Research in Education and Teaching, 4(3), 225-233.
- Yorulmaz, M. (2006). *Evaluation of primary school teachers view and practices relating to the reflective thinking (An example of Diyarbakır city)*. (Unpublished Master's thesis). Fırat University Institute of Social Sciences, Elazığ.





| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

# Research

## An Investigation of Preservice Teachers' Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation

#### Süleyman Arslantaş<sup>1</sup>

Article Type Original Research

#### Abstract:

International Journal of Modern Education Studies June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 146-167 http://www.ijonmes.net dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

#### Article Info:

Received : 06.04.2021 Revision : 18.04.2021 Accepted : 06.05.2021

DOI 10.51383/ijonmes.2021.95

Keywords:

The purpose of this study is to determine the academic self-efficacy and motivation levels of preservice teachers and to investigate these cognitive aspects in terms of various variables. The participants of the current study consist of 621 preservice teachers studying at Necmettin Erbakan University Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Education in the 2020-2021 academic year. The study adopted a single survey model. Research data were collected using Academic Self-Efficacy Scale and Academic Motivation Scale. Independent sample T-test and one-way ANOVA were used to analyze the data. The findings of the study revealed that the academic self-efficacy and academic motivation levels of the preservice teachers were high; academic selfefficacy did not reveal any significant difference according to gender and year of study variables. It was found out that the academic motivations of the participants revealed significant differences according to gender, year of study, academic achievement, and career expectation variables.

Preservice teachers, academic self-efficacy, academic motivation

#### Citation:

Arslantas, S. (2021). An Investigation of Preservice Teachers' Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 5(1), 146-167. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.95</u>

<sup>1</sup> Dr, Konya Necmettin Erbakan University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Education Faculty, Konya, Turkey. suleymanarslantas@gmail.com Drcid ID: 0000-0002-4989-2893

#### **INTRODUCTION**

With the COVID-19 pandemic, the teaching practices of preservice teachers are interrupted. This situation may affect the professional competency and self-efficacy perception of preservice teachers. Having little or no face-to-face interaction with students caused preservice teachers not to get the necessary data to self-evaluate their teaching competencies. In this case, it is wondered that how their self-efficacy shaped. Moreover, preservice teachers start a new learning environment with the pandemic and they have to face this new situation and problems. While this situation positively affects the learning motivation of some, others may be affected negatively

The sudden change in schools from traditional learning environments to online education models because of the COVID-19 pandemic, novel technologic situations and problems caused tasks of teachers and students to become increasingly harder and thus to increase their negative affective experiences. During this process, many tasks that required time and patience for students emerged in addition to their many demands about their professional applications and proficiencies. In this process, the competencies, skills, and motivations of in-service and preservice teachers have become an important factor in overcoming these novel problems.

Preservice teachers in Turkey are entitled to enter the university after a challenging competition. The most important goals of the students entering the university are to successfully graduate by acquiring the necessary competencies and to stay motivated in the department they enter, and to fulfill their academic and professional expectations. It is expected that a teacher candidate who wishes a better status than his / her current status to have higher academic competence and motivation. In this respect, it can be said that the students at a faculty of education, who are at the center of education and training activities, achieve a better status in their professional field, that is, there is a relationship between their career and their academic self-efficacy and motivation.

#### THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Academic self-efficacy is one of the important factors affecting academic performance. It describes the beliefs and attitudes of students towards their ability to achieve academic success, as well as their ability to perform academic tasks and their ability to successfully learn (Bandura, 1997; Hayat et al., 2020; Koyuncuoğlu, 2021; Schunk & Ertmer, 2000). Bandura's social cognitive theory argues that individuals have the ability to control their actions through self-regulation (Bandura, 2000). According to this theory, individuals can overcome the difficulties of the tasks they face with their self-efficacy and determination. Self-efficacy can increase self-regulated behavior through motivation. At this point, past mastery performance contributes to an increase in learning and positive behavior by strengthening the expectation of future success.



Self-efficacy beliefs underlie academic self-efficacy perception. Self-efficacy beliefs contribute to the excellent performance of individuals by increasing commitment, effort, and perseverance (Pintrich, 2003). While students with high self-efficacy attribute their failures mostly to lower initiatives than low abilities, those with low self-efficacy attribute their failure to low abilities (Kurbanoglu & Akim, 2010). Therefore, self-efficacy can affect task selection and motivation, which is an important source of power in their fulfillment. In other words, students with low self-efficacy are more likely to show hesitation in completing their tasks, delaying them, avoiding their duties, and giving up easily (Bandura, 1997, Schunk & Ertmer, 2000). While those with a high level of self-efficacy, in addition to being self-confident to find a solution when faced with complex problems, are patient, spend more effort, and strive to overcome the problem for a longer time (Hayat et al., 2020; Bandura, 1997 ). Chemers and Garcia (2001) state that students' self-efficacy in the first year of university is a strong indicator of their future performance (Chemers, Hu & Garcia, 2001). Also, the researcher argues that self-efficacy beliefs are manifested in human behavior through four processes which are listed as cognitive, motivational, affective and selection processes which are in harmony with each other (Balcı, Şanal, & Durak Üğüten, 2019, p.2). For this reason, self-efficacy is seen as one of the most important factors in the academic achievements of students.

There exist many qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-method studies in countries as Australia (Hemmings, 2015), Mexico (Reyes-Cruz & Perales-Escudero, 2016), and the USA (Morris & Usher, 2011) to investigate the relationships with academic self-efficacy beliefs. While some studies indicate that there are no gender differences in self-efficacy (Bailey, 1999; Schoen & Wincour, 1988), there exist studies revealing that male faculty members have higher levels of self-efficacy for research and service than females (Zhao, McCormick & Hoekman, 2008). In some of the studies, academic self-efficacy beliefs specific to a particular discipline (Morris & Usher, 2011; Wyatt & Dikilitaş, 2016) have been examined and findings revealed that academic self-efficacy levels are relatively problematic in certain disciplines (Bailey, 1999; Hemmings et al., 2012; Zhao, McCormick & Hoekman, 2008).

Another important concept in the transformation of self-efficacy into a product is motivation. Motivation is an important factor in students' learning and teachers' teaching processes (Ait Maalem Lahcen & Mohapatra, 2020; Asigigan & Samur, 2021; Landicho, 2020). Motivation is the direct reason to cause, inspired system some sort of human behavior and people can be divided into three categories achievement, social and impression (Omar, Drewsh & Ahmed, 2018, p.36). It was found out that between motivational variables and self-efficacy perceptions and productivity, performance (Hammond, 1994); and perceived competence (Hardré et al, 2011) were consistently associated in post-secondary education faculties. However, apart from recent cross-sectional studies investigating the relationships between self-efficacy and emotional well-being variables (emotions related to teaching (Hall, Lee & Rahimi, 2019; Zhang et al, 2019), and perceived stress level (Sharma, 2013); it is seen that the studies examining the relationship of self-efficacy with psychological health in



post-secondary faculties at the level of secondary education are insufficient. It is claimed that academic motivation and student participation are factors that affect the learning outcomes of university students (Chen & Lu, 2015; Roksa & Whitley, 2017). The variables that enable them to start learning willingly are explained by learning motivation and academic motivation (Eccles & Roeser, 2009; Koyuncuoğlu, 2021). Academic motivation is defined as the desire or interest of students to be interested in learning and school experiences (Hulleman, Barron, Kosovich, & Lazowski, 2016). Studies reveal that academically motivated students tend to perceive school and learning as valuable, love learning, and enjoy activities related to learning (Zimmerman & Dale, 2012).

Motivation plays an important role in the academic performance of students due to the intensive structure of education faculties. For instance, following a specifically defined path to become a teacher requires practicing in addition to university courses (Kusurkar et al, 2011; Kara, 2020). Although the types of motivation vary, they are generally divided into two categories. The first category is intrinsic motivation (e.g. being interested in becoming a teacher or pursuing the intellectual challenges of educational science). The second is extrinsic motivation and is result-oriented. For example, being motivated to find a job or pursue a career as a teacher is related to extrinsic motivation (Cook & Artino, 2016; Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2001; Wu, Li, Zheng & Guo, 2020). In addition to the two motivation categories, self-efficacy also attracts great attention from researchers in the field of education. Self-efficacy is the subjective assessment of an individual's ability to complete a specific task (Doğru, 2020). In success-oriented educational environments, self-efficacy is related to a student's perceived confidence in achieving certain goals. Self-efficacy helps students determine what choices they make, how much mental effort they put in, and how much they persist in a task (Kaleli, 2020). Ryan and Deci (2000) stated that when students experience the satisfaction of competence, autonomy, and psychological needs in a learning task, they tend to be more intrinsically motivated. According to Ryan and Deci (2000), competence refers to a person's need and motivation to be effective in environmental interactions. Therefore, there is a significant relationship between students' need for competence and their motivation (Skinner & Belmont, 1993; Zaccoletti et al, 2020). However, few studies have examined how different motivational components affect the performance and academic career of education faculty students together, using a large sample size (Koyuncuoğlu, 2020). Motivation is a mutual product of an individual's personality and external environment (Schunk & Pajares, 2005). This reveals that the motivation of education faculty students should be examined in a way that takes into account their characteristics, the academic tasks they face, and the expectations or situations. It is frequently emphasized in the relevant literature that pre-service teachers' affective characteristics, as well as their cognitive characteristics, play an effective role in maintaining their individual development and adapting to new situations.

In this context, the ability of preservice teachers to achieve successful results in reaching the objectives of the teaching-learning processes is related to their competence



Arslantaş

perceptions, academic, and general motivations, as well as their other characteristics. Within the framework of this general purpose, in this study, the answers for the following research questions will be sought:

What are the academic motivations and academic self-efficacy levels of the preservice teachers?

Do the academic motivation levels of preservice teachers differ based on the variables such as a) gender, b) year of study, c) academic achievement level, d) academic career expectancy?

Do the academic self-efficacy levels of preservice teachers differ based on the variables such as a) gender, b) year of study, c) academic achievement level, d) academic career expectancy?

#### **METHOD**

#### **Participants**

The population of the current study is composed of preservice teachers studying at faculties of education in Turkey. Reaching all of the students in the target population requires serious time and teamwork. For this reason, the convenience sampling method was preferred in the study. In this respect, 621 preservice teachers studying at Necmettin Erbakan University Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Education participated in the study. The data were collected was based on voluntary participation. Demographic variables and the distribution of preservice teachers according to these variables are shown in Table 1.

		f	%
Condor	Female	448	72.1
Genuer	Male	173	27.9
	1.0	163	26.2
Voor of Study	2.0	157	25.4
rear of Study	3.0	147	23.7
	4.0	154	24.8
	Lower	24	3.9
Academic Achievement	Moderate	410	66.0
	Higher	187	30.1
	Total	621	100,0

#### Table 1

Distributi



%

When the table is considered, it is obvious that the ratio of male preservice teachers is 27.9% and the ratio of female preservice teachers is 72.1%. As for the year of the study 26.2% of the preservice teachers were freshmen, 25.4% of them were sophomores, 23.7% of them were juniors, and 24.8% were seniors. In terms of academic achievement, 3.9% of the participants had a lower level of success, 66% of them were moderately successful, and 30.1% of them were highly successful preservice teachers.

#### **Research Design and Data Collection Tools**

In the current study, a single survey model was adopted. The single survey model was used to describe the academic self-efficacy and academic motivation levels of preservice teachers. The study is planned to be carried out in four stages. In the first stage, data collection tools were prepared for implementation. After preparing the academic self-efficacy and academic motivation scales, whose sample forms are attached, were prepared for application, validity and reliability tests were conducted by the researcher. In the second phase of the study, to implement the data collection tools to the preservice teachers, the necessary permissions were obtained from the relevant dean's office and the data collection tools were implemented on the dates shown in the calendar. In the third stage of the study, the data obtained were transferred into a computer after being subjected to technical analysis. The data were subjected to statistical analysis with relevant analysis techniques. At the last stage of the study, the analyzed data were interpreted comparatively based on the relevant literature. In the light of the results, suggestions were made for preservice and in-service training for preservice teachers.

#### Academic Self-efficacy Scale

The 5-point Likert-type "Academic Self-efficacy Scale" developed by Kandemir (2010) aims to determine the academic self-efficacy levels of students. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was conducted to determine the factor structure of the scale. As a result of the PCA, it was found out that the scale had a three-factor structure. The first factor included 11 items (m6, m7, m8, m9, m10, m14, m15, m16, m17, m18, m19). The factor loading values of the items in this factor ranged between .54 and .78. This factor was named "self-efficacy to cope with academic problems". The second factor included 4 items (m1, m3, m4, m5). The factor loading values of the items in this factor loading values of the items in this factor ranged between .59 and .78. This factor was named "self-efficacy towards academic effort". The third factor also included 4 items (m2, m11, m12, m13). The factor loading values of the items in this factor loading values of the items in this factor was named "self-efficacy for academic planning". Cronbach alpha internal consistency coefficients were examined for the reliability of the scale. In this sample, the coefficients were .87 for the first factor, .77 for the second factor, .75 for the third factor, and .99 for the whole scale.

Academic Motivation Scale



The 7-point Likert-type "Academic Motivation Scale" developed by Vallerand et al. (1992) and adapted by Karagüven (2012) was used to collect the data of the study. According to the EFA and CFA analyzes performed, the scale consisted of 28 items with seven factors, four items each. These factors were intrinsic motivation-to know (IMK), intrinsic motivation - toward accomplishment (IMTA), intrinsic motivation-to experience stimulation (IMES), extrinsic motivation – identified (EMI), extrinsic motivation-introjected (EMI), extrinsic motivation-external regulation (EMER), and amotivation (A). The 7-point Likert scale was arranged as "does not correspond at all, corresponds a little, corresponds moderately, corresponds a lot, corresponds exactly". The Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient for the scale ranged from .71 to .88 for the sub-dimensions. In the analysis performed on the sample of this study, the reliability coefficient for the whole scale was determined as 0.85.

#### Data Analysis

Before analyzing the academic self-efficacy and academic motivation scores of the preservice teachers in the study, the normal distribution of the data was tested. In determining the distribution, skewness and Shapiro Wilk test results were taken as a basis. According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2007), the fact that these values are in the range of  $\pm 1$  indicates that the data do not reveal excessive deviations from the normal distribution. The values obtained from the scale scores in this study indicated that the attitude and self-efficacy scores were distributed quite close to the normal distribution. It was observed that the data of the two scales belonging to the study sample were in the range of  $\pm 1$  and the Shapiro Wilk test results indicated a normal distribution (Yurt & Sünbül, 2012). Considering this situation, parametric tests were used in the analysis of academic self-efficacy and academic motivation scores of preservice teachers.

In the present study, independent samples t-test and one-way ANOVA were used. A t-test is used to find out the source of difference in the parametric distributions in which the independent variables can have two values. ANOVA is used to find out the source of difference in parametric distributions in which independent variables can have more than two values.

#### **Research Ethical Consent**

In this study, all rules stated to be followed within the scope of "Higher Education Institutions Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Directive" were followed. None of the actions stated under the title "Actions Against Scientific Research and Publication Ethics", which is the second part of the directive, have not been carried out. The research was approved by the decision of Necmettin Erbakan University Ethics Committee with the number of 2021/204

#### RESULTS

In this section, first the descriptive findings then the correlational statistics are given in tables.

#### Table 2

Descriptive Values of Scores Obtained in Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation Scales

Variables	n	Mean	Std. Deviation
Coping with Academic Problems	621	3,68	0,70
Academic Efforts	621	3,89	0,74
Academic Planning	621	3,63	0,77
Academic Self-efficacy Total Score	621	3,71	0,67
Intrinsic Motivation – to Know	621	5,38	1,42
Intrinsic Motivation - toward Achievement	621	5,03	1,40
Intrinsic Motivation – to experience	621	4,86	1,47
Extrinsic motivation-introjected	621	3,93	1,47
Extrinsic motivation-external regulation	621	4,16	1,21
Extrinsic motivation – identified	621	5,56	1,28
Amotivation	621	1,97	1,28
Academic Motivation Total Score	621	4,41	0,89

When Table 2 was examined, it was understood that preservice teachers' academic motivation scale total mean score is calculated as  $4.41 \pm 0.89$ . The academic self-efficacy mean score was found as  $3.71 \pm 0.67$ . According to the mean scores obtained, it was observed that the academic self-efficacy and academic motivation of the preservice teachers, in general, were high.

#### Table 3

Сот	parison o	f Scores	Obtained	from	Academic Sel	lf-Efficacy	and .	Academic	Motivation	Scales by	Gender
		)		,		J JJ ./				./	

	Gender	n	Mean	Std.	t	Р	Cohen's d
Coping with Academic	Female	448	3,66	0,71	-1,14	0,25	
Problems	Male	173	3,73	0,66			
Academic Efforts	Female	448	3,87	0,74	-1,11	0,27	
	Male	173	3,94	0,74			
Academic Planning	Female	448	3,63	0,78	-0,28	0,78	
	Male	173	3,65	0,75			
Academic Self-efficacy	Female	448	3,70	0,68	-1,02	0,31	
Total Score	Male	173	3,76	0,63			
Intrinsic Motivation – to	Female	448	5,49	1,34	3,35	0,00	0.2888
Know	Male	173	5,07	1,56			



Intrinsic Motivation –	Female	448	5,16	1,35	3,76	0,00	0,3330
toward Achievement	Male	173	4,69	1,47			
Intrinsic Motivation – to	Female	448	4,96	1,44	2,50	0,01	0,2228
experience stimulation	Male	173	4,63	1,52			
Extrinsic Motivation-	Female	448	4,03	1,45	2,76	0,01	0,2449
Introjected	Male	173	3,67	1,49			
Extrinsic Motivation-	Female	448	4,17	1,22	0,21	0,84	
External Regulation	Male	173	4,15	1,16			
Extrinsic Motivation –	Female	448	5,69	1,23	4,08	0,00	0.3533
Identified	Male	173	5,23	1,37			
Amotivation	Female	448	1,87	1,18	-3,00	0,00	0.2604
	Male	173	2,22	1,49			
Academic Motivation	Female	448	4,48	0,86	3,10	0,00	0.2664
Total Score	Male	173	4,24	0,94			

When Table 3 was examined, no significant difference was found in the academic self-efficacy mean scores of the preservice teachers according to their genders (p> 0.05). However, significant differences were found in each of the academic motivation dimensions' mean scores except for the Extrinsic Motivation-External Regulation dimension scores. Considering the mean scores of the groups, it was seen that female preservice teachers had significantly higher academic motivation compared to male preservice teachers. Amotivation levels of male preservice teachers were found to be high.

#### Table 4

	Achieveme	n	Mean	Std. D.	f	Sig.
Coping with Academic	Lower	24	3,06	0,87		
Problems	Moderate	410	3,55	0,66	46,330	,000
	Higher	187	4,04	0,61		
Academic Efforts	Lower	24	3,23	1,12		
	Moderate	410	3,78	0,70	34,672	,000
	Higher	187	4,21	0,62		
Academic Planning	Lower	24	3,01	0,82		
	Moderate	410	3,50	0,76	41,949	,000
	Higher	187	4,01	0,63		
Academic Self-efficacy	Lower	24	3,09	0,87		
Total Score	Moderate	410	3,59	0,63	50,831	,000
	Higher	187	4,07	0,56		
Intrinsic Motivation - to	Lower	24	4,05	1,87		
Know	Moderate	410	5,28	1,44	19,298	,000
	Higher	187	5,76	1,16		
Intrinsic Motivation –	Lower	24	3,86	1,61		
toward Achievement	Moderate	410	4,93	1,39	16,040	,000
	Higher	187	5,38	1,28		
Intrinsic Motivation - to	Lower	24	3,60	1,56		
Experience Stimulation	Moderate	410	4.78	1.48	15.650	.000

Comparison of the Scores Obtained from Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation Scales by Achievement Level



	Higher	187	5,22	1,30		
Extrinsic Motivation -	Lower	24	3,60	1,37		
Introjected	Moderate	410	3,86	1,48	2,844	,059
	Higher	187	4,13	1,44		
Extrinsic Motivation-	Lower	24	4,17	1,44		
External Regulation	Moderate	410	4,12	1,21	,704	,495
	Higher	187	4,25	1,17		
Extrinsic Motivation –	Lower	24	4,84	1,24		
Identified	Moderate	410	5,48	1,31	9,335	,000
	Higher	187	5,84	1,16		
Amotivation	Lower	24	2,97	1,68		
	Moderate	410	2,00	1,24	10,019	,000
	Higher	187	1,77	1,24		
Academic Motivation	Lower	24	3,87	0,90		
Total Score	Moderate	410	4,35	0,91	10,909	,000
	Higher	187	4,62	0,80		

When Table 4 was examined, significant differences were found in the five dimensions of the academic self-efficacy and academic motivation scales and the total mean scores of participants based on their achievement levels (p <0.05). However, no significant difference was found in the extrinsic motivation-introjected and extrinsic motivation-external regulation dimensions. According to the Tukey test analysis, it was found out that students with higher and moderate achievement levels had significantly higher academic self-efficacy and academic motivation compared to the participants with lower academic achievement. It was observed that students with lower academic achievement exhibit higher amotivation.

#### Table 5

Comparison of Scores Obtained from Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation Scales by the Year of Study

	Year of					
	Study	n	Mean	Std. Deviation	f	Sig.
Coping with Academic	Freshmen	163	3,67	0,75		
Problems	Sophomores	157	3,61	0,67	1,218	,302
	Juniors	147	3,69	0,62		
	Seniors	154	3,76	0,75		
Academic Efforts	Freshmen	163	3,83	0,74		
	Sophomores	157	3,87	0,69	1,059	,366
	Juniors	147	3,89	0,66		
	Seniors	154	3,97	0,84		
Academic Planning	Freshmen	163	3,62	0,75		
	Sophomores	157	3,51	0,82	2,331	,073
	Juniors	147	3,66	0,73		
	Seniors	154	3,74	0,77		
Academic Self-efficacy Total	Freshmen	163	3,69	0,70		
Score	Sophomores	157	3,64	0,65	1,507	,212



	Juniors	147	3,72	0,60		
	Seniors	154	3,80	0,72		
Intrinsic Motivation – to	Freshmen	163	5,66	1,34	3,729	,011
Know	Sophomores	157	5,36	1,37		
	Juniors	147	5,33	1,44		
	Seniors	154	5,14	1,49		
Intrinsic Motivation –	Freshmen	163	5,24	1,42		
toward Achievement	Sophomores	157	4,93	1,38	2,407	,066
	Juniors	147	5,08	1,41		
	Seniors	154	4,85	1,37		
Intrinsic Motivation – to	Freshmen	163	5,13	1,49		
Experience Stimulation	Sophomores	157	4,87	1,43	3,155	,024
	Juniors	147	4,82	1,49		
	Seniors	154	4,63	1,43		
Extrinsic Motivation -	Freshmen	163	4,07	1,50		
Introjected	Sophomores	157	3,94	1,57	2,782	,040
	Juniors	147	4,07	1,50		
	Seniors	154	3,65	1,25		
Extrinsic Motivation-	Freshmen	163	4,34	1,23		
External Regulation	Sophomores	157	4,10	1,19	1,594	,190
	Juniors	147	4,07	1,22		
	Seniors	154	4,14	1,17		
Extrinsic Motivation –	Freshmen	163	5,91	1,18		
Identified	Sophomores	157	5,63	1,22	7,515	,000,
	Juniors	147	5,35	1,42		
	Seniors	154	5,33	1,23		
Amotivation	Freshmen	163	1,69	1,11		
	Sophomores	157	2,03	1,18	3,831	,010
	Juniors	147	2,04	1,32		
	Seniors	154	2,14	1,46		
Academic Motivation Total	Freshmen	163	4,58	0,89		
Score	Sophomores	157	4,41	0,90	3,255	,021
	Juniors	147	4,39	0,90		
	Seniors	154	4,27	0,85		

When Table 5 is examined, a significant difference was not found in the academic self-efficacy scores of preservice teachers according to the year of study variable. However, it was observed that there were significant differences in the academic motivation levels of the participants in terms of the year of study variable. According to further analysis, the total scores of 'Intrinsic Motivation-to Know', 'Intrinsic Motivation-to Experience Stimulation', 'Extrinsic Motivation-Introjected', 'Extrinsic Motivation-Identified', and academic motivation total scores of freshmen students were found to be significantly higher than the senior students. On the other hand, amotivation of sophomores, juniors, and seniors was higher than the freshmen.



#### Table 6

Comparison of Scores Obtained from Academic Self-Efficacy and Academic Motivation Scales by Academic Career Expectations

	Academic					
	Career					
	Expectations	n	Mean	Std. Deviation	f	Sig.
Coping with Academic	No	96	3,47	0,80	24,73	0,00
Problems	Perhaps	281	3,55	0,64		
	Yes	242	3,92	0,66		
Academic Efforts	No	96	3,78	0,78	20,48	0,00
	Perhaps	281	3,73	0,74		
	Yes	242	4,12	0,65		
Academic Planning	No	96	3,42	0,87	20,16	0,00
	Perhaps	281	3,51	0,73		
	Yes	242	3,87	0,70		
Academic Self-efficacy	No	96	3,53	0,75	26,62	0,00
Total Score	Perhaps	281	3,58	0,63		
	Yes	242	3,95	0,61		
Intrinsic Motivation – to	No	96	4,26	1,74	42,77	0,00
Know	Perhaps	281	5,51	1,19		
	Yes	242	5,69	1,27		
Intrinsic Motivation -	No	96	4,09	1,66	28,35	0,00
toward Achievement	Perhaps	281	5,16	1,22		
	Yes	242	5,26	1,32		
Intrinsic Motivation – to	No	96	3,88	1,70	33,27	0,00
Experience Stimulation	Perhaps	281	4,91	1,30		
	Yes	242	5,24	1,34		
Extrinsic Motivation -	No	96	3,42	1,64	7,26	0,00
Introjected	Perhaps	281	4,06	1,35		
	Yes	242	4,00	1,50		
Extrinsic Motivation-	No	96	3,86	1,10	5,41	0,00
External Regulation	Perhaps	281	4,31	1,19		
	Yes	242	4,13	1,23		
Extrinsic Motivation –	No	96	4,93	1,43	14,88	0,00
Identified	Perhaps	281	5,69	1,18		
	Yes	242	5,69	1,26		
Amotivation	No	96	2,36	1,41	5,60	0,00
	Perhaps	281	1,93	1,26		
	Yes	242	1,86	1,23		
Academic Motivation	No	96	3,83	1,05	27,75	0,00
Total Score	Perhaps	281	4,51	0,80		
	Yes	242	4,55	0,82		

When Table 6 was examined, a significant difference was found in the academic selfefficacy and academic motivation mean scores according to the prospective teachers' expectations of starting postgraduate education. It was observed that preservice teachers who expected to attend graduate education had significantly higher 'Intrinsic Motivation-



to Know' academic motivation and career determination compared to those who did not. University students with lower academic career prospects have a higher level of amotivation.

#### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

According to the findings obtained from the study, there is no significant difference in the academic self-efficacy of the preservice teachers according to their gender. The findings of this study on gender support the results of many other studies in the literature. The current study revealed similar findings to Epstein et al.'s (2017), Klibert et al.'s (2011), Klibert et al.'s (2016), and Ozer et al.'s (2009) studies on teachers at all school levels, preservice teachers, and university students. Duckworth and Seligman (2005, 2006) found out in their studies that females revealed higher academic performance than their male peers, but they do not differ in terms of self-efficacy perceptions due to their strong academic self-discipline and control.

According to another finding obtained from the study, the academic self-efficacy of preservice teachers differs according to their academic achievements and career expectations. It was observed that preservice teachers with a higher achievement at the university had higher academic self-efficacy. This finding revealed similarities with the research results in the relevant literature (Gasco J., Villarroel, 2014; Guo et al., 2015; Kim & Park, 2001; Koyuncuoğlu, 2021; Lee & Jeon, 2015; Nagengast et al., 2011; Yu, Chae & Chang, 2016). According to Domenech (2013), academic self-efficacy affects students' performance in multiple ways. It is also seen as an individual variable that significantly affects academic achievement. In this respect, academic self-efficacy is explained as a general judgment that includes the ability to manipulate and perform a series of academically related tasks (Chemers, Hu & Garcia, 2001; Yu, Chae & Chang, 2016). Individuals with higher academic self-efficacy can choose a challenging task and complete the task successfully, they spend more effort, they continue to fulfill the tasks despite the obstacles and be successful when faced with difficult obstacles. In addition, it was observed in this study that the academic self-efficacy of preservice teachers with higher career expectations was strong and positive. These findings are similar to various research results in the literature (Doménech, 2013; Doménech-Betoret, Gómez-Artiga and Lloret-Segura, 2014; Chemers et al., 2001; Lent et al., 2008). Students' expectation-value beliefs may have been formed from their previous experiences before the courses start, and this situation is closely related to their academic self-efficacy (Doménech, 2013). Research has also revealed the significant and direct effects of students' self-efficacy on academic expectations (Chemers et al., 2001; Lent et al., 2008). According to the mentioned researchers, students with higher self-efficacy have higher academic expectations and higher career expectations compared to students with lower selfefficacy.



According to the findings obtained from the research, preservice teachers generally have high academic motivation and low amotivation. According to Koçak (2002), prospective teachers and teachers attach more importance to internal motivation processes. This is an important factor in having strong professional and academic motivation.

According to another finding obtained from the current study, a significant difference was found in the academic motivation of the preservice teachers according to their genders. In general, it was found that female preservice teachers had significantly higher academic motivation than male prospective teachers. The findings of this study on gender support the results of many other studies in the literature (Arlı, 2007; Çelik, 2015; Ergen, 2009; Kurt, 2013; Warren, Fox, & Pascall, 2009). In the study conducted by Handayani (2016) in Indonesia, it was concluded that male teachers have significantly higher external motivation compared to female teachers. This is understandable, according to Warren, Fox, and Pascall (2009) because in many cultures males tend to be more active than females. As with the division of gender roles, females focus more on feminine roles such as looking after, educating, and nurturing. In this respect, the higher academic motivation of females can be explained by cultural, environmental, and local factors.

According to the findings obtained from the present study, the academic motivations of the preservice teachers differ according to their years of study. According to the findings of the research, freshmen preservice teachers have a higher academic motivation level, while senior preservice teachers have amotivation. These findings were found to be similar to the findings of other studies (Ergen, 2009; Gömleksiz & Serhatlioğlu, 2013; Gürşimşek, 2002) which revealed that younger teachers' motivation levels were higher than older teachers. In another study measuring pre-service teachers' self-efficacy perception and learning motivation, it was determined that freshmen students had higher motivation levels (Gürşimşek, 2002). Nagy and Davis (1985) and Esther and Marjon (2008) declared similar results in their studies with prospective teachers and teachers. In these studies, it was figured out that academic motivation decreased with the problems occurring in years and revealed a significant decrease over the years. Esther and Marjon (2008) found in their study that negativity in perceptions of self-efficacy and the learning-teaching process decreased individuals' motivation over time.

According to the findings obtained from the current study, the academic motivation of preservice teachers varied according to their academic achievement levels and career expectations. Academic motivation and participation are claimed to be factors affecting the learning outcomes of university students (Allen, Robbins, Casillas & Oh, 2008; Bong, 2005; Chen & Lu, 2015; Kriegbaum, Becker & Spinath, 2018; Koyuncuoğlu, 2021; Luo, Chau & Lam, 2019; Roksa and Whitley, 2017; Ryan and Deci, 2020; Trolian, Jach, Hanson, & Pascarella, 2016). In all these studies, it was found that there is a significantly high relationship between academic motivation, academic achievement, and career expectations in different fields and education levels. In studies conducted with university students, it was



Arslantaş

observed that especially intrinsic academic motivation was associated with higher success, on the other hand, it was observed that amotivation had negative effects on academic performance. Bassi et al. (2007) found that students with strong self-efficacy and motivation exhibited higher academic expectations, attitudes, and career determination. It was observed that the academic performance of students with strong career expectancy and academic motivation was at a high level (Koyuncuoğlu, 2021).

### RECOMMENDATIONS

In this study, the academic motivation and academic self-efficacy of preservice teachers were investigated and as a result, it was found out that their academic motivation and self-efficacy were at a high level. In the comparative analysis, it was found that the academic self-efficacy of preservice teachers did not differ significantly according to gender and year of study variables. It was observed that academic motivation varied according to gender, year of study, academic achievement, and career expectations variables.

Recommendations in the light of the findings of the current study are listed below:

• Within the scope of the study, it was observed that the rate of participant female preservice teachers was higher than their male peers. From this point of view, academic self-efficacy and motivation of preservice teachers can be examined with more homogeneous distributions in terms of gender.

• Considering the findings of this study, the factors that promote the increase of selfefficacy and motivation in the training of preservice teachers can be discussed.

• Qualitative studies can be conducted to explore the reasons why the academic motivation levels of the preservice teachers decrease as their years of study increase, and to obtain in-depth information on the factors affecting their academic achievement levels.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Ait Maalem Lahcen, R., & Mohapatra, R. (2020). Promoting Proactive Behavior through Motivation: Required Math Lab Hours Case. International Journal of Research in Education and Science (IJRES), 6(1), 110-119.
- Allen, J., Robbins, S., Casillas, A.& Oh, In-Sue. (2008). Third-year College Retention and Transfer: Effects of Academic Performance, Motivation, and Social Connectedness. *Research in Higher Education*. 49. 647-664. 10.1007/s11162-008-9098-3.
- Asigigan, S. I. & Samur, Y. (2021). The Effect of Gamified STEM Practices on Students 'Intrinsic Motivation, Critical Thinking Disposition Levels, and Perception of Problem-Solving



Skills. International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science, and Technology (IJEMST), 9(2), 332-352.

- Bailey, J.G. (1999). Academics 'motivation and self-efficacy for teaching and research. Higher Education Research & Development, 18, 343–359.
  - Balcı, Ö., Şanal, F., & Durak Üğüten, S. (2019). An investigation of pre-service English language teaching teachers' self-efficacy beliefs. International Journal of Modern *Education Studies*, 3(1), 41-53.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York: Worth Publisher.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Exercise of human agency through collective efficacy. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 9, 75-78.
- Bassi, M., Steca, P., Delle Fave, A., Caprara, G. V. (2007). Academic self-efficacy beliefs and quality of experience in learning. J. Youth Adolesc. 36, 301–312.
- Bong, M. (2005). Within-grade changes in Korean girls 'motivation and perceptions of the learning environment across domains and achievement levels. Journal of Educational Psychology, 97, 656-672.
- Chemers M. M., Hu L., Garcia B. F. (2001). Academic self-efficacy and first-year college student performance and adjustment. J. Educ. Psychol. 93, 55-64.
- Chemers, M.M., Hu L-t, Garcia, B.F. (2001). Academic self-efficacy and first year college student performance and adjustment. J Educ Psychol. 93(1), 55.
- Chen, Su-Yen & Lu, Luo. (2015). The Role of Achievement Motivations and Achievement Goals in Taiwanese College Students 'Cognitive and Psychological Outcomes. Journal of College Student Development. 56. 397-412. 10.1353/csd.2015.0040.
- Chen, Su-Yen & Lu, Luo. (2015). The Role of Achievement Motivations and Achievement Goals in Taiwanese College Students 'Cognitive and Psychological Outcomes. Journal of College Student Development. 56. 397-412. 10.1353/csd.2015.0040.
- Cook, D.A.& Artino, A.R. (2016). Motivation to learn: an overview of contemporary theories. Med Education, 50(10), 997-1014.



- Doğru, O. (2020). An investigation of pre-service visual arts teachers 'perceptions of computer self-efficacy and attitudes towards web-based instruction. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science* (IJRES), 6(4), 629-637.
- Doménech F. (2013). An instructional model for guiding reflection and research in the classroom: the educational situation quality model. *Electron. J. Res. Educ. Psychol.* 11, 239–260.
- Doménech-Betoret F., Gómez-Artiga A., Lloret-Segura S. (2014). Personal variables, motivation and avoidance learning strategies in undergraduate students. *Learn. Individ. Differ*. 35, 122–129.
- Eccles, J. S., Roeser, R. W. (2009). Schools, academic motivation, and stage-environment fit. In Lerner, R., Steinberg, L. (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology* (3rd ed., pp. 404–434). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Epstein, N., & Fischer, M. R. (2017). Academic career intentions in the life sciences: Can research self-efficacy beliefs explain low numbers of aspiring physician and female scientists?. *PloS one*, 12(9), e0184543. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184543,
- Esther, T. C. & Marjon, F. (2008). Motivation to become a teacher and its relationships with teaching self-efficacy, professional commitment and perceptions of the learning environment. *University of Groningen Landleven 1, 9747 AD Groningen, the Netherlands*
- Gasco, J.& Villarroel, J. D. (2014). The motivation of secondary school students in mathematical word problem solving. *Electron. J. Res. Educ. Psychol.* 12, 83–106.
- Guo, J., Marsh, H. W., Parker, P. D., Morin, A. J. S.& Yeung, A. S. (2015). Achievement, motivation, and educational choices: a longitudinal study of expectancy and value using a multiplicative perspective. *Dev. Psychol.* 51, 1163–1176.
- Gürşimşek, I. (2002). Öğretmen adaylarında öğrenmeye ilişkin motivasyonel inançlar ve strateji kullanımı. *Muğla Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 8, 135-155
- Hall, N. C., Lee, S. Y., & Rahimi, S. (2019). Self-efficacy, procrastination, and burnout in postsecondary faculty: *An international longitudinal analysis*. PloS one, 14(12),
- Hammond, C. (1994). Integrating service and academic study: Faculty motivation and satisfaction in Michigan higher education. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 1: 21–28.



- Handayani, T. R. D. (2016). Teacher Motivation Based on Gender, Tenure and Level of Education. The New Educational Review, 1, 199-207.
- Hardré, P.L., Beesely, A.D., Miler, R.L., Pace, T.M. (2011). Faculty motivation to do research: Across disciplines in research-extensive universities. Journal of the Professoriate, 5, 35–69.
- Hayat, A. A., Shateri, K., Amini, M., & Shokrpour, N. (2020). Relationships between academic self-efficacy, learning-related emotions, and metacognitive learning strategies with academic performance in medical students: a structural equation model. BMC medical education, 20(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-01995-9
- Hemmings, B.C. (2015). Strengthening the teaching self-efficacy of early career academics. Issues in Educational Research. pp. 1–17. (Google Scholar)
- Hemmings, B.C., Kay, R., Sharp, J., Taylor, C. (2012). A transnational comparison of lecturer selfefficacy. Journal of Further and Higher Education. 36: 291–307.
- Hulleman, C. S., Barron, K. E., Kosovich, J. J., & Lazowski, R. A. (2016). Student motivation: Current theories, constructs, and interventions within an expectancy-value framework. In A. A. Lipnevich, F. Preckel, & R. D. Roberts (Eds.), The Springer series on human exceptionality. Psychosocial skills and school systems in the 21st century: Theory, research, and practice (p. 241–278). Springer International Publishing.
- Kaleli, Y. S. (2020). Investigation of the relationship between pre-service music teachers' attitudes towards teaching profession and their self-efficacy beliefs. International Journal of Research in Education and Science (IJRES), 6(4), 580-587.
- Kandemir, M. (2010). Akademik erteleme davranışını açıklayacı bir model. Yayınlanmamış Doktora Tezi, Gazi Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü. Gömleksiz, M.N. & Serhatlıoğlu, B. (2014). Öğretmen adaylarının akademik motivasyon düzeylerine ilişkin görüşleri. Türkiye Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi, 3, 101-127
- Kara, S. (2020). Görsel sanatlar öğretmen adaylarının öğretmenlik mesleğine yönelik tutumları ve öğretmenlik öz yeterlik inançlarının incelenmesi Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, (54), 49-73.
- Karagüven, M. H. Ü. (2012). Akademik motivasyon ölçeğinin Türkçeye adaptasyonu. Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri, 12 (4), 1-22.



- Kim, A.Y.& Park, I.Y. (2001). Construction and validation of academic self-efficacy scale. *Korean J Educ Res.*, 39:95–123.
- Klibert, J., Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J., Luna, A., Robichaux, M. (2011). Suicide proneness in college students: relationships with gender, procrastination, and achievement motivation. *Death Studies*, 35 625–645.
- Klibert, J., LeLeux-LaBarge, K., Tarantino, N., Yancey, T., Lamis, D. A. (2016). Procrastination and suicide proneness: a moderated-mediation model for cognitive schemas and gender. *Death Studies*, 40 350–357.
- Koyuncuoğlu, Ö. (2021). An investigation of academic motivation and career decidedness among university students. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science* (IJRES), 7(1), 125-143.
- Kurbanoglu, N.I., Akim, A. (2010). The relationships between university students 'chemistry laboratory anxiety, attitudes, and self-efficacy beliefs. *Aust J Teach Education*, 35(8):4.
- Kurt, B. (2013). İlkokul ve Ortaokul Yöneticilerinin Öğretim Liderliği Davranışlarının Öğretmen Motivasyonuna Etkisi. *Yayınlanmamış yüksek lisans tezi, Marmara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü,* İstanbul.
- Kusurkar, R.A., Ten Cate, T.J., Vos, C.M.P., et al. (2013). How motivation affects academic performance: a structural equation modelling analysis. *Adv Heal Sci Education*, 18(1), 57–9.
- Landicho, C.J.B. (2020). Research Attitudes, Motivations, and Challenges of STEM Education Researchers. *International Journal of Technology in Education* (IJTE), 3(1), 49-61.
- Lee, S.H. &, Jeon, W.T. (2015). The relationship between academic self-efficacy and academic burnout in medical students. *Korean J Med Education*, 27, 27–35
- Lent, R. W., Sheu, H. B., Singley, D., Schmidt, J. A., Schmidt, L. C., Gloster, C. S. (2008). Longitudinal relations of self-efficacy to outcome expectations, interests, and major choice goals in engineering students. J. *Vocat. Behav.* 73, 328–335.
- Linnenbrink, E.A., Pintrich, P.R. (2001). Motivation as an enabler for academic success. *School Psychol Review*, 313



- Luo, J. M., Chau, K. Y., & Lam, C. F. (2019). The relationship of student's motivation, program evaluation, career attitudes and career aspirations in university–industry cooperation program. *Cogent Education*, 6(1), 1608686. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2019.1608686
- Morris, D.B., Usher, E.L. (2011). Developing teaching self-efficacy in research institutions: A study of award-winning professors. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36, 232–245.
- Nagengast, B., Marsh, H. W., Scalas, L. F., Xu, M. K., Hau, K. T., Trautwein, U. (2011). Who took the "x" out of expectancy-value theory? A psychological mystery, a substantivemethodological synergy, and a cross-national generalization. *Psychol. Sci.* 22, 1058–1066.
- Nagy, S., and L. G. Davis. (1985). —Burnout: a comparative analysis of personality and environmental variables. *Psychological Reports*. 57: 1319-26.
- Omar, E., Drewsh, A., & Ahmed, A. (2018). Test the effect of perceived satisfaction, motivation and anxiety on second life environment in distance learning model: Structural equation modeling. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 2(1), 34-45.
- Ozer, B. U., Demir, A., Ferrari, J. R. (2009). Exploring academic procrastination among turkish students: possible gender differences in prevalence and reasons. *J. Soc. Psychology*, 149, 241–257
- Pintrich, P.R. (2001). A motivational science perspective on the role of student motivation in learning and teaching contexts. *J Educ Psycholoy*, 95(4):667.
- Reyes-Cruz, M del R., Perales-Escudero, M.D. (2016). Research self-efficacy sources and research motivation in a foreign language university faculty in Mexico: Implications for educational policy. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 35, 800–814. (Google Scholar)
- Roksa, J. & Whitley, S. (2017). Fostering Academic Success of First-Year Students: Exploring the Roles of Motivation, Race, and Faculty. *Journal of College Student Development*. 58. 333-348. 10.1353/csd.2017.0026.
- Roksa, Josipa & Whitley, Sarah. (2017). Fostering Academic Success of First-Year Students: Exploring the Roles of Motivation, Race, and Faculty. *Journal of College Student Development*. 58. 333-348. 10.1353/csd.2017.0026.
- Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 25 54–67.



- Schoen, L.G., Wincour, S. (1988). An investigation of the self-efficacy of male and female academics. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 32: 307–320.
- Schunk, D.H., Ertmer, P.A. (2000). Self-regulation and academic learning: Self-efficacy enhancing interventions. Handbook Self-Regul Elsevier, 631–49.
- Schunk, D.H., Pajares, F. (2005). Competence perceptions and academic functioning. Handb Competence Motivation, edited by Andrew J. Elliot and Carol S. Dweck. 85–104.
- Scull, J., Phillips, M., Sharma, U., Garner, K. (2020). Innovations in teacher education at the time of COVID 19: An Australian perspective. *J. Educ. Teach.* 2020 doi:
- Sharma, M., Kaur, G. (2013). Occupational self-efficiency and procrastination as predictors of occupational stress among female lectures. *Journal of Psychosocial Research*, 8, 275–285.
- Skinner, E. A. & Belmont, M. J. (1993). Motivation in the classroom: reciprocal effect of teacher behavior and student engagement across the school year. J. Educ. Psychol. 85 571–581.
- Trolian, T., Jach, E., & Hanson, J.& Pascarella, E. (2016). Influencing Academic Motivation: The Effects of Student-Faculty Interaction. *Journal of College Student Development*. 57. 810-826. 10.1353/csd.2016.0080.
- Vallerand, R. J., Pelletier, L., Blais, M. R., Briere, N. M., Senecal, C. & Vallieres, E. F. (1992). The academic motivation scale: A measure of intrinsic, extrinsic, and amotivation in education. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 52, 1003-1017
- Vasil, L. (1991). Self-efficacy expectations and causal attributions for achievement among male and female university faculty. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 41, 259–269.
- Warren, T., Fox, E., and Pascall, G (2009) Innovative Social Policies: Implications for Work–life
  Balance among Low-waged Women in England, *Gender, Work and Organisation*, 16 (1): 126-150
- Wu, H., Li, S., Zheng, J., & Guo, J. (2020). Medical students' motivation and academic performance: the mediating roles of self-efficacy and learning engagement. *Medical Education Online*, 25(1),
- Wyatt, M., Dikilitaş, K. (2016). English language teachers becoming more efficacious through research engagement at their Turkish University. *Educational Action Research*, 24, 550–570.



- Xu, L. (2017). Teacher–researcher role conflict and burnout among Chinese university teachers: *A job demand-resources model perspective*. Stud. High. Educ. 44, 903–919.
- Yu, J. H., Chae, S. J., & Chang, K. H. (2016). The relationship among self-efficacy, perfectionism and academic burnout in medical school students. *Korean journal of medical education*, 28(1), 49–55. https://doi.org/10.3946/kjme.2016.9
- Yurt, E. & Sünbül, A. M. (2012). Effect of modeling-based activities developed using virtual environments and concrete objects on spatial thinking and mental rotation skills. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 12(3), 1975 - 1992.
- Zaccoletti, S., Camacho, A., Correia, N., Aguiar, C., Mason, L., Alves, R. A., & Daniel, J. R. (2020). Parents' Perceptions of Student Academic Motivation During the COVID-19 Lockdown: A Cross-Country Comparison. Frontiers in psychology, 11, 592670.
- Zhang, L., Fu, M., Li, D.T., He, Y. (2019). Emotions and teaching styles among academics: the mediating role of research and teaching efficacy. *Educational Psychology*, 39: 370–394.
- Zhao, J., McCormick, J., Hoekman, K. (2008). Idiocentrism-allocentrism and academics 'selfefficacy for research in Beijing universities. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 22, 168–183.
- Zimmerman, B. & Schunk, D. (2012). Motivation: An essential dimension of self-regulated learning. Motivation and Self-Regulated Learning: Theory, *Research, and Applications*. 1-30. 10.4324/9780203831076.





Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209

# Research

### Addictive behaviors: An analysis of support type and relapse rates among college students

Jamie Borchardt<sup>1</sup> Danielle Casilio<sup>2</sup>

Article Type Original Research

#### Abstract:

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 168-181 <u>http://www.ijonmes.net</u> <u>dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes</u>

#### Article Info:

Received : 19.03.2021 Accepted : 04.01.2021

#### DOI:

10.51383/ijonmes.2021.59

Keywords:

Addictions can be classified as any substance, habit or behavior that one has come to depend upon. These can include a variety of habits or behaviors outside of the traditional illicit drug realm. We studied substances, behaviors and habitual addictions to determine if relapse rates are negatively correlated with positive or negative support. We used a mixed-methods design that examined undergraduate psychology students who were asked to give up an addictive substance, behavior or habit of their choice for 30 days. In addition to investigating data using qualitative measures, two independent samples t-tests found that there were significant differences between relapse rates and support levels, p=.002, and relapse rates and gender p=.011.

3 - 7 words, Palatino, 9.5 fonts, Only the first letter of the first word must be capital.

#### Citation:

Borchardt, J & Casilio, D. (2021). Addictive behaviors: An analysis of support type and relapse rates among college students. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 5(1), 168-180. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.59</u>

<sup>1</sup> Associate Professor, Tarleton State University, Psychological Sciences, Stephenville, TX, US. <u>borchardt@tarleton.edu</u> Orcid ID: 0000-0002-5556-0895

<sup>2</sup> B.S. Psychology Tarleton State University, Psychological Sciences, Stephenville, TX, US. <u>danielle@terratechnologies.co</u> Orcid ID: 0000-0002-2400-7560

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Addictive behaviors can expand beyond the traditional scope of illicit substances, and can include mental and physical characteristics. According to Maisto et al., (2015) an addiction is classified as involvement with a substance and compulsion to use it. There are a variety of substances, behaviors and habits (SBH) that can be classified as addictive. Some of these may evoke similarities in withdrawal symptoms, which may increase relapse rates. These include, but are not limited to the consumption of caffeine, food, sugar, and habitual behaviors. Although these are not considered illegal, there are commonalities associated with relapse, and the understanding of psychopharmacology associated with these areas. Relapse rates and support types were explored in an undergraduate Substance Abuse course, and were specifically utilized to demonstrate the addiction process within the realm of the course.

#### Support

Support related to any addiction is a key measure to success in any type of recovery program (Maisto et al., 2015). According to the American Addiction Center (2020), the first step in recovery is to begin speaking about the problem, seek counseling, get a sponsor, and tell someone that you are powerless over the substance. The twelve steps of Alcoholics Anonymous include letting go of the negative support, or those that are current drug or alcohol users (American Addiction Centers, 2020). The goal is to foster the development of healthy relationships with family, friends, sponsors and groups. Support is a major factor in successful cessation of the substance, behavior or habit.

Social exchange theory suggests that there are costs and rewards associated with social relationships (Cropanzano et al., 2017). There are two types of support, negative and positive. Positive support is associated with encouraging behaviors or actions. Negative support can be classified as harmful interactions or the lack of support in general; these actions can be counter to desired outcomes and behaviors. Research has shown that social support is associated with mental health, self-esteem, worth and value. The type of support, the closeness of relationship with the individual and the types of interactions within these relationships are key factors to positive or negative outcomes (Lincoln, 2000). Positive support is a type of social reward, that is often associated with healthy relationships in the exchange process. Positive support is conducive to success in a variety of programs, not just those associated with addictions.

#### Relapse

Relapse is considered a negative action that an individual takes after a period of abstinence from a given substance or behavior. Effective treatment modalities include, but are not limited to: medication, cognitive behavioral therapy and 12-step programs (Maisto et al., 2015). In almost every one of the therapies designed to treat addictions, support is an area of interest. In order to prevent relapse of controlling substances or behaviors,



individuals may engage in the termination of lifestyle habits-including friends, family, hangouts and certain behaviors that encourage relapse. For purposes of this research, relapse will be defined as engaging in the use of a substance, behavior or habit that the individual agreed to give up for a period of 30 days.

#### Substances, behaviors and habits

#### Caffeine

Caffeine addiction is very common. Regular caffeine use is reported by 80-90% of Americans, and remains as one of the most prevalent forms of addictions (Ozsungur et al., 2009). Among college students, the percentage is estimated to be even higher, as youth are often the targeted consumers of energy drinks, which have higher levels of caffeinated ingredients. However, if consumed alone, because there are little, if any, negative social stigmas regarding caffeine use, this is not typically noted as a problem behavior. In addition, the Diagnostic Statistical Manual 5th edition, does not have a classification specifically related to caffeine in terms of a mental addiction disorder, but there are items related to intoxication, anxiety, sleeping, and comorbidity in related disorders. Caffeine is a central nervous system stimulant, and is associated with alertness, energy, rapid heartrate and increased blood pressure, which can take between 30-45 minutes for these effects to be felt (Julien, Advokat, Comaty, 2011). Even though there are little to no stereotypes associated with caffeine addiction, there is extensive research regarding the withdrawal effects that occur with caffeine users. Caffeine tends to generate compulsions related to social desires in addition to addictive properties. Many people who consume caffeine do so in a social setting including: morning coffee, meals, breakroom conversations and study groups. Withdrawal from caffeine can be seen within one to two days after cessation, and can include feelings of agitation, lethargy and headaches (Julien, Advokat, Comaty, 2011). According to Spencer (2002), there are similarities between caffeine withdrawal and physical complaints related to migraine headaches; interestingly if caffeine is given, symptoms disappear. These withdrawal symptoms are usually only present with regular users who go cold turkey (Satel, 2006).

#### Food and sugar

There is a substantial amount of research regarding the effects that food has on the brain, and the psychological reactions that can be similar to drug addictions (Pedram et al., 2013). Food in general is very powerful and can illicit physiological responses, which can be associated with emotional, social and environmental stimuli. Specifically, addictions related to food that are rich in sugar, can create similar neural mechanisms in the brain, when compared to illicit drug use. According to Fortuna (2010) the consumption of simple sugars can increase serotonin levels in the brain. Likewise, with some illicit substances, there is an increase in dopamine turnover (Fortuna, 2010). Natural pleasure neurotransmitters like serotonin and dopamine help regulate mood, and when sugar is ingested, both humans and



animals crave more. In 2007, a medication called Rimonabant was prescribed to patients who were obese, it was taken off of the market shortly after its debut, because patients were at risk for clinical depression, suicidal ideation and some committed suicide. The drug blocked the individuals desire towards food, by removing the pleasurable sensations associated with eating, and although beneficial for weight loss, it was not beneficial for overall wellbeing (Stapleton, 2009). This goes to show, that the natural pleasure associated with foods are there for a reason, and of course has roots associated with human survival. However, there is a difference between foods that are considered life sustaining and foods that are considered hyperpalatable foods (Avena & Gold, 2011). Hyperpalatable foods are considered to be associated with ingredients that are favorable, such as sugar, fat and foods that are high in sodium. There is also a link between adult children of alcoholics and sugar cravings. According to Fortuna (2010) "individuals with a parental history of alcoholism were three times more likely to prefer stronger sweet solutions" (p. 149). Food can also provide comfort during high stress situations, and there is an overlap between the association of comfort needs met in relation to food and illicit substances.

#### Habitual behaviors

Habits are considered as repetitive behaviors that are often completed without having to think about the task (Kruglanski & Szumowska, 2020). There are all kinds of habitual behaviors that can be difficult to stop. Online shopping, cursing, skipping class, snoozing one's alarm, internet and social media scrolling can be considered habitual behaviors.

The use of social media and the internet has dramatically increased, and with this emerges a new diagnosis of "internet addictions" (Li et al., 2015). Advancements in technology have created drastic changes within our global society related to addictive social media behaviors. Mahamid and Berte (2018) found that 47% of university students reported addictive behaviors associated with social media usage. During 2019-2020, it was reported that the average person spent approximately 145 minutes per day using social media (Statista, 2021). This number has increased by an additional 55 minutes from the year 2012 (Statista, 2021). Li et al., (2015) found that excessive use of social media has addictive tendencies. Social media addiction has been found to be directly related to emotional exhaustion, stress and problems related to time management. Social media addiction is one that consumes time, energy and conveys quite a bit of negative compulsions (Sriwalai & Charoensukmongkol, 2016). In addition, there are new findings related to social media addictions and a loss of time (Turel & Vavagnaro, 2019). Primarily, users have low awareness that they have indeed been using social media as much as they have. There has been a lot of media discussion regarding the similarities of social media addiction and illicit drug use, but to our knowledge no comparison studies have been conducted. Rehab Center (2019) states that there are some major similarities in social media addiction and illicit drugs including: "social isolation, preoccupation with the next "fix", increasing use, filling time with the addiction instead of hobbies or work, and hiding use" (para. 1).



While there is significant research regarding illicit drugs and habitual use of non-illicit substances such as sugar, caffeine, and social media, there is little research available that addresses these with relapse and support. This study was related to an undergraduate Substance Abuse course, and this project was developed to assist with the transformational learning experience, which allows the student to understand the material in a deeper way. According to Schnepfleitner and Ferreira (2021), some of the key benefits are reflection and individual experience related to the information they learn within the course. The results of this study may be used for the comparison of habitual addictions in future studies. We hypothesized that SBH addictions would result in similar relapse rates, as other drug related substances. This is in response to previous research that indicates that non-illicit addictions show similar addictive brain activity as illicit drug addictions (Kuss & Griffiths, 2017; Ridder et al., 2016). In addition, we hypothesized that support levels would be negatively correlated with relapse rates. Previous research has found that social support directly correlates with relapse rates in illicit drug use (Walter et al., 2006; Snow & Anderson, 2000).

#### **METHOD**

#### **Research participants**

Participants were 24 undergraduate students at a rural state university, who took an upper level advanced Psychology course. There were 8 males and 16 females that completed the assignment requirements. These students participated in this assignment as a part of their course credit, although they could choose whether or not their data were included in the results.

#### **Materials**

The materials consisted of electronic or hard copy journals and discussion board postings that were to be completed during the course. Specifically, students were required to complete a journal to document the experience of giving up a substance, habit or behavior over 30 days. Journaling allowed us to assess qualitative descriptive aspects over the 30-day cessation period.

#### Procedure

The students were not recruited for this study; they were enrolled in an upper level special topics Substance Abuse course. This class was an upper level elective option for students in a Psychology program. Students that completed the assignment for the class were notified that we would report items in a deidentified format, and that if at any point they wanted to withdraw their work from the study, there would be no penalty related to their grade on the assignment. To analyze the data, we read the journal entries and discussion posts, and then coded the reported symptoms and behaviors to assess patterns.

For the assignment, students were prompted to give up something that would be very difficult for them to refrain from, for a period of 30 days. The most common choices were caffeine and food related items. Each student was required to complete a minimum of 10 journal entries discussing their struggles associated with giving up their substance, behavior or habit. The journaling portion was a free writing format, and the discussion


board was a guided process (See Appendix). After the journal entries were submitted, they were coded across multiple categories including gender, withdrawal behaviors, number of relapses, substance given up, and positive or negative support. Students in this course were concurrently learning about drug addictions and the process, so this served a dual purpose associated with transformational learning.

#### **Research Ethical Permissions**

In this study, all rules were followed within the scope of the "Higher Education Institutions Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Directive". No actions or directives stated under the second portion, titled "Actions Against Scientific Research and Publication Ethics" were taken.

This study was approved by the Tarleton State University Institutional Review board, under review number: 2017-042617-17077.

#### **RESULTS**

#### Quantitative results

The common themes of relapse rates and support levels were analyzed to determine if there were differences present. Relapse rates for each level of support were normally distributed as assessed by Levene's test (Levene, 1960) for equality of variances (p=.400). An independent samples t-test was conducted to determine if there were differences in relapse rates associated with positive (M=.73, SD=1.10) and negative (M=2.77, SD=1.58) support levels. There was a significant difference in relapse rates and support; t(22) =3.587, p= 0.002 (See Figure 1).





Figure 1: The mean difference between negative and positive support and average relapse rates.

We also compared the differences between males and females and the number of relapses. An independent samples t-test was conducted to determine if there were differences in relapse rates associated with males and females. It was determined that males N=8 (M=.63, SD=.744) had lower relapse rates than females (N=16), (M=2.44, SD=1.75). There was a significant difference in the number of relapses and gender; t(22)=-2.782, p=.011.

In addition, we reported information related to the difficulty of the item given up, plans to go back to the substance, behavior or habit, the amount of times that they relapsed and support networks as determined by the guided discussion board posting (See figure 2).





Guided discussion board prompt

Figure 2: Gender differences related to the guided discussion board prompts. Note: SBH is substance, behavior or habit. These are the differences reported from male and female participants that came directly from the discussion board posting responses.

Qualitative results

When participants were asked to give up a substance, behavior or habit of their choice for the 30-day period, participants expressed their struggles, frustrations, and moments of satisfaction in a free-stream writing format.

A common topic of participant discussion was regarding the number of times they relapsed during the 30-day period. Those who had few relapses reported that they were extremely proud, and noted how positive their overall experience was. For example, some participants who gave up caffeine or junk food noted that they had saved money, felt better, lost weight and had higher energy levels after a two-week period. In contrast, some participants who had reported relapses over the 30-day period interpreted them as learning experiences. For example, some participants reported that they were able to see how difficult it was to give up something that they love or enjoy. They stated that it made the information in the class more relatable. In the beginning of the process, many students expressed their belief that the assignment would not be a challenge for them, but as time progressed addictive tendencies were reveled upon the cessation of the behaviors, habits or substances. In fact, 22 participants ended up reporting that this assignment was very challenging. Participants with three or more relapses seemed to give up on the challenge, and had often noted that they were unable to continue without the substance, habit or behavior that they had given up.

Another common theme discussed by participants, was support. Two clear groups appeared from the data; those who experienced positive support, and those who experienced negative support. Positive support is defined for this study, as a support system who expresses encouraging phrases such as, but not limited to: "you can do it," "I will do it with you" or "keep going, you are doing great". These support systems also include family and friends who act in ways that encourage the participant to complete their goal, using affirmative and up-lifting communication. Negative support is defined for this study, as a support system that expresses no form of support, or directs phrases such as "why are you trying to do that," "you can just

do it this one time, it won't hurt you" or "you'll never be able to do that". Negative support



includes friends and family members who act in non-supportive ways towards the participant. We saw a significant difference regarding negative and positive support levels. Those who received negative or no support were almost twice as likely to relapse, then those who received positive support.

Quite a few of our participants gave up caffeinated beverages. Many of the participants referred to headaches, mood swings, and low energy during the first few weeks. One individual stated that at the two-week mark, she was still experiencing these symptoms. She relapsed on day 16, and reported that she felt awful and very strange the rest of the day. One individual reported that he had replaced sodas with water, and that he was feeling very tired of the bland and boring taste of water on a regular basis. Another participant stated on day 19, that he went to a restaurant and someone beside him ordered a soda, and all he could do was concentrate on the bubbles and fizzle of the soda beside him. Another participant stated that she had convinced herself that there was something wrong with the water in this town due to the taste.

The vast majority of our participants gave up something related to a food item. Some of the statements made by our participants included things like: I always eat this food item during football games, I am very nervous about this upcoming game. I hate it when my coworkers are eating fast food during lunch. One participant noted that she did not want to go out to eat with friends, as it was so disturbing watching them enjoy their food and drinks. Most of our relapses occurred with food related items.

For the individuals who gave up internet or social media, we saw replacement behaviors. For example, one individual believed that she could simply occupy her time with online videos, and gave herself permission to do so because it was not really considered social media. Behaviors such as sending more text messages to fill the void of notification and checking, scrolling through phone pictures to get the feeling of swiping were reported. There were feelings of frustration and disappointment that included disconnect with others and feeling lost. Positive behaviors related to giving up social media included, sleeping better, less stress and feeling more connected to individuals who were in front of them.

#### DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to further understand the role of positive and negative support and relapse rates in individuals dealing with SBH addictions. Using the selfevaluated discussion board postings together with the ten journal entries, we coded the findings to analyze withdrawal symptoms and relapse rates. Using previous research regarding the addictive properties and symptoms of illicit drug use, a comparison of behaviors showed similarities of SBH addictions and illicit drug addictions.

Eleven participants reported receiving positive support in the journal entries, and had significantly lower relapse rates than the thirteen individuals who reported negative support. In addition, we compared the differences between male and female relapses. Males reported a significantly lower number of relapses than women. Females were 1.81 times more likely to relapse than males in our study. Walton, Low and Booth (2001) reported that males typically report higher support levels while in treatment facilities than do their female counterparts. This is an interesting finding, because males have also reported lower coping skills, and higher exposure to substances than women in substance abuse treatment facilities. It is possible that "women are more likely to use substances alone or with intimate



partners" (Walton, Low & Booth, 2001, p. 236). This is consistent with our study, for example, a female reported that her significant other bought her candy, even when he knew she was giving up sugar.

It is interesting to note that the addictive properties of that particular SBH and their individual support system may be directly linked to social rewards. Caffeine and food for example, provide social opportunities for the individual; therefore, our participants may have found it difficult to abstain from these areas, and maintain their social network. Although we did not ask this directly, individuals may be more likely to relapse with caffeine because of the social aspect related to drinking coffee or grabbing a soda. Often times, the consumption of caffeine is a social networking opportunity (Sriwalai & Charoensukmongkol, 2016). In our population, those that received negative social support related to caffeine might have had higher relapse rates in order to maintain that social desire related to belonging, although more research is needed to confirm this hypothesis. Coffee groups in particular have been studied, and it has been found that these groups can provide a feeling of social connectedness. Being part of this group is good for a variety of behaviors related to social and emotional well-being (Broughton, Payne & Liechty, 2017).

Food is another social activity. Almost everything we do socially, revolves around the consumption of food. Therefore, it seems to be another area related to social support. If a person attempts to give up a particular type of food, being in a situation where that food is available or offered on a regular basis, has the potential to set the person up for failure. This is similar to what individuals face when giving up alcohol, tobacco or drugs. In addition, these items go back to the research conducted on food and pleasurable sensations.

Social media addiction has quite a bit of similarities to illicit drug use, but there really isn't the same type of social aspect related to using social media compared to the food and drinks above. Individuals often do this in the comfort of their own home in isolation, therefore more research is needed in this area.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Overall, this study was beneficial in addressing some similarities between giving up substances, behaviors and habits. Some of the struggles that individuals faced during this 30-day cessation were similar to what we might see with people giving up other illicit substances. This study could provide some insight as to how social support is necessary for not only the cessation of illicit substances, but all substances, habits and behaviors. Individuals who had positive social support were less likely to relapse. In addition, differences in relapse rates between males and females should be considered when treating addictions as a whole.

This assignment was able to help students engage in the transformational learning process, where they were able to directly relate the information in the textbook to the activities in their daily life. This is one of the best types of learning, as it not only engages the learner, but it provides a hands-on experience that fosters encoding in long term memory.

Future studies should look at gathering more individuals from a variety of age groups, as this population was very small. In addition, it would be beneficial to ask specific questions regarding the way that the participants were feeling on a regular basis. It would be valuable to have individuals journal on a daily basis, and have specified prompts about



relapse, support, behaviors and feelings. Even though our participants reported ten times, it would have been beneficial to see the gradual changes taking place more often.

In addition, instead of allowing participants to choose any substance, habit or behavior, a future study should look at one area more in depth to search for patterns. Social media and internet addiction would be an area of interest to investigate further, as this appears to be an ongoing issue with the amount of screen time increasing on a yearly basis.

The takeaway is that support networks are very valuable in any cessation program, no matter what the substance, behavior or habit is associated with. This research has contributed to the body of literature related to addictions, and can be further used to encourage positive support in any form of addictive behavior and cessation programs.

#### Declarations of interest: No conflict of interest associated with either author

All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000 (5). A waiver of informed consent was requested from all participants included in the study. Participants had the right to remove their data from the research report, and all information was deindividualized.

#### REFERENCES

- American Addiction Centers (2020). A resource for Alcohol and Alcoholism Treatment. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.alcohol.org/</u>
- Avena, N.M. & Gold, M.S. (2011). Food and Addiction-Sugars, fats and hedonic overeating. *Addiction*, 106(7), 1214-1215. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03373.x
- Broughton, K. A., Payne, L., & Liechty, T. (2017). An exploration of older men's social lives and well-being in the context of a coffee group. *Leisure Sciences*, *39*(3), 261-276. doi:10.1080/01490400.2016.1178200
- Cropanzano, R., Anthony, E., Daniels, S. & Hall, A. (2017) Social exchange theory: A critical review with theoretical remedies. *Academy of Management Annals*, *11*(10, 1-38. doi: <u>http://doi.org/105465/annals.2015.0099</u>.
- Fortuna, J. L. (2010). Sweet preference, sugar addiction and the familial history of alcohol dependence: Shared neural pathways and genes. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 42(2), 147-151. doi:10.1080/02791072.2010.1040068
- Julien, R., Advokat, C. & Comaty, J. (2011). *A primer of drug action: A comprehensive guide to the actions, uses and side effects of psychoactive drugs.* (12th ed.). Worth Publishers.
- Kruglanski, A. W., & Szumowska, E. (2020). Habitual behavior is goal-driven. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 15(5), 1256–1271. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620917676
- Kuss, D. J. & Griffiths, M. D. (2017). Social networking sites and Addiction: Ten Lessons Learned. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 14, 1-17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030311



- Li, W., O'Brien, J.E., Snyder, S. M. & Howard, M.O. (2015). Characteristics of internet addiction/pathological internet use in U.S. university students: A qualitativemethod investigation. PLoS ONE 10(2). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0117372
- Lincoln, K. (2000). Social support, negative social interactions and psychological wellbeing. The Social Service Review 74(2), 231-252. doi: 10.1086/514478
- Mahamid, F. A., & Berte, D. Z. (2018). Social media addiction in geopolitically at-risk youth. International Journal Of Mental Health And Addiction, doi:10.1007/s11469-017-9870-8
- Maisto, S., Galizio, M. & Connors, G. (2015). Drug Use and Abuse (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Ozsungur, S., Brenner, D. & El-Sohemy, A. (2009). Fourteen well-described caffeine withdrawal symptoms factor into three clusters. Psychopharmacology, 201, 541-548. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1329-y
- Pedram, P., Wadden, D., Amini, P., Gulliver, W., Randell, E., et al. (2013). Food addiction: Its prevalence and significant association with obesity in the general population. PLoS ONE 8(9): doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074832
- Rehab Center (2019). "The relationship between substance abuse and social media addiction". Retrieved from: https://www.rehabcenter.net/the-relationship-betweensubstance-abuse-and-social-media-addiction/
- Ridder, D., Manning, P., Leong, S. L., Ross, S., Sutherland, W., Horwath, C. & Vanneste, S. (2016). The brain, obesity and addiction: An EEG neuroimaging study. Scientific Reports, 6, 1-13. doi: 10.1038/srep34122
- Satel, S. (2006). Is Caffeine Addictive?--A Review of the Literature. The American Journal of Drug And Alcohol Abuse, 32(4), 493-502. doi:10.1080/00952990600918965
- Schnepfleitner, F. and Ferreira, M. (2021). Transformative learning theory-is it time to add a fourth core element. Journal of Educational Studies and Multidisciplinary Appraches, 1(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.51383/jesma.2021.9
- Snow, D. & Anderson, C. (2000). Exploring the factors influencing relapse and recovery among drug & alcohol addicted women. Journal of Psychological Nursing & Mental Health Services, 38(7), 8-19. PMID: 10911586.
- Sriwilai, K., & Charoensukmongkol, P. (2016). Face it, don't Facebook it: Impacts of social media addiction on mindfulness, coping strategies and the consequence on emotional exhaustion. Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 32(4), 427-434. doi:10.1002/smi.2637

Stapleton, J.A. (2009). [Commentary] Trial comes too late as psychiatric side effects end



hope for Rimonabant. *Addiction*. 10(2), 277-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02487.x</u>

Statista (2021). Retrieved from: https://www.statista.com/

- Turel, O., & R. Cavagnaro, D. (2019). Effect of Abstinence from Social Media on Time Perception: Differences between Low- and At-Risk for Social Media "Addiction" Groups. Psychiatric Quarterly, 90(1), 217–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-018-9614-3</u>
- Walter, M., Gerhard, U., Duersteler-Macfarland, K. M., Weijers, H. G., Boening, J. & Wiesbeck, G. A. (2006). Social factors but not stress-coping styles predict relapse in detoxified alcoholics. *Neuropsychobiology*, 54, 100-106. doi: 10.1159/000096991
- Walton, M. A., Blow, F. C., & Booth, B. M. (2001). Diversity in relapse prevention needs: Gender and race comparisons among substance abuse. *American Journal of Drug & Alcohol Abuse*, 27(2), 225. doi: 10.1081/ada-100103707.

#### Appendix

**Discussion Board Prompt** 

I'm giving this up for 30 Days!

Your assignment is to give up something that would be relatively difficult to give up. Choose something that takes some effort to work with (e.g. don't give up going to eat at Panda Express if you only go every 45 days, as this will not benefit you at all, give up something that will be hard and hopefully beneficial). The purpose of this assignment is to allow you to experience some of the issues that one might face in the realm of addiction. This is by no means a way to accurately show you what giving up an illicit substance is actually like (as it may be much more difficult to give up an illicit drug than to give up social media for example). One reason in particular is the fact that withdrawal from an illicit drug is associated with physical withdrawals and often times has a deep-rooted psychological issue.

You will need to tell me what you are giving up and why. I would like this section to be at least one paragraph in length. Address questions such as: What are you giving up? Why would you benefit in giving this up? What potential issues might you face in giving this up? What benefits could come of this? What has it been like for you thus far? Have you relapsed? When do you think about this item the most? Have your friends or family members been supportive? These questions will need in depth discussion related to each entry.

You will need to journal at least 10 times during the course of the 30 days. The entries will be added to this discussion board as an attachment. (Please note, if you are sensitive about your journal entries, come see me, and you can turn this portion in to me alone). For this section of the discussion post, simply tell us about a few of your journal entries within the discussion board posting.



Finish up the discussion board posting with a paragraph explaining your overall thoughts about the project. Was it difficult? What were your expectations going into this compared to the outcome? What are your thoughts if you did indeed relapse? How did you keep yourself on track? Finally, you will need to relate your experience to the substance abuse realm in some form or fashion. You will need to use your textbook as a reference. Please use in text and at the end of the paragraph citations for this section.



| Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209 |

Research

## Investigation of Prospective Preschool Teachers' Digital Literacy and Teacher Readiness Levels

#### Sema Öngören<sup>1</sup>

The aim of this study is to examine the relationship between prospective preschool teachers'

Article Type Original Research

International Journal of Modern Education Studies **Abstract:** 

June, 2021 Volume 5, No 1 Pages: 181-204 http://www.ijonmes.net dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

#### Article Info:

Received 26.03.2021 Accepted 29.04.2021

**DOI:** 10.51292 /iio.mmos.202

10.51383/ijonmes.2021.90

digital literacy and teaching readiness levels. The research was conducted with the correlational survey model, one of the quantitative research methods. The sample of the study consisted of 349 prospective preschool teachers studying in third and fourth year in four state universities in Turkey during the academic year 2020-2021. Data on digital literacy levels of prospective preschool teachers were collected with the "Digital Literacy Scale", and data on their readiness to teach were collected with the "Teaching Readiness Scale". The data were analyzed with the SPSS 22 software program. As a result of the analysis of the data, it was determined that prospective preschool teachers' digital literacy and teaching readiness levels were high, and that their levels of digital literacy and teaching readiness did not differ according to gender or grade level variables. It was revealed that there was a moderate, positive relationship between the digital literacy and teaching readiness levels of prospective teachers.

Keywords: Preschool, prospective teachers, digital literacy, teaching readiness

#### Citation:

Öngören, S. (2021). Investigation of prospective preschool teachers' digital literacy and teacher readiness levels. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 5(1), 181-204. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.51383/ijonmes.2021.90</u>

<sup>1</sup> Dr, Nevşehir Hacı Bektaş Veli University, Faculty of Education, Nevşehir, Turkey. <u>ongorensema@gmail.com</u>

Drcid ID: 0000-0002-6034-1400

## **INTRODUCTION**

In the current century, there has been a rapid growth and change in information and communication technologies. In 21st century societies, individuals are expected to have the skills to communicate successfully, to use information to solve complex problems, to adapt to new demands and changing conditions, to innovate, to generate new knowledge, and to use the power of technology to increase human capacity and productivity (Binkley et al., 2012). In the digital world, where technology shapes the lives of individuals, having the skills to use technology is seen as a necessity as much as literacy. Digital literacy, which is also considered as the ability to use technology in the digital age we are in, is defined as the ability to survive (Eshet, 2004), and adapt to changes and development. Gilster (1997) defined digital literacy as understanding information and presenting digital information obtained from multiple sources in different forms through information technologies. Jones and Hafner (2012) evaluated digital literacy as a competence in the use of digital tools. Digital literacy is developmental; in other words, it is built gradually on basic and acquired skills and knowledge. In this sense, the digital literacy skill of individuals is measured by their capacity to adapt mentally, socially-emotionally and technically to changes in technology. The more digitally literate an individual is, the easier it will be to adapt to new developments (Ng, 2012). In this direction, digital literacy is related to the skills of accessing and using digital information correctly.

The concept of digital literacy has begun to be widely used in many fields, including education today (Bawden, 2001; Chase & Laufenberg, 2011). The evolving potential of information, education and communication technologies and digital tools require digital literacy to take place in all learning areas, both formal and informal (Meyers, Erickson & Small, 2013). The inclusion of educational technologies in the learning process has profoundly affected pedagogical approaches to the nature of learning and teaching. Pedagogical knowledge is information about teaching and learning processes and practices that cover the aims, objectives, values and strategies of education. Pedagogical knowledge enables teachers to understand how students construct knowledge and acquire different skills (Loughran, Berry & Mulhall, 2012). Teachers' connection between content, pedagogy and technology for effective teaching and their effective use are also considered as technopedegogical competence (Koehler, Mishra, Kereluik, Shin & Graham, 2014). Studies have shown that information and communication technologies should be widely used in higher education (Bullen, Morgan & Qayyum, 2011), and that efforts to increase digital competence in teacher training programs and to use information and communication technologies in the classroom have a positive effect on teacher competencies (Røkenes & Krumsvik, 2014). This situation reveals the necessity of training digitally literate teachers who have the skills to use technology in learning-teaching processes.

The most important task of teacher training institutions is to prepare prospective teachers for professional life. In many countries, teacher training programs are based on the



national curriculum, and various contents such as digital competence or technological pedagogical content knowledge are not sufficiently included (Lund, Furberg, Bakken & Engelien, 2014). Studies reveal the importance of using technology for the development of digital competences in teacher education programs (Gudmundsdottir & Hatlevik, 2018; Instefjord & Munthe, 2017; Maderick, Zhang, Hartley & Marchand, 2016; Tondeur et al., 2012). Therefore, it should be ensured that teacher training programs include using digital tools and resources for teaching purposes and guiding children in using digital tools (Harris, Mishra & Koehler, 2009; Koehler, Mishra, Akcaoglu & Rosenberg, 2013). In order for prospective teachers to be prepared for professional life in the digital world, it is expected that digital competencies will be included in teacher training programs more, and that different applied contents for the development of digital competencies of prospective teachers will be included in the program.

Prospective teachers are expected to feel professionally ready and competent to use technology resources as meaningful pedagogical tools and to create positive learning and teaching opportunities (Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010). Self-evaluations and selfefficacy perceptions are necessary for organizing one's abilities and managing possible situations, and these affect the choices and actions of individuals (Bandura, 1986). Teachers' perception of professional competence also determines their goals, behavior in the classroom and the effort they make to teach (Lauermann & König, 2016; Murkatik, Harapan & Wardiah, 2020). In other words, professional preparation and competence affect academic performance. Research findings reveal that the professional competence level of prospective teachers affects the teaching process when they become teachers (Hatlevik, 2017) and teachers' pedagogical knowledge, teaching motivation and self-regulation skills have positive effects on teaching quality (Kunter et al., 2013; McLoughlin & Lee, 2010). Classroom, school management and school characteristics and teaching resources may also affect teachers' self-preparedness and competence perception (Fackler, Malmberg & Sammons, 2021; Uslu & Çeliköz, 2020). Prospective teachers gain experience and become ready to teach by improving teaching competencies through hands-on teaching opportunities and teachers' observation (Brown, Lee & Collins, 2015). Studies show that being ready for teaching is related to having teaching competencies (Balcı, Şanal & Üğüten, 2019; Caires, Almeida & Vieira, 2012; Leung, Wong & Wong, 2013; Pendergast, Garvis & Keogh, 2011). The fact that teachers' sense of professional readiness and professional competence affect the teaching and learning process raises the issue of what qualifications prospective teachers should have in teacher training programs and how they will be supported in this process.

Teacher training programs should have certain standards in order to train teachers with the desired qualifications. Each country determines these standards in line with teacher competencies studies, and these qualifications have the feature of being a reference in the regulation of education programs in higher education institutions, in the process of teachers' admission to and candidacy for the profession, as well as in teachers' professional development studies (GDTTD, 2017). In today's world, where digitalization is inevitable in



teacher education, there is a need to implement different practices in the teaching-learning process in order to improve the ability to use information and communication technologies, which are among the teacher competencies, and to make prospective teachers digitally literate (Gruszczynska, Merchant & Pountney, 2013). In order to understand the innovations and changes in education and technology and to reflect them in the classroom environment, digital literacy is expected to be added to the professional competencies of prospective teachers by performing a digital innovation in teacher training programs. Thus, educational models that are open to pedagogical innovations, using flexible, creative digital technologies can be created and applications that will make the teaching learning process more meaningful can be implemented (Hepp, Fernández & García, 2015; Ligocki & Sturgis, 2021). Research results show the importance of digital literacy skills in teacher education (Gruszczynska & Pountney, 2013), the necessity to support teacher education in terms of technology use and digital literacy in teaching (Burnett, 2011), and the requirement for digital competence among prospective teachers to maintain their instructional self-efficacy in technology-rich classrooms (Elstad & Christophersen, 2017). It is seen that new generation teachers need to have enough equipment to feel ready for the profession and to complete their learning processes in such a way that they possess the competencies that include digital literacy.

As a result of the reflection of the great change in technology in the 21st century, the qualifications that prospective teachers should possess also differed and it became necessary for teachers to possess digital literacy, also known as the ability to use technology, for their professional readiness. In teacher training programs, there is a need for good quality studies to be made in this field in order to ensure the professional readiness of teachers by supporting teacher competencies in the dimensions of knowledge, understanding, skill and ability with technology and new approaches. In the light of the studies in the literature, this study aims to determine the extent to which prospective teachers consider themselves competent to have digital literacy skills and feel ready for the teaching profession. Digital literacy skills can contribute to prospective teachers' creating an online learning environment, feeling more competent, using appropriate teaching-learning methods, and increasing interaction among students. Considering that prospective teachers frequently use technology in daily life, it is thought that knowing how to use digital skills in developing professional teaching competencies will contribute to the improvement of the quality of teacher education, and the graduation of prospective teachers who are more professionally equipped and ready for teaching.

In the aim of this study is to examine the relationship between prospective preschool teachers' digital literacy and teaching readiness levels. Accordingly, answers to the following questions were sought in the study:

1: What are prospective teachers' digital literacy and teaching readiness levels?



2: Do digital literacy and teaching readiness differ significantly according to gender and grade level variables?

3: Is there a significant relationship between digital literacy and teaching readiness?

4: Is digital literacy a predictor of teaching readiness?

#### METHOD

#### **Research Model**

This study, which examines the digital literacy and teaching readiness levels of prospective preschool teachers, was carried out using the quantitative research method. Quantitative research is a research method that focuses on qualities such as beliefs, opinions, attitudes, motivation and behavior and requires collecting numerical data to explain a phenomenon (Muijs, 2010). The correlational survey model, one of the quantitative research designs, was used in the study. Correlational research is used to test the existence of relationships between variables (Fraenkel, Wallen & Hyun, 2012). In the study, an attempt was made to determine whether the dependent variables differed significantly according to the independent variables, the relationship between digital literacy and teaching readiness levels, and whether digital literacy predicted teaching readiness.

#### **Research Sample**

The sample of the study consisted of 349 prospective preschool teachers studying in the third and fourth year at four state universities in Turkey during the academic year 2020-2021. While determining the sample of the study, the criterion sampling method was preferred among the purposeful sampling methods. Criterion sampling helps to provide indepth and rich data for a specific purpose (Teddlie & Tashakkori, 2015). The criteria determined at this stage were that the participants should be educated in the third and fourth grade and have taken the information technologies and instructional technologies courses for their suitability for the teaching profession. Demographic information regarding the research sample is given in Table 1 below.

#### Table 1

Variable	Group	f	%
Gender	Female	290	83.1
	Male	59	16.9
Grade	3rd grade	162	46.4
level	4th grade	187	53.6

Demographic Information Regarding the Research Sample



When Table 1 is examined, it is seen that 290 (83.1%) female and 59 (16.9%) male prospective teachers were included in the study. Of the prospective teachers, 162 (46.4%) students were in the 3rd grade and 187 (53.6%) students were in the 4th grade.

#### Data Collection Tools and Data Collection

The research data were collected by using the 'Digital Literacy Scale' and 'Teaching Readiness Scale'. The independent variables of the research were determined as gender and grade level of education; the dependent variables were determined as digital literacy and teaching readiness.

Digital Literacy Scale (DLS): Developed by Ng (2012), the Digital Literacy Scale, which consists of 17 items and 4 sub-dimensions (attitude, technical, cognitive and social), was adapted into Turkish by Hamutoğlu, Güngören, Uyanık and Erdoğan (2017) and validity and reliability studies were made. A 5-point Likert type rating is used as "strongly agree" (5), and "strongly disagree" (1) on the scale, in which there are no reverse-scored items.

The internal consistency coefficient of the scale (Cronbach alpha) was calculated as .93 for the whole scale, .88 for the attitude sub-dimension, .89 for the technical sub-dimension, .70 for the cognitive sub-dimension and .72 for the social sub-dimension. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was found to be .89 for the reliability of the whole scale, .83 for the attitude sub-dimension, .81 for the technical sub-dimension, .59 for the cognitive sub-dimension and .65 for the social sub-dimension. These values can be interpreted as that the scale gives reliable results for the data obtained from the sample group. The KMO sample fit coefficient for the construct validity of the scale was determined to be .90, and the Bartlett sphericity test value was 2993.427 (p < .001). With factor analysis, it was determined that the scale has a four-factor structure, explaining 59.50% of the total variance, and that the factor loadings vary between .38 and .81.

Teaching Readiness Scale: The Teaching Readiness Scale, adapted to Turkish by Yıldırım and Kalman (2017), is a 5-point Likert-type scale consisting of 20 questions and 4 sub-dimensions: "creating an effective learning environment", "designing the teaching process", "technopedagogical competence" and "understanding the learner". The scale, which does not contain any items that need to be coded in reverse, ranges from 1 = very insufficient to 5 = very sufficient, and at least one and at most five points can be obtained from each item.

Yıldırım and Kalman (2017) determined the value of the Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient as .92 for the whole scale, and .82 for the creating an effective learning environment dimension, .80 for the designing of the teaching process dimension, .83 for the technopedagogical competence dimension, and .73 for the understanding the learner dimension that constitute the scale. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was found



to be .94 for the reliability of the whole scale, .86 for the creating an effective learning environment dimension, .89 for the dimension of designing the teaching process, .74 for the technopedagogical competence dimension and .81 for the understanding the learner dimension. These values can be interpreted as that the scale gives reliable results for the data obtained from the sample group. The KMO sample fit coefficient for the construct validity of the scale was determined as .94, and the Bartlett Sphericity test value was 4309.843 (p <.001). With factor analysis, it was determined that the scale has a four-factor structure, explaining 61.38% of the total variance, and that the factor loadings vary between .47 and .76.

The implementation of this research was carried out online in the 2020-2021 academic year with the voluntary participation of prospective preschool teachers. The necessary explanations were given to the participants about the questionnaire and the participants were informed about the confidentiality of personal information. No personal information about the prospective teachers was collected, and the data collected from the scales were used only for research purposes.

#### Data Analysis

In the analysis of the data, firstly, the missing data in the data set were examined and the questionnaire forms belonging to persons who completed them without due care were removed from the data set. In the analysis of the data, 349 questionnaire forms were evaluated. The data obtained within the scope of the research were analyzed using the IBM SPSS 22 software program. In order to examine the normal distribution of the data in the study, kurtosis and skewness values were examined and it was determined that the data were distributed normally. In the interpretation of the data, the significance level was accepted as .05 (Creswell, 2012). In the analysis process, independent samples t-test was used when the normality assumption was met for the data; the relationship between the two dependent variables of the study was calculated using the Pearson correlation coefficient, one of the correlation techniques. Multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to find out whether digital literacy predicted teaching readiness.

#### **Research Ethical Permissions**

In this study, all rules stated to be followed within the scope of "Higher Education Institutions Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Directive" were followed. None of the actions stated under the title "Actions Against Scientific Research and Publication Ethics", which is the second part of the directive, were not taken.

Ethical review board name: Nevşehir Hacı Bektaş Veli University Ethics Committee

Date of ethics review decision: 03.02.2021

Ethics assessment document issue number: 36



## RESULTS

In this section, the findings obtained as a result of the analysis of the research data are included. Descriptive statistics on digital literacy levels of prospective teachers are given in Table 2.

## Table 2

Descriptive Statistics on Prospective Teachers' Digital Literacy Levels and Sub-Dimensions

	Variables	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$		e d	ed Mod		V	SE	De	SE
	variables	IN	A Su Meu Mou		Mod	ку	(Ky)	DS	(Bs)	
acy	Digital Literacy	349	3.65	.60	3.70	3.59	1.385	.260	710	.131
iter	Attitude	349	3.67	.71	3.71	3.71	.1.246	.260	847	.131
tal L	Technical	349	3.70	.65	3.83	3.67	.806	.260	275	.131
jigi	Cognitive	349	3.71	.84	4	4	1.074	.260	877	.131
	Social	349	3.32	.85	3.50	4	083	.260	273	.131

When Table 2 is examined, it is seen that the mean digital literacy score of the participants is  $\overline{X}$ =3.65. Accordingly, it can be said that the digital literacy levels of prospective teachers were high. When the means of the digital literacy scale sub-dimensions are examined, it is seen that attitude is  $\overline{X}$ =3.67, technical is  $\overline{X}$ =3.40, cognitive is  $\overline{X}$ =3.71 and social is  $\overline{X}$ =3.32. It can be said that the digital literacy levels of the participants were also high in the sub-dimensions. Descriptive statistics on prospective teachers' readiness for teaching are given in Table 3.

## Table 3

Descriptive Statistics on Prospective Teachers' Levels of Teacher Readiness and Sub-Dimensions

	Variables	NI	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	ad	Mad	Mad Mad		SE	Po	SE
	variables	IN	А	sa	Med	Mod	ку	(Ky)	DS	(Bs)
	Teaching Readiness	349	3.68	.61	3.82	4	1.261	.260	889	.131
less	Understanding the Learner	349	3.64	.75	3.89	4	1.329	.260	929	.131
ning Readir	Creating an Effective Learning Environment	349	3.64	.69	3.83	4	1.292	.260	905	.131
Teacł	Designing the Teaching Process	349	3.76	.67	4	4	1.292	.260	871	.131
	Technopedagogical Competence	349	3.65	.67	3.80	4	1.039	.260	795	.131



When Table 3 is examined, it is seen that the participants' mean scores for readiness for teaching are  $\overline{X}$ =3.68. Accordingly, it can be said that prospective teachers had a high level of teacher readiness. When the means of the sub-dimensions of the scale of readiness for teaching is examined, it is seen that understanding the learner is  $\overline{X}$ =3.64, creating an effective learning environment is  $\overline{X}$ =3.64, designing the teaching process is  $\overline{X}$ =3.76 and technopedagogical competence is  $\overline{X}$ =3.65. It can be said that the readiness level of the participants for teaching was also high in the sub-dimensions.

When Tables 2 and Table 3 are examined, it is seen that the mean, median and mode values obtained from the digital literacy and teaching readiness scales converge and that the distribution does not diverge from the normal. The digital literacy scale skewness value was found to be 1.385 and the kurtosis value was -.710, the readiness to teach scale skewness value was found to be 1.261 and the kurtosis value was -.889. It was determined that kurtosis and skewness values varied within the range of  $\pm$  1.5 in all variables. The fact that kurtosis and skewness values are within the limits ( $\pm$  1.5) indicates that the distribution of the data is normal (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). Accordingly, it was determined that the data obtained from the digital literacy scale and the readiness for teaching scale were distributed normally. In Table 4 below, the findings regarding the analysis of prospective teachers' mean scores on digital literacy and teaching readiness according to the gender variable are given.

	Variables	N	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	. d	Mad	Mad	V	SE	De	SE
	variables	IN	Λ	sa	wied	Mod	ку	(Ky)	(Ky)	
	Teaching Readiness	349	3.68	.61	3.82	4	1.261	.260	889	.131
ess	Understanding the Learner	349	3.64	.75	3.89	4	1.329	.260	929	.131
ning Readin	Creating an Effective Learning Environment	349	3.64	.69	3.83	4	1.292	.260	905	.131
Teach	Designing the Teaching Process	349	3.76	.67	4	4	1.292	.260	871	.131
	Technopedagogical Competence	349	3.65	.67	3.80	4	1.039	.260	795	.131

#### Table 4

T-test Results on Digital Li	teracy and Teacher	Readiness Levels of	of Prospective	Teachers Accor	ding to Gender
------------------------------	--------------------	---------------------	----------------	----------------	----------------



When Table 4 was examined, it was determined that the digital literacy levels of the participants did not differ significantly according to the gender variable  $[t_{(347)}=.462, p>.05]$ . Similarly, it was seen that there was no significant difference between the teachers' readiness levels for teaching and the gender variable  $[t_{(347)}=-1.009, p>.05]$ . In this case, it can be said that the digital literacy and teaching readiness levels of female and male prospective teachers did not differ significantly. In Table 5 below, the findings regarding the analysis of the mean scores of the prospective teachers regarding their digital literacy and teaching readiness levels according to the grade level variable are given.

Table 5

*T-test Results Regarding the Digital Literacy and Teaching Readiness Levels of Prospective Teachers According to Grade Level Variable* 

Variable	Group	Ν	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	sd	df	t	р
Digital	3rd grade	162	3.61	.57	347	-1.071	.285
Literacy	4th grade	187	3.68	.62			
Teaching	3rd grade	162	3.63	.60	347	-1.389	.166
Readiness	4th grade	187	3.72	.62			

\* p>.05

When Table 5 was examined, it was determined that the digital literacy levels of the participants did not differ significantly according to the grade level variable  $[t_{(347)} = -1.071, p>.05]$ . Similarly, it is seen that there was no significant difference between the teachers' readiness levels for teaching and the grade level variable  $[t_{(347)} = -1.389, p>.05]$ . In this case, it can be said that the digital literacy and teaching readiness levels of prospective teachers studying in the third and fourth grades did not differ significantly. Table 6 below includes findings related to Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) and Tolerance Values (Tolerance = 1 / VIF) to determine multiple relationships between predictor variables.

#### Table 6

Tolerance and VIF Values of Digital Literacy Dimensions

Predictive	Tolerance	VIF
Variables		
Attitude	.474	2.109
Technical	.450	2.222
Cognitive	.578	1.729
Social	.525	1.904

When Table 6 is examined, it is seen that the VIF values of the predictor variables are lower than 10 and that the tolerance values are higher than 0.20. In line with these results, it can be said that there is no multicollinearity problem in terms of tolerance values and VIF values among the predictive variables (Hair, Anderson, Tatham & Black, 1998) and that there is no perfect linear relationship between variables. Table 7 below includes the findings of the correlation analysis conducted to examine the relationship between the digital literacy and teaching readiness levels of the participants.



	Understandin g the Learner	Creating an Effective Learning Environmen t	Designing the Teaching Process	Technopedago gical Competence	Mean Teaching Readiness Score
Attitude	.38**	.38**	.26**	.42**	.40**
Technical	.26**	.30**	.26**	.34**	.33**
Cognitive	.32**	.28**	.25**	.38**	.34**
Social	.28**	.25**	.23**	.34**	.30**
Mean					
Digital	20**	20**	01**	45**	10**
Literacy	.37	.37	.31	.40	.42
Score					

Table 7 Relationship between Prospective Teachers' Digital Literacy and Teaching Readiness Levels

\*\*p<.01

When Table 7 is examined, it is seen that there is a positive and significant relationship between the digital literacy and teaching readiness mean scores of the participants at the level of .42 (p <.01). The highest correlation between the mean score of being ready to teach and digital literacy sub-dimensions is with the attitude sub-dimension (.40) (p <.01). The lowest correlation between the mean score of being ready for teaching and digital literacy sub-dimensions was found to be with the social sub-dimension (.30) (p <.01). The highest correlation between the digital literacy mean score and the readiness for teaching subdimensions is with the technopedagogical competence sub-dimension (.45) (p <.01). The lowest correlation between the digital literacy mean score and the readiness for teaching sub-dimensions is with the sub-dimension of designing the teaching process (.31) (p <.01). In Table 8 below, the findings related to Multiple Linear Regression analysis regarding the predictive value of the digital literacy levels of the participants for teaching readiness are given.

Variable	В	Standard Error B	β	t	p	Paired r	Partial r
Constant	2.116	.190	-	11.165	.000	-	-
Attitude	.201	.061	.234	3.318	.001	.401	.176
Cognitive	.088	.047	.120	1.888	.061	.340	.101
Social	.072	.048	.100	1.487	.138	.305	.080

Table 8

Repression Analysis Results Reparding the Predictive Effect of Digital Literacy on Teacher Readiness



Technical	.071	.069	.075	1.036	.301	.330	.056

R=.436 R<sup>2</sup>=.190 F<sub>(4,345)</sub>=20.133 p=.000

When Table 8 is examined, it is seen that there is a moderately significant relationship (R =.436) between the digital literacy attitude, technical, cognitive and social sub-dimensions and the readiness for teaching scores. The four dimensions together explain 19% of the total variance in the level of teaching readiness (R<sup>2</sup>=.190). According to the standardized regression coefficient ( $\beta$ ), the relative importance of predictor variables on teaching readiness is attitude ( $\beta$ =.234), cognitive ( $\beta$ =.120), social ( $\beta$ =.100) and technical ( $\beta$ =.075). According to the t-test results regarding the significance of the regression coefficients, among all predictor variables, the attitude sub-dimension (t = 3.318, p = .001) is a significant predictor of the level of teaching readiness. Accordingly, there is a low level positive relationship between the readiness level of the participants for teaching and attitude, which is one of the sub-dimensions of the digital literacy scale. From the digital literacy sub-dimensions, it is seen that cognitive (t=1.888, p=.061), social (t=1.487, p=.138) and technical (t=1.036, p=.301) are not significant predictors of teaching readiness.

#### DISCUSSION

The digitalization of education provided by universities today has revealed the necessity of developing new competencies in terms of adapting to changing needs for prospective teachers in universities. Digitalization has brought a new dimension to teachers' pedagogical skills and competencies, making it necessary to add digital knowledge and skills within pedagogical competencies. Prospective teachers' development of digital skills in using technology by integrating technology into the learning-teaching process and gaining experience in this field support teacher competencies and teacher readiness. In this study, the relationship between prospective preschool teachers' digital literacy and teaching readiness was examined.

When the findings regarding the determination of digital literacy levels of prospective teachers' in the study were examined, it was found that the digital literacy levels of the participants were high. When the results of the digital literacy sub-dimensions were evaluated, it was determined that the digital literacy levels of the participants were high in the attitude, technical, cognitive and social sub-dimensions. Based on these results, it can be said that prospective teachers find themselves competent in digital literacy and that the digital experiences of prospective teachers in daily life have a positive effect on their digital competence. In similar studies, it was found that prospective teachers' digital literacy levels were high (Çetin, 2016; Ocak & Karakuş, 2019; Kim, Hong & Song, 2018; León-Pérez, Bas, Escudero-Nahón, 2020; Üstündağ, Güneş & Bahçivan, 2017; Şad & Nalçacı, 2015). The results of the digital competence of the participants obtained in this study are similar to the other research results. Accordingly, it can be suggested that various applied training courses



Öngören

are organized in order to professionally develop the digital competencies of prospective teachers.

When the findings of the study regarding the determination of digital literacy levels of prospective teachers according to the gender variable were examined, it was found that in terms of gender veriable, digital literacy levels of prospective teachers do not differ significantly. In this case, it can be said that there was no difference between the digital literacy levels of female and male prospective teachers. In similar studies, it was determined that gender did not affect the frequency of internet use (Dikmen & Tuncer, 2018; Kozan & Bulut-Özek, 2019; Kul, 2020; Tondeur, Aesaert, Prestridge & Consuegra, 2018). Those research results are parallel with the findings of this study regarding the gender variable. On the other hand, research findings exist which reveal that male prospective teachers' digital literacy levels were significantly higher than those of female prospective teachers (Esteve-Mon, Llopis & Adell-Segura, 2020; Owens & Lilly, 2017; Yazıcıoğlu, Yaylak & Genç, 2020; Yontar, 2019). This may be due to the interest of male teacher candidates in technology. Accordingly, it can be said that digital competencies of female prospective teachers should be developed with various strategies in order to eliminate gender inequalities in education.

When the findings of the study regarding the determination of digital literacy levels of prospective teachers according to the grade level variable were examined, it was found that the digital literacy levels of the participants did not differ according to the grade level variable. It is seen that prospective teachers studying in the third and fourth grades had similar characteristics in terms of digital literacy levels. It can be said that there was no difference according to grade level, since all prospective teachers frequently used digital tools in daily life and all candidates had taken information technologies and instructional technologies courses. The use of technology by prospective teachers in teacher training programs plays a decisive role in the professional preparation of prospective teachers. Prospective teachers are expected to develop their digital literacy skills through applied studies from the first year of the teaching process (Mouza, 2016). When similar studies were examined, it was determined that there was no significant difference in digital literacy levels of prospective teachers according to grade levels (Dedebali, 2020; Ozerbaş & Kuralbayeva, 2018; Law, 2018). In the study conducted by Can, Çelik, and Çelik (2020), it was found that the class level variable affected the digital literacy level and that the level of literacy increased as the class level increased. It can be said that there was no difference in this study because the prospective teachers who took part in the study were in the third and fourth grades.

When the findings on the determination of prospective teachers' level of teaching readiness in the study were examined, it was found that the participants' level of teaching readiness was high. When the data on the sub-dimensions of teaching readiness were examined, it was determined that the participants' level of teaching readiness was high in the sub-dimensions of understanding the learner, creating an effective learning



environment, designing the teaching process and technopedagogical competence. It can be said that the prospective teachers perceived themselves as competent and that they were ready to teach. Prospective teachers' feeling ready for the profession can positively affect the learning and teaching process. In similar studies, it was determined that prospective teachers had a positive perception of their professional performance (Caires, Almeida & Vieira, 2012; Colson, Sparks, Berridge, Frimming & Willis, 2017; Khalid, Dukmak & Dweikat, 2017) and showed a positive attitude towards the teaching profession. (Doğrul & Kılıç, 2020; Ismail & Jarrah, 2019). The results obtained in this study are similar to the results of the research in the literature.

When the findings regarding the determination of prospective teachers' level of teaching readiness according to the gender variable were examined, it was found that the participants' level of teaching readiness did not differ according to the gender variable. It can be said that male and female prospective teachers had a positive attitude towards the teaching profession and felt themselves competent. In similar studies, it was revealed that gender did not affect the level of teaching readiness (Karakaya, Uzel, Gül & Yılmaz, 2019; Kula, 2015), and that female and male prospective teachers had similar characteristics regarding professional preparation (Specht & Metsala, 2018; Subbaye & Vithal, 2017). It can be said that it is a positive result that female and male prospective teachers evaluated themselves as ready for the profession.

When the findings regarding the determination of prospective teachers 'level of teaching readiness according to the class level variable were examined, it was found that the participants' level of teaching readiness did not differ according to the class level variable. In similar studies, it was revealed that the level of teacher readiness did not differ according to the class level variable (Karatekin, Merey & Keçe, 2015; Tuncer & Bahadır, 2016). In education faculties, theoretical and practical studies are carried out to improve the performance of prospective teachers from the first year onwards in order for them to have the necessary professional knowledge and skills (Bastian, Lys & Pan, 2018). As pedagogical competencies develop in prospective teachers, the process of transformation from student to teacher begins and an increase in feeling ready to teach occurs (Welsh & Schaffer, 2017). In this respect, it can be said that prospective teachers' professional preparations start from an early period and that prospective teachers who have a positive attitude towards the teaching profession feel themselves ready for the profession.

In the study, when the findings on the determination of the relationship between digital literacy and teaching readiness levels of prospective teachers were examined, it was found that there was a positive and significant relationship between the participants' mean scores of digital literacy and teaching readiness at the level of .42 (p<.01). According to Can (2019), there is a weak correlation or no correlation between 0.0 and 0.4, there is a moderate correlation between 0.4 and 0.6 and a high correlation between 0.6 and 1. It was determined that the highest correlation between the mean score of being ready to teach and the digital



literacy sub-dimensions was with the attitude sub-dimension (.40) (p <.01). In this respect, it can be said that there is a relationship between the attitudes of prospective teachers towards using technology in the learning process and their competencies for being ready for teaching. Similar studies have revealed that there is a strong relationship between prospective teachers' digital competencies and their instructional self-efficacy (Bond, Marín, Dolch, Bedenlier & Zawacki-Richter, 2018; Elstad & Christophersen, 2017; Ng, 2012). Supporting teacher training programs with digital learning experiences (Ally, 2019; Mourlam, Strouse, Newland & Lin, 2019; Wetzel, Buss, Foulger & Lindsey, 2014) is seen as a structure that affects teaching readiness. On the other hand, in some research studies, digital competence is still not seen as an important component of teachers' professional competence (Instefjord & Munthe, 2016) and digital literacy is not included in the process as part of academic literacy in universities (Bakir, 2015; Guzmán-Simón, García-Jiménez & López-Cobo, 2017; Gudmundsdottir & Hatlevik, 2018). Developing digital competencies in teacher training programs is important for prospective teachers' professional readiness. According to the results of the study, it was determined that the highest correlation between the digital literacy average score and the sub-dimensions of being ready for teaching was with the technopedagogical competence sub-dimension (.45) (p <.01). In line with these results, it can be said that prospective teachers associated technopedagogical competence with digital literacy and that digital literacy positively affected technopedagogical competence. Similar studies show that digital competencies in teacher education are important for teachers' professional development (Instefjord & Munthe, 2017; Kopcha, 2012; List, 2019). The pedagogical use of technology, which is called technological pedagogical content knowledge in teacher education, and the integration of technology into the teaching process are necessary for the professional development of teachers (Mishra & Koehler, 2006; Tarling & Dick, 2016). In this regard, the development of digital competence should be encouraged so that prospective teachers can use technology correctly, access the information they need and reflect this knowledge in the teaching process.

When the findings of the relationship between the predictivity of digital literacy for teaching readiness were examined, it was determined that there was a moderately significant relationship between the digital literacy attitude, technical, cognitive and social sub-dimensions and the readiness for teaching scores, and that the four dimensions together explained 19% of the total variance in the level of teaching readiness. According to the t-test results regarding the significance of the regression coefficients, it was observed that among all the predictive variables, the attitude sub-dimension was a significant predictor of the level of teaching readiness. The fact that attitude sub-dimension of the digital literacy scale is related to the learning process and that the prospective teachers had a positive attitude towards digital literacy may be effective in their finding themselves professionally ready for teaching. The attitude towards digital literacy can also be evaluated as a result of the increased use of digital resources in teacher



education. In similar studies, it was revealed that students thought that digital literacy courses were effective for academic development (Buzzetto-Hollywood, Elobeid & Elobaid, 2018; Hsu, 2012; McGarr & Gavaldon, 2018), and that university students used digital technologies for learning and social purposes (Margaryan, Littlejohn & Vojt, 2011). It has been determined that students' digital literacy and positive attitudes contribute to their self-perception in professional development (Gill & Dalgarno, 2017; Prior, Mazanov, Meacheam, Heaslip & Hanson, 2016; Tondeur, Pareja Roblin, van Braak, Voogt & Prestridge, 2017). Raising innovative and creative prospective teachers with digital literacy skills is seen as one of the ways to easily overcome the problems that may occur in the future teaching process. In this respect, it is important to ensure that digital competencies are included among professional teacher competencies for the professional preparation of future teachers.

## LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In today's education system, where digital literacy is more accepted as a basic skill to support professional readiness, evaluating the digital literacy of prospective teachers after starting university and providing them with continuous support and training can contribute to their professional development. In line with the results of the research, it may be suggested that the practices aimed at improving the digital literacy and teaching readiness of prospective teachers in teacher training programs are increased, and that digital skills are added to teacher competencies. The fact that the study was conducted with prospective preschool teachers in the universities included in the sample is the limitation of this study.

#### CONCLUSION

When the results of the research were examined, it was determined that prospective preschool teachers had high digital literacy levels. It was revealed that the digital literacy levels of prospective teachers were also high in the sub-dimensions of the digital literacy scale. In the study, it was determined that digital literacy level did not differ according to gender or grade level variables. As a result of the research, it was determined that prospective preschool teachers had a high level of teacher readiness. In the sub-dimensions of the teaching readiness scale, it was revealed that the prospective teachers' level of teaching readiness was high. In the study, it was determined that the level of teaching readiness did not differ according to the variables of gender or grade level. In the study, it was determined that there was a positive and significant relationship between the digital literacy and teaching readiness scores of the prospective teachers. It was determined that the highest relationship between the mean score of being ready for teaching and the sub-dimensions of digital literacy was with the attitude sub-dimension, while the highest correlation between the mean digital literacy score and the sub-dimensions of teaching readiness was with the technopedagogical competence sub-dimension. In the study, it was



revealed that the digital literacy scale attitude sub-dimension was a significant predictor of the level of teaching readiness.

#### REFERENCES

- Ally, M. (2019). Competency profile of the digital and online teacher in future education. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 20(2), 301-318.
- Bakir, N. (2015). An exploration of contemporary realities of technology and teacher education: Lessons learned. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, *31*(3), 117-130.
- Balcı, Ö., Şanal, F., & Üğüten, S. D. (2019). An Investigation of pre-service english language teachers' self-efficacy beliefs. *International Journal of Modern Education Studies*, 3(1), 41-53.
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Bastian, K. C., Lys, D., & Pan, Y. (2018). A framework for improvement: Analyzing performanceassessment scores for evidence-based teacher preparation program reforms. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 69(5), 448-462.
- Bawden, D. (2001). Information and digital literacies: a review of concepts. *Journal of Documentation*, 57(2), 218-259.
- Binkley, M., Erstad, O., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., Miller-Ricci, M., & Rumble, M. (2012). Defining twenty-first century skills. In P. Griffin, B. McGaw & E. Care (Eds). Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills (pp. 17-66). Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2324-5 2.
- Bond, M., Marín, V. I., Dolch, C., Bedenlier, S., & Zawacki-Richter, O. (2018). Digital transformation in German higher education: student and teacher perceptions and usage of digital media. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 15(1), 48.
- Brown, A. L., Lee, J., & Collins, D. (2015). Does student teaching matter? Investigating preservice teachers' sense of efficacy and preparedness. *Teaching Education*, 26(1), 77-93.
- Bullen, M., Morgan, T., & Qayyum, A. (2011). Digital learners in higher education: Generation is not the issue. *Canadian Journal of Learning and Technology*,37(1),1-24.
- Burnett, C. (2011). Pre-service teachers' digital literacy practices: exploring contingency in identity and digital literacy in and out of educational contexts. *Language and Education*, 25(5), 433-449.
- Buzzetto-Hollywood, N., Wang, H., Elobeid, M., & Elobeid, M. (2018). Addressing information literacy and the digital divide in higher education. *Interdisciplinary Journal of e-Skills and Lifelong Learning*, 14, 77-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/4029</u>



- Caires, S., Almeida, L., & Vieira, D. (2012). Becoming a teacher: Student teachers' experiences and perceptions about teaching practice. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 35(2), 163-178.
- Can, A. (2019). *Quantitative data analysis in the scientific research process with SPSS*. Ankara: Pegem Publishing.
- Can, Ş., Çelik, B., & Çelik, C. (2020). The effects of various variables on the digital literacy level of preservice science teachers. *Journal of Education Theory and Practical Research*, 6(3), 352-358.
- Chase, Z. & Laufenberg, D. (2011). Embracing the squishiness of digital literacy. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 54(7), 535-537.
- Colson, T., Sparks, K., Berridge, G., Frimming, R., & Willis, C. (2017). Pre-service teachers and self-efficacy: A study in contrast. *Discourse and Communication for Sustainable Education*, 8(2), 66-76.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research*. Boston: Pearson.
- Çetin, O. (2016). Examining the digital literacy levels of undergraduate science education and pedagogical formation programme preservice teachers. *Erzincan University Journal of Education Faculty*, 18(2), 658-685.
- Dedebali, N. C. (2020). Analysis of digital literacy and metaphoric perceptions of teacher candidate. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, *6*(1), 135-145.
- Dikmen, M. & Tuncer, M. (2018). Teacher candidates' information literacy self-efficacy and attitudes towards the profession. *Academic View Journal*, *66*, 310-325.
- Doğrul, H. & Kılıç, F. (2020). Investigation of pre-school teacher's attitudes towards teaching rofession in terms of different variables. *Journal of University Research*, *3*(2), 49-57
- Elstad, E. & Christophersen, K. A. (2017). Perceptions of digital competency among student teachers: Contributing to the development of student teachers' instructional self-efficacy in technology-rich classrooms. *Education Sciences*, 7(1), 27.
- Ertmer, P. A. & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T. (2010). Teacher technology change: How knowledge, confidence, beliefs, and culture intersect. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(3), 255-284.
- Eshet, Y. (2004). Digital literacy: A conceptual framework for survival skills in the digital era. *Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia*, *13*(1), 93-106.
- Esteve-Mon, F., Llopis, M., & Adell-Segura, J. (2020). Digital competence and computational thinking of student teachers. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning* (*IJET*), 15(2), 29-41.



- Fackler, S., Malmberg, L. E., & Sammons, P. (2021). An international perspective on teacher selfefficacy: personal, structural and environmental factors. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 99, 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103255</u>
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2012). How to design and evaluate research in education. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- General Directorate of Teacher Training and Development (GDTTD). (2017). General competencies of the teaching profession. Retrieved from December 23, 2020 <a href="http://www.kamudanhaber.net/images/upload/OYRETMENLYK MESLEYY GENEL YETER">http://www.kamudanhaber.net/images/upload/OYRETMENLYK MESLEYY GENEL YETER</a> <a href="http://www.kamudanhaber.net/images/upload/OYRETMENLYK">LYLYKLERY.pdf</a>.
- Gill, L. & Dalgarno, B. (2017). A qualitative analysis of pre-service primary school teachers' TPACK development over the four years of their teacher preparation programme. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 26(4), 439-456.
- Gilster, P. (1997). Digital literacy. New York: Wiley Computer Publishing.
- Gruszczynska, A. & Pountney, R. (2013). Developing the concept of digital literacy in the context of schools and teacher education. *Enhancing Learning in the Social Sciences*, *5*(1), 25-36.
- Gruszczynska, A., Merchant, G., & Pountney, R. (2013). Digital futures in teacher education: Exploring open approaches towards digital literacy. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 11(3), 193-206.
- Gudmundsdottir, G. B. & Hatlevik, O. E. (2018). Newly qualified teachers' professional digital competence: implications for teacher education. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, *41*(2), 214-231.
- Guzmán-Simón, F., García-Jiménez, E., & López-Cobo, I. (2017). Undergraduate students' perspectives on digital competence and academic literacy in a Spanish University. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 74, 196-204.
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., & Black, W. (1998). *Multivariate data analysis*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River: NJ.
- Hamutoğlu, N. B., Güngören, Ö. C., Uyanık, G. K., & Erdoğan, D. G. (2017). Adapting digital literacy scale into Turkish. *Ege Journal of Education*, *18*(1), 408-429.
- Harris, J., Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. (2009). Teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge and learning activity types: Curriculum-based technology integration reframed. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(4), 393-416.
- Hatlevik, I. K. R. (2017). The impact of prospective teachers' perceived competence on subsequent perceptions as schoolteachers. *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(7), 810-828.
- Hepp, P., Fernández, M. À. P., & García, J. H. (2015). Teacher training: technology helping to develop an innovative and reflective professional profile. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 12(2), 30-43.



- Hsu, PS. (2012). Examining the impact of educational technology courses on pre-service teachers' development of technological pedagogical content knowledge. *Teaching Education* 23(2),195-213.
- Instefjord, E. & Munthe, E. (2016). Preparing pre-service teachers to integrate technology: an analysis of the emphasis on digital competence in teacher education curricula. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 39(1), 77-93.
- Instefjord, E. J. & Munthe, E. (2017). Educating digitally competent teachers: A study of integration of professional digital competence in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 37-45.
- Ismail, S. A. A. & Jarrah, A. M. (2019). Exploring pre-service teachers' perceptions of their pedagogical preferences, teaching competence and motivation. *International Journal of Instruction*, *12*(1), 493-510.
- Jones, R. H. & Hafner, C. A. (2012). *Understanding digital literacies: A practical introduction*. Oxon, UK: Routledge.
- Karakaya, F., Uzel, N., Gül, A., & Yılmaz, M. (2019). Pre-service teachers' levels of preparedness to teach. *Gazi University Journal of Gazi Educational Faculty (GUJGEF)*, 39(1), 373-396.
- Karatekin, K., Merey, Z., & Keçe, M. (2015). Analysis of the attitudes of the social studies preservice teachers towards teaching profession. YYU Journal Of Education Facult, 12(1), 70-96.
- Khalid, A., Dukmak, S. J., & Dweikat, F. F. I. (2017). Pre-service teachers' perception of their educational preparation. *International Journal for Research in Education*, 41(1), 273-303.
- Kim, H. J., Hong, A. J., & Song, H. D. (2018). The relationships of family, perceived digital competence and attitude, and learning agility in sustainable student engagement in higher education. *Sustainability*, 10(12), 4635.
- Koehler M.J., Mishra P., Kereluik K., Shin T.S., Graham C.R. (2014) The technological pedagogical content knowledge framework. In J. Spector, M. Merrill, J. Elen, M. Bishop (Eds.) *Handbook of research on educational communications and technology*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Koehler, M. J., Mishra, P., Akcaoglu, M., & Rosenberg, J. (2013). The technological pedagogical content knowledge framework for teachers and teacher educators. In R. Thyagarajan (Edt.), *ICT integrated teacher education: A resource book* (pp. 2–7). New Delhi: Commonwealth Educational Media Centre for Asia.
- Kopcha, T. J. (2012). Teachers' perceptions of the barriers to technology integration and practices with technology under situated professional development. *Computers & Education*, 59(4), 1109-1121.



- Kozan, M. & Bulut Özek, M. (2019). Examination of department of CEIT teacher candidates' digital literacy levels and cyberbullying sensitivities. Firat University Journal of Social Sciences, 29(1), 107-120.
- Kul, S. (2020). The investigation of the relationship of internet addiction with digital literacy and various other variables. International Journal of Management Information Systems and *Computer Science*, 4(1), 28-41.
- Kula, A. (2015). Examination of pre-service teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) competencies: Bartin University example. The Journal of Academic Social Science, 3(12), 395-412.
- Kunter, M., Klusmann, U., Baumert, J., Richter, D., Voss, T., & Hachfeld, A. (2013). Professional competence of teachers: Effects on instructional quality and student development. Journal of Educational Psychology, 105(3), 805-820. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032583
- Lauermann, F. & König, J. (2016). Teachers' professional competence and wellbeing: Understanding the links between general pedagogical knowledge, self-efficacy and burnout. Learning and Instruction, 45, 9-19.
- León-Pérez, F. L. P., Bas, M. C. B., Escudero-Nahón, A. E. N., León-Pérez, F., Bas, M. C., & Escudero-Nahón, A. (2020). Self-perception about emerging digital skills in higher education students. Comunicar. Media Education Research Journal, 28(1), 91-101.
- Leung, C. H., Wong, B. K. M., & Wong, J. (2013). Conceptions of learning in pre-service and inservice early childhood education students and the impact of teaching experience. Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 38(3), 57-67.
- Ligocki, D. & Sturgis, S. (2021). The power and possibilities for young viewers of reality television when educators and researchers partner together for critical media literacy. Journal of Educational Studies and Multidisciplinary Approaches (JESMA), 1(2), 120-134. https://doi.org/10.51383/jesma.2021.11
- List, A. (2019). Defining digital literacy development: An examination of pre-service teachers' beliefs. Computers & Education, 138, 146-158.
- Loughran, J., Berry, A., & Mulhall, P. (2012). Understanding and developing scienceteachers' pedagogical content knowledge. Rotterdam, Netherlands: Sense.
- Lund, A., Furberg, A., Bakken, J., & Engelien, K. L. (2014). What does professional digital competence mean in teacher education? Nordic Journal of Digital Literacy, 9(04), 280-298.
- Maderick, J. A., Zhang, S., Hartley, K., & Marchand, G. (2016). Preservice teachers and selfassessing digital competence. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 54(3), 326-351.
- Margaryan, A., Littlejohn, A., & Vojt, G. (2011). Are digital natives a myth or reality? University students' use of digital technologies. Computers & Education, 56(2), 429-440.



- McGarr, O. & Gavaldon, G. (2018). Exploring Spanish pre-service teachers' talk in relation to ICT: balancing different expectations between the university and practicum school. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 27(2), 199-209.
- McGarry, K. (1994). Definitions and meanings of literacy. In Barker, K. & Lonsdale, R. (Eds). *Skills for life: the value and meaning of literacy*. London: Taylor Graham.
- McLoughlin, C. & Lee, M. J. (2010). Personalised and self regulated learning in the Web 2.0 era: International exemplars of innovative pedagogy using social software. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 26(1), 28-43.
- Meyers, E. M., Erickson, I., & Small, R. V. (2013). Digital literacy and informal learning environments: an introduction. *Learning*, *Media and Technology*, *38*(4), 355-367.
- Mishra, P. & Koehler, M. J. (2006). Technological pedagogical content knowledge: A framework for teacher knowledge. *Teachers College Record*, 108(6), 1017-1054.
- Mourlam, D. J., Strouse, G. A., Newland, L. A., & Lin, H. (2019). Can they do it? A comparison of teacher candidates' beliefs and preschoolers' actual skills with digital technology and media. *Computers & Education*, 129, 82-91.
- Mouza, C. (2016). Developing and assessing TPACK among pre-service teachers: A synthesis of research. In M. C. Herring, M. J. Koehler & P. Mishra (Eds.), *Handbook of technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) for educators* (pp. 169–190). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Muijs, D. (2010). Doing quantitative research in education with SPSS. London: Sage.
- Murkatik, K., Harapan, E., & Wardiah, D. (2020). The influence of professional and pedagogic competence on teacher's performance. *Journal of Social Work and Science Education*, 1(1), 58-69.
- Ng, W. (2012). Can we teach digital natives digital literacy?. *Computers & Education*, 59(3), 1065-1078.
- Ocak, G. & Karakuş, D. Ö. G. (2019). An investigation of digital literacy self-efficacy skills of preservice teachers in terms of different variables. *Afyon Kocatepe University Journal of Social Sciences*, 21(1), 129-147.
- Owens, J. & Lilly, F. (2017). The influence of academic discipline, race, and gender on web-use skills among graduate-level students. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 29(2), 286-308.
- Özerbaş, M. A. & Kuralbayeva, A. (2018). A review of digital literacy levels of future primaryschool and secondary-school teachers in Turkey and Kazakhstan. *MSKU Journal of Education*, 5(1), 16-25.
- Pendergast, D., Garvis, S., & Keogh, J. (2011). Pre-service student-teacher self-efficacy beliefs: An insight into the making of teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 36(12), 4.



- Prior, D. D., Mazanov, J., Meacheam, D., Heaslip, G., & Hanson, J. (2016). Attitude, digital literacy and self efficacy: Flow-on effects for online learning behavior. The Internet and Higher Education, 29, 91-97.
- Røkenes, F. M. & Krumsvik, R. J. (2014). Development of student teachers' digital competence in teacher education-A literature review. Nordic Journal of Digital Literacy, 9(04), 250-280.
- Specht, J. A. & Metsala, J. L. (2018). Predictors of teacher efficacy for inclusive practice in preservice teachers. Exceptionality Education International, 28(3), 67-82.
- Subbaye, R. & Vithal, R. (2017). Gender, teaching and academic promotions in higher education. Gender and Education, 29(7), 926-951.
- Şad, S. N. & Nalçacı, Ö. İ. (2015). Prospective teachers' perceived competencies about integrating information and communication technologies into education. Mersin University Journal of the Faculty of Education, 11(1), 177-197.
- Tabachnick, B.G. & Fidell, L.S (2012). Using multivariate statistics. UK: Pearson.
- Tarling, I. & Dick, N. (2016). Teachers pedagogical change framework: a diagnostic tool for changing teachers' uses of emerging technologies. British Journal of Educational Technology, 47(3), 554-572.
- Teddlie, C. & Tashakkori, A. (2015). Fundamentals of mixed method research. In Y. Dede & S.B. Demir (Trs.). Ankara: Anı Publishing.
- Tondeur, J., Aesaert, K., Prestridge, S., & Consuegra, E. (2018). A multilevel analysis of what matters in the training of pre-service teacher's ICT competencies. Computers  $\mathcal{E}$ Education, 122, 32-42.
- Tondeur, J., Pareja Roblin, N., van Braak, J., Voogt, J., & Prestridge, S. (2017). Preparing beginning teachers for technology integration in education: Ready for takeoff? Technology, Pedagogy and Education, 26(2), 157-177.
- Tondeur, J., Van Braak, J., Sang, G., Voogt, J., Fisser, P., & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. (2012). Preparing pre-service teachers to integrate technology in education: A synthesis of qualitative evidence. Computers & Education, 59(1), 134-144.
- Tuncer, M. & Bahadır, F. (2016). Evaluations of prospective teachers according to their attitudes towards teaching profession and technopedagogic content knowledge competencies. Electronic Turkish Studies, 11(9), 839-858.
- Uslu, B. & Çeliköz, M. (2020). The study of preschool teachers' and principals' opinions on Turkish Education System. International Journal of Modern Education Studies, 4(1), 1-23.
- Üstündağ, M. T., Güneş, E., & Bahçivan, E. (2017). Turkish adaptation of digital literacy scale and investigating pre-service science teachers' digital literacy. Journal of Education and Future, 12, 19-29.



- Welsh, K. A. & Schaffer, C. (2017). Developing the effective teaching skills of teacher candidates during early field experiences. *The Educational Forum*, *81*(3), 301-321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2017.1314574</u>
- Wetzel, K., Buss, R., Foulger, T. S., & Lindsey, L. (2014). Infusing educational technology in teaching methods courses: Successes and dilemmas. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, 30(3), 89-103.
- Yasa, H. D. (2018). Analysis of the relationship between the lifelong learning tendencies and information literacy skills of teacher candidates. (Master's thesis). Bartin University Institute of Educational Sciences Department of Lifelong Learning, Bartin.
- Yazıcıoğlu, A., Yaylak, E., & Genç, G. (2020). Digital literacy levels of prospective preschool and primary school teachers. *The Journal of Social Sciences Research*, *10*(2), 274-286.
- Yıldırım, İ. & Kalman, M. (2017). The validity and reliability study of the turkish version of the preparedness to teach scale. *Kastamonu Education Journal*, 25(6), 2311-2326.
- Yontar, A. (2019). Digital literacy levels of teacher candidates. *Journal of Mother Tongue Education*, 7(4), 815-824.

**Copyright:** © 2021 (Öngören) This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original authors and source are credited.





Volume 5 - No 1 - June 2021 - ISSN 2618-6209

# The Effect of Digital Activities on the **Technology Awareness and Computational** Thinking Skills of Gifted Students (eTwinning **Project Example)**

Mustafa Çevik<sup>1</sup> Nazlı Barış<sup>2</sup> Merve Şirin<sup>3</sup> Özlem Ortak Kılınç<sup>4</sup> Yusuf Kaplan<sup>5</sup> Burcu Atabey Özdemir<sup>6</sup> Harun Yalçın<sup>7</sup> Güzin Şeref<sup>8</sup> Selda Topal<sup>9</sup> Tuba Delice<sup>10</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Assoc. Prof., Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Mathematics and Science Education, Karaman, Turkey. mustafacevik@kmu.edu.tr, D Orcid ID: 0000-0001-5064-6983 <sup>2</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Keçiören Science and Art Centre, Ankara, Turkey.

nazli.baris.hacettepe@gmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0003-3974-6056 <sup>3</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Sorgun Science and Art Centre, Yozgat, Turkey.

sirinmerve19@qmail.com, D Orcid ID: 0000-0001-6028-0540 <sup>4</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Sehit Hüseyin Gültekin Science and Art Centre, Ankara, Turkey.

ozlm.kilinc@gmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0002-4852-4036 <sup>5</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Midyat Science and Art Centre, Mardin, Turkey.

vusufkaplan2003@gmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0003-2373-9855

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Chemistry Teacher, MoNE, Prof. Dr. Şaban Teoman Duralı Science and Art Centre, Zonguldak, Turkey. brcatby@gmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0003-2100-3991

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Adıyaman Science and Art Centre, Adıyaman, Turkey.

harunyalcin02@gmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0001-7498-2703 <sup>8</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Prof. Dr. Şaban Teoman Duralı Science and Art Centre, Zonguldak, Turkey. serefguzin@hotmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0001-8767-1664

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Science Teacher, MoNE, Dumlupinar Science and Art Centre, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey.

seldasezer1983@gmail.com, Drcid ID: 0000-0001-9500-7923 <sup>10</sup> Math Teacher, MoNE, Sorgun Science and Art Centre, Yozgat, Turkey.

tubaaaaadlc@gmail.com, U Orcid ID: 0000-0003-1672-8461

#### Article Type

**Original Research** 

International Journal of Modern Education Studies

June, 2021 Volume 5. No 1 Pages: 205-244 http://www.ijonmes.net

dergipark.gov.tr/ijonmes

#### Article Info:

Received : 15.04.2021 Revision : 05.05.2021 Accepted : 16.05.2021

#### Abstract:

The aim of this study was to examine the effect of interdisciplinary activities organised online within the scope of an eTwinning project carried out with gifted students on the students' technology awareness and computational thinking (CT). However the research was not' funded by eTwinning. The study was carried out through web-based tools for a period of 3 months in the year 2020. These Web 2.0 tools were: Canva, Zoom, Google Classroom, Jamboard, Tinkercad, Telegram, Facebook, Kahoot!, Instagram, StoryJumper, Padlet, etc. The research was designed with an explanatory design which is one of the mixed models. While in the quantitative aspect of the study, a quasi-experimental design with pretest posttest control group was carried out, a case study was carried out in the qualitative aspect of the study. The participants were 50 gifted students continuing their education at Science and Art Centres affiliated to the National Education Ministry in 6 different provinces of Turkey. Quantitative and qualitative methods were used together in the study. A technology awareness and computational thinking scale was chosen as the quantitative data collection tool, while mind maps were used as the qualitative data collection tool. As a result of the research, a significant increase in the participants' technology awareness and computational thinking was determined in favour of the posttest, while this increase was verified through the mind-mapping technique applied to the students. At the end of the study, the findings were discussed, and recommendations were made for future studies. In addition, a great limitation of this research was the effectiveness of activities that had to be carried out entirely remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In the distance education, in which the teacher's control was weak, the skills intended to be fostered in students remained at a lower level.

Keywords:

Gifted students, mixed method, technology awareness, computational thinking, eTwinning

#### Citation:

Cevik, M., Barış, N., Şirin, M., Ortak Kılınç, Ö., Kaplan, Y., Atabey Özdemir, B., Yalçın, H., Şeref, G., Topal, S., & Delice, T. (2021). The effect of digital activities on the technology awareness and computational thinking skills of gifted students (eTwinning project example). International Journal of Modern Education Studies, 5(1), 205-244.



## **INTRODUCTION**

In this section, the literature A gifted (talented) individual is defined as an individual with special academic ability, who displays high-level performance, who is ahead of his/her peers in terms of art, leadership and creativity, who can grasp abstract ideas, who likes to act independently, and who learns faster than his/her peers (Ministry of National Education [MoNE], 2019). Gifted students' characteristics can be listed as: in terms of their emotional characteristics, having the ability to take risks and empathise, being a perfectionist, having high creativity, a leadership spirit and interest in nature; while regarding their cognitive characteristics, possessing high observation skills, and having the ability to retain information in the memory for a long period, to work independently and individually, and to quickly learn complex and abstract concepts (Renzulli et al., 2002). The process of identifying gifted individuals is carried out with a procedure in which information about individual characteristics such as achievement, intelligence and creativity is gathered, and, in line with the information gathered, decisions are made about students' potential and mental capacity (Sak, 2016), together with the steps outlined by the Ministry of National Education (MoNE) in the directive for Science and Art Centres (BILSEM), published in the December 2019 Bulletin, for the process of identifying gifted students in Turkey:

- First of all, students studying in first, second and third grades of primary • school are nominated by having an observation form filled in by their class advisor.
- Nominated students are taken for examination with a group screening test • (tablet application) implemented via the host system by the MoNE.
- Students who display a performance meeting or above the criterion specified in the group screening application are taken for individual assessment.
- In line with the criteria specified by the Ministry's provincial identification commission, individual assessment is made in the general mental ability domain by the counselling and research centre using objective and standard measurement tools.
- Assessment of students nominated in the fields of music and visual arts is • made by the provincial identification commission in line with the specified criteria.
- As a result of the assessments, students who are above the criteria specified by the Ministry are identified as gifted (MoNE, 2019).

In a globalising world, the importance of access to information is steadily increasing, both for gifted individuals and for others. It is an inescapable fact of our age that we can always access information independently of time and space. In this context, technology comes into play. Generally defined as equipment and materials, technology is defined as "the whole of the materials developed for controlling and changing humans' material


environment, and knowledge related to these" (Turkish Language Institute, 2009). If we look at the nature of technology and the awareness processes in society, technology began after the Middle Ages, especially during the "Industrial Revolution". At the beginning of the 20th century, ideas expanded to encompass the transition to various vehicles and machines. When we reached the middle of the 20th century, however, technology then began to be defined as all the activities carried out through investigation by humans for transforming their environment. Technology awareness began with the rapidly developing technology of the present age, which is known as the age of science and technology. Of course, it cannot be considered that this awareness does not have an impact on today's education processes. It is stated that the development of technology has an effect on the structure of the education system and, moreover, on the educational activities carried out in education environments (Pala, 2006). Since students, who are the essential element of education, are individuals who learn in the age of science and technology, their awareness regarding the use of technology in lessons is of great importance. Combining technology with lessons has become indispensable for effective and permanent learning. Students with a traditional understanding of education take part in activities in class in a passive position, whereas, together with the use of technology in lessons, students assume more active roles by participating in the learning environment rather than merely listening (Demirci, 2008).

With the advancement of technology in every area in the 21st century, the skills expected from students are also steadily increasing. One of these skills is computational thinking (CT) skill. When the literature related to computational thinking skills is examined, it is seen that the term "computational thinking" was first used by Papert (1996). The concept is given various names in the Turkish literature, corresponding to such terms as "computational thinking", "data processing thinking", "calculative thinking", "algorithmic thinking" and "thinking like a computer scientist" in English. Computational thinking is defined as the thinking process required to convert problems encountered in daily life into a formula by a human or computer (Kirmit, Dönmez & Çataltaş, 2018), and according to Thomas, Odemwingie, Saunders and Watlerd (2015), "involves identifying and understanding a problem, articulating an algorithm or set of algorithms in the form of a solution to the problem, implementing that solution in such a way that it solves the problem, and evaluating the solution based on some set of criteria". The International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) (2015) expresses computational thinking as a problemsolving approach supported by technology. The subskills of computational thinking are creative thinking, problem solving, algorithmic thinking, critical thinking, collaborative learning and communication skills (ISTE, 2015).

The stages of computational thinking stated by the International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) are as follows:

- 1. Understanding problems by utilising the power of technological methods;
- 2. Formulating the problem by using models and algorithmic thinking;
- 3. Presenting datasets through data collection and digital tools;



- Developing descriptive models to facilitate problem solving; 4.
- 5. Using algorithmic thinking to generate and test solutions.

The stages expressed for computational thinking show similarity with the process for creating project products using Web 2.0 tools at the implementation stage of projects conducted by using digital platforms. As Peachey (2009) stated, the use of Web 2.0 tools encourages working jointly on a subject and participants' higher-order thinking skills such as creativity, problem solving, analytical thinking, and establishing cause-effect relationships.

Especially since the internet began to be used in education, it has become possible to conduct the instructional processes in education synchronously or asynchronously. Particularly the use of digital platforms like Web 2.0 tools continues to progress rapidly. Nowadays, numerous activities can be carried out via distance learning. One of the project activities that are widely used in all countries of the world are eTwinning projects.

eTwinning is defined as a web-based network created for schools in Europe. eTwinning consists of two words: "e" for "electronic" and "twinning" for "mutual partnership" (Başaran et al., 2020). It is a network which aims to establish communication between teachers and teachers and teachers and students, enable them to carry out projects in cooperation, increase personal and professional development, and increase the use of technology. This communication network plans to increase teachers' and students' knowledge and skills. The eTwinning European Online Platform was initiated in 2005 as an e-learning programme affiliated to the European Commission. It was integrated into the Lifelong Learning programme in 2007, and since 2014, it has been conducted within the framework of the Erasmus+ programme of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA).

With the coordination of the Central Support Service affiliated to the European Schools Network created with the Education Ministries of 44 countries from Europe and beyond, 901,751 teachers have taken part in eTwinning activities, and 118,219 eTwinning projects have been conducted in 218,508 schools (eTwinning Turkey, 2021c; eTwinning Turkey, 2021d). The eTwinning Turkey National Support Service began its activities in 2009 within the scope of the General Directorate of Innovation and Education Technologies of the Ministry of National Education (eTwinning Turkey, 2021a). In Turkey, 270,863 teachers have been involved in eTwinning activities, and 47,389 eTwinning projects have been conducted in 55,315 schools (eTwinning Turkey, 2021b).

Through eTwinning, teachers in the 44 participating countries can share their experiences with teachers in different schools and countries, engage in an exchange of ideas by communicating online, and conduct projects suitable for their own curricula. In eTwinning activities, it is expected that technology will be used in the process by integration in education. By providing technological equipment (interactive boards, tablet computers,



broadband internet infrastructure, etc.) through the Fatih project, and in collaboration with EBA (Educational Informatics Network), eTwinning is conducted as a positive activity.

If we express eTwinning activities in the form of beneficial items for teachers, these are

1. Acquiring ideas about educational practices carried out in different schools or European countries,

2. Improving their foreign language practice,

3. The possibility to use information technologies in their lessons effectively,

4. The possibility to make their lessons more enjoyable by enabling students to become more motivated,

5. The possibility to develop themselves professionally (eTwinning Turkey, 2021e).

As well as its benefits for teachers, eTwinning also offers students new learning opportunities. According to the views of teachers, the new learning that takes place in students who take part in eTwinning projects can be summed up as follows:

1. Being more motivated towards lessons,

2. Becoming acquainted with different cultures by communicating with their peers from other schools or countries,

3. The possibility to communicate in foreign languages,

4. Being aware that web technologies can also be used for educational purposes,

5. More active participation in lessons due to involvement in projects (eTwinning Turkey, 2021e).

It is possible to come across some studies in which gifted individuals are included in eTwinning projects in Turkey. For this, the eTwinning coordinator has also determined some criteria under the heading of inclusive education (eTwinning, 2017). Although there are projects organized by Science and Art Centres such as "Gifted People Volunteer", "M.A.R.S.", and "Art Fellowship in Special Education", there are no studies in which the outputs of these projects are scientifically reported. There are limited studies in the literature reporting the CT skills of gifted students (Avcu & Er, 2020; Çakır & Bayraktar, 2019; Kirmit, Dönmez & Çataltaş, 2018). In addition, there are studies reporting on technology awareness in gifted people such as Cırık (2016), Çubukçu and Tosuntaş, (2018) Özmen and Kömürlü (2011) and Pereira Coutinho and Rocha (2007). However, no research has been encountered that examines the effects on these mentioned skills as a result of the digital activities they perform using remote Web 2.0 tools such as eTwinning. Hook (2004) states that it is important to implement collaborative projects and include rich online programs, which include various activities, created in cooperation with informatics teachers, observant teachers, school administrators, and other interested parties. In this context, it is considered



that the research subject is important in the context of closing the gap in the relevant field and literature.

## Aim of the Study

In scientific research studies made on the subject of eTwinning in the literature, it is seen that there are studies related to various levels and perspectives of integration of teaching programmes that include eTwinning projects, views of teachers about the effects and educational needs of eTwinning in teaching practices, professional implications for teachers and administrators in new and developing types of professional development using Web 2.0 tools, how national and local teachers' professional development plans form an interaction with eTwinning, effects on multiculturalism, and benefits with regard to communication and collaboration, as well as meta-analysis studies (Başaran, Kaya, Akbaş & Yalçın, 2020; Crisan, 2013; Gajek, 2018; Orava & Worrall, 2011; Vuorikari et al., 2011; Yılmaz & Yılmaz Altun, 2012). However, no research studies can be found in the literature on the subject of eTwinning studies conducted with gifted students. Therefore, it is seen that in the literature, the number of research studies made with regard to how eTwinning projects affect gifted students' technology awareness, and what kind of contributions are made to their computational thinking, is limited and insufficient. In this respect, it is expected that this study will fill this gap. In particular, the importance of computational thinking, which is regarded as one of the basic skills of our age, and of the technology awareness that today's individuals need to possess, has made conducting research into these subjects, and making up this deficiency in the literature, imperative. Accordingly, in this study, an attempt is made to seek answers to the following questions:

1. Do digital activities carried out remotely have an effect on gifted students' technology awareness?

1.1. Does gifted students' technology awareness differ significantly according to the variables of gender, school type and parental education levels?

2. Do digital activities carried out remotely have an effect on gifted students' computational thinking?

2.1. Does gifted students' computational thinking differ significantly according to the variables of gender, project experience and parental education levels?

3. Do digital activities carried out remotely have an effect on gifted students' perceptions of the concept of technology?

# **METHOD**

# **Research Design**

This study was constructed in a mixed model in which quantitative and qualitative data tools were used to identify the impact of the eTwinning project carried out with gifted



students on the students' technology awareness and CT. Creswell (2012) describes the mixed model as collecting and analysing both quantitative and qualitative data. The research was carried out with an explanatory design from mixed models. In explanatory mixed method research, quantitative data are collected first and then qualitative data are collected to explain the quantitative data (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2014). This method makes it possible to eliminate the limit in terms of the results obtained from a single data collection tool, as well as providing strong evidence (Suhonen, 2009). The reason for preferring this design is that the data collected by the quantitative method should be examined by the qualitative method in accordance with the research purpose. In this regard, the research was carried out in two stages. The first stage is the quantitative dimension of the research. In the quantitative section of the research, in which a holistic single-case design was chosen, a single-group pretest-posttest model, one of the pre-experimental designs, was preferred. This model includes no randomness or matching. The symbolic representation of the model is shown below (Büyüköztürk, Kılıç-Çakmak, Akgün, Karadeniz & Demirel, 2014).

Group	Pretest	Process	Posttest
G	<b>M</b> 1	Х	M2

The second stage of the research was carried out in a qualitative dimension. Data collected by the qualitative method can further deepen and elaborate the quantitative results (Patton, 2014). In the qualitative stage, one of the non-random sampling methods, the confirming or disconfirming sampling method was used. In this context, in order to determine the pattern between the data collected in the quantitative stage and reveal the backgrounds on which the quantitative data were based, the confirming or disconfirming sampling method was used. The main feature of a qualitative case study is in-depth investigation of one or several cases (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2016). The factors related to a case (environment, individuals, events, processes, etc.) are investigated with a holistic approach, and focus is placed on how they affect the relevant case and how they are affected by the relevant case. Within the scope of the holistic single-case design, a mind-mapping technique was used in the qualitative section.

## Study Group

The participants of the study were determined with the convenience sampling approach, one of the non-probability sampling types. In convenience sampling, the researchers select the participants from volunteer individuals who are easily accessed and suitable for the research (Gravetter & Forzano, 2012). The following procedures were followed in the selection of the participants:

- 1. Being a volunteer and willing to do the research,
- 2. Never participating in an eTwinning project before,



- 3. Not using Web 2.0 tools too much or too little,
- 4. Being a BILSEM student and in the age range of 9-16 years,
- 5. Students allowed by their parents were included in the project.

6.Science and art centres that could find students under these conditions and obtain permission from the school administration were included in the project. Within this scope, volunteer students who responded to the announcement of an eTwinning project were included in the project. The participants who applied for the project consisted of 50 gifted students continuing their education at Science and Art Centres in 6 different provinces in Turkey during the 2020-2021 academic year. These students also comprised the participant group of the research. In this context, descriptive characteristics of the study group are given in Table 1.

## Table 1

		Frequency	Percentage
			(%)
Gender	Female	34	68
	Male	16	32
	4th grade	13	26
Grade Level	5th grade	33	66
	6th grade	4	8
	State	41	82
School Type	Private	9	18
Possession of a Personal Computer	Yes	45	90
	No	5	5
Project Experience	Yes	20	40
	No	30	60
TOTAL		50	100

Information related to descriptive characteristics of participants

In the study group, 34 (68%) of the participants were female, while 16 (32%) were male. The participants consisted of 13 students (26%) from primary school level (4th grade) and 37 students (74%) from secondary school level (5th and 6th grade). The majority of participants attended state schools, and the percentage of them who owned a personal computer was very high (90%). 20 of the participants (40%) had previously taken part in a project, while 30 (60%) had not been involved in any projects before.

# **Data Collection Tools**

During the data collection process, a parental or guardian permission form was requested from each participant in the project. A meeting was held on Zoom with the parents of the participants who had received permission and detailed information about the project was given. During the project process, it was explained that they would also take part in some activities in this project from time to time. Later, the parental or guardian



permission forms were submitted to school administrations. At the end of all these processes, the project schedule was started and the data collection tools were applied with the approval of the ethics committee. Detailed information on the qualitative and quantitative research tools is given below.

## Awareness Scale for Technology Use in Courses

Developed by Dağtekin and Artun (2016), the "Awareness Scale for Technology Use in Courses" was used after obtaining the necessary permission. The scale is of the five-point Likert type. Likert-type ratings are "Totally Agree," "Agree," "Unsure," "Disagree," and "Totally Disagree." The validity and reliability processes of the scale were repeated, and values close to those of the developed scale were determined. For validity, exploratory factor analysis (EFA) and confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) were performed again. In this regard, the KMO value of .85 and Bartlett's sphericity value of .00 for the scale were found to be significant. The scale items explain 59% of the total variance. The higher the variance rates that are obtained as a result of factor analysis, the more powerful is the factor structure of the scale (Tavşancıl, 2002). Following the EFA, as in its original form, the scale consists of 2 factors and 22 items. These two factors that emerged are "Benefits of Using Technology" (17 items) and "Harms of Using Technology" (5 items). Goodness-of-fit indices of the scale revealed that the model was confirmed and that this structure was valid for measuring technology awareness (χ2= 249.426, d=186, p < .01, GFI= 0.91, AGFI=0.90, SRMR= 0.057, NFI= 0.91, NNFI= 0.90, CFI=0.91, IFI=0.92, RMSEA= .03). The awareness scale for technology use was administered to the 50 participants in online form through Google Forms. The Cronbach alpha coefficient of the "Benefits of Using Technology" factor was .95, while the Cronbach alpha coefficient of the "Harms of Using Technology" factor was .85, and the Cronbach alpha coefficient for the overall scale was calculated as .83. In this form, the scale is valid and reliable.

## **Computational Thinking Levels Scale**

This scale was developed for secondary school students by Korkmaz, Çakır and Özden (2015). The necessary permission was obtained for the scale, and validity and reliability studies were repeated for this research. The scale is of the five-point Likert type. For the validity studies, first of all, EFA was performed in SPSS 24.0, while CFA was carried out with AMOS 21.0. Before commencing the EFA, the KMO value of .80 and Bartlett's sphericity value of .00 were found to be significant, and the EFA was begun. The scale items explain 68% of the total variance. As in its original form, the scale consists of 22 items that can be grouped under 5 factors. These factors are "Creativity", "Algorithmic Thinking", "Collaboration", "Critical Thinking" and "Problem Solving". Goodness-of-fit indices of the scale revealed that the model was confirmed and that that this structure was valid for measuring computational thinking ( $\chi$ 2= 353.310, d=186, p < .01, GFI= 0.90, AGFI=0.90, SRMR= 0.06, NFI= 0.91, NNFI= 0.90, CFI=0.90, IFI=0.90 ve RMSEA= .08). Fit values ranging between  $\chi$ 2/d<3; 0<RMSEA<.05; 0≤S-RMR<.05; .97≤NNFI<1; .97≤CFI<1; .95≤GFI<1;



 $.95 \le AGFI \le 1$  and  $.95 \le IFI \le 1$  indicate excellent fit, while values ranging between  $\chi 2/d < 5$ ;  $.06 \le RMSEA < .08$ ;  $.06 \le S - RMR \le .08$ ;  $.90 \le NNFI \le .96$ ;  $.90 \le CFI \le .96$ ;  $.90 \le AGFI \le .96$  and  $.90 \le IFI \le .96$  indicate acceptable fit (Kline, 2005). The computational thinking levels scale was administered to the 50 participants in online form through Google Forms. A Cronbach alpha coefficient of .76 was calculated for the overall scale, while the Cronbach alpha values of the subscales were .77, .77, .80, .84 and .86, respectively. The scale in this form is valid and reliable.

## Mind Maps

Mind maps were first developed by Buzan (1976), based on the idea of making notes as short and specific as possible and making them eye-catching by using visual items. Mind maps (mental maps, arrow graphs, conceptual maps, communication diagrams) offer a means of systematic visualisation of the thinking process (Bystrova & Larionova, 2015). A mind map is a sketch in which major/large categories radiate from a central image and lesser categories are displayed graphically as sub-branches of larger branches (Budd, 2004). As is known, in qualitative studies, the special language, meanings and concepts used by the persons investigated are emphasised, and by understanding them, an attempt is made to reveal what the investigated individuals express (Ekiz, 2013). Therefore, in the study, by means of mind maps, the pretest-posttest method was used to observe the extent to which the concept of "Technology" developed in the students and to confirm the results obtained from the quantitative data. Mind mapping, which is practicable for discovering individual perceptions and knowledge related to complex concepts (Beckett, 2010), can be evaluated as a valid tool for analysis of qualitative data (Tattersall, Watts & Vernon, 2007).

## **Process**

The scope of the eTwinning project on which the research is grounded is described in Figure 1.





# Figure 1.

"BILSEMs in the Time Machine" Project Cycle

Within the scope of the "BILSEMs in the Time Machine" eTwinning project carried out via interactive online activities as part of the Eratosthenes Experiment, Code Week 2020 and Space Week 2020, cycles lasting one week in three were planned. In these cycles, ballots for determining Web 2.0 tools, implementations with the selected Web 2.0 tools, virtual panels, and dissemination activities took place. A large part of the project activities were conducted with mixed teams made up of students attending different BILSEMs participating in the project. The activities in the project, which lasted about 3 months, were carried out in the form of 4 cycles. The contents of the cycles are shown in detail in Table 2.



# Table 2

Activities conducted	l in th	e project	which was	the subje	ct of the research
----------------------	---------	-----------	-----------	-----------	--------------------

	Cycle 1 – Introduction - Understanding Eratosthenes	Cycle 2 - Satellites Improve Life	Cycle 3 - Algorithmic Experiments	Cycle 4-Vision: Human and Computer Evaluation
	Receiving parental permission forms	Creation of questionnaire reports	Making additions to Code Week map	Performing Vision: Human and Computer activity
M o nt	Student introductions webinar	Making additions to Space Week map	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 3 activity pages	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 4 activity pages
h 1	Creation and implementation of questionnaires	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 2 activity pages	Jamboard activities (Each BILSEM will perform its own trials)	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)
	Additions to TwinSpace introduction pages	15 October 2020- 15.00: Ali Kuşçu Space House online activity	Preliminary preparations for algorithm and flow diagram	Revisions of TwinSpace space
	Poster and logo designs	Satellite design activities (Each BILSEM will perform its own trials with Tinkercad)	Use of chat room	Forum discussions
M o nt h 2	Voting for and specifying poster and logo design	Preparations for joint satellite design activities (with Tinkercad)	Algorithmic Experiments: Preparation of joint activities and mixed country team activities (with Jamboard and Telegram)	Student, parent and teacher evaluation activities
	Student introductions webinar	Satellite design with mixed country team activities (with Tinkercad and Telegram)	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 3 activity pages	Preparation of virtual project panel (with Linoit)
	Creation of mixed country teams	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 2 activity pages	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)	Preparation of project publicity video



	Creation of mixed country communication groups-Telegram groups	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)	Revisions of TwinSpace space	Conducting and reporting end-of- project questionnaires
	Conducting Understanding Eratosthenes experiment	Revisions of TwinSpace space	Forum discussions	Making mind maps and conducting posttests
	Allocation of tasks for Understanding Eratosthenes ebook activity	Forum discussions	Use of chat room	Online activity with Gizem Arıkan
M o nt	Completion of Understanding Eratosthenes ebook joint activity	Completion of joint satellite design activities	Algorithmic Experiments: Completion of joint activities	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 4 activity pages
h 3	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 1 activity pages	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 2 activity pages	Additions to TwinSpace Cycle 3 activity pages	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)
	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)	Project dissemination activities (sharing on Haber, Facebook and blogs)	Revisions of TwinSpace space
	Revisions of TwinSpace	Revisions of TwinSpace	Revisions of TwinSpace	Forum discussions
	Forum discussions	Forum discussions	Forum discussions	Use of chat room
	Use of chat room	Use of chat room	Use of chat room	Preparation of Cycle 4 diary
	Preparation of Cycle 1 diary	Preparation of Cycle 2 diary	Preparation of Cycle 3 diary	

# Data Analysis

\_

For the analysis of the quantitative data, first of all, the normality of the collected data was tested. The normality test was performed for the technology awareness and computational thinking overall scales and each of their subscales. In the normality test, skewness and kurtosis values were examined on the basis of the overall scales and all their subscales in the pretest-posttest context (Table 3).



#### Table 3

Scales	Subscales		Skewne	ess	Kurtosis		
			Statistical Value	Standard Error	Statistical Value	Standard Error	
Technology	Benefits of	Pretest	46	.34	11	.67	
Awareness Scale	Using Technology	Posttest	62	.33	.36	.66	
	Harms of Using	Pretest	18	.34	02	.67	
	Technology	Posttest	21	.33	71	.66	
	Overall Scale	Pretest	27	.34	12	.67	
		Posttest	.02	.34	1.0	.66	
Computati	Creativity	Pretest	78	.34	.34	.67	
onal		Posttest	10	.33	.93	.66	
Thinking	Algorithmic	Pretest	71	.34	02	.67	
Scale	Thinking	Posttest	77	.33	38	.66	
	Collaboration	Pretest	24	.34	1.1	.67	
		Posttest	10	.33	.57	.66	
	Critical	Pretest	58	.34	.26	.67	
	Thinking	Posttest	10	.33	1.3	.66	
	Problem	Pretest	.26	.34	83	.67	
	Solving	Posttest	.11	.33	1.3	.66	
	Overall Scale	Pretest	25	.34	53	.67	
		Posttest	.02	.33	1.2	.66	

Results of normality test for technology awareness and computational thinking overall scales and subscales in pretest-posttest context

#### *p*>.05

As can be understood from the table, in the context of both the overall scales and their factors, the normality tests of the quantitative data collection tools ranged between +1.5 and -1.5 values. According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2013), it is stated that in cases where the sample group is greater than 50, when skewness and kurtosis values are between +1.5 and - 1.5, it is accepted that the data are normally distributed. In this context, the distribution of the scales was accepted as normal and suitable for the use of parametric tests. Accordingly, arithmetic mean, standard deviation, t-test for dependent groups, one-way variance analysis (ANOVA) and effect value (eta-squared) analyses were made. For determining the degree of effect of the specified difference, the  $\eta^2$  (eta-squared) statistic was used. The  $\eta^2$  value expresses the proportion of variance of dependent variables that can be explained by independent variables. An  $\eta^2$  value between 0.01–0.05 is interpreted as a low effect size, between 0.06–0.13 as a medium effect size, and 0.14 and over as a strong effect size (Pallant, 2003). In both scales, the lowest score that can be obtained is 22, while the highest score is 110. For determining the arithmetic mean values, Table 4 was taken into consideration.



#### Table 4

Score Range	Mean Score	Rating	Interpretation of
	(Score Range X Number of Items)	-	Awareness
1.00-1.78	22-39	Totally disagree	Very low
1.79-2.59	40-57	Disagree	Low
2.60-3.40	58-75	Unsure	Average
3.41-4.24	76-93	Agree	High
4.25-5.00	94-110	Totally agree	Very high

Values used for interpreting the arithmetic means of the scales

For the analysis of the qualitative data, the content analysis method was used. Content analysis is defined as a systematic, repeatable technique in which certain words of a text are summarised with smaller content categories with codings based on certain rules (Büyüköztürk, Çokluk & Köklü, 2010). Content analysis requires in-depth analysis by digitisation of the collected data. In content analysis, it is essential to gather similar data within the framework of certain concepts and themes and to organize them in a way that the reader can understand (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). In content analysis, the data obtained through interviews, observations or documents are analyzed in four stages: (1) coding the data, (2) finding codes, categories and themes, (3) organizing codes, categories and themes, (4) defining and interpreting the findings. (Eysenbach & Köhler, 2002; Miles & Huberman, 1994) The mind maps were implemented prior to the project and after the project. Students were informed before the mapping process. A meeting was held where they could find the answers to what a mind map is and how to design it. Some examples are shown, and detailed information about the procedure from scientific studies is given. All teachers working in the project also attended this meeting. The symbols drawn by the 50 students on their mind maps in the pretest and posttest were coded separately by three different domain experts (1 math and 2 science expert teachers in the project). The consistency between the symbols coded by the experts was examined. In the pretest, 32 different codes were found by the experts. Of these, 2 codes found by the first expert, 3 codes found by the second expert, and 3 codes found by the third expert were identified differently. The total number of common codes of the researchers was 24, while the total number of individual codes was 8. In this context, inter-rater reliability was calculated with the formula [(Number of Agreements / Number of Agreements + Number of Disagreements)\*100] (Miles & Huberman. 1994). The inter-coder reliability for the pretest was found to be [(24/24+8)\*100] = 75%. Next, the 8 differing codes were discussed and evaluated. It was then decided to also include these codes in the analysis. The codes were grouped according to themes and the data were presented in the form of frequencies and percentages. The same process was carried out for the posttest, and a total of 41 codes were found. Of these, 2 codes found by the first expert, 2 codes found by the second expert, and 3 codes found by the third expert were identified differently. The total number of common codes of the researchers was 34, while the total number of individual codes was 7. The inter-coder reliability for the posttest was found to be [(34/34+7)\*100] = 82.9%.



For scientific research to be accepted, it must be valid and reliable at a certain level. In qualitative research, validity-reliability is considered differently from quantitative studies. There are a number of strategies that the qualitative researcher can use to increase the "credibility" of his findings. Guba and Lincoln (1994) pointed out that in qualitative research, there should be credibility rather than validity and reliability. Guba and Lincoln (1994) gathered the criteria for credibility under four main headings: credibility, reliability, approvability and transferability.

Credibility: There are many methods to increase credibility. These are prolonged involvement, member checking and peer debriefing (Holloway & Wheeler, 1996). The teachers working in the project responsible for collecting qualitative data within the scope of the research interacted with the students in the project for 3 months. Asking the participants whether the study findings reflect their own thoughts correctly is called participant confirmation (member checking). In line with this strategy, the participants were given information about mind maps, shown how they should be drawn, and given feedback related to their drawings. One of the precautions that can be taken in terms of credibility is the expert review (Creswell, 2012). In this context, feedback was received from an assessment and evaluation specialist, whose opinion was asked for about the mind maps collected. In terms of reliability, researcher triangulation was carried out. The opportunity was given for independent evaluations about the mind maps by means of different views by the inclusion of more than one researcher in the collection, analysis and interpretation of the data.

Verification: At this stage, drafts, procedures and questions referenced in the analysis process are written and reflected in full and carefully. The aim here is to show the thought process and evidence that lead to conclusions as much as possible (Houser, 2015; Streubert & Carpenter, 2011). Citations and stories are very important. For this, the findings should include the participants' own statements instead of the researcher's prejudices or opinions (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In this context, direct quotations from mind maps are included.

Transferability: This stage is one of the main purposes of quantitative research and transferability, which is used as the equivalent of "generalization" in qualitative research, is used to judge the value of research. It is also called fittingness. Accordingly, the results of a study should be able to be transferred to situations in similar participants and environments (Houser, 2015; Streubert & Carpenter, 2011). In quantitative studies, generalization (external validity) is achieved by statistical results and showing that the data are collected from a sample representing the population (randomized, stratified, etc.) (Guba & Lincoln, 1982). In this context, in order to prove the transferability in qualitative research, the sample selection, the characteristics of the participants and the environment should be clearly stated (Sharts-Hopko, 2002). The participants of the study, how the process is run and how remote digital activities take place are given in detail in the method section.



#### **Research Ethical Permissions**

In this study, all rules stated to be followed within the scope of the "Higher Education Institutions Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Directive" were followed. None of the actions stated under the title "Actions Against Scientific Research and Publication Ethics", which is the second part of the directive, were taken.

Ethical review board name: Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Ethical Review Board

Date of ethics review decision: 13.04.2020

#### Ethics assessment document issue number: 95728670-044-E.10146

A Parental or Guardian Permission Form for Research Participation was obtained from the parents of the underage students who wanted to participate in the project study. These forms were submitted to the school administration. In the context of the content of the project, parents from time to time participated in the project activities with their children and they were provided with a diary with one of the Web 2.0 tools, "Padlet".

### RESULTS

The obtained findings are presented in line with the research questions.

1. The findings made based on the problem determined as "Do digital activities carried out remotely have an effect on gifted students' technology awareness?" are presented below.

### Table 5

Results of dependent groups t-test for technology awareness pretest and posttest mean scores and significance of difference between mean scores

	N X ss Mean Interpretation of							
				Score	Awareness	t	sd	p
Pretest	48	78.56	11.95	3.57	High			
Posttest	50	81.08	11.80	3.68	High	97	47	.33

#### \*p<.05

The participants' technology awareness before and after participating in the digital activities was high. Based on scores, an increase in mean scores for technology awareness occurred in favour of the posttest following the digital activities (78.56 < 81.08). This increase was not significant according to the results of the dependent t-test (t=-.97, p>.05). This situation was the same with regard to the subscales.

1.1. With respect to the digital activities carried out remotely within the scope of the research, the findings made in the context of the posttest with regard to the question



"Does gifted students' technology awareness differ significantly according to the variables of gender, school type and parental education levels?" are given below in Table 6, Table 7 and Table 8, respectively.

#### Table 6

1-test results for subscales and overall s	cuie posttest u	ccoraing	g to genuer	ouriuble		
Subscales and overall scale	Gender	Ν	Х	SS	t	р
1. Negative awareness	Female	34	19.94	5.69	-1.1	.27
	Male	16	21.75	4.52		
2. Positive awareness	Female	34	62.23	14.32	1.3	.19
	Male	16	57.00	10.09		
3. Overall scale	Female	34	82.17	11.89	.97	.33
	Male	16	78.75	10.90	-	

T-test results for subscales and overall scale posttest according to gender variable

#### \*p<.05

Examination of Table 5 reveals that according to the gender variable, no significant difference was found between posttest mean scores of the overall technology awareness scale or its subscales ( $t_{negative}$  -1.1, p> .05  $t_{positive}$  = 1.3, p>.05,  $t_{overall}$  = .97, p>.05). The striking point here is that female participants' technology awareness was both higher and more positive than that of males.

#### Table 7

T-test results for subscales and overall scale posttest according to school type variable

Subscales and overall scale	School type	Ν	Х	SS	t	р
1. Negative awareness	State	41	20.80	5.33	79	.42
	Private	9	19.22	5.65		
2. Positive awareness	State	41	60.80	12.46	.27	.78
	Private	9	59.44	17.12		
3. Overall scale	State	41	81.60	11.44	.68	.49
	Private	9	78.66	12.64		



As can be seen in Table 6, a significant difference was not found between posttest mean scores of the overall technology awareness scale or its subscales according to the school type variable (t<sub>negative</sub>= -.79, p> .05 t<sub>positive</sub>= .27, p>.05, t<sub>overall</sub>= .68, p>.05).

## Table 8

One-way variance analysis (ANOVA) for subscales and overall scale posttest according to parents' (mother's) education level

Subscales and	Literacy	Ν	Х	SS	sd	F	р	Scheffe	Levene's	η2
overall scale								Test		
									F Test	
	Primary	4	20.25	2.50					P>05,	
	school (1)								Fnegative=.89,	
					_			1-3	sd=46	.34
	High school	11	25.36	4						
1. Negative	(2)				3	8.40	.00*	1-4	p=.44	
awareness	Bachelor's (3)	25	20.40	4.77						
	Postgraduate	10	15.60	4.55	_					
	(4)									
	Primary	4	62.25	8.09					P>.05,	
	school (1)				_				Fpositive=.34,	
	High school	11	59.81	13.65	_				sd=46,	
	(2)									
	Bachelor's (3)	25	58.48	13.90	46	.76	.51		p=.79	
	Postgraduate	10	65.90	12.85	_					
2. Positive	(4)									
awareness										
	Primary	4	82.50	10.37					p>.05,	
	school (1)								Foverall=1.14,	
									sd=46	
					_ 49	.77	.51		p=.34	
	High school	11	85.18	14.6						
Overall scale	(2)			8	-					
	Bachelor's (3)	25	78.80	10.7						
				1	_					
	Postgraduate	10	81.50	10.6						
	(4)			9008						

#### \*p<.05

No significant difference was determined in relation to the technology awareness scale posttest according to the education levels of gifted students' fathers. However, as seen in Table 8, a difference was found in the negative technology awareness subscale of the scale according to the gifted students' mothers' education levels. To determine whether this difference was significant, the ANOVA test was performed. To reveal the direction of the difference found as a result of the test, the post-hoc Scheffe test was performed. The Scheffe



method was developed to compare all possible linear combinations between groups, and in general terms, this method is discussed as a conservative post-hoc type which can keep the  $\alpha$  margin of error under control in cases of large numbers of flexible groups to be compared, and which does not consider the assumption that observation numbers in the groups are equal (Scheffe, 1959). As a result of the test, in the negative technology awareness dimension of the scale, a statistically significant difference was found between mothers who were primary school graduates and mothers with bachelor's degrees, and also between mothers who were primary school graduates and mothers with postgraduate degrees, in the direction of those who were primary school graduates [F<sub>negative</sub> =.89, sd=46, p=.00]. No significant difference was found with respect to the overall scale or the positive technology awareness subscale [(F<sub>positive</sub> =.34, sd=46, p=.51) ve (F<sub>overall</sub> =1.14, sd=46, p=.51)]. As education level decreased, technology awareness moved in a negative direction. To calculate the value of the effect of parents' education levels on gifted students' technology awareness, the etasquared value was calculated. Accordingly, the eta-squared value, which was calculated as .34, shows that parents' education level had a large effect on negative technology awareness ( $\eta$ 2>0.14).

2. The findings made based on the problem determined as "Do digital activities carried out remotely have an effect on gifted students' computational thinking?" are shown below.

## Table 9

*Results of dependent groups t-test for computational thinking (CT) pretest and posttest mean scores and significance of difference between mean scores* 

	Ν	Х	SS	Mean	Interpretation		t-Test		
				Score	of CT	t	sd	р	
Pretest	48	78.39	8.72	3.56	High				
Posttest	50	79.00	9.24	3.59	High	32	47	.74	

## \*p<.05

The participants' computational thinking before and after participating in the digital activities was high. Based on scores, an increase in mean scores for computational thinking occurred in favour of the posttest following the digital activities (78.39 < 79). This increase was not significant according to the results of the dependent t-test (t=-.32, p>.05). This situation was the same with respect to the subscales.

2.1. With regard to the digital activities carried out remotely within the scope of the research, the findings made in the context of the posttest with regard to the question "Does gifted students' computational thinking differ significantly according to the variables of gender, project experience and parental education levels?" are given below in Table 10, Table 11 and Table 12, respectively.



#### Table 10

<i>T</i> -test results	for subscales a	nd overall scale	posttest according	to gender variable
	10. 0		Feelen and the second	

Subscales and overall scale	Gender	Ν	Х	SS	t	р
Creativity	Female	34	17.58	2.95	1.20	20
	Male	16	16.50	2.30	- 1.29	.20
Algorithmic Thinking	Female	34	16.14	3.38	- 0(	22
	Male	16	17.06	2.46	96	.33
Collaboration	Female	34	18.11	2.64		01
	Male	16	17.93	2.40	.23	.01
Critical Thinking	Female	34	15.97	3.77	- 01	07
	Male	16	15.93	2.79	31	.97
Problem Solving	Female	34	10.26	3.69	2.4	00*
	Male	16	14.00	7.16	2.4	00*
Overall Scale	Female	34	78.08	8.63	1 00	22
	Male	16	81.43	9.91	-1.22	.22

\*p<.05

When Table 10 is examined, it is seen that according to the gender variable, there was a significant difference in mean scores of the CT overall scale and its subscales only in the "problem solving" subscale(t=--2.4, p<.05). This significance was in favour of males ( $\underline{X}female = 10.26$ ,  $\underline{X}male = 14.00$ ).

#### Table 11

T-test results for subscales and overall scale posttest according to project experience variable

Subscales and overall scale	Project	Ν	Х	SS	t	р
	Experience					1
Creativity	Yes	20	18.15	2.13	- 1 20	04*
	No	30	16.63	3.03	1.29	.04
Algorithmic Thinking	Yes	20	17.45	2.70	07	0.4*
	No	30	15.76	3.24	96	.04"
Collaboration	Yes	20	18.55	2.43	22	27
	No	30	17.73	2.61	.23	.27
Critical Thinking	Yes	20	16.90	2.61	01	11
	No	30	15.33	3.84	31	.11
Problem Solving	Yes	20	10.15	4.86	2.4	15
	No	30	12.33	5.46	2.4	.15
Overall Scale	Yes	20	81.20	6.31	1 22	10
	No	30	77.80	10.43	1.22	.19

\*p<.05

As can be seen in Table 11, with regard to the mean scores of the overall scale and its subscales according to the project experience variable, a significant difference was found in the "creativity" and "algorithmic thinking" subscales. This significance was in favour of those with project experience in both the creativity ( $t_{creativity}$ = 1.29, p<.05, <u>Xyes</u> = 18.15,



<u><math>X</math></u> no = 16.63)	and	algorithmic	thinking	dimensions
$(t_{algorithmic thinking} =96)$	p<.05, <u>X</u> yes			

#### Table 12

One-way variance analysis (ANOVA) for subscales and overall scale posttest according to parents' (mother's) education level

Subscales and overall scale	Literacy	Ν	Х	SS	sd	F	р	Scheffe Test	Levene's F Test	η2	
Creativity	Primary school (1)	4	16.25	2.87					P>.05, F <sub>creativity</sub> =.5		
	High school (2)	11	18.18	2.12	46	.66	.58	-	-	3, sd=46,	
	Bachelor's (3)	25	17.16	2.62	_				p=.66		
	Postgraduate (4)	10	16.80	3.79	_						
Algorithm ic	Primary school (1)	4	16.50	3.00	_				P>.05, Falgorithmic=.		
Thinking	High school (2)	11	18.27	2.49	46	1 07	.13	-	97, sd=46,		
	Bachelor's (3)	25	15.60	3.30	_	1.97			p=.41		
	Postgraduate (4)	10	16.50	2.83	-						
Collaborat ion	Primary school (1)	4	18.50	1.25	_			-	p>.05, F <sub>collaboration</sub> =		
	High school (2)	11	17.63	3.32	47	21	.81		1.97,		
	Bachelor's (3)	25	17.96	2.42		51			sd=46		
	Postgraduate (4)	10	18.70	2.49					p=.13		
Critical	Primary school (1)	4	14.50	3.69	_			-	p>.05, Fcritical=1.4		
Thinking	High school (2)	11	17.81	2.48	47	1 51	.22		4, sd=46		
	Bachelor's (3)	25	15.48	4.03	_	1.51			p=.13		
	Postgraduate (4)	10	15.70	2.16							
Problem	Primary school (1)	4	11.50	2.38				-	p>.05, Fproblem7.25		
Solving	High school (2)	11	14.27	8.23	47	1 75	.16		, sd=46		
	Bachelor's (3)	25	11.12	3.95	_	1.75			p=.05		
	Postgraduate (4)	10	9.20	4.23	-						
Overall Scale	Primary school (1)	4	77.20	6.63				2-1	p>.05, Foverall=.55,	.41	
	High school (2)	11	86.18	10.51	47	3.18	.03*		sd=46		
	Bachelor's (3)	25	78.32	8.57	_				p=.64		
	Postgraduate (4)	10	78.90	6.31	_						



No significant difference was determined in relation to the computational thinking scale posttest according to the education levels of gifted students' fathers. However, as seen in Table 12, a difference was found in the overall computational thinking scale posttest according to the educational levels of the gifted students' mothers. To determine whether this difference was significant, the ANOVA test was performed. To reveal the direction of the difference found as a result of the test, the post-hoc Scheffe test was performed. As a result of the Scheffe test, a statistically significant difference was found between mothers who graduated from primary school and mothers who graduated from high school in favour of those who graduated from high school [Foverall=.64, sd=46, p=.03]. As mothers' education level increased, the computational thinking of gifted students increased. To calculate the value of the effect of parents' education levels on gifted students' CT, the etasquared value was calculated. Accordingly, the eta-squared value, which was calculated as .41, shows that parents' education level had a large effect on students' computational thinking ( $\eta$ 2>0.14).

3. Findings related to the question "Do digital activities carried out remotely have an effect on gifted students' perceptions of the concept of technology?" are as follows:

The mind-mapping activity carried out in the qualitative dimension of the study was conducted before and after the implementation of the project. In the mind-mapping, the intention was to measure the effect of the project in terms of perceptions of the "technology" concept. The 50 participants were asked to draw mind maps on A3 papers, and drawings considered to be relevant to the main concept in the pretest and posttest were classified by 3 different domain experts (1 in mathematics and 2 in science) by coding them under themes (Figures 2 and 3).





## Figure 2

Examples of mind maps drawn during pretest



# Figure 3

Examples of mind maps drawn during posttest

As can be understood from the examples of mind maps shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3, the use of branching and symbols for perception of the "technology" concept was much greater in the drawings in the posttest than in the pretest.



The codes and themes for the pretest and posttest are presented in Table 13.

# Table 13.

The codes and themes for	the pretest and po	sttest
--------------------------	--------------------	--------

s           i         i         i         i         i           i         i         i         i         i         i           i         i         i         i         i         i         i         i           i         i         i         i         i         i         i         i         i         i           i<	Them	Codes	Р	retest	Р	osttest	Theme	Codes		Pretest	Р	osttest
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	es						s					
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			f	%	f	%			f	%	f	%
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Canva	-	-	10	9.8		MRI	9	23.68	10	23.81
Web         Google         9         25.71         13         12.75           Tinkerca         -         9         - <td></td> <td>Zoom</td> <td>4</td> <td>11.43</td> <td>17</td> <td>16.67</td> <td></td> <td>X-ray</td> <td>9</td> <td>23.68</td> <td>9</td> <td>21.43</td>		Zoom	4	11.43	17	16.67		X-ray	9	23.68	9	21.43
Web         Image: constraint of the second se		Google	9	25.71	13			Stethoscop	7	18.42	7	16.67
Web 2.0 Tools         Tinkerca         -         9           Add         -         8.82           YouTube         8         22.85         5         4.90           Jamboar         -         -         5         4.90           Artificial         3         8.57         5         4.90           Artificial         3         8.57         5         4.90           Microsof         -         5         4.90           Microsof         -         5         4.90           Tools         Microsof         -         5         4.90           Telegra         1         2.86         4         3.92           Trelegra         2         5.71         4         3.92           P         -         3.92         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           eTwinni         2         5.71         4         3.92         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           m         -         2         1.96         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           mgr         -         2         1.96         Commu         38         25.68         38         <		0				12.75		e				
d         state         state         n           You hoad         8         22.85         5         4.90           Jamboar         -         -         5         4.90           Artificial         3         8.57         5         4.90           Artificial         3         8.57         5         4.90           intellige         -         -         5         4.90           nec         -         -         5         4.90           Microsof         -         -         5         4.90           WhatsA         2         5.71         4         3.92           Telegra         1         2.86         4         3.92           Telegra         1         2.86         4         3.92           eTruinni         2         5.71         4         3.92           regrade         5         5         1.96         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           met         -         -         2         1.96         Computer         38         25.68         38         29.46           Instagra         -         -         1         0.98         Stether <td></td> <td>Tinkerca</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>9</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Vaccinatio</td> <td>5</td> <td>13.16</td> <td>4</td> <td>9.52</td>		Tinkerca	-	-	9			Vaccinatio	5	13.16	4	9.52
YouTube822.8554.90Jamboar54.90Jamboar54.90Artificial38.5754.90Intellige54.90Intellige54.90Microsof54.90tOffice12.38 $rec12.38eTrade25.7143.92relegra12.8643.92eTrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade25.7143.92refrade-10.98StoryJu2Rabitori-10.98Skype10.98Recore10.98Recore1<$		d				8.82		n				
Web 2.0 dJamboar Artificial intellige nceS.5754.90Jalaysis25.2624.76Microsof t Office-54.90Ultrasound25.2624.76Microsof 		YouTube	8	22.85	5	4.90		Medicine	4	10.53	4	9.52
ToolsArtificial 38.5754.00Artificial 38.5754.00Microsof5.2624.76Microsof5.2624.76Microsof5.2624.76Microsof5.2624.76Microsof5.2624.76Microsof5.2623.92Telegra 12.8643.92Totom-12.38er-12.38er-12.38mit25.7143.92Totom-12.38mit-12.38mitTotom12.38mitTotom11	Web	Jamboar	-	-	5	4.90		Dialysis	2	5.26	2	4.76
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Z.0 Tools	d					Health					
rec           Microsof         -         5         4.90           Coffice         ECG         -         1         2.38           pp         3.92         Thermomet         -         -         1         2.38           pp         3.92         Thermomet         -         -         1         2.38           m         -         -         3.92         Thermomet         -         -         1         2.38           m         -         -         3.92         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           effrade         2         5.71         4         3.92         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           m         -         -         2         1.96         Stretcher         -         1         2.38           mper         -         -         2         1.96         Comm         -         -         1         2.38           faceboo         4         11.42         2         1.96         Comm         -         Tablet         33         22.30         28         21.71           m         Faceboo         4         11.42         0.98	10013	Artificial intellige	3	8.57	5	4.90	Treatur	Ultrasound	2	5.26	2	4.76
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		nce				1.00						
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Microsof t Office	-	-	5	4.90		ECG	-	-	1	2.38
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		WhatsA	2	5.71	4			Thermomet	-	-	1	2.38
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		рр				3.92		er				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Telegra	1	2.86	4	3.92		ePulse	-	-	1	2.38
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		m										
eTwinni25.7143.92ngBitmoji21.96Storylu21.96mper-21.96m21.96m21.96m21.96m21.96m10.98Skype10.98Assistant-10.98Kahoot!10.98Scratch10.98Scratch10.98Scratch10.98Navigati10.98Navigati10.98Smartbo1134.381225.53Bus512.569.68		eTrade	2	5.71	4	3.92		Stretcher	-	-	1	2.38
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		eTwinni	2	5.71	4	3.92						
Bitmoji         -         2         1.96           StoryJu         -         -         2         1.96           mper         Instagra         -         -         2         1.96           m         -         -         2         1.96         Computer         38         25.68         38         29.46           m         -         -         2         1.96         Comm         Tablet         33         22.30         28         21.71           m         -         -         1         0.98         Comm         minicati         on         Television         22         14.86         17         13.18           k         -         -         1         0.98         Satellite         1         0.68         3         2.33           Assistant         -         -         1         0.98         Satellite         1         0.68         1         0.78           ment         -         -         1         0.98         Mouse         3         2.03         1         0.78           Stratch         -         -         1         0.98         SIM card         2         1.35         2 <t< td=""><td></td><td>ng</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>		ng										
StoryJu         -         2         1.96           mper         Instagra         -         2         1.96           m         -         2         1.96           m         -         2         1.96           m         -         2         1.96           m         -         2         1.96           m         -         2         1.96           Kaboot         4         11.42         2         1.96           Skype         -         -         1         0.98           Assistant         -         -         1         0.98           Assistant         -         -         1         0.98           Makoot!         -         -         1         0.98           Scratch         -         -         1         0.98           Scratch         -         1         0.98           Mavigati         -         -         1         0.98           SIM card         2         1.35         2         1.55           on         -         -         1         0.98         SIM card         2         1.35         2         1.55		Bitmoji	-	-	2	1.96		Telephone	39	26.35	34	26.36
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		StoryJu	-	-	2	1.96		Computer	38	25.68	38	29.46
Instagra       -       2       1.96       Tablet       33       22.30       28       21.71         m       Faceboo       4       11.42       2       1.96       unicati on       Television       22       14.86       17       13.18         k       -       -       1       0.98       Radio       4       2.70       2       1.55         Google       -       -       1       0.98       Radio       4       2.03       1       0.78         Assistant       -       -       1       0.98       -       -       1       0.78         eGovern       -       -       1       0.98       - <t< td=""><td></td><td>mper</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>		mper										
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Instagra	-	-	2	1.96		Tablet	33	22.30	28	21.71
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		m					Comm					
konSkype10.98Google10.98Assistant10.98Kahoot!10.98eGovern10.98ment10.98Scratch10.98Scratch10.98Scratch10.98Navigati10.98On10.98Stratch10.98Navigati10.98On10.98Mouse32.0310.78Mouse32.0310.78Simarbo10.98Smartbo1134.381225.53Bus512.569.68		Faceboo	4	11.42	2	1.96	unicati	Television	22	14.86	17	13.18
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		k					on					
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Skype	-	-	1	0.98		Radio	4	2.70	2	1.55
Assistant         Kahoot!       -       1       0.98       Headphone       3       2.03       1       0.78         eGovern       -       -       1       0.98       S       Virtual       1       0.68       1       0.78         ment       -       -       1       0.98       S       S       S       S       S         mBlock       -       -       1       0.98       S		Google	-	-	1	0.98		Satellite	1	0.68	3	2.33
Kahoot!-10.98Headphone32.0310.78eGovern10.98 $S$ Virtual10.6810.78ment		Assistant										
eGovern       -       -       1       0.98       Virtual       1       0.68       1       0.78         ment		Kahoot!	-	-	1	0.98		Headphone	3	2.03	1	0.78
ment       glasses         mBlock       -       -       1       0.98         Scratch       -       -       1       0.98         Navigati       -       -       1       0.98         ON       -       -       1       0.98         ON       -       -       1       0.98         ON       -       -       1       0.98         ON       -       -       1       0.98         ON       -       -       1       0.98         Wall       -       -       1       0.98         Yahoo       -       -       1       0.98         Smartbo       11       34.38       12       25.53       Bus       5       12.5       6       9.68		eGovern	-	-	1	0.98		Virtual	1	0.68	1	0.78
mBlock       -       -       1       0.98         Scratch       -       -       1       0.98         Navigati       -       -       1       0.98         Navigati       -       -       1       0.98         On       -       -       1       0.98         SIM card       2       1.35       2       1.55         on       -       -       1       0.98         yWall       -       -       1       0.98         Yahoo       -       -       1       0.98         Smartbo       11       34.38       12       25.53       Bus       5       12.5       6       9.68		ment			-	0100		glasses	-	0.00	-	011 0
Scratch       -       -       1       0.98       Mouse       3       2.03       1       0.78         Navigati       -       -       1       0.98       SIM card       2       1.35       2       1.55         on       -       -       1       0.98       SIM card       2       1.35       2       1.55         on       -       -       1       0.98       Android       1       0.68       1       0.78         yWall       -       -       1       0.98       - <td></td> <td>mBlock</td> <td>-</td> <td>_</td> <td>1</td> <td>0.98</td> <td></td> <td>iOS</td> <td>1</td> <td>0.68</td> <td>1</td> <td>0.78</td>		mBlock	-	_	1	0.98		iOS	1	0.68	1	0.78
Navigati       -       1       0.98       SIM card       2       1.35       2       1.55         on       -       -       1       0.98       SIM card       2       1.35       2       1.55         on       -       -       1       0.98       Android       1       0.68       1       0.78         yWall       -       -       1       0.98       -       -       1       0.98         Smartbo       11       34.38       12       25.53       Bus       5       12.5       6       9.68		Scratch	-	_	1	0.98		Mouse	3	2.03	1	0.78
on     Image: Construction of the state of t		Navigati	-	-	1	0.98		SIM card	2	1.35	2	1.55
PosterM       -       -       1       0.98       Android       1       0.68       1       0.78         Wall       Yahoo       -       -       1       0.98       Android       1       0.68       1       0.78         Smartbo       11       34.38       12       25.53       Bus       5       12.5       6       9.68         ard       -       -       12       25.53       Bus       5       12.5       6       9.68		on										
<u>y</u> Wall Yahoo 1 0.98 Smartbo 11 34.38 12 25.53 Bus 5 12.5 6 9.68 ard		PosterM	-	-	1	0.98		Android	1	0.68	1	0.78
Yahoo         -         1         0.98           Smartbo         11         34.38         12         25.53         Bus         5         12.5         6         9.68           ard             5         12.5         6         9.68		vWall										
Smartbo 11 34.38 12 25.53 Bus 5 12.5 6 9.68 ard		Yahoo	-	-	1	0.98						
Smartbo 11 34.38 12 25.53 Bus 5 12.5 6 9.68 ard												
		Smartbo ard	11	34.38	12	25.53		Bus	5	12.5	6	9.68



Microsco pe	2	6.25	3	6.38		Car	12	30	15	24.19
Eba	6	18.75	7	14.90	-	Express train	4	10	6	9.68
Telescop e	1	3.13	2	4.26	Transp	Motorcycle	1	2.5	2	3.23
Smartwa tch	3	9.38	7	14.90	ort	Drone	-	-	2	3.23
Printer	3	9.38	6	12.77	-	Combine harvester	-	-	1	1.61
Projector	2	6.25	5	10.64	-	Metro	3	7.5	2	3.23
Camera	1	3.13	1	2.13	-	Electric vehicles	1	2.5	2	3.23
Photoco pier	1	3.13	2	4.26	-	Hoverboar d	-	-	1	1.61
eSchool	2	6.25	2	4.26	-	Aeroplane	6	15	9	14.51
Dishwas her	6	15.38	13	20.63	_	Helicopter	4	10	3	4.84
Washing machine	11	28.21	10	15.87	_	Traffic lights	2	5	2	3.23
Refriger ator	4	10.26	8	12.7	_	Zeppelin	-	-	1	1.61
Vacuum cleaner	5	12.82	5	7.94	_	Submarine	-	-	1	1.61
Microwa ve oven	2	5.13	7	11.11	_	Space shuttle	-	-	3	4.84
Kettle	1	2.56	3	4.76	-	Tractor	-	-	1	1.61
Food mixer	1	2.56	3	4.76						
Hairdrye r	2	5.13	2	3.17		Visual impairmen t	13	35.14	13	25.49
Iron	1	2.56	1	1.59	Harms of	Curvature of spine	4	10.81	5	9.80
Air conditio ner	1	2.56	2	3.17	Techno logy	Obesity	4	10.81	6	11.76
Light bulb	5	12.82	5	7.94	-	Addiction	9	24.32	6	11.76
Power outlet	-	-	1	1.59	-	Radiation	1	2.7	2	3.92
Electric toaster	-	-	3	4.76	-	Wasting time	2	5.41	2	3.92
						Violence	1	2.70	3	5,88
Informat ion	1	1.47	2	2.94		Fear	2	5.41	3	5.88
research Creativit	-	-	-	2.94	-	Headache	-	-	2	33.92
y Time	-	-	1	1.47	-	Anger	-	-	1	1.96
Comfort	-	-	2	2.94	-	Laziness	-	-	2	3.92
Entertai	-	-	1	1.47	-	Being scammed	-	-	1	1.96
	Microsco pe Eba Telescop e Smartwa tch Printer Projector Camera Projector Camera Photoco pier eSchool Dishwas her Washing machine Kefriger ator Vacuum cleaner Microwa Vacuum cleaner Microwa Vacuum cleaner Microwa Vacuum cleaner Informat conditio ner Light bulb Power outlet Electric toaster Jinformat ion research Creativit y Time saving Comfort able life Entertai nment	Microsco2pe6Eba6Telescop1e3tch3tch1Printer3Projector2Camera1pier2eSchool2Mashing11machine1Vacuum5cleaner1Microwa2Vacuum5cleaner1Microwa2Vacuum5cleaner1Food1mixer1Food1Food1Food1food1mixer1Food1food1informat1conditio1ner1Light5bulb7Power-outlet1ion-research-informat1ion-saving-Comfort-abel life-inment-	Microsco26.25peEba618.75Eba618.75Telescop13.13e39.38tch39.38tch39.38Projector26.25Camera13.13pier33.13pier96School26.25Camera13.13pier96School26.25Mashing1128.21machine12.821machine12.821machine12.821Microwa25.13ve oven12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Food12.56Microwa25.13r11.47ion12.56Dishwas512.82bulb11.47ionInformat11.47ionsavingComfortabelifeInformat1-abelife <t< td=""><td>Microsco       2       6.25       3         Pe       6       18.75       7         Eba       6       18.75       7         Telescop       1       3.13       2         e       9.38       7       7         Smartwa       3       9.38       7         tch       7       7         Printer       3       9.38       6         Projector       2       6.25       5         Camera       1       3.13       1         Photoco       1       3.13       2         pier       -       -       2         eSchool       2       6.25       2         Dishwas       6       15.38       13         her       -       -       -         Washing       11       28.21       10         machine       -       -       -         Microwa       2       5.13       7         Vacuum       5       12.82       5         cleaner       -       -       -         Microwa       2       5.13       2         r       -       -</td><td>Microsco       2       6.25       3       6.38         pe       1       3.13       2       4.26         Eba       6       18.75       7       14.90         Telescop       1       3.13       2       4.26         e      </td><td>Microsco       2       6.25       3       6.38         pe       -       -       14.90         Telescop       1       3.13       2       4.26         e       -       -       -       -         Smartwa       3       9.38       7       14.90       -         tch       -       -       -       -       ort         Projector       2       6.25       5       10.64         Camera       1       3.13       1       2.13         Photoco       1       3.13       1       2.13         Photoco       2       6.25       2       4.26         pier       -       -       -       -         School       2       6.25       2       4.26         pier       -       -       -       -         Washing       11       28.21       10       15.87         Refriger       4       10.26       8       12.7         Macore       -       -       7.94       -         Ceaner       -       -       1.1.11       -         Wa ore       -       5.13       2</td><td>Microsco26.2536.38Carpe</td><td>Microsco         2         <math>6.25</math> <math>3</math> <math>6.38</math>         Car         <math>12</math>           pe         <math>1</math> <math>3.13</math> <math>2</math> <math>4.26</math>         Express         <math>4</math>           Telescop         <math>1</math> <math>3.13</math> <math>2</math> <math>4.26</math> <math>Transp         <math>Transp           Smartwa         <math>3</math> <math>9.38</math> <math>7</math> <math>14.90</math> <math>Transp         <math>Combine</math> <math>-</math>           Projector         <math>2</math> <math>6.25</math> <math>5</math> <math>10.64</math> <math>Combine</math> <math>-</math>           Projector         <math>2</math> <math>6.25</math> <math>2</math> <math>10.64</math> <math>Combine</math> <math>-</math>           Projector         <math>2</math> <math>6.25</math> <math>2</math> <math>4.26</math> <math> -</math>           Projector         <math>1</math> <math>3.13</math> <math>2</math> <math>4.26</math> <math> -</math>           Dishwas         <math>6</math> <math>15.38</math> <math>13</math> <math>20.63</math> <math> -</math>           Machine         <math>     -</math>           Mashing         <math>11</math> <math>2.56</math> <math>3</math> <math>4.76</math> <math>  -</math> </math></math></math></td><td>Microso         2         6.25         3         6.38         Car         12         30           pe           Express         4         10           Telescop         1         3.13         2         4.20         Express         4         10           e          Transp         Ontorcycle         1         2.5           Smartwa         3         9.38         6         12.77         Transp         Drone         -         -           Projector         2         6.25         5         10.64         Combine         -         -           Carrer         1         3.13         2         4.26         Metro         3         7         -           Projector         2         6.25         2         4.26         Metro         3         7         -           Opion         2         6.25         2         4.26         Metro         3         7           Washing         11         2.82         5         7.94         Melicopter         4         10           Vacuum         5         12.82         5         7.94         Mitropial         2</td><td>Microsco         2         6.25         3         6.38         Car         12         30         15           Pe         E         E         E         E         E         E         E         I         10         6           Telescop         1         3.13         2         4.26         Motorcycle         1         2.5         2           Smartwa         3         9.38         6         12.77         Motorcycle         1         2.5         2           Projector         2         6.25         5         10.64         Transp         Orone         -         -         1           Projector         2         6.25         2         4.26         Metro         3         7.5         2           Photoco         1         3.13         2         4.26         Metro         3         7.5         2           Washing         11         2.82         5         7.94         Heiropte         4         10.0         3           Refriger         4         10.26         3         4.76         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt           Canor         1<!--</td--></td></t<>	Microsco       2       6.25       3         Pe       6       18.75       7         Eba       6       18.75       7         Telescop       1       3.13       2         e       9.38       7       7         Smartwa       3       9.38       7         tch       7       7         Printer       3       9.38       6         Projector       2       6.25       5         Camera       1       3.13       1         Photoco       1       3.13       2         pier       -       -       2         eSchool       2       6.25       2         Dishwas       6       15.38       13         her       -       -       -         Washing       11       28.21       10         machine       -       -       -         Microwa       2       5.13       7         Vacuum       5       12.82       5         cleaner       -       -       -         Microwa       2       5.13       2         r       -       -	Microsco       2       6.25       3       6.38         pe       1       3.13       2       4.26         Eba       6       18.75       7       14.90         Telescop       1       3.13       2       4.26         e	Microsco       2       6.25       3       6.38         pe       -       -       14.90         Telescop       1       3.13       2       4.26         e       -       -       -       -         Smartwa       3       9.38       7       14.90       -         tch       -       -       -       -       ort         Projector       2       6.25       5       10.64         Camera       1       3.13       1       2.13         Photoco       1       3.13       1       2.13         Photoco       2       6.25       2       4.26         pier       -       -       -       -         School       2       6.25       2       4.26         pier       -       -       -       -         Washing       11       28.21       10       15.87         Refriger       4       10.26       8       12.7         Macore       -       -       7.94       -         Ceaner       -       -       1.1.11       -         Wa ore       -       5.13       2	Microsco26.2536.38Carpe	Microsco         2 $6.25$ $3$ $6.38$ Car $12$ pe $1$ $3.13$ $2$ $4.26$ Express $4$ Telescop $1$ $3.13$ $2$ $4.26$ $Transp         Transp           Smartwa         3 9.38 7 14.90 Transp         Combine -           Projector         2 6.25 5 10.64 Combine -           Projector         2 6.25 2 10.64 Combine -           Projector         2 6.25 2 4.26  -           Projector         1 3.13 2 4.26  -           Dishwas         6 15.38 13 20.63  -           Machine              -           Mashing         11 2.56 3 4.76   - $	Microso         2         6.25         3         6.38         Car         12         30           pe           Express         4         10           Telescop         1         3.13         2         4.20         Express         4         10           e          Transp         Ontorcycle         1         2.5           Smartwa         3         9.38         6         12.77         Transp         Drone         -         -           Projector         2         6.25         5         10.64         Combine         -         -           Carrer         1         3.13         2         4.26         Metro         3         7         -           Projector         2         6.25         2         4.26         Metro         3         7         -           Opion         2         6.25         2         4.26         Metro         3         7           Washing         11         2.82         5         7.94         Melicopter         4         10           Vacuum         5         12.82         5         7.94         Mitropial         2	Microsco         2         6.25         3         6.38         Car         12         30         15           Pe         E         E         E         E         E         E         E         I         10         6           Telescop         1         3.13         2         4.26         Motorcycle         1         2.5         2           Smartwa         3         9.38         6         12.77         Motorcycle         1         2.5         2           Projector         2         6.25         5         10.64         Transp         Orone         -         -         1           Projector         2         6.25         2         4.26         Metro         3         7.5         2           Photoco         1         3.13         2         4.26         Metro         3         7.5         2           Washing         11         2.82         5         7.94         Heiropte         4         10.0         3           Refriger         4         10.26         3         4.76         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt         Xuatt           Canor         1 </td



Shoppin	-	-	1	1.47	Mental 1 1.96
g					health
					problems
Commu	-	-	14	20.59	
nication					
Educatio	-	-	9	13.24	-
n					
Innovati	-	-	1	1.47	-
on					
Design	-	-	1	1.47	-
Robot	-	-	8	11.76	-
					-

In order to determine the increase in the perceptions of the participants regarding the concept of technology through mind mapping, a pretest-posttest implementation was carried out. In both the pretest and the posttest, 8 themes were created by 3 experts in agreement. While a total of 270 codes were determined in the pretest, a total of 310 codes were detected in the posttest. Looking at these codes, it is seen that the theme with the highest increase in the posttest according to the pretest is related to the Web 2.0 tools. While it was 32 in the pretest, it is seen that the total number of concepts increased to 102 in the posttest. After Web 2.0 tools, the second-highest increase in perception in mind maps drawn for the concept of technology was in the theme of the benefits of technology. While there was 1 acceptable code in the pretest, 40 codes were detected in the posttest. The third-highest increase was in home technology. 39 codes were determined in the pretest, and this number increased to 69 in the posttest. This situation reveals that there was a general increase in students' perception of the concept of technology after the project, and this coincides with the findings in the quantitative part of the research.

# CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

The great majority of research studies aimed at the use of technology in the education process reveal the positive effects of technology on learning and achievement. eTwinning projects, in which technology is put to maximum use, are an important project approach for increasing students' academic success by developing their interest, attitudes and skills related to technology. By contributing to the use of digital technology for educational purposes, eTwinning is a platform which enables teachers and students in different schools to carry out projects with collaborative activities. In this context, in this study, the effect of digital activities conducted remotely within the scope of an eTwinning project, which is the focus of the research, on gifted students' technology awareness and computational thinking was investigated. As the first of the findings obtained in the light of the research questions, it was determined that this project, which was carried out digitally and remotely, made a positive contribution to students' technology awareness, but that the extent of this was not significant (t=-.97, p>.05). Considering the results of the pretest and posttest implementations, the students' technology awareness was high. This finding is in parallel



with the mind mapping technique carried out in the qualitative section of the study. When the related literature is examined, in the joint eTwinning projects conducted in the study made by Pereira Coutinho and Rocha (2007), it was stated that students made progress in their computer skills and use of technology. This finding corresponds with the results obtained in this research. Çalışkan (2017) reported that gifted students were faster and more productive than their peers in the use of information technologies and approaches towards information technologies, that they were more predisposed to technology, that they used information technologies more expediently, and that they were open-minded and forwardlooking. It is possible to find a number of studies that support this view (Bayraktar, 2001; Diffly, 2002; Usta; 2016). At this point, it is seen that the use and awareness of information technologies is important for bringing out and developing gifted-talented students' potential (Chen, Yun Dai, ve Zhou, 2013; Pyryt, 2009; Shavinina, 2009). The need which is frequently stressed in the literature for individualisable and adaptable education technologies that are independent of time and space, and the efforts made for this purpose, especially online learning applications, can ensure that these technologies are also made utilisable and applicable in gifted education. Studies made on this subject stress the benefits of using podcasts and blogs (Siegle, 2007), flipped classrooms (Siegle, 2013), QR codes (Siegle, 2015a), online games (Siegle, 2015b), and STEM (Dieker, Grillo & Ramlakhan, 2012; Ülger & Çepni, 2017), the preference for up-to-date technologies (Çubukçu & Tosuntaş, 2018), and practices such as distance learning (CIrik, 2016) in the education of gifted children.

In the study, it is seen that no significant relationship was found between the digital activities carried out with the scope of the eTwinning project and gifted students' mean scores for technology awareness with regard to the gender variable ( $t_{negative}$ = -1.1, p> .05  $t_{positive}$ = 1.3, p>.05,  $t_{overall}$ = .97, p>.05). The striking point here is that female students' technology awareness was higher than that of male students. It was reported by Köroğlu (2015) that gifted children's motivation for the use of social media, which is one of the information technologies, did not differ significantly in terms of gender. However, Master, Cheryan and Meltzoff (2017) reported that following a short programming activity, gifted female students' technology awareness was found to be high was due to the fact that these students wished to communicate with many other gifted students and used technology to carry out their identity development (Cross, 2004), and also considered technological tools to be vehicles for developing themselves and sharing their experiences (Özcan & Biçen, 2016)

Another finding made in the study was that gifted students' technology awareness did not differ according to the type of school they attended( $t_{negative} = -.79$ , p>.05  $t_{positive} = .27$ , p>.05,  $t_{overall} = .68$ , p>.05). In contrast to this, it was revealed that their technology awareness moved in a negative direction as their mothers' education level decreased [F<sub>negative</sub> =.89, sd=46, p=.00]. It is reported in the literature that parents of gifted children have difficulty in



meeting their children's needs due to socio-cultural and socio-economic reasons, and that furthermore, they do not have the skills to cope with gifted children (Karakuş, 2011). According to Ersoy and Avcı (2000), gifted children ask questions very frequently and superficial answers given to these questions do not satisfy the students. These students' questions must be answered in depth and attention must be given to details. Adults must give these children the chance to present the products they have developed and motivation must be given for them to produce new products. In terms of enabling them to use their abilities, interests and capacities at the highest level, their parents should understand them very well (Dağlıoğlu & Alemdar, 2010). To achieve this, parents' education level must be high enough to overcome this problem. In the relationship between education level and parents' self-efficacy perception, it is reported that increasing the education level will have a positive effect on parents' self-efficacy perception (Söğüt & Çekiç, 2020). It should not be forgotten that parents with high self-efficacy will be able to give more support to their children regarding technology and other subjects.

Another finding made in the context of the second research question was that the digital activities carried out remotely made a positive contribution to gifted children's computational thinking (CT), but that the extent of this contribution was not significant(t=-.32, p>.05). The students' CT was high in both the pretest and posttest. This result corresponds to those of some studies in the literature. Avcu and Er (2020) determined that as a result of a 74-hour programming instruction, gifted and talented students' digital thinking skills developed. Çakır and Bayraktar (2019) also achieved similar results. In their study, Kirmit, Dönmez and Çataltaş (2018) found that gifted secondary school students had high mean scores in the overall CT scale and its sub-dimensions, with the exception of the problem-solving sub-dimension. Galvin et al. (2007) reported that carrying out eTwinning projects in collaborative online learning environments and conducting education activities via distance learning enabled students to develop their digital skills. There are also studies which show that there is a significant relationship between students' CT and their computer programming skills (Avcu & Ayverdi, 2020; Çiftci, Çengel & Paf., 2018; Ünsal-Serim, 2019; Yıldız-Durak, Karaoğlan-Yılmaz & Yılmaz, 2019).

Gender is one of the variables that need to be discussed in the context of acquisition and development of computational thinking skills. Yıldız Durak and Saritepeci (2018) stated that gender may be important in the development of CT, which is used as a concept related to computer sciences. It is seen that in the digital activities carried out within the scope of the study, the students' mean scores in both the subdimensions of the CT scale and the overall scale were not significantly correlated with the gender variable, except that there was a significant relationship in the "problem solving" subscale(t=--2.4, p<.05). This significance was in favour of male students. With regard to studies made with gifted and talented students, Kirmit, Dönmez and Çataltaş (2018) examined these students' computational thinking with respect to girls and boys, and found that there were significant differences in favour of boys in the creative thinking, algorithmic thinking and critical



thinking subfactors. On the contrary, Dönmez, Kirmit, Gürbüz and Birsen (2018) found that gifted and talented students' digital thinking skills did not differ according to gender. While some research results emphasised that computational thinking skills based on different variables based on gender differed significantly according to the research (Atmatzidou & Demetriadis, 2016; Roman- González et al., 2017), others concluded that there was no significant difference based on gender (Alsancak Sırakaya, 2019; Korucu, Gencturk & Gundogdu, 2017; Yağcı, 2018). In the literature, it was reported that gifted students' problem solving, algorithmic thinking and programming self-efficacy in digital activities (e.g., Scratch) was correlated with students' readiness for the designed activities (Yıldız-Durak, 2018). In this context, regarding the significance in favour of males in the problem solving subdimension of CT, it can be said that males were more prepared for these activities. Female students should be given support for CT.

Project studies are important enrichment strategies for differentiated education and meeting the needs of gifted and talented students (Calvert, 2010; Tortop, 2014). In this respect, the relationship between students' project experiences and their computational thinking was tested. According to the findings made, with regard to the mean scores of the overall scale and its subscales regarding the project experience variable, a significant difference was found in the "creativity" and "algorithmic thinking" subscales (tcreativity= 1.29, <u>*X*</u>*yes* = 18.15, <u>*X*</u>*no* = 16.63, talgorithmic thinking = -.96, p < .05 <u>*X*</u>*yes* = 17.45, p<.05, <u>*X*</u>*no* = 15.76). This significance was in favour of those with project experience in both the creativity and the algorithmic thinking dimensions. Project activities are important enrichment strategies for meeting the needs of gifted and talented students (Calvert, 2010; Tortop, 2014). In the literature, it was stressed that these students were highly motivated for project activities and that they derived pleasure from projects that enabled them to be independent (Delcourt, 1993; Johnsen, 2008; Johnsen & Goree, 2009). Project studies and artistic activities enable children to think critically, creatively and from various perspectives (Kaplan & Hertzog, 2016). Hill-Anderson (2008) argued that the potential of gifted children can be realised through projects. Diffily and Sassman (2002) stated that since products are produced after a process, projects increased children's ability to transfer knowledge and create new knowledge, and developed their problem-solving skills. The result obtained in the study and the findings reported in the literature correspond with each other. It can be said that the creativity, critical thinking skills and problem-solving ability that the students had acquired with their previous project experience contributed positively to their CT skills in this context.

The change in gifted students' CT was significant in the overall scale according to the mothers' education levels (F<sub>overall</sub>=.64, sd=46, p=.03). This significance was in favour of mothers who were high school graduates. Therefore, one can say that as mothers' education level increased, CT in gifted students also increased. This significance that emerged with regard to mothers who were high school graduates is a result that was obtained only by measuring mothers' education levels in an academic sense. Parents might have also done



research or taken part in training other than academic education, and may have participated in activities with the aim of feeling more competent (Söğüt & Çekiç, 2020). Such a finding may have been made in this study for reasons such as these as well. It is seen that there are studies reporting a relationship between parents' education level and their children's levels of competence (Aksoy & Diken, 2009; Uysal & Akman, 2016). Parents' education level, the fact that they have developed themselves, is very important in terms of having high awareness in matters concerning their children and demonstrating competence to their children in all kinds of subjects. It is reported in the literature that parents of gifted children need more education than parents of children who show normal development (Davasligil, 2000). In this regard, educated parents are one of the most important factors in meeting the needs of gifted children concerning technology, since it is the parents who know what their children need and who can meet this need. Making up the deficiencies in areas like the internet, computer hardware and software, and use of social media platforms, and the correct guidance of children are only possible with the technology awareness of educated parents. The findings obtained by mind mapping, which is the qualitative part of the study, show an increase in the perceptions of the participants towards the concept of technology in favour of the posttest, supporting the quantitative results. Especially the formation of more concept perceptions in the Web 2.0 tools, benefits of technology and home tools themes is an indication of the contribution of remote digital activities carried out with the eTwinning project. This is because the technological tools and equipment used more especially in the activities have been covered by these themes.

### **LIMITATIONS**

In this study, the effects of digital activities used in the scope of an eTwinning project on 50 gifted students who took part in the project were investigated with regard to different variables. The low number of participants in the study group led to study being conducted with a single group design. Besides this, experimental studies can be conducted for technological awareness and computational thinking. These skills can also be tested by carrying out different projects or different digital activities related to the case of gifted students. Another characteristic that limited this research was the effectiveness of activities that had to be carried out entirely remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In the distance education, in which the teacher's control was weak, the skills intended to be fostered in students remained at a lower level. It is recommended that the activities be carried out again digitally, but face-to-face under the teacher's control in a classroom environment. The persons responsible for education must meticulously implement processes such as motivation, observation, monitoring and assessment of gifted students, and the achievement potential of these students must be increased by direct intervention for students in the case of difficulties that may be experienced. Finally, the mind maps that were used as the qualitative data tool in the research were required to be drawn by the students



on paper, not by using digital programs. In other studies, the change in students' perceptions of the technology concept can be measured by using mind-mapping programs.

#### REFERENCES

- Aksoy, V., & Diken, İ. (2009). A narrative literature review of studies on relationship between the parental self-efficacy levels and development of young. Ankara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Fakültesi Özel Eğitim Dergisi, 10(1) 69-70.
- Alsancak Sırakaya, D. (2019). The effect of programming teaching on computational thinking. Turkish Journal of Social Research, 23(2), 575–590.
- Atmatzidou, S., & Demetriadis, S. (2016). Advancing students' computational thinking skills through educational robotics: a study on age and gender relevant differences. Robotics and Autonomous Systems, 75(2), 661-670.
- Avcu, Y. E., & Ayverdi, L. (2020). Examination of the computer programming self-efficacy's prediction towards the computational thinking skills of the gifted and talented students. International Journal of Educational Methodology, 6(2), 259-270. https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.6.2.259
- Avcu, Y. E., & Er, K.O. (2020). Developing an instructional design for the field of ICT and software for gifted and talented students. International Journal of Educational Methodology, 6(1), 161-183.
- Başaran, M., Kaya, Z. Zehra, Akbaş, N., & Yalçın, N. (2020). Reflection of eTwinning activity on teachers' professional development in project-based teaching process. Egitim Kuram ve Uygulama Araştırmaları Dergisi, 6(3), 373-392.
- Bayraktar, S. (2001) A Meta-analysis of the effectiveness of computer-assisted instruction in science education. Journal of Research on Technology in Education, 34(2), 173-188, DOI: 10.1080/15391523.2001.10782344.
- Beckett, A. (2010). Exploring mind-mapping as a research tool: from application to analysis. England: Thinking Critically About Analysis' Conference, University of Leeds (13th September).
- Budd, J. W. (2004). Mind maps as classroom exercises. The Journal of Economic Education, 35(1), 35-46.
- Buzan, T. (1976). Use Both Sides of Your Brain. New York: Dutton.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş., Kılıç Çakmak, E., Akgün, Ö. E., Karadeniz, Ş. ve Demirel, F. (2014). Bilimsel araştırma yöntemleri [Scientific research methods] (17 Edition). Pegem Yayınları.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş., Çokluk-Bökeoğlu, Ö. & Köklü, N. (2010). Sosyal bilimler için istatistik [Statistics for social sciences]. Ankara: Pegem Akademi Yayıncılık.



- Bystrova, T., & Larionova, V. (2015). Use of virtual mind mapping to effectively organise the project activities of students at the university. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 214, 465-472.
- Calvert, E. (2010). Online tools for independent studies: Learning/Connective. Available at: http://www.slideshare.net/ecalvert1/online-tools-for-independent-study.
- Chen, J., Yun Dai, D., & Zhou, Y. (2013). Enable, enhance, and transform: How technology use can improve gifted education. *Roeper Review*, *35*(3), 166-176.
- Cırık, M. (2016). Uzaktan eğitimin üstün zekalı öğrencilerin eğitimindeki yeri [The place of distance education in gifted education]. Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi, 2(3), 170-187.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2014). *Karma yöntem araştırmaları: Tasarımı ve yürütülmesi* [*Mixed method research: Design and execution*]. (Y. Dede, S. B. Demir, Dü, & A. Delice, Çev.) Ankara, Türkiye: Anı Yayıncılık
- Crisan, G. I. (2013). The impact of teachers' participation in eTwinning on their teaching and training. *Acta Didactica Napocensia*, 6(4), 19-28.
- Cross, T. (2004). Technology and the unseen world of gifted students: Social emotional needs. *Gifted Child Today* 27(4), 14–15.
- Çakir, C., & Mutlu-Bayraktar, D. (2019). Programlama eğitiminin ustun yetenekli ogrencilerin bilgi işlemsel düşünme becerisine ve bilisim teknolojilerine yönelik öz yeterlik algılarına etkisi [The effect of programming training on gifted students' thinking skills and selfefficacy perceptions of information technologies]. In S. Emir (Ed.), VI. National Gifted Education Congress (pp. 63–77). Istanbul University.
- Çalışkan, M. (2017). Üstün yetenekli çocuklara sahip ailelerin aile işlevselliği[Family functionality of families with gifted children ] (Unpublished master's thesis). University of Hasan Kalyoncu.
- Çiftci, S., Çengel, M., & Paf, M. (2018). Reflective thinking skills on computational thinking and problem solving as a predictor of self-efficacy of informatics teacher candidates on programming. Ahi Evran University Journal of the Faculty of Education, 19(1), 321-334.
- Çubukçu, Z., & Tosuntaş Ş. B. (2018). Technology in gifted education. *Electronic Journal Of Education Sciences*, 7(13), 45-57.
- Dağlıoğlu, H. E., & Alemdar, M. (2010). Üstün yetenekli bir çocuğun ebeveyni olmak [Being the parent of a gifted child].. *Kastamonu Eğitim Dergisi, 18*(3), 849-860.
- Dağtekin, N. (2016). Ortaokul öğrencilerinin derslerde teknolojinin kullanılmasına yönelik farkındalık ölçeği'nin geliştirilmesi Develop a valid and reliable scale to determine



secondary school students' awareness of technology use in courses]. (Unpublished master's thesis). Yüzüncü Yıl University.

- Dağtekin, N, Artun, H. (2016). Derslerde teknolojinin kullanılmasına yönelik farkındalık ölçeği geliştirme çalışması [Development of an awareness scale regarding technology use in courses]. Erzincan Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 18 (2), 686-705. DOI: 10.17556/jef.99899.
- Davaslıgil, Ü. (2000). Üstün çocuklara sahip ailelerin eğitimi [Education of families with outstanding children]. T.C. Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı Özel Eğitim Rehberlik ve Danışma Hizmetleri Genel Müdürlüğü. Özel Eğitimde Aile Eğitimi Sempozyumu (ss. 142-148). Ankara.
- Delcourt M. (1993) Creative productivity among secondary school students: Combining energy, interest, and imagination. *Gifted Child Quarterly* 37: 23–31.
- Demirci, A. (2008). Bilgisayar destekli sabit ve hareketli görsel materyallerin kimya öğretiminde öğrenci başarısına etkisi [Computer assisted fixed and animated visual materials and their effect to students' achievement in chemistry education]. (Unpublished Master's thesis). Selcuk University, Konya.
- Dieker, L., Grillo, K., & Ramlakhan, N. (2012). The use of virtual and simulated teaching and learning environments: Inviting gifted students into science, technology, engineering, and mathematics careers (STEM) through summer partnerships. *Gifted Education International*, 28(1), 96-106.
- Diffly, D. (2002). Project-based learning. Gifted Child Today, 25(3), 40-43.
- Diffily, D., & Sassman, C. (2002). *Project-Based Learning with Young Children*. Porstmouth: Heinemann.
- Dönmez, I, Kirmit, S., Gürbüz, S., & Birsen, O. (2018, May 4-6). Ustun yetenekli ogrencilerin bilgisayarca dusunme becerilerinin incelenmesi [Investigation of computational thinking skills of gifted students] [Paper presentation]. V. Gifted and Education Congress, Gaziantep, Turkey.
- Ekiz, D. (2013). Bilimsel Araştırma Yöntemleri [Scientific research methods]. Anı Yayıncılık.
- Ersoy, Ö., & Avcı, N. (2000). Özel gereksinimli olan çocuklar ve eğitimleri özel eğitim [Children with special needs and their education is special education]. İstanbul: YA-PA Yayınları.
- eTwinning Türkiye (2017). Retrieved from https://www.etwinning.net/tr/pub/highlights/inclusive-education-an-interv.htm
- eTwinning faaliyetleri kitapçığı 2019. Retrieved from http://yegitek.meb.gov.tr/www/etwinning-faaliyeti-tanitim-kitapcigi/icerik/2976
- eTwinning Türkiye.(2021a). Retrieved from http://etwinning.meb.gov.tr/etwnedir/

eTwinning Türkiye (2021b). Retrieved https://www.etwinning.net/tr/pub/community/countries/country.cfm?c=793 from

eTwinning Türkiye (2021c). Retrieved from https://www.etwinning.net/tr/pub/community.htm

eTwinning Türkiye (2021d). Retrieved from https://www.etwinning.net/tr/pub/index.htm

eTwinning Türkiye (2021e). http://etwinning.meb.gov.tr/etwinningin-faydalari/

- Eysenbach, G., & Köhler, C. (2002). How do consumers search for and appraise health information on the world wide web? Qualitative study using focus groups, usability tests, and in-depth interviews. *Bmj*, 324(7337), 573-577.
- Gajek, E. (2018). Curriculum integration in distance learning at primary and secondary educational levels on the example of eTwinning projects. *Education Sciences*, *8*(1), 1-15.
- Galvin C., Gilleran A., Hogenbirk P., Hunya M., Michelle Selinger M., & Bettina Z. (2007). Pedagogical Advisory Group – Reflections on eTwinning: Cultural understanding and integration professional. eTwinning Central Support Service, Brussels.
- Gravetter, J. F., & Forzano, L. B. (2012). *Research methods for the behavioral sciences* (4. Edition). USA: Linda Schreiber-Ganster.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. *Handbook of qualitative research*, 2(105), 163-194.
- Hill-Anderson, B. (2008). A K-12 gifted program evaluation and the evaluator-district- university gifted program evaluation model (Unpublished PhD's thesis). Saint Louis University, MO.
- Holloway, I., & Wheeler, S. (1996). Qualitative research for nurses. Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Hook, P. (2004). ICT and learning the İ-iPAinT experience. *Computers in New Zealand Schools*, 16(3), 15-21.
- Houser, J. (2015). *Nursing research: reading, using, and creating evidence*. (3rd ed.). Burlington: Jones ve Bartlett Learning
- ISTE (International Society for Technology in Education). (2015). CT leadership toolkit. International Society for Technology in Education. <u>http://www.iste.org/docs/ct-documents/ct-leadershipt-toolkit.pdf?sfvrsn=4</u>.
- Johnsen, S. K. (2008). Independent study for gifted learners. *Friends for gifted and education newsletter* 9(1): 1–16.
- Johnsen, S. K., & Goree, K. (2009). *Independent study for gifted learners*. (Original work published (2005). Agency-One, Seoul: Academy Press, pp. 387–388.
- Kaplan, S., & Hertzog, N. B. (2016). Pedagogy for early childhood gifted education. *Gifted Child Today*, 39(3), 134-139. doi:10.1177/1076217516644637



- Karakuş, F. (2011). Üstün yetenekli çocukların anne babalarının karşılaştıkları güçlükler [Difficulties faced by parents of gifted children]. *Mersin Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 6(1), 127-144.
- Kirmit, S., Dönmez, I., & Çataltaş, H. E. (2018). Üstün yetenekli öğrencilerin bilgisayarca düsünme becerilerinin incelenmesi [The study of gifted students' computational thinking skills]. *Journal of STEAM Education*, 1(2), 17-26.
- Kline, T. J. B. (2005). *Psychological testing: A practical approach to design and evaluation*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications Inc.
- Korkmaz, Ö., Çakır, R., & Özden, M. Y. (2015). Bilgisayarca Düşünme Beceri Düzeyleri Ölçeğinin (CTD) Ortaokul Düzeyine Uyarlanması [Computational thinking levels scale (ctls) adaptation for secondary school level]. Gazi Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi, 1(2), 67-86.
- Korucu, A., Gençtürk, A., & Gündoğdu, M. (2017). Examination of the computational thinking skills of students. Journal of Learning and Teaching in Digital Age, 2(1), 11–19.
- Köroğlu, İ. Ş. (2014). Social Media Usage Motivations of Gifted Children (Unpublished Master's thesis). İstanbul Ticaret University.
- Lincoln, S. Y., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Master, A., Cheryan, S., & Meltzoff, A. N. (2017). Social group membership increases STEM engagement among preschoolers. *Developmental Psychology*, 53, 201–209.
- MoNE (2019). Bilim ve Sanat Merkezi Yönergesi [Science and Art Centre Directive]. Mill Eğitim Bakanlığı Tebliğler Dergisi, Cilt 82, Sayı 2747.
- Miles, M, B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded Sourcebook*. (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Orava, J., & Worrall, P. (2011). Creative networks of practice using Web 2.0 tools. *International Journal of Virtual and Personal Learning Environments (IJVPLE)*, 2(1), 37-53.
- Özcan, D., & Bicen, H. (2016). Giftedness and technology. 12th International Conference on Application of Fuzzy Systems and Soft Computing, ICAFS, 29-30 August, Vienna, Austria.
- Özmen, F., & Kömürlü, F. (2011). The relationship of gifted-talented pupils with ICT. 5th International Computer & Instructional Technologies Symposium, 22-24 September 2011, Firat University, Turkey.
- Pala, A. (2006). İlköğretim birinci kademe öğretmenlerinin eğitim teknolojilerine yönelik tutumları [Primary school teachers' attitudes towards educational technologies]. *Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 16, 178.
- Pallant, J. (2003). SPSS survival manual. Berkshire: Open University Press.
- Papert, S. (1996). An exploration in the space of mathematics educations. *International Journal of Computers for Mathematical Learning*, 1(1) doi:10.1007/BF00191473.



- Patton, M. Q., (2014), *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods Integrating Theory and Practice* (Fourth Edition), Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Peachey N. (2009). Web 2.0 Tools for Teachers. Retrieved from http://www.technogogy.org.uk/Web20-Tools-for-Teachers.pdf.
- Pereira Coutinho, C. & Rocha, C. (2007). The eTwinning project: A study with Portuguese 9th grade students. World Multi-Conference On Systemics, Cybernetic And Informatics, 11, Orlando, USA.
- Pyryt, M. C. (2009). Recent developments in technology: Implications for gifted education. In L. V. Shavinina (Eds.) *International handbook on giftedness* (pp. 1173-1180). Dordrecht: Springer
- Renzulli, J. S., Smith, L. H., White, A. J., Callahan, C. M., Hartman, R. K., & Westberg, K. L. (2002). Scales for rating the behavioral characteristics of superior students- revised edition. Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press.
- Román-González, M., Pérez-González, J. C., & Jiménez-Fernández, C. (2017). Which cognitive abilities underlie computational thinking? Criterion validity of the Computational Thinking Test. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 678-691.
- Sak, U. (2016), *Üstün zekalılar özellikleri ve tanılanmaları, eğitimleri*[Gifted students characteristics and diagnosis, education]. Ankara: Vize Basın Yayın.
- Shavinina, L. V. (2009). High intellectual and creative educational multimedia technologies for the gifted. In L. V. Shavinina (Eds.) *International handbook on giftedness* (pp. 1181-1202). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Scheffe, H. (1959). The analysis of variance. New York: John Wiley press.
- Sharts-Hopko, N. C. (2002). Assessing rigor in qualitative research. *Journal of the Association of Nurses In Aids Care*, 13(4), 84-86.
- Siegle, D. (2007). Technology: Podcasts and blogs: Learning opportunities on the information highway. *Gifted Child Today*, 30(3), 14-19.
- Siegle, D. (2013). Technology: Differentiating instruction by flipping the classroom. *Gifted Child Today*, *37*(1), 51-55.
- Siegle, D. (2015a). Using QR Codes to differentiate learning for gifted and talented students. *Gifted Child Today*, 38(1), 63-66.
- Siegle, D. (2015b). Technology: Learning can be fun and games. Gifted Child Today, 38(3), 192-197.
- Söğüt, R., & Çekiç, A. (2020). Üstün yetenekli çocuğu olan ve olmayan anne babaların ebeveynliğe ilişkin yeterlilik algıları ile stres düzeylerinin karşılaştırılması [Comparison of Stress Level and Perceptions of Competence Related to Parenting of Parents with Gifted and Non-Gifted Children]. *Gelişim ve Psikoloji Dergisi*, 1(1), 1-15.



- Streubert, H. J., & Carpenter, D. R. (2011). *Qualitative research in nursing*. (5th ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams ve Wilkins.
- Suhonen, J. (2009). Qualitative and mixed method research. *Scientific Methodology in Computer Science-Fall*, 1-13.
- Tabachnick B. G., & Fidell, I. S. (2013). Using multivariate statistics (8.nd Ed.). Boston: Pearson Education Limited.
- Tattersall, C., Watts, A., & Vernon, S. (2007). *Mind mapping as a tool in qualitative research*. *Nursing Times*, 103(26), 32-33.
- Tavşancıl, E. (2002). *Tutumların Ölçülmesi ve SPSS ile Veri Analiz* [Measuring Attitudes and Data Analysis with SPSS]. Ankara: Nobel Yayın Dağıtım.
- Thomas, J. O., Odemwingie, O. C., Saunders, Q., & Watlerd, M. (2015). Understanding the difficulties African-American middle school girls face while enacting computational algorithmic thinking in the context of game design. Spelman College Faculty Publications. 11.
- Tortop, H.S. (2014). Perceptions of candidate teachers about concept of the project. *Journal of Gifted Education and Creativity*, 1(1), 13–20. DOI: 0.18200/JGEDC. 2014110882.
- Ünsal-Serim, E. (2019). Investigation of computational thinking skills and self-efficacy perceptions of coding with coding education designed by gamification method (Unpublished master's thesis). University of Balikesir.
- Usta, A. (2016). Investigation of internet addiction in gifted students according to the different variables. (Unpublished master's thesis). Necmettin Erbakan University.
- Uysal, H., & Akman, B. (2016). Sosyal yetkinlik ve davranış değerlendirme ölçeği'nin Türkçe'ye uyarlama çalışması [The adaptation study of social competence and behaviour evaluation scale into Turkish]. *Amasya Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 5(2), 419- 446.
- Ülger, B. B., & Çepni, S. (2017). Üstün yeteneklilerde STEM eğitimi [STEM education for gifted students]. *Kuramdan Uygulamaya STEM Eğitimi* (pp. 471-506). Ankara: Pegem.
- Vuorikari, R., Berlanga, A., Cachia, R., Cao, Y., Fetter, S., Gilleran, A., Klamma, R., Punie, Y., Scimeca, S., Sloep, P. & Petrushyna, Z. (2011, December). ICT-based school collaboration, teachers' networks and their opportunities for teachers' professional development-a case study on eTwinning. In: Leung H., Popescu E., Cao Y., Lau R.W.H., Nejdl W. (Eds), *Advances in Web-Based Learning - ICWL 2011*. (pp. 112-121). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-25813-8\_12
- Yağcı, M. (2018). A study on computational thinking and high school students' computational thinking skill levels. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 10(2), 81-96.
- Yıldırım, A., & Şimşek, H. (2016). *Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri* [Qualitative research methods in social sciences]. 10. Edition. Seçkin Yayıncılık.


- Yıldız Durak, H. (2018). The effects of using different tools in programming teaching of secondary school students on engagement, computational thinking and reflective thinking skills for problem solving. Technology, Knowledge and Learning, 25(1), doi: https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10758-018-9391-y
- Yıldız-Durak, H., Karaoğlan-Yılmaz, F. G., & Yilmaz, R. (2019). Computational thinking, programming self-efficacy, problem solving and experiences in the programming process conducted with robotic activities. Contemporary Educational Technology, 10(2), 173-197.
- Yıldız-Durak, H., & Sarıtepeci, M. (2018). Analysis of the relation between computational thinking skills and various variables with the structural equation model. *Computers & Education*, *116*(1), 191-202.
- Yılmaz, F., & Yılmaz Altun, S. (2012). Çok kültürlülük projesi: E-Twinning uygulamalarına ilişkin öğrenci görüşleri [A multicultural project: Students' views on the eTwinning applications]. Dicle Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 4(8), 120-132.
- Yünkül, E., Durak, G., Çankaya, S., & Mısırlı, Z. A. (2017). The effects of scratch software on students' computational thinking skills. *Necatibey Faculty of Education Electronic Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 11(2), 502-517.

**Copyright:** © 2021 (Çevik, Barış, Şirin, Ortak Kılınç, Kaplan, Atabey Özdemir, Yalçın, Şeref, Topal & Delice) This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative</u> <u>Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original authors and source are credited.



## INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MODERN EDUCATION STUDIES

The International Journal of Modern Education Studies publishes original research and theoretical articles in the field of educational sciences. The journal publishes manuscripts that have direct relevance to the principles of learning and teaching, the significance of quality education, the role of technology in education, application of psychological concepts to education, student health and wellness, the importance of curriculum development and sociology of education. The journal also welcomes contributions from closely related research areas such as: educational leadership, creative pedagogy, special education, educational policy, educational management, language education, career planning and educational finance etc.

The IJONMES welcomes any papers on educational sciences: original theoretical works, literature reviews, research reports, social issues, psychological issues, curricula, learning environments, research in an educational context, book reviews, and review

ISSN: 2618-6209 URL: https://www.ijonmes.net

